
BOULDER CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 1777 BROADWAY 

Tuesday, November 17, 2015 
6:30 PM  

 
AGENDA 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

A. Council Election of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem 
 

2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.) 
Public may address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in 
the meeting (this includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public 
hearings have taken place, any remaining speakers will be allowed to address Council.  
All speakers are limited to three minutes. 
 

3. CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the 
motion at this time. ( Roll Call vote required ) 

 
A. Consideration of a motion to approve the minutes for the October 6, 2015 City 

Council Regular Meeting  
 

B. Consideration of  a motion to renew a ten-year lease, including an option to extend 
the lease term for an additional ten years, with Colorado Parks and Wildlife for 73 
acres of open space property adjacent to Eldorado Canyon State Park for 
coordinated climbing access corridor management 

 
C. Consideration of a motion to renew a ten-year lease, including an option to extend 

the lease term for an additional ten years, with Colorado Parks and Wildlife for 
39.65 acres of open space property adjacent to Eldorado Canyon State Park for 
coordinated trail corridor management 
 

D. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 
only Ordinance No. 8092 approving November/December supplemental 
appropriations for the 2015 Budget 

 
E. Consideration of the following items 

1. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 
title only, Ordinance No. 8093 rezoning a 0.8 acre portion of property located at 
385 South Broadway, from Residential - Low 1 to Business - Transitional 2, 
consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan land use designation of 
Transitional Business. 
2. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 
title only, Ordinance No. 8094 amending Sections 9-2-14, “Site Review,” and 9-9-2, 
“General Provisions,” B.R.C. 1981, to ensure reasonable compatibility of the 
development of lots and parcels located in more than one zoning district one of 
which is a low density residential district with neighboring land uses 

Packet Page 1



 
F. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 

only, Ordinance No. 8095 amending subsection 9-12-2(b), “Prohibition of Sale 
Before Plan Approval,” B.R.C. 1981 to allow the owner of the property at 2180 
Violet Ave. to sell a portion of the unplatted parcel to Habitat for Humanity of 
Boulder Valley, Inc. for the purposes of developing affordable housing. 
Applicant: Habitat for Humanity of Boulder Valley, Inc. Owner:  2145 Upland LLC 
 

G. Consideration of a motion to order published by title only and adopt by Emergency 
Ordinance No. 8096 approving a supplemental appropriation to acquire the 
Boulder Community Hospital Broadway Campus and setting forth related 
details; and  
  
Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder City Council and convene 
as the Boulder Municipal Property Authority Board of Directors 
 

H. Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution No. 142 approving an appropriation 
to use the proceeds from the sale of The Boulder Municipal Property Authority 
Taxable Certificates of Participation, Series 2015 (the “2015 Certificates”) to 
acquire the Boulder Community Hospital Broadway Campus; pay all costs related 
thereto; setting forth related details, and 
 
Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder Municipal Property 
Authority Board of Directors and reconvene as the Boulder City Council 

     
4. POTENTIAL CALL-UP CHECK IN  

Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call-up of an item listed under 
8-A. 
8A1. Landmark Alteration Certificate application to construct an addition at the north 

elevation, replace non-historic windows and restore the historic façade of 
Whittier School at 2008 Pine Street, an individually landmarked property, per 
section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981 (HIS2015-00243) 

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS 

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS  

Note:  Any items removed from the Consent Agenda will be considered after any City 
scheduled Public Hearings. 
A. Consideration of a motion to approve the Community Cultural Plan 

 
6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER 

A. Discussion and input on the proposed 2016 State and Federal Legislative Agenda 
 

B. Consideration of a motion to accept the city manager’s recommendation to 
disburse 2016 Human Services Fund allocations to community human service 
agencies 

Packet Page 2



 
C. Motion to authorize the City Manager to release a Request for Proposals (RFP) 

for Recreational Marijuana Education for Children, Youth and Families 
 

7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY 
 

8. MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 
A. Potential Call-Ups  

1. Landmark Alteration Certificate application to construct an addition at the 
north elevation, replace non-historic windows and restore the historic façade 
of Whittier School at 2008 Pine Street, an individually landmarked property, per 
section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981 (HIS2015-00243) 
 

B. Request to appoint a Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) Process 
Subcommittee Member 
 

9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS -15 min 
Public comment on any motions made under Matters. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS Action on motions made under Matters 
 

11. DEBRIEF -Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was conducted-5 min 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
This agenda and the meetings can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov / City Council.  
Meetings are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s Web site and are re-cablecast 
at 6 p.m. Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular council 
meeting.  DVDs may be checked out from the Main Boulder Public Library.   

 
Anyone requiring special packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded 
versions may contact the City Clerk’s Office at (303) 441-3002, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday 
through Friday.  48 hours notification prior to the meeting or preparation of special materials 
IS REQUIRED.   

 
If you need Spanish interpretation or other language-related assistance for this meeting, 
please call (303) 441-1905 at least three business days prior to the meeting.  Si usted necesita 
interpretación o cualquier otra ayuda con relación al idioma para esta junta, por favor 
comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 negocios días antes de la junta.  

 
Electronic presentations to the city council must be pre-loaded by staff at the time of sign up 
and will NOT be accepted after 3:30 p.m. at regularly scheduled meetings.  Electronic media 
must come on a prepared USB jump (flash/thumb) drive and no technical support is provided 
by staff. 

Packet Page 3

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 

October 6, 2015 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
Mayor Appelbaum called the regular October 6, 2015 City Council meeting to order at
6:03 PM in Council Chambers.

Those present were: Mayor Appelbaum, Council Members Cowles, Jones, Karakehian, 
Morzel, Plass, and Young. Council Members Shoemaker and Weaver were absent. 

A. 2015 Colorado Companies to Watch Month Declaration 
Mayor Appelbaum acknowledged the 11 companies selected to receive the prestigious 
Colorado Companies to watch award.  

2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.)
1. Scott Thomas - spoke about the impact of student rental expansion and the lack of

effective occupancy enforcement on his family and his block on Marine Street.
2. Sandra Choteau Krizek - spoke on the impacts from student rental expansion in her

neighborhood on University Hill. She noted that 50% of her neighborhood has been
converted to student rentals.

3. Patrick Murphy - spoke in opposition to municipalization.
4. Sue Anderson spoke - to the impacts of Marijuana on youth 12 to 17 years old and

showed a presentation.
5. Rob Smoke - spoke about the camping ban on homeless people and asked that this

law be reviewed.
6. Jarvie Worcester, owner of Quality Inn Suites on Arapahoe - spoke in support of the

ordinance waiving the 500 ft. rule for Naropa University to allow his Inn to apply for
a Beer and Wine license.  He indicated support for the request from Naropa.

7. Emily Birk, from Great Alternatives, a local nonprofit targeting market for energy
solutions -  shared information about this company. www.grid alternative.org

8. Maureen McKenzie, a resident of University Hill - spoke about the impacts of 50%
student rentals on a family neighborhood.

9. Darren O’Connor - spoke on racial bias, the repeal of panhandling laws and the
budget for Boulder Police Department which included finding options other than
hiring more officers.

10. Stephen Keenan - expressed appreciation to Council Members Cowles and
Karakehian for their years of service on the Boulder City Council.

11. Lisa Mainero -  shared her concern and personal experience noting that she had been
attacked by an aggressive panhandler on the Pearl Street Mall.

12. Barry Satlow, with the ACLU - had repeatedly supported rejecting content-based
ordinances which had been found unconstitutional.  The ACLU urged the City not to
amend the flawed ordinance but rather completely repeal Section 5-3-7.

13. Shirley Heuftle - 70 year resident who was about to be homeless, spoke about Social
Services being incompetent. She stated she needed a place to go.

14. Sadie Nichole - introduced herself as an entrepreneur from Los Angeles, California,
indicating that she knew how to end homelessness and would go back to Los Angeles
so that she could help Boulder with this issue.

Agenda Item 3A     Page 1Packet Page 4



15. Lynn Segal - spoke of rising property taxes and other negative impacts in Boulder.

Staff and Council Response: 
City Manager informed Council that Bridge House, Boulder Homeless Shelter, Boulder 
Outreach for Homeless Overflow (BOHO) and Boulder Homeless Services Collaborative 
(BHSC) had been working together over the past year to address homeless issues. She 
was pleased to announce that the Homeless Boulder Homeless Services Collaborative 
(BHSC) would expand day shelter sites to relieve the crowding and lack of capacity at 
Carriage House and to better facilitate flow of appropriate clients to Bridge House Day 
Resources Center as well as expand Day Resource Center Services at the Boulder Shelter 
for the Homeless location.  

Council Member Cowles suggested that the issue of housing conversions to student 
rentals should be addressed by the new council. 

3. CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the
motion at this time. ( Roll Call vote required )

A. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FOR THE FEBRUARY 26,
2015 CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING

B. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FOR THE MARCH 17,
2015 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

C. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FOR THE APRIL 7, 2015
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

D. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FOR THE AUGUST 18,
2015 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

E. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ACCEPT THE STUDY SESSION SUMMARY FROM
JULY 30, 2015 REGARDING THE WEST FOURMILE CANYON CREEK ANNEXATION
SCENARIOS AND DESIGN CHARRETTE STUDY RELATED TO THE PONDEROSA
MOBILE HOME PARK 

F. CONSIDERATION  OF A MOTION TO ACCEPT THE STUDY SESSION SUMMARY FROM
SEPTEMBER 8, 2015 ON THE 2016 RECOMMENDED BUDGET

G. CONSIDERATION  OF A MOTION TO ACCEPT THE STUDY SESSION SUMMARY FROM
SEPTEMBER 17, 2015 ON MOBILE HOME PARKS

Council Member Morzel requested that page 4 be amended to reflect the discussion 
regarding water meters at every home under the Key Issues heading. 

H. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE CHANGES TO THE TRANSIT VILLAGE
PLAN (TVAP) CONNECTIONS PLAN WITHIN THE S’PARK REDEVELOPMENT AREA
AS A PART OF THE SITE AND USE REVIEW APPLICATIONS CASE NO. LUR2015-
00010, AS APPROVED BY PLANNING BOARD ON SEPTEMBER 3, 2015 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 2Packet Page 5



I. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER
PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY ORDINANCE NO. 8083 DESIGNATING THE BUILDING AND
PROPERTY AT 2322 23RD ST., TO BE KNOWN AS THE HERKERT-GLASSER COTTAGE,
AS A LOCAL HISTORIC LANDMARK PER SECTION 9-11-5 OF THE BOULDER REVISED
CODE, 1981 (HIS2015-00077)  
OWNER/APPLICANT: DOUGLAS JOHNSON AND THERESA HERNANDEZ 

J. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER
PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY ORDINANCE NO. 8084 AMENDING SECTION 4-2-4,
“STATE LAW PROCEDURES APPLY,” B.R.C., 1981,  ELIMINATING THE PRINCIPAL
CAMPUS OF NAROPA UNIVERSITY FROM THE APPLICATION OF THE 500 FOOT
DISTANCE RESTRICTION IMPOSED BY THE COLORADO LIQUOR CODE FOR BEER AND
WINE LICENSES ONLY, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS 

K.  INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING, CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO PUBLISH BY
TITLE ONLY AND       ADOPT BY EMERGENCY ORDINANCE NO. 8089 AMENDING TITLE
5 “GENERAL OFFENSES” BY AMENDING SECTION 5-3-7, “AGGRESSIVE BEGGING
PROHIBITED,” B.R.C. 1981  AND REPEALING SECTION 5-3-12 “BEGGING IN
CERTAIN PLACES PROHIBITED,” B.R.C. 1981 TO COMPLY WITH A DECISION OF THE
U.S. DISTRICT COURT AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS 

Council Member Karakehian moved, seconded by Mayor Appelbaum to approve Consent 
Agenda Items 3A through 3K with item 3G amended. The motion carried 7:0 with 
Council Members Shoemaker and Weaver absent. Vote was taken at 7:28 PM. 

4. POTENTIAL CALL-UP CHECK IN
Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call-up of an item listed under
8-A.
A. VACATION OF 364 SQ FT PORTION OF A 60FT EASEMENT AT 3295 LONGWOOD

No interest was expressed in calling up this item. 

B. S’PARK, 3390 VALMONT RD; 9085, 3155, 3195 BLUFF ST SITE & USE REVIEW 
No interest was expressed in calling up this item. 

C. NEIGHBORHOOD PARKING PROGRAM EXPANSION OF WHITTIER, W PEARL &
MAPLETON ZONES 
Council Member Cowles expressed interest in calling up this item. 

ORDER OF BUSINESS 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS
Note:  Any items removed from the Consent Agenda will be considered after any City
scheduled Public Hearings.
A. CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS RELATING TO THE 2016 BUDGET:

1. PUBLIC HEARING ON THE PROPOSED 2016 CITY OF BOULDER BUDGET; AND
2. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING, AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY ORDINANCE NO. 8085 THAT ADOPTS A BUDGET FOR THE

Agenda Item 3A     Page 3Packet Page 6



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, FOR THE FISCAL YEAR COMMENCING ON THE FIRST 
DAY OF JANUARY 2016 AND ENDING ON THE LAST DAY OF DECEMBER 2016, AND 
SETTING FORTH DETAILS IN RELATION THERETO; AND 

3. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING, AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER
PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY ORDINANCE NO. 8086 THAT ESTABLISHES THE 2015 CITY
OF BOULDER PROPERTY TAX MILL LEVIES WHICH ARE TO BE COLLECTED BY THE
COUNTY OF BOULDER, STATE OF COLORADO, WITHIN THE CITY OF BOULDER IN
2016 FOR PAYMENT OF EXPENDITURES BY THE CITY OF BOULDER, COUNTY OF
BOULDER, STATE OF COLORADO, AND SETTING FORTH DETAILS IN RELATION
THERETO; AND

4. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING, AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER
PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY ORDINANCE NO. 8087 THAT APPROPRIATES MONEY TO
DEFRAY EXPENSES AND LIABILITIES OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, FOR THE
2016 FISCAL YEAR OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COMMENCING ON THE FIRST DAY OF
JANUARY 2016, AND ENDING ON THE LAST DAY OF DECEMBER 2016, AND SETTING
FORTH DETAILS IN RELATION THERETO; AND

5. INTRODUCTION, FIRST READING, AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ORDER
PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY ORDINANCE NO. 8088, THAT AMENDS SECTION 3-8-3 AND
CHAPTER 4-20 OF THE B.R.C. 1981 CHANGING CERTAIN FEES, AND SETTING FORTH
DETAILS IN RELATION THERETO

The presentation on this item was provided by City Manager Brautigam and Budget 
Manager Peggy Bunzli. 

The public hearing was opened: 
1. Julia Daniel, resident of Boulder, did not support increasing the size of the police

force.  She believed there was a severe amount of racial bias against people of
color enforced by punitive models.  She suggested programs like Restorative
Justice Programs as a better use of fund dollars.

2. Jeremy Bold, supporter of racial justice, hoped to save the City some money and
harm.  He was opposed to additional officers noting their behavior towards people
of color.  He stated that he witnessed an incident when a woman was not treated
fairly by the police department.  He was unsure of the date, when asked by
council.

3. Ryan Pfleger, resident of Boulder, wanted to live a life free from violence and
fear that would enable him to do good things.  He warned that adding more police
officers was not a good idea.  He took issue with the police chief saying that his
team was not racially biased.  He agreed with previous speakers that additional
funding for the police department would not help.

4. John Kelly spoke about a number of arrests regarding people of color.  He was
concerned about racial bias with the hiring of the new police officers.  He asked
the city council to address the issue.

5. Neil DiMuccio was also opposed to hiring additional police officers. He wanted
the best use of city funds which he felt would be to program.  He believed the
Police did not de-escalate conflict well.

6. Andy Coco came here after Hurricane Katrina and was concerned about safety.
He was opposed to increasing the number of police officers in Boulder.

7. Renee Morgan, a resident of Boulder, opposed the idea of adding more police
officers.  She mentioned a viral video in central park showing 5 officers arresting

Agenda Item 3A     Page 4Packet Page 7



1 person. She urged using the money to help people with mental health issues and 
addiction problems.  

There being no further public comment, the public hearing was closed. 

Mayor Appelbaum moved, seconded by Council Member Plass to introduce and order 
published by title only Ordinance Nos. 8085, 8086, 8087 and 8088 relating to the City 
of Boulder 2016 Budget. The motion carried 7:0, Council Members Shoemaker and 
Weaver absent. Vote was taken at 10:06 PM. 

B. REQUEST FOR COUNCIL APPROVAL OF A PROPOSED LEASE OF 26 ACRES OF CITY LAND,
INCLUDING THREE CITY BUILDINGS TO THE COLORADO CHAUTAUQUA ASSOCIATION 

The presentation of the item was provided by City Attorney Carr. 

The public hearing was opened. 
1. Deb VanHorn, a Cottage owner, clarified that the cottage owners were not asking for

special privileges. 

There being no speakers the public hearing was closed. 

Council initiated discussion about the term of the lease and why it was set up that way. 

Council Member Karakehian moved seconded by Council Member Plass to approve the 
proposed Chautauqua lease as amended by the City Attorney.  The motion carried 7:0, 
Council Members Shoemaker and Weaver were absent.  Vote was taken at 11:09 PM. 

C. SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADOPT THE FOLLOWING 
ORDINANCES RELATED TO THE ANNEXATION AND INITIAL ZONING OF THE PROPERTIES 
IDENTIFIED AS 1385 CHERRYVALE RD., 1548 OLD TALE RD. AND 5955 BASELINE RD.: 

 I.   ORDINANCE NO. 8079 (WEST PORTION OF 1385 CHERRYVALE RD.) 
PROPOSED ZONING: RESIDENTIAL-RURAL 1 
APPLICANT/OWNER: MARK AND TARA BURKLEY 

II. ORDINANCE NO. 8078 (EAST PORTION OF 1385 CHERRYVALE RD.)
PROPOSED ZONING: RESIDENTIAL-RURAL 1
APPLICANT/OWNER: MARK AND TARA BURKLEY

III. ORDINANCE NO. 8076 (1548 OLD TALE RD.)
PROPOSED ZONING: RESIDENTIAL-RURAL 2
APPLICANT/OWNER: PORSCHE ELAINE YOUNG REVOCABLE TRUST

IV. ORDINANCE NO. 8077 (5955 BASELINE RD.)
PROPOSED ZONING: RESIDENTIAL-RURAL 1
APPLICANT/OWNER: PATTON AND CLAIRE LOCHRIDGE

The presentation for this item was provided by Planner II, Chris Meschuk. 

Council asked about the annexation of these properties coming in after other properties in 
the same area that were annexed earlier.  Staff responded that the timing of these 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 5Packet Page 8



properties was related to meeting the requirements of contiguity and funding. No other 
properties were waiting to be annexed and the funding offer (grant) would soon expire. 

Council Member Jones moved, seconded by Council Member Morzel to adopt the 
following ordinances related to the annexation and initial zoning of the properties 
identified as 1385 Cherryvale Rd., 1548 Old Tale Rd. and 5955 Baseline Rd.: 

i. Ordinance No. 8079 (West Portion of 1385 Cherryvale Rd.)
Proposed Zoning: Residential-Rural 1 
Applicant/Owner: Mark and Tara Burkley 

ii. Ordinance No. 8078 (East Portion of 1385 Cherryvale Rd.)
Proposed Zoning: Residential-Rural 1 
Applicant/Owner: Mark and Tara Burkley 

iii. Ordinance No. 8076 (1548 Old Tale Rd.)
Proposed Zoning: Residential-Rural 2 
Applicant/Owner: Porsche Elaine Young Revocable Trust 

iv. Ordinance No. 8077 (5955 Baseline Rd.)
Proposed Zoning: Residential-Rural 1 
Applicant/Owner: Patton and Claire Lochridge. 

The motion carried unanimously 7:0 with Weaver and Shoemaker absent. The vote was 
taken at 11:16 PM. 

6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER
A. VERBAL UPDATE ON BOULDER COMMUNITY HOSPITAL – 11:17 PM

City Manager Brautigam spoke about the City’s credit rating as an A+ from Standard 
and Poors for the bonds, due to sound financial practices. The city is expecting a final 
environmental report by the end of October 2015. 

B. UPDATE ON COMPARATIVE SITE ANALYSIS RELATED TO A POTENTIAL CU
HOTEL/CONFERENCE CENTER – 11:21 PM 

NOTE: Due to the size of the file, this item was posted separately and was available 
by accessing the following link: https://bouldercolorado.gov/links/fetch/27167 

The presentation for this item was provided by Executive Director of Planning, 
Housing and Sustainability, David Driskell.  After the presentation, staff asked 
council for direction to create a staff working group and guidance to determine the 
use and details of the conference hotel arrangement. 

7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY

8. MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
A. POTENTIAL CALL-UPS 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 6Packet Page 9

https://bouldercolorado.gov/links/fetch/27167


1. VACATION OF 364 SQ FT PORTION OF A 60 FT EASEMENT AT 3295 LONGWOOD
No action was taken on this item

2. S'PARK, 3390 VALMONT RD; 9085, 3155, 3195 BLUFF ST SITE & USE REVIEW
3. No action was taken on this item

4. NEIGHBORHOOD PARKING PROGRAM EXPANSION OF WHITTIER, WEST PEARL
& MAPLETON ZONES AND CREATION OF NEW NPP/AURORA

Director of Community Vitality, Molly Winters spoke briefly regarding the NPP. 

Mayor Appelbaum moved, seconded by Council Member Cowles to call-up the 
Neighborhood Parking Program expansion of Whittier, West Pearl & Mapleton zones 
and creation of New NPP/Aurora.  

9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS

Vote was taken on the motion to call-up the Neighborhood Parking Program 
expansion of Whittier, West Pearl & Mapleton zones and creation of New 
NPP/Aurora. The motion carried 5:2 with Council Members Karakehian and Plass 
opposed. Council Members Shoemaker and Weaver absent.  The vote was taken at 
11:42 PM. 

Council indicated that this item should be scheduled to come back after the first of 
year with the new council. 

11. DEBRIEF
Council Member Karakehian took a few minutes to thank Council.

12. ADJOURNMENT
There being no further business to come before Council at this time, BY MOTION
REGULARLY ADOPTED, THE MEETING WAS ADJOURNED on October 6, 2015 at 11:45
PM.

Approved this 17th day of November, 2015.

APPROVED BY: 

_____________________________ 
Matthew Appelbaum, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_________________________            
Alisa D. Lewis 
City Clerk 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 7Packet Page 10



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: November 17, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE  Consideration of  a motion to renew a ten-year lease, including an 
option to extend the lease term for an additional ten years, with Colorado Parks and 
Wildlife for 73 acres of open space property adjacent to Eldorado Canyon State Park for 
coordinated climbing access corridor management.  

PRESENTERS 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 

Tracy Winfree, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Bethany Collins, Property Agent, Open Space and Mountain Parks 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This request would recommend  a ten-year lease renewal of two open space properties 
adjacent to Eldorado Canyon State Park, including the option to extend the lease term for 
an additional ten years. The renewal allows continued coordinated management by Open 
Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) and the State of Colorado – Colorado Parks and 
Wildlife (CPW) – in order to permit state park staff  to enforce regulations on OSMP 
lands where rock climbing access corridors to Upper Peanuts Wall, Continental Crag 
cliffs, and Cadillac Crag cliffs are accessible only from state park lands (Attachments A 
and B).  Partnering with CPW on this management approach is more efficient for OSMP.  
If OSMP were to manage these properties, staff would be required to access through the 
state park property and trail system.  The partnership with CPW has proven to be very 
effective and collaborative over time. 

Collaborating to provide climbing access trails is a goal and management strategy 
outlined in the 2005 Visitor Master Plan (VMP) and this is a renewal of the current lease 
that expires in April 2016. As with the original lease, the city is not requesting a fee for 
this lease renewal and CPW incurs the costs associated with management and 
maintenance of the access corridors.  

Agenda Item 3B     Page 1Packet Page 11



Public notice is required by the city Charter prior to Open Space Board of Trustees 
(OSBT) action on a disposal of OSMP lands. Council approval is also required by the 
city Charter for leases of open space lands.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion:  

Motion to authorize the city manager to enter into a ten-year lease, including the option to 
renew for an additional ten years, for 73 acres of open space property adjacent to 
Eldorado Canyon State Park for coordinated climbing access corridor management as 
approved by OSMP and CPW staff and the City Attorney’s Office.   

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic – This lease renewal does not provide revenue to OSMP, but OSMP

also does not incur any additional costs associated with the permitted activities. 
Eldorado Canyon State Park is responsible for management costs of the access 
corridors and is permitted to charge fees since the climbing corridors must be 
accessed through Eldorado Canyon State Park. 

• Environmental – The management coordination allowed by this lease renewal
reduces impacts caused by undesignated trails and fixed climbing hardware, and 
preserves and protects important species and habitats. 

• Social – This lease renewal permits CPW to provide the general public with
sustainable, managed access to desired climbing features. While the state park 
access fees may limit some residents’ ability to use the City of Boulder Open 
Space, the city lands subject to this lease renewal are not otherwise accessible 
without this lease.  

OTHER IMPACTS 
• Fiscal – This lease renewal does not require additional fiscal resources.
• Staff time – Administration of this lease renewal is within the budgeted functions

of OSMP.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
At its Sept. 9, 2015 public meeting, the OSBT unanimously approved and recommended 
council approval of this lease renewal. 

PUBLIC COMMENT AND PROCESS 
This item was heard at the Sept. 9 OSBT public meeting advertised in the Daily Camera 
on Sept. 6, 2015. A Notice of Disposal of Open Space Lands was published in the Daily 
Camera on Aug. 29, 2015 and Aug. 30, 2015 pursuant to Section 177 of the city Charter. 
This item will also be advertised and heard during a public Colorado Parks and Wildlife 
Commission meeting in early 2016.  

Agenda Item 3B     Page 2Packet Page 12



ANALYSIS 
This request is for renewal of a 2006 lease agreement, originally created to reduce the 
environmental impacts and management burdens of undesignated climbing access trails 
on OSMP and CPW properties.  

The OSMP VMP of 2005 calls for development of the Eldorado Canyon climbing access 
corridors as described by the current lease. The Recreational Opportunities Initiative 
provides that: 

“Climbing Access Trails. Collaborate with the climbing community to develop a system 
of climbing access trails that provide sustainable access to desired destinations. This 
action involves: evaluation of existing undesignated trails with defined criteria; decisions 
on which trails to designate, close, or improve; and restoration of natural resources 
damaged by historically unsustainable access.” (VMP 2005, Page 39. See also: 
https://bouldercolorado.gov/osmp/visitor-master-plan) 

Additionally, the VMP directed the city to designate climbing accesses in Habitat 
Conservation Areas (HCA), including Peanuts Wall. This access route is located in the 
Eldorado Mountain HCA, which because of its diverse terrain, provides habitat for 
animals such as Flammulated Owls, forest hawks, mountain lions, Preble’s meadow 
jumping mice and rare butterflies such as Moss’ elfin.   

The proposed lease renewal extends the terms of the original lease by permitting CPW to 
develop, construct and manage the Upper Peanuts, Continental Crag cliffs, and Cadillac 
Crag cliffs trail and climbing access corridors. The staff of Eldorado Canyon State Park 
and OSMP staff will consult periodically on the use and condition of the areas and 
needed maintenance of, and around, the access corridors. As with the original lease, the 
city is not requesting a fee for this lease renewal and CPW incurs the costs associated 
with management and maintenance of the access corridors.  

CPW will enforce all applicable state laws consistent with enforcement within Eldorado 
Canyon State Park, including dogs on leash. In addition, collaboration with the climbing 
community is achieved by a requirement that review and approval of fixed climbing 
hardware will be done in compliance with the Action Committee for Eldorado’s Fixed 
Hardware Review Committee procedures. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Peanuts Wall and Continental Crag Cliffs Access Map 
B. Cadillac Crags Cliffs Access Map 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 3Packet Page 13



South Boulder Creek

Legend
Railroad

Lease Area

CPW Trail

CPW Climbing Access

OSMP Land 

Boulder County Land

Eldorado Canyon State Park

Colorado Open Land CE

BLM´
0 0.1 0.2

Miles
User: sherj1  Date: 9/2/2015  Document Path: E:\MapFiles\Property\Eldo Canyon lease\Eldo State Park lease 2015_ExhibitA_ClimbingAccess.mxd

Attachment A: Climbing Access

Eldorado Springs Drive

Ra
ttl

es
na

ke
Gu

lch
Tr

ai l
Fowler Trail

Pe
an

uts

Wall A
cc

es
s

Continental
Crag

Access

Agenda Item 3B     Page 4Packet Page 14



South Boulder Creek

Eldorado Spr ings Drive

El
do

ra
do

Ca
ny

on
Tr

ail W
e

st
Ridge

Rincon Cutoff

Ca
dil

la
c

C
ra

gs

Legend
OSMP Trail

CPW Trail

CPW Climbing Access

Lease Area

OSMP Land 

Boulder County Land

Eldorado Canyon State Park

Colorado Open Land CE´
0 0.1 0.2

Miles
Document Path: E:\MapFiles\Property\Eldo Canyon lease\Eldo State Park lease 2015_ExhibitB_ClimbingAccess.mxd

Attachment B: Climbing Access

Agenda Item 3B     Page 5Packet Page 15



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: November 17, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE:  Consideration of a motion to renew a ten-year lease, including an 
option to extend the lease term for an additional ten years, with Colorado Parks and 
Wildlife for 39.65 acres of open space property adjacent to Eldorado Canyon State Park 
for coordinated trail corridor management. 

PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 

Tracy Winfree, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Bethany Collins, Property Agent, Open Space and Mountain Parks 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This request would recommend a ten-year renewal of a lease of a 39.65-acre open space 
property adjacent to Eldorado Canyon State Park including the option to extend the lease 
term for an additional ten years. The renewal allows the State of Colorado – Colorado 
Parks and Wildlife (CPW) – continued management of a portion of the Rattlesnake Gulch 
Trail that lies on City of Boulder Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) lands. This is 
a renewal of the lease that expired in September 2011, but had a hold over clause and 
CPW continues to manage the trail corridor under the terms of that lease. 

Since 1904, the Rattlesnake Gulch Trail (Attachment A) has been a popular corridor for 
visitors to Eldorado Canyon State Park and the management coordination of OSMP 
property permitted by this lease fulfills the City of Boulder Charter’s purposes of 
preservation and providing land for passive recreational use. OSMP acquired this 
property from the State Board of Land Commissioners in 1992 with the trail lease in 
place and renewed the agreement with CPW in 2001. As with the original lease, the city 
is not requesting a fee for this lease renewal and CPW incurs the costs associated with 
management and maintenance of the trail.  Partnering with CPW on this management 
approach is more efficient for OSMP.  If OSMP were to manage these properties, staff 
would be required to access through the state park property and trail system.  The 
partnership with CPW has proven to be very effective and collaborative over time. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 1Packet Page 16



Public notice is required by the city Charter prior to Open Space Board of Trustees 
(OSBT) action on a disposal of OSMP lands. Council approval is also required by the 
city Charter for leases of open space lands.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Suggested Motion Language: 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to authorize the city manager to enter into a ten-year lease, including the option to 
renew for an additional ten years, for 39.65 acres of open space property adjacent to 
Eldorado Canyon State Park for coordinated trail corridor management as approved by 
OSMP and CPW staff and the City Attorney’s Office.   

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic – This lease renewal does not provide revenue to OSMP, but OSMP

also does not incur any additional costs associated with the permitted activities. 
Eldorado Canyon State Park is responsible for management costs of the trail 
corridor and is permitted to charge access fees since the trail must be accessed 
through Eldorado Canyon State Park. 

• Environmental – The management coordination allowed by this lease renewal
reduces impacts caused by undesignated trails, and preserves and protects 
important species and habitats. 

• Social – This lease renewal permits CPW to continue to provide the general
public with managed access to a popular trail asset. While the state park access 
fees may limit some residents’ ability to use the City of Boulder Open Space, the 
city land subject to this lease renewal is not otherwise accessible without this 
lease.  

OTHER IMPACTS 
• Fiscal – This lease renewal does not require additional fiscal resources.
• Staff time – Administration of this lease renewal is within the budgeted functions

of OSMP.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
At its Sept. 9, 2015 public meeting, the OSBT unanimously approved and recommended 
council approval of this lease renewal. 

PUBLIC COMMENT AND PROCESS 
This item was heard at the Sept. 9, 2015 OSBT public meeting advertised in the Daily 
Camera on Sept. 6, 2015. A Notice of Disposal of Open Space Lands was published in 
the Daily Camera on Aug. 29, 2015 and Aug. 30, 2015 pursuant to Section 177 of the 
city Charter. This item will also be advertised and heard during a public Colorado Parks 
and Wildlife Commission meeting in early 2016.  

Agenda Item 3C     Page 2Packet Page 17



ANALYSIS 
The Rattlesnake Gulch Trail is a multiple-use, 2 ½ mile, moderately difficult trail that 
gains nearly 1,200 feet in elevation and offers spectacular views of Eldorado Canyon, the 
continental divide, and the eastern plains, and it is in close proximity to the historic Crags 
Hotel ruins. This trail corridor is located in the Eldorado Mountain Habitat Conservation 
Area, which because of its diverse terrain, provides habitat for animals such as 
Flammulated Owls, forest hawks, mountain lions, Preble’s meadow jumping mice and 
rare butterflies such as Moss’ elfin. Important resources in the area include a diverse bird 
community utilizing the high-quality montane habitat, and the management of the 
property and trail includes a seasonal closure due to a nearby Golden Eagle nest.  

The proposed lease renewal extends the existing management coordination that has been 
in place since 1992 by contracting with CPW to patrol, enforce and maintain the trail 
corridor. The staff of Eldorado Canyon State Park and OSMP staff will consult 
periodically on the use and condition of the area and needed maintenance of, and around, 
the trail corridor. CPW and OSMP will communicate during regular intervals regarding 
the nesting status of the Golden Eagle nest.  CPW will enforce all applicable state laws 
consistent with enforcement within Eldorado Canyon State Park, including dogs on leash. 
As with the original leases, the city is not requesting a fee for this lease renewal and CPW 
incurs the costs associated with management and maintenance of the trail. 

ATTACHMENT: 
A. Rattlesnake Gulch Trail Corridor Map 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 3Packet Page 18



South Boulder Creek

El
do

ra
do

C
an

yo
n

Tr
ai

l

Legend
Railroads

Lease  Property

CPW Trail

OSMP Land 

Boulder County Land

Eldorado Canyon State Park

Colorado Open Land CE

BLM´
0 0.1 0.2

Miles
User: sherj1  Date: 9/2/2015  Document Path: E:\MapFiles\Property\Eldo Canyon lease\Eldo State Park lease 2015_ExhibitA_TrailLease.mxd

Attachment A: Trail Lease

Rat tlesnake Gulch Trail

Eldorado Springs Drive

Fowler Trail

Agenda Item 3C     Page 4Packet Page 19



C I T Y   O F   B O U L D E R 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  November 17, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE:  Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only an ordinance approving November/December supplemental 
appropriations for the 2015 Budget. 

PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
Gina Coluzzi, Senior Budget Analyst 
Maria Diaz, Budget Analyst 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
As described in the Budget Philosophy and Process section of the annual budget 
document, each year at least two supplemental ordinances (known as Adjustments to 
Base (ATB), where the “base” is the original annual budget) are presented to City 
Council for review and approval. In years where new initiatives are launched and other 
unique circumstances become apparent after annual budget approval, additional 
adjustments to base may be brought forward for council consideration. Previous 
supplemental requests brought to council this year include: 

 A supplemental for high priority Community Planning and Open Space and
Mountain Parks work items, approved by council on March 17;

 A supplemental to appropriate new, one-time revenues from Recreational
Marijuana and the three year community, culture and safety tax (ballot item 2A),
approved by council on May 5;

 The Annual Carryover and “first” Adjustments to Base covering numerous,
typically small, adjustments related to ongoing work plan items and new
revenues, approved by council on May 19;

Agenda Item 3D     Page 1Packet Page 20

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/128570/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/128829/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/128919/Electronic.aspx


 A supplemental to appropriate earnest money for the Boulder Community
Hospital Broadway campus site purchase offer, approved by council on August
18;

 A supplemental related to reorganization in Open Space and Mountain Parks and
critical IT needs, crucial to improved customer service and security, approved by
council on September 15;

 A supplemental related to Storm Water & Flood Management revenue bonds
series 2015, approved by council on August 18.

This supplemental request for 2015 is the Budget Supplemental that council sees every 
year in November/December, that will help close out the year with necessary adjustments 
for new revenues, such as grants, and other evolving budget needs identified as the year 
progresses, as well as adjustments necessitated by accounting requirements. 

As always, existing budget is used, wherever possible, to cover even increasing costs, and 
regular operating tradeoffs are made, and savings sought, in order to complete work plans 
within existing budget. Supplemental budget is only requested at this time for clearly 
identified, 2015 priority work items for which additional budget is needed and one-time 
funds are available, after all reserves have been met.  

This supplemental ordinance will adjust only the current year budget and the adjustments 
included are considered “one-time” only. As a result, they have no direct or immediate 
impact on the following year’s budget.  

A proposed ordinance is provided as Attachment A to this packet and detailed narrative 
information on each budget supplemental request is included in Attachment B.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language: 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to introduce and order published by title only an ordinance approving 
supplemental appropriations to the 2015 Budget.  

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
This supplemental ordinance appropriates funding for a variety of citywide projects and 
services that positively affect economic, environmental or social sustainability in the 
community. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 2Packet Page 21

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/130032/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/130032/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/130265/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/130031/Electronic.aspx


OTHER IMPACTS 
 Fiscal:

In the General Fund this ordinance will appropriate $1,255,235 from additional
revenue and $ $1,927,623 from fund balance. It also includes a net increase in
revenue only of $7,250.

In restricted funds, this ordinance will appropriate $4,629,617 from additional 
revenue and $8,663,126 from fund balance. It also includes a net decrease in 
revenue only of $5,989.  

 Staff time for this process is allocated in the Budget Division’s regular annual
work plan.

ANALYSIS 

Types of requests contained in this packet 

The following requests provide examples of supplemental appropriations from 
various fund balances: 

 2015 November election costs (General Fund)
 Legal Assistance to Mobile Home Owners (General Fund)
 Flatirons Event Center Demo (.25 Sales Tax Fund)
 Depot Square at Boulder Junction (Affordable Housing Fund)
 Impact Fee/Excise Tax Study (various funds)

The following requests provide examples of supplemental appropriations from new 
revenue: 

 Wellness Credit from the city’s healthcare provider (General Fund)
 Sewer Bond Issuance (Wastewater Utility)
 Appropriation for additional program funding from grant and/or donation revenue

(multiple funds)

A third category of supplemental appropriations are a negative appropriation, an 
example of this type of request is a reduction in grant funding. 

Also included are supplemental appropriations to transfer between funds.  An example 
of this type of request is the transfer of funds from a United Healthcare credit in the 
General Fund to the Workers Compensation fund, to supplement the wellbeing program, 
an allowable use of the credit. 

Finally, a number of other adjustments are identified in this final budget supplemental 
to meet accounting requirements. Examples of these types of requests are prior year 
encumbrance corrections in various funds related to the recent transition to a new 
financial system. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 3Packet Page 22



Additional Information on Selected Adjustment to Base Requests 

Fire Alerting System 
This request appropriates $580,000 from General Fund fund balance, to upgrade the Fire-
Rescue Department’s station alerting system (SAS). The funding will replace aging 
infrastructure and provide for fast and reliable crew notification. Station alerting notifies 
the crews of a 911 call and provides the appropriate response information. The new 
technology will allow for simultaneous alerting of multiple stations and will automate 
information flow to improve emergency response times. It is intended to reduce the time 
from 911 call to response team notification and reduce the burden on the 911 call 
taker/dispatcher. A contract for services with the selected vendor is expected to be 
finalized in November with installation beginning late November or early December, 
2015. The project is expected to last approximately 120 days with testing, training and 
switchover to follow. This request is in response to council’s input at the April 14 study 
session. 

Wastewater Treatment Facility (WWTF) Permit Improvements 
This request appropriates $4,000,000 from Wastewater Fund fund balance for WWTF 
facilities improvements required to meet new effluent regulations identified in the 2011 
Colorado Discharge Permit System (CDPS) Permit. The WWTF must meet the new 
effluent limits by December 2017. The project will involve the modification of existing 
and the construction of new facilities to meet daily maximum ammonia and nitrate limits. 
The project, originally identified in the 2012 Capital Improvement Program (CIP) process 
for construction in 2015, was bid in May 2015. Although original estimates for the 
project were estimated at $1.9 million, the expected project total cost, following bid, is 
now approximately $5.5 million. The higher than originally estimated cost is due in part 
to current bidding conditions, and also to the fact that the city is an early implementer of 
the technology to meet these requirements and technology needs and costs were not well 
known in advance of actually designing the project. Additionally, the city is 
implementing an innovative design approach, in an effort to minimize long-term 
operation and maintenance costs. The design approach will involve utilizing a brewery 
waste product from a local supplier for beneficial reuse to minimize the chemical 
addition requirements for the facility’s biological process. A $1,080,000 grant was 
awarded by the State of Colorado (to improve water quality in Colorado) associated with 
Regulation #85 (a nutrient management control regulation).  It is not anticipated that the 
additional cost over original estimate will impact the current operating or CIP budget, 
given higher than expected Plant Investment Fee (PIF) revenues and available fund 
balance. The completion of this project is anticipated in early 2017.    

Landlink Replacement Project (LRP+)  
This request appropriates $100,000 from the Open Space Fund fund balance to replace 
current outdated permitting systems. The Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) 
Department is participating, along with Planning & Development Services, Finance, 
Parking, and Code Enforcement, in the Landlink Replacement Project (LRP+), a new 
citywide enterprise permitting software upgrade. The LandLink System will assist OSMP 
in delivering essential services, help manage data and operations, and track and collect 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 4Packet Page 23

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/129012/Electronic.aspx


revenue as they relate to Commercial Use, Off Trail, Parking, Special Use permits, as 
well as assist with the Voice & Sight tag process. Phase I, which covered GIS integration 
configuration, programming business processes, and writing technical specifications to 
integrate with the city’s financial system have been completed. Phase II began October 
2015, this phase will utilize consultant services to support configuration with a planned 
implementation the first quarter of 2017. The funding being requested is the OSMP share 
of the estimated costs associated with this project. 

Overview of Total Requests 

A summary table of the carryover and supplemental requests by fund can be found in 
Attachment C. In this table, in the narrative information (Attachment B) and in 
common usage in city meetings, the April/May and November/December budget 
supplementals are also referred to as the First Adjustment to Base and Second 
Adjustment to Base, respectively. The current year’s council-approved budget is the 
“base” in the term Adjustment to Base (ATB). 

In total, the city recommends $16,475,600 in appropriations, of which $5,884,852 come 
from new revenues and $10,590,749 from fund balance. Attachment D is a schedule 
reflecting the impact of the supplemental appropriations for 2015 on the projected fund 
balance for each fund. 

The council’s second reading of this item is scheduled for the Dec. 1 City Council 
meeting. 

ATTACHMENTS 
A. Proposed Ordinance containing supplemental appropriations to the 2015 Budget 
B. Narrative descriptions of all supplemental appropriations to the 2015 Budget by fund 
C. Table of all supplemental appropriations to the 2015 Budget by fund 
D. 2015 Fund Activity Summary 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 5Packet Page 24



Attachment A 

ORDINANCE NO. 8092 1 

AN ORDINANCE RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL 2 
AFFAIRS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, 3 
MAKING SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATIONS FOR 4 
THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2015 5 
SETTING FORTH DETAILS IN RELATION TO THE 6 
FOREGOING. 7 

8 

WHEREAS, Section 102 of the Charter of the City of Boulder provides that: "At any 9 

time after the passage of the annual appropriation ordinance and after at least one week's public 10 

notice, the council may transfer unused balances appropriated for one purpose to another 11 

purpose, and may by ordinance appropriate available revenues not included in the annual 12 

budget;" and 13 

WHEREAS, the City Council now desires to make certain supplemental appropriations 14 

for purposes not provided for in the 2015 annual budget; and, 15 

WHEREAS, required public notice has been given; 16 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 17 

OF BOULDER, COLORADO, that the following amounts are appropriated from additional 18 

projected revenues and from unused fund balances to the listed funds: 19 

Section 1.  General Fund 20 
21 

Appropriation from Fund Balance $  1,927,623 22 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue  $  1,255,235 23 
Increase in Revenue  $         7,250 24 

25 
Section 2.  Capital Development Fund 26 

27 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $       90,173 28 

29 
Section 3.  Library Fund 30 

31 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $         2,500 32 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $     301,194 33 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 6Packet Page 25



Attachment A 

Section 4.  Lottery Fund 1 
2 

Appropriation from Additional Revenue $        11,631 3 
4 

Section 5.  Planning & Development Services Fund  5 
6 

Appropriation from Additional Revenue $        12,110 7 
Negative Appropriation $       (71,423) 8 

9 
Section 6.  Affordable Housing Fund 10 

11 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $       526,584 12 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $    2,634,171 13 

14 
Section 7.  .25 Cent Sales Tax Fund  15 

16 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $       385,643 17 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $           5,450 18 

19 
Section 8.  Recreation Activity Fund  20 

21 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $          5,873 22 

23 
Section 9.  Climate Action Plan Fund  24 

25 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $       200,000 26 

27 
Section 10.  Open Space Fund 28 

29 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $       791,924 30 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $         85,982 31 
Decrease in Revenue  $        (20,014) 32 

33 
Section 11.  Transportation Fund 34 

35 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $         15,833 36 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $       584,500 37 
Increase in Revenue  $         14,025 38 

39 
Section 12.  Transportation Development Fund 40 

41 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $         84,160 42 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $       100,000 43 

44 
45 
46 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 7Packet Page 26



Attachment A 

Section 13.  Community Development Block Grant Fund 1 
2 

Appropriation from Additional Revenue $          28,232 3 
4 

Section 14.  HOME Fund 5 
6 

Appropriation from Additional Revenue $        100,000 7 
8 

Section 15.  Permanent Parks and Recreation Fund  9 
10 

Appropriation from Fund Balance  $          13,227 11 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue  $          13,000 12 

13 
Section 16.  Capital Improvement Community, Culture & Safety  14 

15 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $            5,000 16 

17 
Section 17.  Water Utility Fund  18 

19 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $        897,023 20 

21 
Section 18.  Wastewater Utility Fund  22 

23 
Appropriation from Fund Balance $     4,373,500 24 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $        432,039 25 

26 
Section19.  Stormwater/Flood Management Utility Fund 27 

28 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $        373,500 29 

30 
Section 20.  Property and Casualty Fund  31 

32 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $        170,000 33 

34 
Section 21. Workers Compensation Insurance Fund  35 

36 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $          26,930 37 

38 
Section 22.  Equipment Replacement Fund  39 

40 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $        275,000 41 

42 
Section 23.  Facility Renovation and Replacement Fund  43 

44 
Appropriation from Fund Balance  $         735,482 45 
Appropriation from Additional Revenue $           83,505 46 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 8Packet Page 27



Attachment A 

1 
Section 24.  The City Council finds that this ordinance is necessary to protect the public 2 

health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the City and covers matters of local concern. 3 

4 

Section 25.  If any part or parts hereof are for any reason held to be invalid, such shall not 5 

affect the remaining portion of this ordinance. 6 

7 

Section 26.  The Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 8 

only and order that copies of this ordinance be made available in the Office of the City Clerk for 9 

public inspection and acquisition. 10 

11 

INTRODUCED, READ, ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 12 

TITLE ONLY this 17th day of November, 2015.  13 

14 

_________________________________ 15 

Mayor 16 

17 

Attest: 18 

______________________________ 19 

City Clerk  20 

21 

22 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 9Packet Page 28



Attachment A 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 1 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE this 1st day of December, 2015. 2 

__________________________________ 3 

Mayor 4 

5 

Attest: 6 

7 

_______________________________ 8 

City Clerk 9 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 10Packet Page 29



DEFINITIONS AND REQUEST NARRATIVE 
FINAL ADJUSTMENT TO BASE OF 2015 

DEFINITIONS 

Budget Supplementals 

Budget Supplemental from Fund Balance 
Adjustments for new appropriation from a specific fund’s available fund balance. 

Budget Supplemental from Fund Balance Reserve 
Adjustments for new appropriation from a specific fund’s available fund balance where use is 
limited for specific purposes, typically due to legal restrictions or management assignment. 

Budget Supplemental from Additional Revenue 
Grants - Budget supplementals from grant revenues are required throughout the year 
since either the grant was not anticipated and was therefore not incorporated into the 
original budget, or because the grant amount actually received was more than the 
amount specified in the original budget.  

Miscellaneous - This category includes annual unanticipated funds received for city 
programs and services, including items such as donations, fundraisers, wildland fire 
costs or cooperative agreements between municipalities. In addition, beginning in 2007, 
reimbursements for some services (e.g. insurance proceeds, off-duty police officer 
services, city-sponsored training programs) are now officially recognized as 
miscellaneous revenues instead of reducing expenditures. Best practices accounting and 
reporting standards require these revenues to be reflected through the formal 
appropriation process. 

Transfers to/from Other Funds 
Transfers between funds requiring City Council approval. 

Budget Adjustments Necessitated by Accounting Requirements  
Adjustments required based on generally accepted accounting and reporting requirements. 
These adjustments are made in the final adjustments to base. 

Negative Appropriations 
Adjustments reducing approved appropriations based on identified reductions in revenue 
sources (e.g. grant funding reductions). 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 11Packet Page 30



BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL DETAILS BY FUND 

GENERAL FUND 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance 
Arts - Impact Fee/Excise Tax Study - $17,900 
The current impact fees/excise taxes were based on a study completed in 2008.  This funding 
for the new study covers consulting costs to address the following (with amounts included):  
Municipal Facilities - $69,160, Transportation - $84,160, Housing - $91,900, Public Art - 
$17,900. 

City Attorney’s Office - Legal Assistance to Mobile Home Owners - $15,000 
At the April 21, 2015, City Council meeting, council approved 2015 funding of $20,000 from 
the City Manager’s Contingency to provide legal assistance to mobile home owners in Boulder. 
Following an RFP, the city entered into a contract with the National Manufactured Home Owners 
Association (NMHOA) for these services. An additional $15,000 is requested for the remainder 
of 2015. Given the positive results of this service and the continuing community need, $50,000 
has been included in the 2016 Budget in the City Attorney’s Office for ongoing legal assistance 
to Boulder mobile home owners. 

City Attorney’s Office - Reallocation of Property Agent Position- $20,014 
Corresponding with the 2015 Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) reorganization, and 
recognizing the citywide nature of the work performed, staff is recommending transferring a 
property agent position from OSMP to the City Attorney's Office (CAO). This position has 
historically worked closely with the CAO on city-wide real estate initiatives and this move will 
help streamline work process.  This adjustment will reduce the General Fund Transfer to the 
Open Space Fund and increase the General Fund appropriation in the CAO by the amount of the 
remaining 2015 salary and benefits of the position. A corresponding reduction of the transfer in 
to the Open Space fund is also needed. 

City Clerk – Administrative Support - $ 53,583 
Due to an increased number of council meetings in 2015, funds are being requested to cover 
corresponding additional support needs.   

City Clerk – City Clerk Recruitment - $27,000 
This request is to cover recruiting expenses to fill the City Clerk Position.  At the time of 
developing the 2015 budget, the need for this recruitment was not yet known. Due to a high 
volume of council activity in 2015, and corresponding administrative support costs, budget 
savings are not available in the City Clerk’s Office to cover this. 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 12Packet Page 31



City Clerk - New City Clerk - $30,000 
In order to assure a smooth transition of critical municipal functions, the new  City Clerk has 
been hired 7 months prior to the current Clerk's retirement departure (May 1, 2016) for cross 
training. At the time of developing the 2015 budget, the need for this transition was not yet 
known. This request is for the overlapping personnel costs of the new Clerk from October - 
December, 2015. Due to a high volume of council activity in 2015, and corresponding 
administrative support costs, budget savings are not available in the City Clerk’s Office to cover 
this transition. 

City Clerk - 2015 Election Costs - $55,630 
The city contracts with Boulder County to conduct the November coordinated election.  The 
volume of city ballot items in 2015 was higher than usual and based on the city portion of 
items on the ballot it is estimated that the 2015 election will cost $55,630 more than originally 
budgeted. 

City Clerk - Campaign Finance - Matching Funds - $35,153 
Nine candidates applied for matching campaign funds in 2015, totaling $80,759.30. This is 
$35,153.05 more than originally budgeted. This request for supplemental appropriation is to 
cover the difference between the original budget, based on historical patterns, and the actual 
costs. 

Communications - Board and Commission Meeting Video Coverage - $30,000 
Council included $30,000 in the 2015 Budget for a six-month pilot program to expand video 
coverage of council and board and commission meetings. Given the success of the pilot 
program, council approved the continuation of the program ongoing. This request appropriates 
funds to cover expanded video coverage for the period of July - December of 2015. The 
ongoing funding for 2016 has been included in the 2016 Budget. 

Finance – Payroll and Finance Support - $13,803 
This request is to fund temporary support for payroll processing. The position will serve as 
payroll processing back up and assist with other finance processing duties, while regular payroll 
staff work on the implementation of the payroll module of the new financial system. This 
includes salary and benefits for 3 months. 

Finance - Purchasing and AP Support-Temporary - $21,600 
This request will provide funding for temporary personnel services to support the transition to 
the new financial system related to purchasing and to accounts payable. 

Fire - Fire Training Center Prairie Dog Fence Replacement - $27,000 
This request is to cover the replacement of the prairie dog fence surrounding the fire training 
center. The 2015 Budget included $98,000 for this item, however, actual bids have come in 
$27,000 higher than the original budget. 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 13Packet Page 32



Fire - Office of Emergency Management City-share Funding Correction- $39,846 
After auditing the shared expense calculation for the city/County Office of Emergency 
Management, Boulder County has discovered an error in the method previously used to 
calculate the shared expense. The result is an increase in the city share. This request is to fund 
the increased city share of OEM operations in 2015. The corrected shared costs going forward 
have been included in the 2016 Budget. 

Fire – Station Alerting System - $580,000 
The Fire-Rescue Department is upgrading its station alerting system (SAS) to replace aging 
infrastructure and provide for fast and reliable crew notification. Station alerting notifies the 
crews of a 911 call and provides the appropriate response information. The new technology will 
allow for simultaneous alerting of multiple stations and will automate information flow to 
improve emergency response times. It is intended to reduce the time from 911 call to response 
team notification and reduce the burden on the 911 call taker/dispatcher. A contract for 
services with the selected vendor is expected to be finalized in November with installation 
beginning late November or early December, 2015. The project is expected to last 
approximately 120 days with testing, training and switchover to follow.  This item was 
identified as a critical need during the April 2015 Council Study Session and council supported 
this capital replacement. 

Human Resources - Human Resources Temporary Backfill - $130,000 
This represents funding to cover temporary, long-term, and unexpected personnel backfill. 

Human Services - 2014 Carryover for Human Services Recreational Marijuana Educational 
Programs - $250,000 
In 2014, council approved $250,000 for educational programs related to the legalization of 
Recreational Marijuana (RMJ) in Colorado. This request is to carryover the 2014 funds, from RMJ 
revenues. Humans Services has been working on the development and implementation of 
community-wide educational programs for children, youth and families, related to the impacts 
of RMJ use on young people in concert with community partners, including Boulder County 
Public Health, BVSD, Mental Health Partners and non-profits.  These funds will be used, along 
with the $250,000 approved in 2015, to scope, develop and implement messaging and support 
existing best practice community education and support programs. An additional $250,000 is 
included in the 2016 budget for ongoing educational programs. All funds for this program 
come from RMJ revenues. 

Planning, Housing & Sustainability - Waste Reduction Services - $143,894 
This is a request to appropriate additional trash tax revenues received in 2014 that were 
identified after the reconciliation related to the county payoff for 6400 Arapahoe. As the 
revenues were received in 2014, they fell to fund balance at the end of 2014. The funding will 
be used to purchase a portable truck scale for compost transfer operations. 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 14Packet Page 33



Police - Blood/Chemical Testing - $52,000 
This is a request to appropriate $52,000 for blood and chemical testing related to DUI 
enforcement. The State of Colorado law reads that the fees charged be returned to the testing 
agency to offset expenses. The request will be funded by revenues received for DUI Fines. 

Police - Federal Asset Forfeiture - $45,450 
This is a request to appropriate funds of $45,450 from the Federal Asset Forfeiture reserves for 
the cost of the Training Academy for new police officers. The use of these funds is regulated by 
federal guidelines. 

Public Works-Support Services – Center Green Costs - $171,000 
The City leases space at 3065 Center Green and this is a request to appropriate funds for costs 
associated with the relocation of staff from Information Technology, Fire and Rescue 
Administration, Human Resources and Information Resources to Center Green. 

Public Works-Transportation – Municipal Building Pool Car - $20,000 
In order to help provide work related multimodal options for employees, a pool car will be 
purchased for the Municipal Building.  This will allow employees to travel within the city without 
the need to drive their own vehicle to work for this purpose, reducing the use of single 
occupancy vehicle commuting travel.   

Risk Management – Unemployment Compensation -$93,000 
This request appropriates additional funding needed for 2015 unemployment compensation 
payments above original budget estimates. 

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue 
Communications – Channel 8 Production - $5,000 
Channel 8 is projected to generate $5,000 in revenue, producing additional programming.  This 
request would appropriate these revenues to fund the additional costs associated with 
production requests and special projects in delivering the city message. 

Fire – AMR Software Use - $9,787 
This request appropriates funds received for reimbursing expenses incurred by the city for EMS 
training software being used by AMR Ambulance. 

Fire – Fire-EMS Response - $12,303 
This request appropriates funds received from our ambulance provider, AMR Ambulance. The 
city’s contract with AMR Ambulance includes a provision in which AMR must pay if they do not 
meet the established response time criteria. Appropriation of these funds is requested to be 
applied toward emergency response costs. 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 15Packet Page 34



Fire – Medical Advisor - $60,000 
This request appropriates funds received from AMR Ambulance for the fees of the required 
medical advisor. 

Fire – Classes and Standby Reimbursement - $2,178 
This request appropriates funds received for classes or standby coverage provided by the Fire 
Department to local businesses. The revenue is collected from these classes and coverage and 
is used to offset the costs incurred to provide the services. 

Fire – Wildland Fire Reimbursement - $478,960 
This request appropriates funds received in reimbursement for expenses incurred by the city 
for sending resources to wildland fires and other emergencies around the country. 

General Government – Education Access Funding PEG - $73,043 
The City of Boulder Currently receives a .50 cent subscriber fee from Comcast to fund 
equipment for both a government and public access education channel.  The revenue from the 
2015 subscriber fee is estimated to be $146,942. This amount is to be equally distributed 
between Municipal Channel 8 (government station managed by the city) and the entity the City 
of Boulder contracts with to provide Education Access service (Ch 22).  Currently this contract is 
held by Boulder Valley Media Alliance.  This request would appropriate the Education Access 
portion of the Revenue to fund equipment replacement. 

Human Services - City of Lafayette Bus Share - $2,500 
The City of Boulder and the City of Lafayette jointly purchased a bus which is used for activities 
and trips for Senior Services provided by both cities. This adjustment appropriates revenue from 
Lafayette for that city's portion of shared bus expenses. 

Human Services – Encore - $2,000 
This request appropriates funds to the Boulder Encore Program, an optional membership 
program for Senior Services. The program offers discounts for classes and services in exchange 
for an annual membership fee. The $2,000 received from memberships sold in 2015 will be 
used to cover costs of the program. 

Human Services – FRS Afterschool Fees - $31,000 
This request appropriates funds received for afterschool programming activities at Columbine, 
Creekside, Crestview, Dunhill and Whittier Elementary Schools. 

Human Services - GMS Partnership Revenue - $7,147 
This request provides funding for the Human Services Fund grant management system (GMS) 
partnership for shared software costs. This shared software allows the participating entities to 
coordinate human services funding to local nonprofits providing these services. The shared 
software also improves efficiency for the funded agencies by allowing the agency to submit one 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 16Packet Page 35



application for funding instead of requiring a separate application for each funder. This 
software is shared with United Way, Boulder County and the City of Longmont. Their 
contribution to the shared cost is $1,786.80, $3,573.60, and $1,786.80, respectively. 

Human Services – SilverSneakers® - $38,000 
The City of Boulder's Department of Parks and Recreation and the Senior Services Division of 
the Department of Human Services (HS) have a contract with American Healthways Services 
(Healthways) to provide the nationally successful SilverSneakers® program in the City of 
Boulder. The SilverSneakers® program, which is free to eligible participants, enhances the 
fitness and wellness of Medicare-eligible seniors and disabled people. Revenue from 
Healthways will be used to cover the HS costs of providing the program. 

Planning, Housing & Sustainability – BHP PILOT Payment - $12,452 
This request appropriates funds to reimburse Boulder Housing Partners (BHP) for property tax 
payments. BHP is required to pay Payment in Lieu of Taxes (PILOT) to various property taxing 
districts. This amount represents the city portion of the 2015 PILOT payment from BHP. 

Planning, Housing & Sustainability - CU Conference Hotel Study - $16,777 
This is a request to appropriate additional revenue from CU for their contribution towards the 
CU Conference Hotel Study. 

Police - Code Enforcement Abatements - $4,800 
This is a request to appropriate $4,800 in abatements received to cover the costs of hiring 
outside vendors to bring properties into compliance with the City ordinances that apply to snow 
removal, weed, and grass cutting.  

Police – Donations - $4,055  
This is a request to appropriate $4,055 from donations made from Gruber ($3,055) to fund the 
replacement of the first aid kits in the patrol vehicles; and a donation made from the Citizens 
Academy ($1,000) to purchase tourniquets for the officers’ kits. 

Police - Drug Task Force Armory Equipment -$6,950 
This is a request to appropriate $6,950 to purchase ammunition and equipment from the 
proceeds that came from returning equipment and recycling the brass from the firing range. 

Police - Miscellaneous Services-Dispatch - $65,750 
This is a request to appropriate funds of $65,750 from the Miscellaneous Services revenue. 
American Medical Response (AMR) has contracted with our Communications Center to dispatch 
their services on emergency calls.  Boulder Regional Emergency Telephone Authority (BRETSA) is 
funding the salary and benefits of the Communication Aided Dispatch (CAD) support person. 
This appropriation of $40,750 partially funds the salary of the Project Manager for the new 
Records Management System.  

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 17Packet Page 36



Police – Off-Duty Police Overtime - $275,000 
This is a request to appropriate funds received from private organizations to offset 
expenditures for Off-Duty Police Overtime Services. 
 
Police - Open Records Research - $7,000 
This is a request to appropriate funds from Open Records Research for a total of $7,000. The 
$7,000 was collected for providing copies of records to the public, newspapers, lawyers, and 
insurance companies. These funds will be used for offsetting expenditures that were unfunded. 
 
Police – Training - $12,000 
This is a request to appropriate funds of $12,000 received from multi-agency training provided 
by the Police department. The training unit collected funds from outside agencies and these 
funds are used to offset the expenditures which paid for outside instructors. Multi-agency 
training helps provide for advanced training for the Boulder Police Department at no cost. 
Multi-agencies pay for instructors and the department receives two to four slots free per 
classes held. 
 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue - Grants 
Human Services – 2014/2015 21st Century Learning Grant (CCLC) - $8,312 
This request is to adjust revenue and appropriation to the full and final award level of the grant. 
This grant supports afterschool programming activities at Columbine and Uni Hill Elementary 
schools which are academic in nature to help remove learning barriers and bring children who 
are below grade level to levels on par for academic achievement. 
 
Human Services – 2014/2015 QUALISTAR Childcare Referral Grant - $3,737 
This request is to adjust revenue and appropriation to the full and final award level of the grant. 
This grant supports the city's child care referral program which assists Boulder residents with 
finding quality childcare. 
 
Human Services – 2014/2015 United Way Grant - $252 
This request is to adjust revenue and appropriation to the full and final award level of the grant. 
This grant supports the city's child care referral program which assists Boulder residents with 
finding quality affordable child care. 
 
Human Services – Restorative Justice Grant 2015 - $11,000 
This appropriates grant funding received from the Boulder County's District Attorney's office to 
provide funding for restorative justice services for minors who are referred to the program by 
the District Attorney's office. The grant is anticipated to cover restorative justice costs related to 
serving 24 City of Boulder residents with lesser offenses. 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 18Packet Page 37



Human Services – Senior Foundation Grant - $5,000 
This request appropriates funds awarded to the Human Services department from the Boulder 
Seniors foundation to be used for production costs of the "Human Services Insight" television 
(Ch 8) show. 

Police - 2015 Click-it-or-Ticket (CIOT) Grant – $15,120 
This is a request to appropriate $15,120 in revenue that was received from a grant issued by 
the Colorado Department of Transportation through the National Highway Transportation Safety 
Association. The May and the July Nighttime Seatbelt Click-it-or-Ticket Campaigns are used to 
increase compliance with the Colorado seatbelt laws and increase the public awareness of 
suffering serious or fatal injuries for failure to properly use a seatbelt. The grant covers 
$15,120 in Police Officer overtime for seatbelt enforcement during the May and July Nighttime 
campaigns. 

Police - Colorado Office of Victim Advocates (COVA) Scholarship - $9,390 
This is a request to appropriate funds of $9,390 received from the Colorado Office of Victim 
Advocates (COVA). These funds are used to send the Victim Advocates and several officers to 
the annual training and conference for Victim Advocates. Victim Advocates help members of the 
community who have been victims of and or witnessed violent crimes. 

Police - Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) 2015 - $43,268 
This is a request to appropriate $43,268 of anticipated revenue received from the U.S. 
Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, for the 2014 Edward Byrne Justice Assistance 
Grant (JAG) for a joint submission with the City of Longmont Police Department. The JAG will 
provide $21,982 to the Boulder Police Department for equipment used to prevent and control 
crime in the community. The balance of the grant, $21,982, was awarded to the Longmont 
Police Dept. who will continue to fund the Longmont Ending Violence Initiative. 

Police - Law Enforcement Assistance Fund (LEAF) 2015 Grant - $26,500 
This is a request to appropriate $26,500 of revenue received from the Colorado Division of 
Transportation for the 2015 LEAF Grant. The department was awarded the funds to increase 
and improve the enforcement of laws pertaining to alcohol and drug related traffic offenses. 
The department will conduct various saturation patrols and DUI enforcement throughout the 
year using $25,000 in overtime, in addition the department will purchase breathing tubes for 
the field testing associated with DUI stops for $1,500. 

General Fund Increase in Revenue 
Human Resources – Wellness Credit - $67,436 
United Healthcare provided the city with a premium credit to offset incorrect billings totaling 
$94,366.  $26,930 of this will be transferred and appropriated in the Workers Compensation 
fund for the city's 2015 Well-Being program, which is a recommended use of this funding. The 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 19Packet Page 38



remainder of $67,436 will be recorded as revenue in the General Fund to be applied for future 
one-time budgetary needs.  
 
Human Services – FRS Afterschool Fees - $11,237 
This request records funds received for afterschool programming activities at Columbine, 
Creekside, Crestview, Dunhill and Whittier Elementary Schools. Appropriation of this amount for 
the program was previously approved. 
 
General Fund Negative Appropriation 
Human Services – 2014/2015 Infant Toddler Quality Asst Grant – ($20,975) 
This requests adjusts revenue and appropriation to the final award level. This funding supports 
the city's child care recruitment and training program which is focused on increasing the 
number of highly rated child care providers by providing assistance with accreditation and 
quality improvement. As a result of this grant award at a lower level than anticipated, services 
for quality improvement training will be provided at a lower level than anticipated, with fewer 
training and technical assistance opportunities for child care providers than originally planned. 
 
General Fund Transfer(s) From Other Funds 
Citywide – Cost Allocation Adjustment – ($71,423)   
With numerous space changes occurring in 2015, a mid-year update to the cost allocation plan 
was needed to appropriately account for these. The updated plan resulted in a lower charge to 
the Planning & Development Services fund than originally budgeted. This adjustment applies 
the updated information. The cost allocation plan is normally updated every two years with the 
next update to apply to the 2017 Budget. When significant changes occur to the basis of the 
plan, intermediate plan adjustments are required. 
 
General Fund Transfer(s) to Other Funds 
Human Resources – Wellness Credit - $26,930   
United Healthcare provided the city with a premium credit to offset incorrect billings totaling 
$94,366.  $26,930 of this will be transferred and appropriated in the Workers Compensation 
fund for the city's 2015 Well-Being program, which is a recommended use of this funding. The 
remainder of $67,436 will be recorded as revenue to be applied for future one-time budgetary 
needs.  
 
Open Space & Mountain Parks - Reallocation of Property Agent Position- ($20,014) 
Corresponding with the 2015 Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) reorganization, and 
recognizing the citywide nature of the work performed, staff is recommending transferring a 
property agent position from OSMP to the City Attorney's Office (CAO). This position has 
historically worked closely with the CAO on city-wide real estate initiatives and this move will 
help streamline work process.  This adjustment will reduce the General Fund Transfer to the 
Open Space Fund and increase the General Fund appropriation in the CAO by the amount of the 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 20Packet Page 39



remaining 2015 salary and benefits of the position. A corresponding reduction of the transfer in 
to the Open Space fund is also needed. 
 
.25 Cent Sales Tax Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance 
Parks and Recreation – Flatirons Event Center Demolition - $250,000 
Based on council’s direction, staff is in the planning stage of permitting and design and 
anticipates demolishing the facility in 2016. This planning phase will ensure an efficient 
transition of the facility. Due to the seasonal operation of the golf course, this is a time 
sensitive issue. This request appropriates an additional $250,000 needed to cover the full 
project, estimated to be approximately $600,000. 
 
Parks and Recreation – Tree Removal - $140,000 
This is a request to fund the removal of 285 public street or park trees that died due to the 
November 2014 freeze.  Cost to the trees is $188,000. There is $48,000 in savings within the 
Forestry budget and an additional $140,000 is needed to cover this unanticipated cost. 
 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue 
Parks and Recreation – Donations-Valmont Switchback Trail Development - $4,750 
This adjustment appropriates donations received for the Valmont Switchback Trail 
Development. 
 
Parks and Recreation – Donations-Tree Memorial - $700 
This adjustment appropriates funds received in donations for the Living Legacy Tree Memorial 
Program. 
 
Affordable Housing Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance 
Planning, Housing & Sustainability - Impact Fee/Excise Tax Study – $91,900 
The current impact fees/excise taxes were based on a study completed in 2008. This funding 
for the new study covers consulting costs to address the following (with amounts included):  
Municipal Facilities - $69,160, Transportation - $84,160, Housing - $91,900, Public Art - 
$17,900. 
 
Planning, Housing & Sustainability - Depot Square – $434,684 
This request appropriates funding to pay for improvements benefiting the city-owned parcel at 
30th and Pearl that were built as part of the Depot Square. The improvements support 
redevelopment and include the parcel’s share of Boulder Junction construction, storm sewer 
water quality treatment to serve the parcel, and stubbing public utilities. These costs were part 
of the initial agreement with the Depot Square developers per the Subdivision Agreement of 
March 2013. The work is being done in 2015. 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 21Packet Page 40



Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue 
Planning, Housing & Sustainability - Cash-in-lieu Revenue Project Funding – $2,634,171 
Additional funds, above projections have been received from inclusionary housing cash-in-lieu 
payments, returned or repaid funds. This request would appropriate these funds to be available 
to affordable housing providers through Opportunity Funding requests vetted by staff and the 
Affordable Housing Technical Review Group. Opportunity funds are intended to meet time 
sensitive funding needs to achieve the city's goals of creating and preserving affordable 
housing to achieve the goal of 10% of residences being permanently affordable. Any funds not 
committed to projects through the opportunity funding or the annual competitive fund round 
will be carried over in to 2016.   

Capital Development Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance 
Public Works-Support Services - Impact Fee/Excise Tax Study – 69,160 
The current impact fees/excise taxes were based on a study completed in 2008.  This funding 
for the new study covers consulting costs to address the following (with amounts included):  
Municipal Facilities - $69,160, Transportation - $84,160, Housing - $91,900, Public Art - 
$17,900. 

Public Works-Support Services - FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant - $21,013 
In April 2015, the city was awarded a FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant to provide two emergency 
backup generators, one at the Wildland Fire Station (Station 8) and one at Fleet Services (Pearl 
Street). The total amount of the actual grant is $83,505 ($39,987-Fire and $43,515-Fleet) and 
the grant funds have been deposited in the Facility Renovation and Replacement Fund (FR&R). 
The city match required is $69,495 ($21,013-Fire and $48,482-Fleet). This request 
appropriates impact fees for the city portion of the cost of the Wildland Fire Station generator, 
for which these fees can be used and the need for which is attributable to growth. The city’s 
portion of the generator for Fleet Services will be appropriated from the Facility Renovation and 
Replacement fund.   

Capital Improvement - Community, Culture and Safety Tax (2A) Fund (CCS) 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue 
Citywide - Hill Commercial District Irrigation and Street Tree Improvement - Project 
Reimbursement - $5,000 
The firm redeveloping the Colorado Bookstore provided cash in-lieu of a development 
requirement that they provide irrigation on the project. It was determined that it would be in 
the city's best interest to integrate this irrigation into the city's irrigation infrastructure on the 
Hill to better ensure ongoing monitoring and maintenance of the full system. This revenue will 
be applied to the Hill Commercial District Irrigation and Street Tree Improvement Project within 
the CCS project scope. 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 22Packet Page 41



Climate Action Plan (CAP) Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue - Grants 
Planning, Housing & Sustainability - Urban Sustainability Directors Network (USDN)-Innovation 
Fund Grant – $200,000 
This is a request to appropriate grant funding from the Urban Sustainability Directors Network 
(USDN) Innovation Fund Grant to implement the Integrated Whole Energy System De-
Carbonization ($125,000) and the Natural Gas, Fuel Oil and Related Thermal Energy De-
Carbonization ($75,000) Strategy Project. 

Community Development Block Grant (CDGB) Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue - Grants 
Planning, Housing & Sustainability - Program Income – CDBG – $28,232 
This request is to appropriate additional revenue received from returned funds in CDBG. The 
funding will be redistributed per the city's process for awarding affordable housing grants. 

Equipment Replacement Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance 
Public Works-Support Services - Fire Department Capital Equipment Replacement- $275,000 
This is a request to appropriate equipment replacement funds for equipment needed in the Fire 
Department. The Fire Department equipment replacement plan is being updated and 
reprioritized.  This funding was approved as a transfer from the General Fund to the Equipment 
Replacement Fund (ERF) in the 2015 approved budget, however has not yet been appropriated 
for expenditures out of the ERF. With the replacement planning for Fire equipment underway, 
2015 equipment needs have been identified and this request appropriates ERF funds for the 
2015 equipment needs. Any unspent appropriation will fall to fund balance at the end of 2015 
and an adjustment to base will be brought forward for 2016 equipment replacement needs in 
2016. The ongoing, updated Fire equipment replacement plan will inform appropriation 
amounts budgeted ongoing and will be included in the 2017 budget.   

Facility Renovation and Replacement Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance 
Public Works-Support Services - FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant - $48,482  
In April 2015, the city was awarded a FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant to provide two emergency 
backup generators, one at the Wildland Fire Station (Station 8) and one at Fleet Services (Pearl 
Street). The total amount of the actual grant is $83,505 ($39,987-Fire and $43,515-Fleet) and 
the grant funds have been deposited in the Facility Renovation and Replacement Fund (FR&R). 
The city match required is $69,495 ($21,013-Fire and $48,482-Fleet). This request 
appropriates FR&R fund balance for the city portion of the cost of the Fleet Services generator. 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 23Packet Page 42



 
Public Works-Support Services - Fire Station 1 Concrete Drive Replacement - $80,000 
This is a request to appropriate additional funds to replace the concrete drive at Fire Station 1 
at 2441 13th Street. The 2015 CIP included $150,000 for this project but the bids came in 
higher and a drain system is being added to ensure water intrusion to the subgrade does not 
occur and damage the new concrete.   
 
Public Works-Support Services - Fleet Capital Facility Replacements - $120,000 
The Fleet Services at 5064 Pearl Street was constructed in 1989 and is need of replacing aging 
equipment that is past due. Fleet Services is an internal service fund, and funds that will be 
used have been reserved from fleet revenues for capital replacements. This is a request to 
appropriate funds for Fleet capital facility replacements, including fueling island pump 
replacements, alignment racks, vehicle lifts, and to install a keycard entry system. This item was 
inadvertently left off of the 2015 approved budget appropriation but was included on the 2015 
replacement schedule. This request corrects that issue. This project was planned for and 
replacement funds have been saved over time. 
 
Public Works-Support Services - HVAC at the Dairy Center for Performing Arts - $82,000 
During construction, current deficiencies in the HVAC and fire alarm systems have been 
identified and are the responsibility of the city under the current lease. This is a request to 
appropriate funds to replace the HVAC system and upgrade a portion of the fire alarm systems 
at that facility. 
 
Public Works-Support Services - Key Card Access System - $155,000 
In 2015, the city replaced its key card entry system, as the old software was no longer being 
supported. The key card system controls entry into most city facilities. Since the change, there 
have been multiple system failures.  An assessment identified the need to replace over 80 
reader boards throughout city facilities that are 10 years old.  This request appropriates funds 
to allow for work to begin immediately and to avoid any further access problems. 
 
Public Works-Support Services - Municipal Service Center (MSC) Remodel - $150,000 
This is a request to appropriate additional funds for the Municipal Service Center facility 
remodel at 5050 Pearl Street. The Municipal Service Center was constructed in 1968 and the 
space is being renovated to create additional office spaces while replacing aging building 
equipment.  This item was inadvertently left off of the 2015 approved budget appropriation but 
was included on the 2015 replacement schedule. This request corrects that issue. This project 
was planned for and replacement funds have been saved over time.  
 
Public Works-Support Services - Pearl Street Mall Project - $100,000 
This is a request to appropriate funds to replace the existing bollards on the Pearl Street Mall.  
The bollards have been on the Pearl Street Mall since 1976 and they were originally constructed 
in such a way that makes it very expensive to remove them and replace with a new product.  

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 24Packet Page 43



The proposed bollards will be fabricated in a way to save construction and installation costs, 
and will allow for the re-use of existing materials such as the large concrete footings. This item 
was inadvertently left off of the 2015 approved budget appropriation but was included on the 
2015 replacement schedule. This request corrects that issue. This project was planned for and 
replacement funds have been saved over time. 
 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue - Grants 
Public Works-Support Services - FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant - $83,505 
In April 2015, the city was awarded a FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant to provide two emergency 
backup generators, one at the Wildland Fire Station (Station 8) and one at Fleet Services (Pearl 
Street). The total amount of the actual grant is $83,505 ($39,987-Fire and $43,515-Fleet) and 
the grant funds have been deposited in the Facility Renovation and Replacement Fund (FR&R). 
The city match required is $69,495 ($21,013-Fire and $48,482-Fleet). This request 
appropriates the grant covered portion of the costs for both generators.  
 
HOME Investment Partnership Grant Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue 
Planning, Housing & Sustainability - Program Income – $100,000 
This request is to appropriate additional revenue received from returned funds in HOME. The 
funding will be redistributed per the city's process for awarding affordable housing grants and 
in accordance with the HOME Consortium agreement. 
 
Library 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance 
Library - Early Literacy App-Boulder Foundation (BLF) Grant - $2,500  
This represents appropriation of unspent BLF grant funds from 2014 that will be used to 
supplement the Early Literacy App project. Since unspent amounts in 2014 revert to fund 
balance, this appropriation is made from that source.  
 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue 
Library - Adjustment to Overdrive Fee Collection-MARC Record Cost Sharing - $8,522 
In 2005, the library entered into a cost-sharing arrangement with Loveland, Lafayette, 
Broomfield, Westminster, Louisville and Longmont to allow their patrons to use the Overdrive 
downloadable content service. These additional revenues are pass through funds from other 
entities, which offset additional costs of materials. 
 
Library – Bookshop Sales - $15,780 
This request appropriates revenues from book sales for Library materials acquisition. Revenues 
from used books sales have surpassed initial projections and the proceeds will be used to 
supplement the library materials acquisition budget. 
 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 25Packet Page 44



 
Library – Carnegie Photos - $3,357 
This request appropriates funds received from scanning services. In 2004, a service to provide 
scanning of historic photographs was implemented.  Revenues from this service will be used to 
offset the cost of digitizing the photographic collections; equipment maintenance and 
replacement; and supplement the library materials acquisition budget. 
 
Library – Flatirons Consortium - $70,379 
This request appropriates funds received from the Flatirons Library Consortium. Boulder, 
Broomfield and Louisville Public Libraries form the Flatirons Consortium for the purpose of 
sharing the Integrated Library System (ILS) maintained by the Boulder Public Library.  These 
additional revenues represent the Broomfield and Louisville portions of the cost-sharing 
arrangement.  The funds offset the costs of the database management, equipment and other 
fees necessary to operate the system. 
 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue - Grants 
Library - 2015 State Grant – $26,156 
This request appropriates grant revenues received. The Library was awarded the 2015 State 
Library Grant. These funds are to be used on materials acquisition. 
 
Library - Makers Space-Boulder Library Foundation Grant - $150,000 
This request appropriates grant funds received from the Boulder Library Foundation (BLF). The 
BLF provided the Library with a grant of $150,000 to build-out and equip the new Makers Space 
in the main library. These funds will be used for that purpose. 
 
Library - Early Literacy App-Boulder Foundation (BLF) Grant - $27,000 
This request appropriates funds received in 2015 from the BLF to develop an Early Literacy App. 
These funds will be combined with the 2014 funds noted above for this purpose. 
 

Lottery Fund 
Transfer(s) From Other Funds  
Open Space and Mountain Parks - Repayment of funds for ineligible project costs - $11,631 
This request is to transfer $11,631 from the Open Space Fund to the Lottery Fund. There were 
two 2014 projects funded with Lottery proceeds that were deemed ineligible according to State 
Conservation Trust Fund guidelines, upon review by the State. The cost associated with these 
projects must be reimbursed to the Lottery Fund to remain compliant with program 
requirements. In so doing, project costs are now being covered by the Open Space fund. 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 26Packet Page 45



Open Space Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance 
Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP)- Debt Service Payment of 2015 Portion of OSMP bond -
$582,293 
OSMP issued bonds in late 2014, after the 2015 budget, including debt service, had been 
approved. This request increases the appropriation to cover debt service for these bonds in 
2015. This known debt obligation has been included in budget calculations throughout the year 
and in the development of the 2016 budget and 6-year fund financial. 

 Open Space and Mountain Parks - Landlink Replacement Project (LRP+) -$100,000 
This request appropriates $100,000 to replace current outdated permitting systems. OSMP is 
participating along with other city departments in the LRP+ project, a new citywide enterprise 
permitting software upgrade. This project upgrade will assist in delivering essential services 
related to Commercial Use, Off Trail, Parking, Special Use permits as well as with the Voice & 
Sight tag processes.   

Open Space and Mountain Parks - Metadata, Protocols and Data Sharing - $10,000 
This request is for a seasonal employee to assist with developing a standardizing metadata 
template for storing tabular (i.e., non spatial) data and complete metadata docs for a list of key 
projects.  Staff will assess techniques for assigning digital object ids (DOIs) to the networked 
files, allowing files to be retrieved even when their network location changes. Also allowing staff 
to digitize datasheets that exist only in hard copy and finalizing a data sharing policy. 

Open Space and Mountain Parks - North Trail Study Area Planning and Implementation - 
$23,000 
This request is to support the latter stages of planning during the end of 2015 and the first half 
of 2016. The funding is sought so staff can respond to questions from the Open Space Board of 
Trustees and City Council and would be used for consulting services to research particular 
topics, evaluate on the ground conditions, or facilitate public conversations as needed. 

Open Space and Mountain Parks - Voice and Sight Monitoring - $65,000 
This request is to support post-implementation (after) monitoring of the Voice and Sight 
Program. As part of the council-identified Visitor Master Plan overarching issues, staff 
committed to compare observed behaviors of dog guardians and dogs before and after the 
implementation of the Enhanced Voice and Sight Tag Program.  Baseline (before) information 
was collected in 2013.   

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue - Grants 
Open Space and Mountain Parks - Grant Revenue-Agriculture - $822 
This request appropriates final funds received, closing out a 2013 Agriculture project grant, 
completed in 2015. 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 27Packet Page 46



Open Space and Mountain Parks - Colorado State Forest Service Grant - $26,940 
This request is to appropriate the 2015 revenues received for a Colorado State Forest Service 
grant. The total grant award is for $79,500 and additional appropriation will be requested in 
2016 when the remainder of funds are received. 

Open Space and Mountain Parks – Community Development Block Grant Flood Grant -CDBG - 
$58,220 
OSMP was awarded funding through CDBG for flood recovery.  The funds will be used to cover a 
fixed-term, 18-month Wildlife Ecologist position in support of continued flood recovery work. 

Transfer(s) to Other Funds 
Open Space and Mountain Parks - Repayment of Ineligible Lottery Projects -$11,631  
This request is to transfer $11,631 from the Open Space Fund to the Lottery Fund. There were 
two 2014 projects funded with Lottery proceeds that were deemed ineligible according to State 
Conservation Trust Fund guidelines, upon review by the State. The cost associated with these 
projects must be reimbursed to the Lottery Fund to remain compliant with program 
requirements. In so doing, project costs are now being covered by the Open Space fund. 

Transfer(s) from Other Funds 
Open Space and Mountain Parks - Reallocation of Property Agent Position- ($20,014) 
Corresponding with the 2015 Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) reorganization, and 
recognizing the citywide nature of the work performed, staff is recommending transferring a 
property agent position from OSMP to the City Attorney's Office (CAO). This position has 
historically worked closely with the CAO on city-wide real estate initiatives and this move will 
help streamline work process.  This adjustment will reduce the General Fund Transfer to the 
Open Space Fund and increase the General Fund appropriation in the CAO by the amount of the 
remaining 2015 salary and benefits of the position. A corresponding reduction of the transfer in 
to the Open Space fund is also needed. 

Permanent Parks and Recreation Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue 
Parks and Recreation – Donations -Boulder Flycaster - $5,000 
This request appropriates donations received for purposes specified by the donor. Boulder 
Flycasters donated $5,000 which helped the department purchase and install features such as 
large stacked boulders and anchored fallen trees to provide natural habitat and areas of 
protection for trout. 

Parks and Recreation – Donations –Memorial Benches - $8,000 
This request appropriates funding from donations to offset already incurred expenses from 
citizens' requests for memorial benches. 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 28Packet Page 47



 
Planning and Development Services Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue - Grants 
Planning, Housing & Sustainability - 2015 Certified Local Government (CLG) Grant - $12,110 
This is a request to appropriate $12,110 in grant funding for the preparation of a historic 
resource survey plan for Boulder. 
 
Transfer(s) to Other Funds 
Planning, Housing & Sustainability - Cost Allocation Adjustment – ($71.423)  
With numerous space changes occurring in 2015, a mid-year update to the cost allocation plan 
was needed to appropriately account for these. The updated plan resulted in a lower charge to 
the Planning & Development Services fund than originally budgeted. This adjustment applies 
the updated information. The cost allocation plan is normally updated every two years with the 
next update to apply to the 2017 Budget. When significant changes occur to the basis of the 
plan, intermediate plan adjustments are required. 
 
Property and Casualty Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance 
Finance - Property and Casualty Self Insurance Fund Legal Expenses – $170,000 
This request will appropriate funds for additional expenses in the Property and Casualty fund. 
The city has experienced high litigation costs related to liability and civil litigation claims this 
year and this adjustment provides appropriation for costs above original budget, from liability 
reserves. The property and casualty fund contains liability reserves in accordance with actuarial 
studies to ensure the fund maintains adequate reserves to pay for future liabilities. Due to the 
uncertainly of timing of litigation charges, any unspent appropriation will carryover for future 
needs. 
 
Recreation Activity Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue 
Parks and Recreation – Reservoir 4th of July Sponsorship for Band - $4,750 
This request appropriates sponsorship funds received from the FATE brewing to cover the costs 
of the 4th of July band that performed at the Reservoir this year.  
 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue - Grants 
Parks and Recreation – EXPAND Contributions and Donations - $1,123  
This request appropriates grant funds received from the Dr. Scholl Foundation to be used for 
the EXPAND program. EXPAND program will use the proceeds to fund the Outdoor Adventure 
Camp Program, Youth Services Initiative, and other EXPAND programs and services. 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 29Packet Page 48



Stormwater and Flood Management Utility Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance 
Public Works-Utilities - Yards Master Plan Land Purchase - $373,500 
This request appropriates $373,500 for the Stormwater/Flood Management Fund's share of the 
purchase of a 1.9 acre parcel at 4900 Pearl St. which is adjacent to the Municipal Services 
Center (MSC). This property was identified as a potential acquisition through the Yards Master 
Plan process, and became available for purchase earlier this year. The cost of the land purchase 
was $2,988,046, and was split 50% to Transportation, 25% to the Water Fund, 12.5% to the 
Wastewater Fund and 12.5% to the Stormwater/Flood Management Fund. Transportation funded 
their portion of the acquisition from their Transportation Master Plan Implementation/TIP Local 
Match project budget and does not require an adjustment for this item. 

 
Transportation Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue - Grants 
Public Works-Transportation - CDOT Safety Grant -$63,334 
This is a federal safety grant in support of the Boulder Safe Streets program to reduce the 
number of serious injuries of bicyclists and pedestrians involved in motor vehicle crashes. The 
grant funds a comprehensive education and targeted enforcement strategy, enhanced 
pedestrian and bicyclist conspicuity and introduces a restorative justice process for offenders 
ticketed for crosswalk-related traffic infractions. This adjustment appropriates these funds to 
that program. 
 
Public Works-Transportation - Diagonal Hwy Reconstruction 28th to 30th - $400,000  
The City has been awarded additional CDOT funds in the amount of $400,000 for the Diagonal 
Highway Reconstruction 28th to 30th project. This adjustment appropriates these funds to that 
project. 
 
Public Works-Transportation - Transit Stop Improvements- $137,000  
The City has been awarded additional CDOT funds in the amount of $137,000 for the Transit 
Stop Improvements project. This adjustment appropriates these funds to this project. 
 
Transfer(s) From Other Funds  
Public Works-Transportation - Transit Pass Expense Correction - $14,025  
The Forest Glen Transit Pass GID was established to purchase RTD transit passes for residents 
of the neighborhood. In 2014, these passes were inadvertently purchased out of the 
Transportation Fund as opposed to the Forest Glen Transit Pass GID Fund. This transfer from 
the Forest Glenn GID fund reimburses the Transportation fund for the 2014 expense. 
A corresponding transfer out of the Forest Glen GID will be brought to council as a budget 
adjustment resolution at the Dec. 1, 2015 City Council meeting. 
 
 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 30Packet Page 49



Transportation Development Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance 
Public Works-Transportation - Impact Fee/Excise Tax Study – $84,160 
The current impact fees/excise taxes were based on a study completed in 2008.  This funding 
for the new study covers consulting costs to address the following (with amounts included):  
Municipal Facilities - $69,160, Transportation - $84,160, Housing - $91,900, Public Art - 
$17,900. 
 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue 
Public Works-Transportation - 63rd Street Sidewalk - $100,000 
This project will complete the sidewalk and street lights on the west side of 63rd Street from 
Stazio Drive to the existing sidewalk adjacent to Via. The work will include installing pipe for 
the ditch, building embankment for the sidewalk, concrete sidewalk, lighting, and traffic 
control.  This project is partially funded by a $100,000 contribution received from Xcel Energy.  
The full cost of this project is approximately $250,000. Work will start in 2015 with the bulk of 
the work to be completed in 2016. This request recognizes the additional revenue from Xcel 
Energy and appropriates these funds for the project. 
 
Wastewater Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance 
Public Works-Utilities – WWTF Permit Improvements – $4,000,000 
This request appropriates $4,000,000 from Wastewater Fund Balance for the Wastewater 
Treatment Facility (WWTF) Nitrogen Upgrades project. This project is being completed to meet 
more stringent environmental requirements identified in the City’s most recent WWTF discharge 
permit. The project will involve the modification of existing and the construction of new 
facilities to meet daily maximum ammonia and nitrate limits. The total project cost is estimated 
at $5,500,000, and completion is anticipated in early 2017. Project costs have increased over 
original estimates because of bidding conditions, unknown technology costs at the time of the 
original estimate, and an innovative design approach that increased the capital cost in an effort 
to minimize long-term O&M costs. The design approach involves utilizing a brewery waste 
product from a local supplier for beneficial reuse to minimize the chemical addition 
requirements for the facility’s biological process. This project is the recipient of a $1,080,000 
State of Colorado grant to improve water quality in Colorado associated with Regulation #85 – a 
nutrient management control regulation.  The grant was previously included in estimated 
revenues in the 2015 adopted budget. 
 
Public Works-Utilities – Yards Master Plan Land Purchase – $373,500 
This request appropriates $373,500 for the Wastewater Fund's share of the purchase of a 1.9 
acre parcel at 4900 Pearl St. which is adjacent to the Municipal Services Center (MSC). This 
property was identified as a potential acquisition through the Yards Master Plan process, and 
became available for purchase earlier this year. The cost of the land purchase was $2,988,046, 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 31Packet Page 50



and was split 50% to Transportation, 25% to the Water Fund, 12.5% to the Wastewater Fund and 
12.5% to the Stormwater/Flood Management Fund. Transportation funded their portion of the 
acquisition from their Transportation Master Plan Implementation/TIP Local Match project 
budget and does not require an adjustment for this item. 

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue 
Public Works-Utilities – Sewer Bond – $132,039  
In the adopted 2015 budget, $10,125,000 was budgeted for a sewer bond. The actual proceeds 
of the bond issuance were $10,257,039.  This request appropriates the difference of $132,039 
to the project and covers issuance and other financing costs. 

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue - Grants 
Public Works-Utilities - Wastewater Inspection Grant - $300,000 
This request appropriates $300,000 of additional grant revenue received in the Wastewater 
Fund from a State grant funding sanitary sewer inspections. The funding comes from the 
Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment Natural Disaster grant which was made 
available after the September 2013 Flood event. 

Water Utility Fund 
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance 
Public Works-Utilities – Betasso Residuals – $150,000 
This request appropriates an additional $150,000 from Water Fund fund balance for residuals 
hauling and disposal for the Betasso Water Treatment Plant. The unit cost for disposal increased 
50 percent when the contract was re-bid earlier this year. The increased rate has been included 
in the 2016 budget. 

Public Works-Utilities – Yards Master Plan Land Purchase – $747,023 
This request appropriates $747,023 for the Water Fund's share of the purchase of a 1.9 acre 
parcel at 4900 Pearl St. which is adjacent to the Municipal Services Center (MSC). This property 
was identified as a potential acquisition through the Yards Master Plan process, and became 
available for purchase earlier this year. The cost of the land purchase was $2,988,046, and was 
split 50% to Transportation, 25% to the Water Fund, 12.5% to the Wastewater Fund and 12.5% to 
the Stormwater/Flood Management Fund. Transportation funded their portion of the acquisition 
from their Transportation Master Plan Implementation/TIP Local Match project budget and does 
not require an adjustment for this item. 

Workers Compensation Fund 
Transfer(s) From Other Funds  
Finance – Wellness Credit – $26,930  
United Healthcare provided the city with a premium credit to offset incorrect billings totaling 
$94,366.  $26,930 of this will be transferred and appropriated in the Workers Compensation 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 32Packet Page 51



fund for the city's 2015 Well-Being program, which is a recommended use of this funding. The 
remainder of $67,436 will be recorded as revenue in the General Fundto to be applied for 
future one-time budgetary needs.  

Budget Adjustments Due to the Transition to a New Financial System 

Various Departments/Various Funds - Prior Year Encumbrance Amounts - $84,634 
In 2015, the City transitioned from one financial system to another. The rollover of 
encumbrances from the old system was a manual process and after a reconciliation of 2014 
encumbrance amounts, it was discovered that some amounts were not included.  Encumbrance 
rollover amounts are generally done in the first adjustment to base in May.  It was decided to 
group these clean-up items into one request and submit with the final supplemental. This item 
is necessary to be in compliance with accounting requirements. The total amount across all 
departments and funds is $84,634. 

ATTACHMENT B

Agenda Item 3D     Page 33Packet Page 52



ATTACHMENT C

 BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL BY FUND

Fund/
Dept# Dept Title Type / Item Budget Supplemental Additional Revenue Fund Balance

Increase (Decrease) in 
Revenue Only

GENERAL FUND
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance

510 Arts Impact Fee/Excise Tax Study 17,900$  17,900$  
130 City Attorney's Office Legal Assistance to Mobile Home Owners 15,000 15,000
130 City Attorney's Office Reallocation of Property Agent Position 20,014 20,014
115 City Clerk Administrative Support 53,583 53,583
115 City Clerk City Clerk Recruitment 27,000 27,000
115 City Clerk New City Clerk 30,000 30,000
115 City Clerk 2015 Election Cost 55,630 55,630
115 City Clerk Campaign Finance - Matching Funds 35,153 35,153
120 Communications Part II - Board and Commission Meeting Video Coverage 30,000 30,000
185 Finance Payroll and Finance support 13,803 13,803
185 Finance Purchasing and AP Support-Temporary 21,600 21,600
260 Fire Fire Training Center Prairie Dog Fence Replacement 27,000 27,000
260 Fire Office of Emergency Management City share Funding Correction 39,846 39,846
260 Fire Station Alerting System 580,000 580,000
180 Human Resources Human Resources Temporary Backfill 130,000 130,000
410 Human Services 2014 Carryover for Human Services RMJ educational programs 250,000 250,000
385 Planning, Housing & Sustainability Waste Reduction Services 143,894 143,894
255 Police Blood/Chemical Testing 52,000 52,000
255 Police Federal Asset Forfeiture 45,450 45,450
315 Public Works - Support Svcs Center Green Costs 171,000 171,000
310 Public Works - Transportation Municipal Building Pool Car 20,000 20,000
951 Fundwide / Citywide Unemployment Compensation 93,000 93,000

Prior Year Encumbrance(s)
140 Energy Strategy/Elect Util Dev 2014 Encumbrance Correction 75,180 75,180
190 Information Technology 2014 Encumbrance Correction 584 584

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue
120 Communications Channel 8 Production 5,000 5,000
260 Fire AMR Software Use 9,787 9,787
260 Fire Fire-EMS Response 12,303 12,303
260 Fire Medical Advisor 60,000 60,000
260 Fire Classes and Standby Reimbursement 2,178 2,178
260 Fire Wildland Fire Reimbursement 478,960 478,960
125 General Government Education Access Funding PEG 73,043 73,043
410 Human Services City of Lafayette Bus Share 2,500 2,500
410 Human Services Encore 2,000 2,000
410 Human Services FRS Afterschool Fees 31,000 31,000
410 Human Services GMS Partnership revenue 7,147 7,147
410 Human Services SilverSneakers 38,000 38,000
405 Planning, Housing & Sustainability BHP PILOT Payment 12,452 12,452
385 Planning, Housing & Sustainability CU Conference Hotel Study 16,777 16,777
255 Police Code Enforcement Abatememts 4,800 4,800
255 Police Donations 4,055 4,055
255 Police Drug Task Force Armory Equipment 6,950 6,950
255 Police Miscellaneous Services-Dispatch 65,750 65,750
255 Police Off Duty Police Overtime 275,000 275,000
255 Police Open Records Research 7,000 7,000
255 Police Training 12,000 12,000

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue GRANTS
410 Human Services 14/15 21st Century Learning grant (CCLC) 8,312 8,312

Source

1 of 7

Agenda Item 3D     Page 34Packet Page 53



ATTACHMENT C

 BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL BY FUND

Fund/
Dept# Dept Title Type / Item Budget Supplemental Additional Revenue Fund Balance

Increase (Decrease) in 
Revenue Only

Source

410 Human Services 14/15 QUALISTAR Childcare Referral grant 3,737 3,737
410 Human Services 14/15 United Way grant 252 252
410 Human Services Restorative Justice Grant 2015 11,000 11,000
410 Human Services Senior Foundation Grant 5,000 5,000
255 Police 2015 Click-it-or-Ticket (CIOT) Grant 15,120 15,120
255 Police Colorado Office of Victim Advocates (COVA) Scholarship 9,390 9,390
255 Police Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) 2015 43,268 43,268
255 Police Law Enforcement Assistance Fund (LEAF) 2015 Grant 26,500 26,500

Increase in Revenue 
180 Human Resources Wellness Credit 67,436
410 Human Services FRS Afterschool Fees 11,237

Negative Appropriation
410 Human Services 14/15 Infant Toddler Quality Asst grant (20,975) (20,975)

Transfer(s) from Other Funds
951 Fundwide / Citywide Reduction of transfer in (71,423)

Transfer(s) to Other Funds
180 Human Resources Wellness Credit 26,930 26,930
555 Open Space & Mountain Parks Reallocation of Property Agent Position (20,014) (20,014)

3,182,858$                                 1,255,235$                               1,927,623$                               7,250$                                      
.25 CENT SALES TAX (1995 Ballot Issue)

Budget Supplemental from Fund Balance
515 Parks and Recreation Tree removals 140,000$                                    140,000$                                  
515 Parks and Recreation Flatirons Event Center Demolition 250,000 250,000

Prior Year Encumbrance(s)
515 Parks and Recreation 2014 Encumbrance Correction (13,227) (13,227)
515 Parks and Recreation 2015 Encumbrance Correction 6,570 6,570
515 Parks and Recreation 2016 Encumbrance Correction 2,300 2,300

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue 
515 Parks and Recreation Valmont Switchback Trail Development 4,750 4,750
515 Parks and Recreation Tree memorial 700 700

 Subtotal 391,093$                                    5,450$                                      385,643$                                  -$                                          

2 of 7

Agenda Item 3D     Page 35Packet Page 54



ATTACHMENT C

 BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL BY FUND

Fund/
Dept# Dept Title Type / Item Budget Supplemental Additional Revenue Fund Balance

Increase (Decrease) in 
Revenue Only

Source

AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUND

Budget Supplemental from Fund Balance
405 Planning, Housing & Sustainability Impact Fee/Excise Tax Study 91,900$  91,900$  
405 Planning, Housing & Sustainability Depot Square 434,684 434,684

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue 
405 Planning, Housing & Sustainability Cash-in-lieu revenue project funding 2,634,171 2,634,171

 Subtotal 3,160,755$   2,634,171$  526,584$ -$   

CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance
315 Public Works - Support Svcs Impact Fee/Excise Tax Study 69,160$  69,160$  
315 Public Works - Support Svcs FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant 21,013 21,013

 Subtotal 90,173$   -$  90,173$ -$   

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT COMMUNITY, CULTURE AND SAFETY (CCS) (2A)

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue
951 Fundwide / Citywide Hill Commercial District Irrigation and Street Tree Improvement - Project

Reimbursement 5,000$  5,000$  

 Subtotal 5,000$  5,000$ -$  -$   

CLIMATE ACTION PLAN FUND

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue GRANTS
385 Planning, Housing & Sustainability

Urban Sustainability Directors Network (USDN) - Innovation Fund Grant 200,000$   200,000$  

 Subtotal 200,000$   200,000$ -$  -$   

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue
405 Planning, Housing & Sustainability Program Income - CDBG 28,232$   28,232$  

 Subtotal 28,232$   # 28,232$ -$  -$   

EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT FUND

Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance
315 Public Works - Support Svcs Fire Department Capital Equipment Replacement 275,000$  275,000$  

 Subtotal 275,000$   -$  275,000$ -$   

3 of 7

Agenda Item 3D     Page 36Packet Page 55



ATTACHMENT C

 BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL BY FUND

Fund/
Dept# Dept Title Type / Item Budget Supplemental Additional Revenue Fund Balance

Increase (Decrease) in 
Revenue Only

Source

FACILITY RENOVATION AND REPLACEMENT FUND

Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance
315 Public Works - Support Svcs FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant - City Match 48,482$  48,482$  
315 Public Works - Support Svcs Fire Station 1 concrete drive replacement 80,000 80,000
315 Public Works - Support Svcs Fleet Capital Facility Replacements 120,000 120,000
315 Public Works - Support Svcs HVAC at the Dairy Center for Performing Arts 82,000 82,000
315 Public Works - Support Svcs Key Card Access System 155,000 155,000
315 Public Works - Support Svcs Municipal Service Center (MSC) Remodel 150,000 150,000
315 Public Works - Support Svcs Pearl Street Mall Project 100,000 100,000

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue GRANT
315 Public Works - Support Svcs FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant 83,505 83,505

 Subtotal 818,987$   83,505$  735,482$ -$   

HOME FUND
Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue

405 Planning, Housing & Sustainability Program Income 100,000$   100,000$  

 Subtotal 100,000$   100,000$ -$  -$   

LIBRARY FUND

Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance
505 Library Early Literacy App - Boulder Foundation Grant 2,500$  2,500$  

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue
505 Library Adjustment to Overdrive Fee Collection - MARC Record Cost Sharing 8,522 8,522
505 Library Bookshop Sales 15,780 15,780
505 Library Carnegie Photos 3,357 3,357
505 Library Flatirons Consortium 70,379 70,379

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue GRANTS
505 Library 2015 State Grant 26,156 26,156
505 Library Makers Space - Boulder Library Foundation Grant 150,000 150,000
505 Library Early Literacy App - Boulder Foundation Grant 27,000 27,000

303,694$   301,194$ 2,500$ -$   

LOTTERY FUND
Transfer(s) from Other Funds

555 Open Space & Mountain Parks Repayment of ineligible Lottery projects 11,631$   11,631$  

 Subtotal 11,631$   11,631$ -$  -$   

4 of 7

Agenda Item 3D     Page 37Packet Page 56



ATTACHMENT C

 BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL BY FUND

Fund/
Dept# Dept Title Type / Item Budget Supplemental Additional Revenue Fund Balance

Increase (Decrease) in 
Revenue Only

Source

OPEN SPACE FUND
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance

555 Open Space & Mountain Parks Payment of 2015 portion of OSMP bond 582,293$  582,293$  
555 Open Space & Mountain Parks Landlink Replacement Project (LRP+) 100,000 100,000
555 Open Space & Mountain Parks Metadata, Protocols and Data Sharing 10,000 10,000
555 Open Space & Mountain Parks North Trail Study Area Planning and Implementation 23,000 23,000
555 Open Space & Mountain Parks Voice and Sight Monitoring 65,000 65,000

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue GRANTS
555 Open Space & Mountain Parks Grant Revenue- Agriculture 822 822
555 Open Space & Mountain Parks Colorado State Forest Service grant 26,940 26,940
555 Open Space & Mountain Parks CDBG Flood Grant -CDBG 58,220 58,220

Transfer(s) to Other Funds
555 Open Space & Mountain Parks Repayment of ineligible Lottery projects 11,631 11,631

Decrease in Revenue 
555 Open Space & Mountain Parks Reallocation of Property Agent Position (20,014)

 Subtotal 877,906$   85,982$  791,924$  (20,014)$   

PERMANENT PARKS AND RECREATION 

Prior Year Encumbrance(s)
515 Parks and Recreation 2014 Encumbrance Correction 13,227$  13,227$  

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue
515 Parks and Recreation Boulder Flycaster Donation 5,000 5,000

Memorial Bench Donations 8,000 8,000

 Subtotal 26,227$   13,000$ 13,227$ -$   

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

Budget Supplemental from Additional Revenue GRANT
385 Planning, Housing & Sustainability  2015 Certified Local Government (CLG) Grant 12,110$   12,110$  

Negative Appropriation
385 Planning, Housing & Sustainability Cost Allocation Adjustment (71,423) (71,423)

 Subtotal (59,313)$   12,110$ (71,423)$   -$   

PROPERTY AND CASUALTY FUND

Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance
185 Finance Property and Casualty self insurance fund legal expenses 170,000$  170,000$  

 Subtotal 170,000$   -$  170,000$ -$   

5 of 7

Agenda Item 3D     Page 38Packet Page 57



ATTACHMENT C

 BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL BY FUND

Fund/
Dept# Dept Title Type / Item Budget Supplemental Additional Revenue Fund Balance

Increase (Decrease) in 
Revenue Only

Source

RECREATION ACTIVITY FUND

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue
515 Parks and Recreation Reservoir 4th of July sponsorship for band 4,750$                                        4,750$                                      
515 Parks and Recreation EXPAND Contributions and Donations 1,123 1,123

 Subtotal 5,873$                                        5,873$                                      -$                                          -$                                          

STORMWATER AND FLOOD MANAGEMENT UTILITY FUND
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance

610 Public Works - Utilities Yards Master Plan land purchase 373,500$                                    373,500$                                  

 Subtotal 373,500$                                    -$                                          373,500$                                  -$                                          

TRANSPORTATION FUND

Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance
310 Public Works - Transportation CDOT Safety Grant - city match 15,833$                                      15,833$                                    

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue GRANTS
310 Public Works - Transportation CDOT Safety Grant 47,500 47,500
310 Public Works - Transportation Diagonal Hwy Reconstruction 28th to 30th 400,000 400,000
310 Public Works - Transportation Transit Stop Improvements 137,000 137,000

Increase in Revenue
310 Public Works - Transportation Transit pass expense correction 14,025

 Subtotal 600,333$                                    584,500$                                  15,833$                                    14,025$                                    

TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT FUND

Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance
310 Public Works - Transportation Impact Fee/Excise Tax Study 84,160$                                      84,160$                                    

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue
310 Public Works - Transportation 63rd Street Sidewalk 100,000 100,000

 Subtotal 184,160$                                    100,000$                                  84,160$                                    -$                                          

WASTEWATER UTILITY FUND
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance

610 Public Works - Utilities WWTF Permit Improvements 4,000,000$                                 4,000,000$                               
Yards Master Plan land purchase 373,500 373,500

Budget Supplemental(s) from Additional Revenue
610 Public Works - Utilities Sewer Bond 132,039 132,039
610 Public Works - Utilities Wastewater Inspection Grant 300,000 300,000

 Subtotal 4,805,539$                                 432,039$                                  4,373,500$                               -$                                          

6 of 7

Agenda Item 3D     Page 39Packet Page 58



ATTACHMENT C

 BUDGET SUPPLEMENTAL BY FUND

Fund/
Dept# Dept Title Type / Item Budget Supplemental Additional Revenue Fund Balance

Increase (Decrease) in 
Revenue Only

Source

WATER UTILITY FUND
Budget Supplemental(s) from Fund Balance

610 Public Works - Utilities Betasso Residuals 150,000$  150,000$  
Yards Master Plan land purchase 747,023 747,023

 Subtotal 897,023$   -$  897,023$ -$   

WORKER COMPENSATION INSURANCE FUND

Transfer(s) from Other Funds
185 Finance Wellness Credit 26,930$   26,930$  

 Subtotal 26,930$   26,930$ -$  -$   

Total General Fund 3,182,858$   1,255,235$  1,927,623$  7,250$  
Total Restricted Funds 13,292,742 4,629,617 8,663,126 (5,989)
Total All Funds 16,475,600$   5,884,852$  10,590,749$  1,261$  

7 of 7

Agenda Item 3D     Page 40Packet Page 59



ATTACHMENT D

Projected
 Dec 31, 2015

FUND
Unreserved Fund 

Balance

Original 
Estimated Revenues
 (Including Xfers In)

Original Appropriations 
(Including Xfers Out)

Increase in 
Estimated 
Revenues

Appropriations (Including 
Xfers Out) Fund Balance

General 46,320,000$         120,574,919 128,483,338 3,321,082              15,813,513 25,919,150$      
Community Housing Assistance Program 4,148,064$           2,365,771 2,386,102 - 3,447,675 680,059$           
Library 2,206,899$           7,648,063 7,648,063 331,845 1,303,649 1,235,095$        
Capital Development 6,322,627$            1,453,825 180,553 - 90,173 7,505,726$         
Lottery 1,787,076$           839,760 836,000 11,631 1,360,986 441,481$           
Planning and Development Services 8,318,399$           9,815,479 11,209,244 88,110 2,584,522 4,428,222$        
Affordable Housing 15,767,653$          1,264,214 1,220,670 2,634,171 18,234,345 211,023$            
.25 Cent Sales Tax 3,662,451$           8,228,522 8,407,683 111,450 2,231,161 1,363,579$        
Recreation Activity 1,959,176$           9,802,497 10,179,576 105,693 112,243 1,575,547$        
Climate Action Plan 1,229,979$           1,858,572 1,900,180 200,000 1,200,850 187,521$           
Open Space and Mountain Parks 30,300,718$         30,280,191 29,719,596 65,968 20,168,907 10,758,374$      
Airport 226,372$              1,062,054 431,995 45,284 302,797 598,918$           
Transportation 16,573,157$         30,757,166 30,661,226 19,205,028            30,142,345 5,731,780$        
Transportation Development 3,105,673$           674,204 711,674 100,000 2,140,259 1,027,945$        
Transit Pass GID 25,628$ 14,655 15,081 - 14,025 11,177$             
Boulder Junction Access GID TDM 47,886$ 82,828 148,695 41,913 - 23,932$             
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) -$ 648,740 648,740 787,362 787,362 -$
HOME Investment Partnership Grant -$ 846,075 846,075 1,318,488 1,318,488 -$
Permanent Parks and Recreation 1,293,077$           2,367,745 2,328,757 43,000 882,851 492,214$           
Boulder Junction Improvement 2,965,039$           1,037,845 652,000 - 2,722,586 628,298$           
Capital Improvement Bond 11,269,571$         - - - 11,185,521 84,050$             
Capital Improvement Community, Culture, & Safety -$ - - 8,904,147 8,904,147 -$
Water Utility 37,283,402$         33,017,099 32,674,594 - 5,242,122 32,383,784$      
Wastewater Utility 13,596,397$         31,782,422 32,483,090 1,040,074              7,884,802 6,051,001$        
Stormwater/Flood Management Utility 15,450,198$         31,349,913 25,941,537 25,891,421            32,432,479 14,317,516$      
Downtown Commercial District 6,722,510$           7,950,225 9,714,556 - 630,819 4,327,360$        
University Hill Commercial District 809,067$              580,313 653,882 - 18,250 717,248$           
Boulder Junction GID Parking 48,994$ 433,300 432,798 - - 49,496$             
Telecommunications 1,589,370$           745,582 811,879 97,000 97,000 1,523,073$        
Property and Casualty Insurance 5,665,778$           1,691,702 1,965,525 - 170,000 5,221,955$        
Worker's Compensation Insurance 2,975,909$           1,569,228 1,926,015 26,930 80,807 2,565,245$        
Compensated Absences 1,542,870$            772,750 833,885 - - 1,481,736$         
Fleet Operations 7,959$  4,253,986 3,762,727 - - 499,218$            
Fleet Replacement 10,212,190$          6,791,415 7,542,542 - 401,911 9,059,152$         
Computer Replacement 7,497,630$            1,972,873 2,676,824 - 47,308 6,746,371$         
Equipment Replacement 4,895,365$            995,129 542,370 - 289,892 5,058,232$         
Facility Renovation and Replacement 9,302,805$            2,862,165 3,582,490 83,505 4,120,808 4,545,177$         

Year-to-date
Appropriation Ordinance(s)

2015 FUND ACTIVITY SUMMARY

At January 1, 2015

Agenda Item 3D     Page 41Packet Page 60



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: November 17, 2015 
AGENDA TITLE 
Consideration of the following items: 

1. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only,
Ordinance No. 8093 rezoning a 0.8 acre portion of property located at 385 South Broadway,
from Residential - Low 1 to Business - Transitional 2, consistent with the Boulder Valley
Comprehensive Plan land use designation of Transitional Business.

2. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only,
Ordinance No. 8094 amending Sections 9-2-14, “Site Review,” and 9-9-2, “General
Provisions,” B.R.C. 1981, to ensure reasonable compatibility of the development of lots and
parcels located in more than one zoning district one of which is a low density residential
district with neighboring land uses.

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The City Council is asked to consider a proposed ordinance (Attachment A) to rezone a 0.80 acre 
portion of the property located at 385 South Broadway from Residential - Low 1 (RL-1 ) to  
Business – Transitional 2 (BT-2). The rezoning is consistent with the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) land use designation of Transitional Business.  The City Council is 
also asked to consider an ordinance amending Sections 9-2-14, “Site Review,” and 9-9-2, “General 
Provisions,” B.R.C. 1981, to ensure reasonable compatibility of the development of lots and parcels 
located in more than one zoning district one of which is a low density residential district with 
neighboring land uses. The code change is intended to clarify what can and cannot be built within 
the 25 foot buffer area that is the area proposed to remain as Low Density Residential on the west 
and north portion of the site. The code change also implements the intent behind the creation of 
parcels with more than one land use that are established for an appropriate transition between 
existing residential neighborhoods and future neighboring land uses that have a greater intensity of 
use.  

Agenda Item 3E     Page 1Packet Page 61



BVCP Land Use Map Change.  The rezoning request follows a 2008 approval of a Land Use Map 
change from Low Density Residential to Transitional Business requested by the property owner 
during the BVCP Mid-term review.  The property owner at the time indicated that because the site 
had been developed with a non-conforming medical office building since 1956, a Land Use Map 
change would bring the property into conformance.  In 2008, the proposal was heard by the 
Planning Board but continued with direction to staff to develop alternative land use scenarios that 
would help to address concern raised by neighbors to the north and west.  Staff subsequently met 
with neighbors on two occasions and had several phone and email conversations to review land use 
alternatives. The April 17, 2008 staff memo to Planning Board included a letter signed by 26 
neighbors who indicated support for the Land Use Map change for the 0.80 acre portion of the site 
only to Transitional Business, with a 25-foot area on the north and west of the property retained on 
the map as Low Density Residential, to create a “buffer” to the neighborhood.  According to the 
staff memo, the neighbors supported the change but with two concerns: preventing access from 
Bluebell Avenue and protection of the residence at 2290 Bluebell Ave., which is adjacent to the 
west side of the subject property.  

City Council then adopted Ordinance 7662 for the Land Use Map change for just the 0.80 acre 
portion of the property to Transitional Business. A link to the Feb. 21, 2008 staff memo and 
minutes of the initial hearing are found here. A link to the staff memo and minutes of the 
continuation hearing of March 3, 2008 is found here and the staff memo and minutes of a 
subsequent continuation hearing of April 17, 2008 is found here. 

Planning Board Consideration of Rezoning.  On Aug. 27, 2015, the Planning Board considered a 
rezoning to be consistent with the BVCP Land Use Map, and the related ordinance to amend the Land 
Use Code.  A link to the staff memo of the Aug. 27, 2015 Planning Board hearing is found at the 
following link:  PB 8.27.2015.  The draft ordinance to rezone is found in Attachment A and the draft 
ordinance to amend sections of the Boulder Revised Code is found in Attachment B.   In the rezoning 
application, the applicant indicated a desire to redevelop the property as 16 townhomes although no 
plans were submitted nor required to be submitted for the rezoning.  After public notification, staff 
received a number of letters from neighbors including a representative for the National Institutes of 
Standards (NIST) who indicated concerns about increased density and the viability of the existing 
access through the NIST property.  While there was no indication a plan to extinguish the access 
easement from NIST, subsequent letters from residential neighbors indicated concerns about the 
potential for access to the property through the neighborhood. 

Staff recommended approval of the rezoning to the Planning Board indicating the application met the 
criteria for a rezoning of Land Use Code section 9-2-18(e), B.R.C. 1981.  At the Aug. 27, 2015 
hearing, the Planning Board did not agree with staff’s findings and instead voted unanimously (7-0) to 
direct staff to prepare findings for denial of the request to rezone the property and voted to deny 
amendments to portions of the Land Use Code that would address the 25-foot buffer area.   

Subsequently, on Sept. 17, 2015 the Planning Board voted unanimously (7-0) that the applicant failed 
to demonstrate that application no. LUR2015-00047 meets the requirements of the Boulder Revised 
Code and recommended that City Council deny the application. The board recommended City Council 
adopt the Sept. 17, 2015 Planning Board staff memorandum and its Attachment A as findings of fact 
and conclusions of law.  The Planning Board memo of Sept. 17, 2015 with findings for denial is found 
at the following link: PB 9.17.2015.   

Agenda Item 3E     Page 2Packet Page 62

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/Browse.aspx?startid=47549&row=1&dbid=0
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/Browse.aspx?startid=47549&row=1&dbid=0
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/DocView.aspx?id=53860&dbid=0
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/130081/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/Browse.aspx?startid=47549&row=1&dbid=0


Key Issue Identification 

1. Rezoning:  Is the request to rezone a 0.80 acre portion of the property at 385 South Broadway
consistent with review criteria for rezoning?

2. Code Change: Does the proposed code change implement the Boulder Valley Comprehensive
Plan?

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following motion: 

Motion to: 
1. Introduce and order published by title only Ordinance No. 8093 rezoning an 0.80 acre

portion of property located at 385 South Broadway from Residential - Low 1 to Business -
Transitional 2, consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan land use 
designation of Transitional Business.

2. Introduce and order published by title only Ordinance No. 8094 amending Sections 9-2-14,
“Site Review,” and 9-9-2, “General Provisions,” B.R.C. 1981, to ensure reasonable
compatibility of the development of lots and parcels located in more than one zoning
district one of which is a low density residential district with neighboring land uses.

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic:  Economic - Implementation of the BVCP Land Use Map will permit business

transitional uses that have occurred on the site since the late 1950s.  The proposed rezoning
would allow for on-going sales tax generating land uses on the site.

 Environmental:  Consistent with the BVCP, the rezoning will allow for the potential for uses
that can serve, or be compatible with, the surrounding residential uses located west of the site in
walkable distance, as has occurred on the site since the late 1950s.

 Social: The rezoning would permit the potential continued use of the site for business transition
uses and/or permit redevelopment of the site for by-right residential uses adjacent to existing
residential uses.

OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal: City services are existing and available to this site.
 Staff time: The applicant has submitted the required rezoning application fee to cover staff

review time of this application for a rezoning.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 

Rezoning actions are subject to county referral and city Planning Board recommendation prior to 
City Council action. The Planning Board hearing was held on Aug. 27, 2015 and concluded with a 
motion by L. May that was seconded by C. Gray to recommend to City Council to deny (7-0) the 
request for a zoning change (pending staff to draft findings for consideration at a later date and to 
continue this discussion at a future Planning Board meeting). Further, on a motion by L. May, 
seconded by J. Putnam the Planning Board voted (7-0) to continue the Planning Board hearing to 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 3Packet Page 63



September 17, 2015 for staff to develop the findings for denial toward the prior motion. Further, at 
the continuation of the public hearing at the Planning Board of Sept. 17, 2015, the Planning Board 
voted unanimously on a motion by J. Putnam, seconded by C. Gray, that the applicant failed to 
demonstrate that application no. LUR2015-00047 meets the requirements of the Boulder Revised 
Code, and recommended that City Council deny the application, and adopt the findings dated Sept. 
17, 2015 with the Attachment A as findings of fact and conclusions of law.  

Regarding the draft ordinance to amend sections of the Boulder Revised Code, the Planning Board 
voted unanimously (L. May moved, seconded by C. Gray) to recommend to City Council to not 
adopt the ordinance amending sections 9-2-14, “Site Review,” and 9-9-2, “General Provisions,” 
B.R.C. 1981 attached herein, to ensure reasonable compatibility of the development of lots and 
parcels located in more than one zoning district one of which is a low density residential district 
with neighboring land uses, and setting forth related details; and incorporating this staff 
memorandum as findings of fact. 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 

Required public notice for the rezoning was given in the form of written notification mailed to all 
property owners within 600 feet of the subject site and a sign posted on the property for at least 10 
days.  In addition, in response to public comments received, additional public notification was 
given to property owners within 1,000 feet of the subject site as a meeting notice for the Planning 
Board hearing of Aug. 27, 2015; along with a public notification of the City Council meeting dates 
for the first and second readings of the proposed ordinance to rezone and the proposed ordinance 
for Land Use Code changes. All notice requirements of subsection 9-4-3(d), B.R.C. 1981 have been 
met.   

Staff received a number of comments from members of the public via email and US Mail regarding 
this application along with a letter signed by 23 neighbors, residents of the “Community of Lower 
Bluebell” who provided addresses and signatures on the letter.  The neighbors indicated their 
concerns about the property redeveloping upon rezoning to build “multi-family/high density student 
rental housing which would be comprised of 16 townhomes with 4 bedrooms each (potentially 64 
residents).”  Regarding the concerns articulated however, the applicant did not provide information 
that indicated student rental housing would be constructed.  Among the neighbors concerns were 
those related to parking (and an indication from the property owners that they would request a 
parking reduction), light pollution, poorly maintained buffer zone, construction staging, pedestrian 
access, fire and life safety access, and solar access.  Many of the letters indicated concerns about 
access to the site through the neighborhood.  At the request of some of the neighbors, staff 
responded to specific questions and comments and noted that if redevelopment of the property in 
the future requires a parking reduction that a Site Review application with approval by Planning 
Board would be required. The emails and letters are provided in Attachment C.  Several letters 
were sent directly to City Council after the Planning Board hearing. 

At the Planning Board hearing on Aug. 27, 2015, there were 21 members of the public who spoke, 
including one person who pooled their time with two others in attendance.  Of the 21 who spoke,  
20 indicated opposition to the proposed rezoning primarily citing concerns about the potential for 
redevelopment of the site into townhome units (potentially as student rentals) with access to the site 
potentially relocated from the current access easement with NIST to Bluebell Avenue.  Concerns 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 4Packet Page 64



expressed were that an increase in traffic through the neighborhood via Baseline Avenue to 22nd

Street to Bluebell Avenue would create safety, security, and other impacts on the existing quiet 
residential neighborhood.  Some commentors also indicated concerns that the original land use 
change was represented by the property owner at that time as a means to improve and expand the 
existing medical and dental offices on the property. However, the rezoning application indicates an 
intent to redevelop the property as 16 townhome units, but does not provide any further information 
or plans. 

ANALYSIS 

Rezoning:  The applicant requests to rezone an 0.80 acre portion of the property at 385 Broadway 
from Residential – Low 1 (RL-1) to Business – Transitional 2 (BT-2) consistent with the Boulder 
Valley Comprehensive Land Use designation of Transitional Business.     

Background: The property was originally developed as an office building in 1957 and has 
functioned as a non-conforming commercial use in the Residential – Low 1 (RL-1) zoning district, 
making the existing commercial building difficult to expand, improve, or redevelop. In order to 
request a business zoning designation, the underlying BVCP land use designation first needed to be 
changed.  As part of the 2008 Mid-Term review of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
(BVCP), Ordinance 7662 was adopted by City Council which included approval of a request by the 
property owner of 385 South Broadway for a BVCP land use designation change for an 0.80 acre 
site from Low Density Residential to Transitional Business. At that time, a series of public hearings 
and neighborhood meetings concluded with a modification to the original request to change the 
entire property from a land use of Low Density Residential to Transitional Business to a request to 
change only a portion of the property to Transitional Business with a portion of the site to remain 
Low Density Residential. More specifically, a 25-foot wide area on the north and west side of the 
property was left Low Density Residential.  Shown in Figure 1 is the adopted Land Use Map for the 
site.  

As reflected in the minutes from the public hearings, the intent in maintaining a 25-foot wide area 
of Low Density Residential land use on the property was to “provide a buffer to the adjacent low 
density Residential Neighborhood.”  Below is an excerpt from the April 17, 2008 staff memo.  

Figure 1:  Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Land Use 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 5Packet Page 65



Change to Portions of the Land Use Code.  To implement the intent of the 25-foot buffer, and to 
implement BVCP policies 2.13, Protection of Residential Neighborhoods Adjacent to Non-
residential Zones, and 2.15, Compatibility of Adjacent Land Uses, an ordinance (see Attachment 
B) amending Sections 9-2-14, “Site Review,” and 9-9-2(d) “Zoning Standards for Lots in Two or
More Zoning Districts,” B.R.C. 1981 is proposed for consideration simultaneously to the rezoning 
ordinance. This is discussed under “Key Issue: Code Change.” 

Existing Site and Surroundings.  As shown in the photos in Figures 2 and 3 on the following 
page, the one acre site is located on Broadway and currently has a medical and dental office 
building with a surrounding parking lot.  To the south of the site is the campus of the federal 
agency, the National Institutes of Standards (NIST); to the west and south is single family 
residential; to the east is Broadway, the Creekside Apartments; and an RTD Park and Ride; along 
with the Flatirons Medical/Dental Offices to the southeast.  Further to the northeast is Basemar 
Shopping Center. The existing building on the property, shown in Figure 3, has been used as 
medical offices since 1957, and has been a non-conforming use since its construction. 

Review Process. Per Land Use Code subsection 9-2-18(d), “Hearing,” B.R.C. 1981, “the planning 
board shall hear a request for rezoning at a public hearing and shall make a recommendation for 
approval or denial to the city council.  After considering the planning board’s recommendation, the 
city council shall make the final determination on a request for rezoning at a public hearing.”  A 
draft rezoning ordinance is provided in Attachment A. Figure 4 shows the BVCP Land Use Map. 

The applicant’s written statement (provided in Attachment D) indicates the intent to redevelop the 
site as townhomes, a use permitted by right in Business Transitional (BT) zoning districts.  The 
one-acre size of the site does not meet the threshold for mandatory Site Review in the BT zones of 
two acres.  However, if the townhome development is larger than 30,000 square feet, a mandatory 
Concept Plan and Site Review would be required.  Similarly, a request for a residential parking 
reduction would also trigger a Site Review process.  

As a part of the rezoning, staff has prepared an ordinance amending sections 9-2-14, “Site Review,” 
and 9-9-2, “General Provisions,” B.R.C. 1981, to ensure reasonable compatibility of the 
development of lots and parcels located in more than one zoning district one of which is a low 
density residential district with neighboring land uses. The code change is intended to clarify what 
can and cannot be built within the 25 foot buffer area that is the Low Density Residential area on 
the west and north portion of the site. The code change also implements the intent behind the 
creation of parcels with more than one land use that are established for an appropriate transition 
between existing residential neighborhoods and future neighboring land uses that have a greater 
intensity of use.    

Agenda Item 3E     Page 6Packet Page 66



BVCP Land Use. As shown in Figure 4, the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan land use 
designation for the site is Transitional Business, defined on page 68 of the BVCP:  

“The Transitional Business designation is shown along certain major streets. These are 
areas usually zoned for less intensive business uses than in the General Business areas, and 
they often provide a transition to residential areas.” 

In 2008, as part of the mid-term review of the BVCP, the property owner was granted a land use 
designation map change from Low Density Residential to Transitional Business because the 
medical and dental office building on the property had been a non-conforming use since it was 
constructed in the 1950s and had also received two variances, one for expansion in 1964, and one 
for an expansion of uses in 1973.  

Existing Zoning. As shown on Figure 5, Zoning Map, the current zoning is Residential – Low 1 
defined within the land use code section 9-5-2, “Zoning Districts,” B.R.C. 1981 as,“ Single-family 
detached residential dwelling units at low to very low residential densities.” 

Figure 3:  Existing Site Looking Northwest 

RTD 
Park and Ride 

Creekside Apartments 

Basemar Shopping Ctr. 

Flatirons Medical  
and  
Dental  
Offices 

Single Family Residential 

  Single Family Residential 

Figure 2:  Aerial Photo of Site and Context 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 7Packet Page 67



Requested Zoning. As shown on Figure 6 Proposed Zoning, on the following page, the applicant is 
proposing Business - Transitional  2 (BT-2) zoning, as shown in the map on the following page, 
which is defined in the section 9-5-2, “Zoning Districts,” B.R.C. 1981,  

 “Transitional business areas which generally buffer a residential area from a major street 
and are primarily used for commercial and complementary residential uses, including 
without limitation, temporary lodging and office uses.” 

Note that under the Transitional Business Land Use, the two compatible zoning districts are BT-1 
and BT-2.  An overview of the distinctions between the two is provided in Table 1.  

Business - Transitional 1 Business - Transitional 2 

PURPOSE “Transitional business areas which generally buffer a 
residential area from a major street and are primarily used for 
commercial and complementary residential uses, including 
without limitation, temporary lodging and office uses.” 

SAME 

RES. USE Detached and  Attached Dwelling Units, and Townhomes 

are by-right 

SAME 

INTENSITY 1,200 square feet of open space per dwelling unit 1,600 square feet minimum lot 
area per dwelling unit maximum 
27.2 dwelling units per acre.   

MAXIMUM 
FLOOR AREA 
RATIO (FAR) 

No maximum 0.5 FAR MAXIMUM 

PARKING 1 for 1- or 2-bedroom dwelling unit 
1.5 for 3-bedroom dwelling unit 
2 for a 3-bedroom dwelling unit 
2 for a 4 or more bedroom dwelling unit 

SAME 

As can be noted, the BT-2 zoning district is more restrictive in terms of residential density because 
one dwelling unit requires 1,600 square feet of lot area compared to a requirement of 1,200 square 
feet of open space per dwelling unit for BT-1.  This would result in fewer units than the BT-1 
zoning.  Similarly, BT-2 has a maximum FAR of 0.5, whereas BT-1 has no FAR restriction.  Note 
that the density for the site cannot be calculated using any part of the area zoned as Residential - 
Low 1 (RL-1). 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 8Packet Page 68



Figure 6:  Proposed Zoning 

Figure 4:  BVCP Land Use Map 

Figure 5:  Existing Zoning 

BT-2 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 9Packet Page 69



Figure 7 illustrates the precise location of the rezoning within the property, and illustrates how 
a 25-foot wide “buffer” of Residential - Low 1 (RL-1) would remain. 

 
 

The review criteria for rezoning property are found in subsection 9-2-18(e), “Criteria,” B.R.C. 
1981.  Following is the review criteria checklist with analysis of the proposed rezoning to the 
review criteria:   

“The city's zoning is the result of a detailed and comprehensive appraisal of the city's 
present and future land use allocation needs. In order to establish and maintain sound, 
stable, and desirable development within the city, rezoning of land is to be discouraged and 
allowed only under the limited circumstances herein described. Therefore, the city council 
shall grant a rezoning application only if the proposed rezoning is consistent with the 
policies and goals of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan”  

Staff finds the most relevant and most directly applicable BVCP goal for this rezoning request 
to be the BVCP land use map that is a sketch plan of the desired land use pattern, in this case 
designating the site for the Transitional Business Land Use – which the zoning implements by 
assigning each parcel a zoning district.   The proposed rezoning would align the BVCP land 
use map and the zoning, which is currently inconsistent.  

In addition, the 25-foot wide area of Low Density Residential land use to remain as RL-1 
zoning on the site is intended to fulfill BVCP policy 2.13 “Protection of Residential 

Figure 7: 
Area within the 

Property Proposed for 
Rezoning to BT-2 

35,361 S.F. 

KEY ISSUE 1:  Is the rezoning request consistent with required review criteria for 
rezoning? 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 10Packet Page 70



Neighborhoods Adjacent to Non-Residential Zones” and BVCP Policy 2.15, “Compatibility 
of Adjacent Land Uses.”   

“For an application not incidental to a general revision of the zoning map, meets one of the 
following criteria:” 

√ “The applicant demonstrates by clear and convincing evidence that the proposed
rezoning is necessary to come into compliance with the Boulder Valley
Comprehensive Plan map;”

In the applicant’s written statement it was noted,

 “we are requesting rezoning the TB Land Use portion of the site to BT-2 zoning 
from the current RL-1 zoning. Doing so will bring the property into compliance 
with requirements of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Land Use Map.” 

  n/a     “The existing zoning of the land was the result of a clerical error;” 

This review criterion is not applicable. 

  n/a     “The existing zoning of the land was based on a mistake of fact;” 

Not applicable, the existing zoning was not based on a mistake of fact. 

  n/a     “The existing zoning of the land failed to take into account the constraints on 
development created by the natural characteristics of the land, including but not 
limited to, steep slopes, floodplain, unstable soils, and inadequate drainage;” 

Not applicable, the existing zoning did not fail to take into account the constraints on 
development created by natural characteristics of the land. 

  n/a     “The land or its surrounding environs has changed or is changing to such a degree 
that it is in the public interest to encourage a redevelopment of the area or to 
recognize the changed character of the area;  or” 

Not applicable, the land or surrounding environs have not changed to a degree that it is 
in the public interest to encourage a redevelopment or to recognized the changed 
character of the area. 

  n/a     “The proposed rezoning is necessary in order to provide land for a community need 
that was not anticipated at the time of adoption of the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan.” 

Not applicable, the rezoning is not necessary to provide land for a community need 
that was not anticipated at the time of the adoption of the BVCP. 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 11Packet Page 71



 

The land use code change proposed is intended to set forth standards for split zoned properties 
when one of the zoning districts is low density residential.  It is intended to specifically 
address the comprehensive plan policies related to compatibility and protection of residential 
neighborhoods adjacent to non-residential zones. Those policies are as follows. 

2.13 Protection of Residential Neighborhoods Adjacent to Non-residential Zones 
The city and county will take appropriate actions to ensure that the character and 
livability of established residential neighborhoods will not be undermined by spill-
over impacts from adjacent regional or community business zones or by incremental 
expansion of business activities into residential areas. The city and county will protect 
residential neighborhoods from intrusion of non-residential uses by protecting edges 
and regulating the impacts of these uses on neighborhoods. 

2.15 Compatibility of Adjacent Land Uses 
To avoid or minimize noise and visual conflicts between adjacent land uses that vary 
widely in use, intensity or other characteristics, the city will use tools such as interface 
zones, transitional areas, site and building design and cascading gradients of density 
in the design of subareas and zoning districts. With redevelopment, the transitional 
area should be within the zone of more intense use. 

Specific to the proposed rezoning at 385 Broadway, the 2008 land use designation change for 
just an 0.80 acre portion of the property from Low Density Residential to Transitional 
Business was intended to create a 25-foot “buffer” area on the north and west side of the 
property. As noted, this was intended to ensure an “appropriate transition between the existing 
low density residential neighborhood and more intense uses allowed on the rezoned portion of 
the property.” 

To implement the intent of the 25-foot buffer of Low Density Residential Land Use, and to 
implement BVCP policies 2.13, and 2.15, the code change ordinance is being considered 
simultaneous to the rezoning ordinance to ensure that any structures, parking and other site 
improvements, other than landscaping and fences, have a setback that is the greater of the two 
zoning districts and not less than 25 feet from the property line.  The ordinance allows for 
modifications of this standard if the proposed development is consistent with the use, form 
and intensity standards of the low density zoning district or if the project meets the site review 
criteria. 

Conclusion.  The proposed BT-2 zoning district on the 0.8 acre portion of property will 
permit a variety of transitional business uses consistent with the existing use that has occupied 
the site for approximately 60 years along with consistency with the BVCP land use 
designation.  The proposed ordinance to amend sections of the land use code is intended to 
implement the BVCP by providing standards for split zoned properties that include low 

KEY ISSUE 2:  Is the code change consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan? 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 12Packet Page 72



density residential zoning that ensure compatibility between low density residential land use 
and other uses.   

Approved By: 

______________________________ 
Jane S. Brautigam 
City Manager 

ATTACHMENTS: 
A: 
B: 
C: 
D: 

Proposed rezoning Ordinance No. 8093
Proposed Ordinance No. 8094 to amend code sections 
Correspondence received  
Applicant’s written statement 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 13Packet Page 73



K:\pldr\o-1st reading-broadway, 385 rezoning-2376.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE  NO. 8093  

AN ORDINANCE REZONING AN 0.8 ACRE PORTION OF LAND 
GENERALLY LOCATED AT 385 SOUTH BROADWAY FROM THE 
RESIDENTIAL – LOW 1 (RL-1) TO THE BUSINESS – 
TRANSITIONAL 2 (BT-2) ZONING DISTRICT AS DESCRIBED IN 
CHAPTER 9-5, “MODULAR ZONE SYSTEM,” B.R.C. 1981, AND 
SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO FINDS: 

A. An application has been filed with the City of Boulder seeking rezoning of

an 0.8 acre portion of land that is a portion of a parcel generally located at 385 South 

Broadway and more particularly described on Exhibit A attached to this ordinance (the 

“Property”) from Residential – Low 1 (RL-1) to Business – Transitional 2 (BT-2). 

B. A public hearing before the Planning Board of the City of Boulder was

duly held on August 27, 2015, in consideration of said rezoning request for the Property. 

C. The Planning Board recommended that the City Council deny the request

to amend the zoning district map to include an 0.8 acre portion of the Property in the 

Business -Transitional 2 (BT-2) zoning district as provided in Chapter 9-5, “Modular 

Zone System,” B.R.C. 1981.  

D. The City Council finds that the rezoning of the Property from Residential

– Low 1 (RL-1) to Business - Transitional 2 (BT-2) is consistent with the policies and

goals of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and is consistent with Land Use Code 

criteria Section 9-2-18(e)(1), B.R.C. “the applicant demonstrates by clear and convincing 

evidence that the proposed rezoning is necessary to come into compliance with the 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan map.”  

Attachment A - Proposed Rezoning Ordinance  No. 8093

Agenda Item 3E     Page 14Packet Page 74



K:\pldr\o-1st reading-broadway, 385 rezoning-2376.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. Chapter 9-5, “Modular Zone System,” B.R.C. 1981, and the zoning 

district map forming a part thereof are amended to include the Property within the 

Business - Transitional 2 (BT-2) zoning district. 

Section 2. The City Council finds that the rezoning of the Property from 

Residential – Low 1 (RL-1) to Business - Transitional 2 (BT-2) is consistent with the 

policies and goals of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, is necessary to bring the 

Property into compliance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan map, and meets 

the criteria for rezoning as provided in Chapter 9-2, “Review Processes,” B.R.C. 1981.  

The City Council adopts the recitals as a part of this ordinance.  

Section 3. The City Council has jurisdiction and legal authority to rezone the 

Property.  

Section 4.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern.  The rezoning of 

the Property bears a substantial relation to, and will enhance the general welfare of, the 

Property and of the residents of the City of Boulder. 

Section 5.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published 

by title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the 

city clerk for public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment A - Proposed Rezoning Ordinance  No. 8093

Agenda Item 3E     Page 15Packet Page 75



K:\pldr\o-1st reading-broadway, 385 rezoning-2376.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 17th day of November, 2015. 

Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 1st day of December, 2015. 

Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Rezoning Ordinance  No. 8093

Agenda Item 3E     Page 16Packet Page 76



Attachment A - Proposed Rezoning Ordinance No. 8093

Agenda Item 3E     Page 17Packet Page 77



Attachment A - Proposed Rezoning Ordinance No. 8093

Agenda Item 3E     Page 18Packet Page 78



K:\plcu\o-1st reading-amend section 9-9-2(d)-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 8094 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTIONS 9-2-14, “SITE 
REVIEW,” B.R.C. 1981, AND 9-9-2 “GENERAL 
PROVISIONS,” B.R.C. 1981, TO ENSURE REASONABLE 
COMPATIBILITY OF THE DEVELOPMENT OF LOTS AND 
PARCELS LOCATED IN MORE THAN ONE ZONING 
DISTRICT ONE OF WHICH IS A LOW DENSITY 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH NEIGHBORING LAND 
USES, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 9-2-14. Site Review, B.R.C. 1981, is amended, and a new paragraph 

(c)(6) is added and subsequent paragraphs renumbered, to read: 

9-2-14. - Site Review.

. . .  

(b) Scope: The following development review thresholds apply to any development that is
eligible or that otherwise may be required to complete the site review process:

(1) Development Review Thresholds:

(A) Minimum Thresholds for Voluntary Site Review: No person may apply for a
site review application unless the project exceeds the thresholds for the
"minimum size for site review" category set forth in Table 2-2 of this section or
a height modification pursuant to Subsection (e) below on any lot is requested.

(B) Minimum Thresholds for Required Site Review: No person may apply for a
subdivision or a building permit for a project that exceeds the thresholds for the
"concept plan and site review required" category set forth in table 2-2 of this
section until a site review has been completed.

. . . 

(E) Height Modifications: A development which exceeds the permitted height
requirements of Section 9-7-5, "Building Height," or 9-7-6, "Building Height,
Conditional," B.R.C. 1981, is required to complete a site review and is not
subject to the minimum threshold requirements. No standard other than height
may be modified under the site review unless the project is also eligible for site
review.

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance No. 8094 to Amend Code Sections

Agenda Item 3E     Page 19Packet Page 79



K:\plcu\o-1st reading-amend section 9-9-2(d)-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(F) New Development on Lots in Two or More Zoning Districts:  A development
which does not meet the standards of Section 9-9-2(d)(2), “Development of 
New Structures on Lots in Two or More Zoning Districts,” B.R.C. 1981, is 
required to complete a site review and is not subject to the minimum threshold 
requirements.  No standard other than Section 9-9-2(d)(2), B.R.C. 1981, may 
be modified under the site review unless the project is also eligible for site 
review. 

. . . 

(c) Modifications to Development Standards: The following development standards of B.R.C.
1981 may be modified under the site review process set forth in this section:

. . . 

(5) 9-9-2(b), "Maximum Permitted Buildings on a Lot."
(6) Standards for new structures and other new site improvements for lots and parcels

in two or more zoning districts one of which is a RE, RR, or RL zoning district to 
the extent permitted by Paragraph 9-9-2(d)(2), B.R.C. 1981. 

. . . 

Section 2.  Section 9-9-2. General Provisions, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

9-9-2. - General Provisions.

No person shall use or develop any land within the city except according to the following 
standards, unless modified through a use review under Section 9-2-15, "Use Review," B.R.C. 
1981, or a site review, Section 9-2-14, "Site Review," B.R.C. 1981, or a variance granted under 
Section 9-2-3, "Variances and Interpretations," B.R.C., 1981. 

. . . 

(d) Zoning Standards for Lots in Two or More Zoning Districts: The following standards apply
to lots and parcels in two or more zoning districts:

(1) Existing buildings located in more than one zoning district shall be regulated according
to the applicable use standards for the zoning district in which the majority of the
existing building is located. Any building additions or site improvements shall be
regulated according to the zoning district in which such additions or improvements are
located. In the event that an existing building is split in half between two zoning
districts, the city manager shall determine which use standards shall apply based upon
the historic use of the building and the character of the surrounding area.

(2) Development of New Structures on Lots in Two or More Zoning Districts:

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance No. 8094 to Amend Code Sections

Agenda Item 3E     Page 20Packet Page 80



K:\plcu\o-1st reading-amend section 9-9-2(d)-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(A) Purpose:  The purpose of this paragraph is to ensure reasonable compatibility of
the development of lots and parcels located in more than one zoning district one 
of which is a RE, RR, or RL zoning district with neighboring land uses. 

(B) Standard: Any new structure, parking area or other site improvements except
fences and landscaping on lots or parcels located in more than one zoning district 
one of which is RR-1, RR-2, RE, RL-1, or RL-2 shall meet the greater of the 
following: 

(i) The setback standards applicable in the zoning district the improvement or
part thereof is located in; 

(ii) The setback standards of the adjacent zoning district; or

(iii) A twenty-five foot setback from the property line that is generally parallel
to a zoning district boundary. 

(C) Administrative Modification:  The requirements of this paragraph may be
modified by the city manager if the applicant demonstrates that the proposed 
development of the area is consistent with the standards of Chapters 9-6, ”Use 
Standards,” 9-7, “Form and Bulk Standards,” and 9-8, “Intensity Standards,” 
applicable to the lower intensity zoning district of the two or more zoning districts 
of the lot or parcel.  

(D) Site Review Modification:  The requirements of this paragraph may be modified
under the provisions of Section 9-2-14, “Site Review,” B.R.C. 1981. 

. . . 

Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern and implements the intent of the 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan. 

Section 4.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance No. 8094 to Amend Code Sections

Agenda Item 3E     Page 21Packet Page 81



K:\plcu\o-1st reading-amend section 9-9-2(d)-.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this17th day of November, 2015. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 1st day of December, 2015. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance No. 8094 to Amend Code Sections

Agenda Item 3E     Page 22Packet Page 82



From: ps angerer [mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com] 
Sent: Monday, June 01, 2015 4:05 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Re: 385 Broadway 

Dear Elaine, 
The information you shared this morning in our phone conversation clarified many of my questions regarding the re-zoning 
request for 385 Broadway, (LUR2015-00047).  Thank you for sending the BVCP link. 
My understanding of the BVCP is that it is a general statement meant to guide decisions?   
Is it necessary that re-zoning occur to bring a property into compliance with the BVCP land use?  Or does current zoning and 
usage carry weight? 

In the memorandum from SopherSparn Architects regarding Rezoning dated May 1, 2015, the argument is made that 
“rezoning is necessary to come into compliance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan map.” This implies that re-
zoning must occur because compliance is mandatory. Is this a true assumption on my part? 
I appreciate any clarity that you can bring to these questions. 

Regards, 
Patty 

From: "McLaughlin, Elaine" <McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov> 
To: "'psangerer@yahoo.com'" <psangerer@yahoo.com>  
Sent: Monday, June 1, 2015 12:07 PM 
Subject: 385 Broadway 

Hi Patty- 

It was nice to talk with you this morning.  Following is a link to the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan for your use: 
https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/2010-boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan 

Please feel free to call or email with any additional questions, and as you noted, I will look for your comment letter by the end 
of the week. 

Kind Regards- 
Elaine 

Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
City of Boulder 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO  80306-0791 

303-441-4130 (phone)
303-441-3241 (fax)

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net 
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 23Packet Page 83

mailto:McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/2010-boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan
http://www.boulderplandevelop.net/
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


From: ps angerer [mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com] 
Sent: Monday, June 01, 2015 4:05 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Re: 385 Broadway 

Dear Elaine, 
The information you shared this morning in our phone conversation clarified many of my questions regarding the re-zoning 
request for 385 Broadway, (LUR2015-00047).  Thank you for sending the BVCP link. 
My understanding of the BVCP is that it is a general statement meant to guide decisions?   
Is it necessary that re-zoning occur to bring a property into compliance with the BVCP land use?  Or does current zoning and 
usage carry weight? 

In the memorandum from SopherSparn Architects regarding Rezoning dated May 1, 2015, the argument is made that 
“rezoning is necessary to come into compliance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan map.” This implies that re-
zoning must occur because compliance is mandatory. Is this a true assumption on my part? 
I appreciate any clarity that you can bring to these questions. 

Regards, 
Patty 

From: "McLaughlin, Elaine" <McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov> 
To: "'psangerer@yahoo.com'" <psangerer@yahoo.com>  
Sent: Monday, June 1, 2015 12:07 PM 
Subject: 385 Broadway 

Hi Patty- 

It was nice to talk with you this morning.  Following is a link to the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan for your use: 
https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/2010-boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan 

Please feel free to call or email with any additional questions, and as you noted, I will look for your comment letter by the end 
of the week. 

Kind Regards- 
Elaine 

Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
City of Boulder 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO  80306-0791 
303-441-4130 (phone)
303-441-3241 (fax)

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net 
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 

From: McLaughlin, Elaine  
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 3:48 PM 
To: 'ps angerer' 
Subject: RE: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 24Packet Page 84

mailto:McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/2010-boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan
http://www.boulderplandevelop.net/
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


Hi Patty- 
The applicant will need to respond to staff comments, which we’re still putting together, and resubmit a response to our 
comments for a three week review track (beginning the first and third Monday of the month). Among the comments is to ask 
for any recent communications between the applicant and NIST regarding their access agreement and proposed rezoning.  
Our City Attorney’s Office has a copy of the private access easement between the two property owners.  I can check to see if 
you could have a copy of the easement. It may be somewhat proprietary given that it’s for the Federal Labs, but I can 
certainly check. 
Elaine 

From: ps angerer [mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 3:41 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Re: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 

Thank you Elaine, 
Once June 5 passes, what is the timeline for this application? 
I have a question about the easement with NIST.  Do the applicants have to contact NIST and if so, may I have a copy of 
their communication? 
Regards 
Patty 

From: "McLaughlin, Elaine" <McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov> 
To: 'ps angerer' <psangerer@yahoo.com>  
Sent: Thursday, June 4, 2015 1:00 PM 
Subject: RE: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 

Hi Patty- 
Thanks very much for your letter. I’ll ensure that it is provided to the applicant and becomes part of the public record for 
Planning Board and City Council. 
Kind Regards- 
Elaine 

Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
City of Boulder 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO  80306-0791 

303-441-4130 (phone)
303-441-3241 (fax)

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net 
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 25Packet Page 85

mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
mailto:McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
http://www.boulderplandevelop.net/
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


From: ps angerer [mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 12:55 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 

Elaine, 
Attached you will find the Bluebell neighborhood response letter including signatures to LUR2015-00047. 
Please keep us informed as the application proceeds. 
Thank you 
Patty  

The Community of Lower Bluebell in Boulder, Colorado 

6.1.2015 

Ms. Elaine McLaughlin 
Senior Planner 
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
City of Boulder 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO 80306-0791 

RE: Application for re-zoning   
#LUR2015-00047 
385 Broadway/High Density Student Housing 

Dear Ms. Elaine McLaughlin, 

The undersigned represent the community of Lower Bluebell who are vigorously opposed to the 
zoning change request, #LUR2015-00047, for 385 Broadway, Boulder. 

We live in a low-density residential neighborhood that has maintained its character for 58 years. We 
are a strong, diverse community committed to caring for the fabric of the neighborhood and for one 
another. One half of the homes have been occupied by the same families for over 30 years, one third 
of the homes have been occupied for over 50 years by the original builders of the houses. 

In 2008, the owner of 385 Broadway requested a land use map change.  As a neighborhood we 
worked with the then owner and the city to come to an agreement that would allow for expansion or 
redevelopment of the site for continued business use while maintaining a buffer from the impacts of 
the proposed increase in business uses the owner was proposing.  We were told he wanted to 
increase the square footage of office space and that a change in zoning would remove the need to 
request variances as was done in the past to allow for a business use in a residential zone.  City Staff 
proposed the 25 foot RL-1 buffer on the west and north sides of the property and a zoning change to 
BT-2 for the remainder of the property to allow for the improvements.  The neighbors agreed to the 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 26Packet Page 86

mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com


staff’s proposal, the buffer was put into place and the BVCP land use was changed. However, the 
owner did not pursue the zoning change for the majority of the site and instead chose to list the 
property for sale. 

The property was sold in 2014 and the current request for re-zoning is being requested by the new 
owners of the property.  Unlike the previous owner’s stated intent of increasing square footage of 
office space, the current owner’s stated intent, found in their Project Fact Sheet, is to build multi-
family/high density student rental housing which would be comprised of 16 townhomes with 4 
bedrooms each (potentially 64 residents).  They intend a reduction in off street parking spaces from 
the required 48 to 36, building code occupancy classification B and $119,000 Cash-in-Lieu of 4 
dedicated permanently affordable housing units on site. This project would require the demolition of 
a building that is over 50 years old, which would require a historic landmark review. 
The current proposal states that a change in zoning is required by the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan and that the property zoning must be in compliance with the BVCP Land Use Map. We 
disagree, and recognize that the BVCP guides land use decisions, provides a general statement of 
communities desires for future development but does not regulate city zoning.   

We strongly oppose the proposed change in zoning. Should rezoning occur, the owners would have 
“by-right” development opportunities. And therefore, could build anything allowed in that zoning, 
which is unacceptable. We insist on maintaining the residential zoning allowing for development 
with special review only. 

The current project proposed by Matt Johnke Realty & Heritage Title Co., Sopher Sparn Architects 
LLC, Adrian Sopher and Erin Bagnall, exemplifies the potential scope of a project which could be 
developed by-right. 

Our concerns specific to the above mentioned project are: 

1. Parking: Requires review
The developers have requested a reduction in permitted parking spaces of 25%. With a potential of 
64 residents and 36 parking spaces those without a space in the complex would have no alternative 
but to park on Bluebell or Mariposa, which is not acceptable.  While Bluebell is part of the 
Columbine Parking Zone, an increase of up to 28 permits is not sustainable. 

2. Light Pollution: Compliance with “Dark Skies” requires a review
Two 3-story buildings housing 16 units and perched on a hill will produce unwelcomed light 
pollution. 

3. Buffer Zone:
Both the 25 foot buffer zones, north which is in the required set back and west which abuts a 
residence, have historically been ill maintained. 

4. Construction Staging: Requires review
Construction Staging is problematic in that there is no venue for staging. 

6. Pedestrian Access:
The pedestrian access on the new development should go directly east from the developed property 
onto the bike/pedestrian path on Broadway, avoiding Bluebell Avenue altogether.  

7. Fire and Life Safety: Requires Review

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 27Packet Page 87



Access from Bluebell is non-existent. There is an existing fire truck access to the cul de sac at the 
end of Bluebell Ave through a chained gate which must remain exclusively dedicated to emergency 
vehicles. 

8. Solar Access: Requires Review
The elevation of the site and the proposed height of the buildings suggest an infringement on access 
to sunlight on the property at 2290 Bluebell Avenue.   

Thank you, 
The undersigned neighbors 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 28Packet Page 88



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 29Packet Page 89



Contact: Patty Angerer 
2225 Bluebell Ave. 
Boulder, CO 80302 
303-449-0968 
psangerer@yahoo.com 

From: ps angerer [mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 3:41 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Re: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 

Thank you Elaine, 
Once June 5 passes, what is the timeline for this application? 
I have a question about the easement with NIST.  Do the applicants have to contact NIST and if so, may I have a copy of 
their communication? 
Regards 
Patty 
__________________ 
From: McLaughlin, Elaine  
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 3:48 PM 
To: 'ps angerer' 
Subject: RE: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 

Hi Patty- 
The applicant will need to respond to staff comments, which we’re still putting together, and resubmit a response 
to our comments for a three week review track (beginning the first and third Monday of the month). Among the 
comments is to ask for any recent communications between the applicant and NIST regarding their access 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 30Packet Page 90

mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com


agreement and proposed rezoning.  Our City Attorney’s Office has a copy of the private access easement 
between the two property owners.  I can check to see if you could have a copy of the easement. It may be 
somewhat proprietary given that it’s for the Federal Labs, but I can certainly check. 
Elaine 
From: ps angerer [mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 4:48 PM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Re: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 

Thank you, I would appreciate a copy if it is available to the public. 
Patty 
__________________________ 
From: McLaughlin, Elaine  

Sent: Friday, June 05, 2015 10:58 AM 

To: 'ps angerer' 
Subject: RE: Lower Bluebell Response to LUR2015-00047 

Hi Patty-  
Please see the attachments of the NIST agreements with the property owners. 
Elaine 

From: dhh1056@gmail.com [mailto:dhh1056@gmail.com] On Behalf Of David Holloway 
Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 3:08 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Proposed Bluebell Student Housing Project at 385 Broadway, #LUR2015-00047 

Dear Ms. McLaughlin, 

I have an interest in property on lower Bluebell Avenue and am writing to express my alarm and 
opposition to the proposed student housing project for 385 Broadway. 

It is stunning that planning and zoning would even consider such a proposal, given its scale and mass, 
when compared to the contiguous low density single family area of lower Bluebell. 

As you know, the proposed student housing project triggers multiple reviews including parking, fire 
and life safety, and historical. 

Moreover, the proposed project submitted by Mr. Johnke, et. al., raises serious questions about your 
department's position and record on FAR regulations and enforcement. 

The Bluebell neighborhood has already experienced unfavorable development accommodations and 
mangling of FAR guidelines with several area redevelopment projects, including the recent (within the 
last several years) redevelopment of 2131 Bluebell.  The 2131 Bluebell redevelopment more 
closely resembles a zero-lot-line project as the structure stretches north and east touching two alley 
boundaries!  How could that have possibly been approved?  Worse, after multiple assurances to the 
contrary, the "single family" at 2131 Bluebell appears to be operating as a rental property, along with 
numerous other non-conforming rentals within a five block radius. 

I have also been in contact with the GSA (General Services Administration), the federal government's 
property manager at NIST, and have asked them for their position on this student housing project. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 31Packet Page 91

mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
mailto:dhh1056@gmail.com
mailto:dhh1056@gmail.com


Among the questions for GSA is the issue of access to 385 Broadway - which essentially runs the 
length of the NIST main entrance - and how that access squares with their current and future security 
demands. 
It seems inconsistent with their ongoing security concerns that the GSA would lock down their south 
and west entries (Dartmouth and King streets), and open up their front door to student housing. 

The proposed parking scheme for 385 Broadway is a also total non-starter.  The property won't 
accommodate the required 48 surface spaces, and it barely accommodates the current 36 spaces with a 
building one-third the mass of the proposed structure. So, as a result of the unfavorable access to the 
property, combined with the dearth of parking spaces, tenants (students) of this proposed project 
would be inclined to park on Bluebell - especially given the projects proposed orientation - facing 
Broadway and Bluebell.   

In addition, though I have not yet received it, I have ordered a litigation report (title report) on 385 
Broadway.  There seem to be questions about a former or current leasehold estate in the chain of title, 
which wouldn't surprise me given that all of South Oak Park was essentially re-platted due to 
surveying errors.  Plus, current use - commercial, conflicts with current zoning - low density 
residential; and the proposed zoning - business, seems to be in contravention of proposed use - high 
density student housing?  Is student housing in Boulder zoned business? 

Given the myriad entanglements with this project it is my hope that reason and common sense prevail 
and the proposed zoning request is denied forthwith. 
Please know that if the project planning is allowed to continue, I will use - without limitation - all 
available methods and resources to block any further activity on this project. 

Sincerely, 

David Holloway 
From: McLaughlin, Elaine  

Sent: Thursday, June 04, 2015 4:18 PM 
To: 'David Holloway' 

Subject: RE: Proposed Bluebell Student Housing Project at 385 Broadway, #LUR2015-00047 

Hi David- 

Thanks very much for your thoughtful comment letter, I’ll ensure that the applicant receives a copy and that it 
becomes part of the public record when Planning Board and City Council consider the rezoning.  

A few quick points of clarification:  we’ve not received any plans by the applicant, only a statement of intent to 
build 16 townhomes.  Therefore we don’t yet know if the 16 townhomes would be marketed as student 
housing or not.  We are requesting that the applicant submit an application for Site Review application to 
accompany the rezoning, although they are not required to do so, as having the plans upfront will provide a 
better understanding of the purpose of the rezoning for the benefit of the neighbors, staff, and the decision 
makers.   

Secondly, while the city does not consider rezoning requests very often the application must meet one of the 
five rezoning criteria (found here). In this case, the applicant is requesting to bring the property into compliance 
with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Land Use for the site which is designated Transitional Business.  In the 
requested BT-1 zoning, townhomes of up to 35 feet in height are a use by-right.  However, as you’ve pointed 
out to build the 16 units, the applicant would need to request a residential parking reduction which can only be 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 32Packet Page 92

https://www.municode.com/library/co/boulder/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT9LAUSCO_CH2REPR_9-2-18RE&showChanges=true


approved through the more extensive Site Review process which would provide greater information about the 
project, the access and the number of planned vehicular trips per day.   

Please feel free to contact me with any additional questions or comments. 
Kind Regards- 
Elaine 

Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
City of Boulder 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO  80306-0791 
303-441-4130 (phone) 
303-441-3241 (fax) 

From: Tom Van Zandt [mailto:vanzandt70@gmail.com] 

Sent: Friday, June 12, 2015 8:54 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 

Subject: 385 Broadway 

Elaine, 

Thanks for you memo about 385 Broadway.  We and our neighbors will respond to the memo.  In the meantime, 
I have a couple of comments about the memo itself.   

First, you give directions for accessing Title 9.  But what then?   In Title 9 how does a layperson find information 
such as density limits, setbacks, height limits, etc., etc.?  Is there an index to Title 9? 

Second, the map in the memo is about 40 years out of date.  27th Way was extended to Broadway in the '70's.  
This is relevant to the proposal because the intersection of 27th Way and Broadway is adjacent to 385 
Broadway.  The maps in the application as well as flood maps of the area are all up to date.  The City should be 
able to do just as well. 

Thanks for your attention. 

Tom Van Zandt 
2255 Bluebell Avenue 
303-499-6395    
From: McLaughlin, Elaine  

Sent: Monday, June 15, 2015 8:49 AM 
To: 'vanzandt70@gmail.com' 

Subject: RE: 385 Broadway  

Hi Tom- 

Could you refer me to the specific memo you are addressing?  I’ve prepared a staff comment letter 
that was sent to the applicant a couple of weeks ago and about a month ago I sent a public notice to 
the neighbors that Planning had received the application. That notice was intended to provide 
notification to the neighborhood only and not intended to be a memorandum.  I’ve attached the staff 
comments that went to the applicant that could assist you in your questions about Title 9.  If you do 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 33Packet Page 93



have questions beyond what the comment letter addresses, I’m happy to assist you with specific 
questions. 

Kind Regards- 
Elaine 

Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
City of Boulder 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO  80306-0791 

303-441-4130 (phone) 
303-441-3241 (fax) 

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net 
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 

From: Tom Van Zandt [mailto:vanzandt70@gmail.com] 

Sent: Wednesday, June 17, 2015 3:29 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 

Subject: Re: 385 Broadway 

Elaine, 

The memo I referred to is dated May 21. 

Thanks for all the valuable information you included in the attachments. 

I do have a few specific questions and comments. 

How is "Dwelling Unit" defined?   
How many beds are permitted in a bedroom?  How is the limit enforced?  (It's my impression that enforcement is 
very difficult, so that violations of occupancy limits are common.) 

These questions are related to the parking requirements. 

I don't believe that the Federal government would ever agree to any condition "in perpetuity".  Even if they did 
agee, they could always change their mind!    

Thank you very much. 

Tom Van Zandt 
2255 Bluebell Ave. 

----- Forwarded Message ----- 
From: Helen <hgoldman@colorado.edu> 
To: angerer ps <psangerer@yahoo.com> 
Sent: Thursday, June 4, 2015 3:53 PM 
Subject: Finaldraft.docx 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 34Packet Page 94

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net/
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/
mailto:hgoldman@colorado.edu
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com


Dear Ms. McLaughlin,  
My husband Martin and I have lived at 2275 Bluebell Ave. since 1972.  It has been a quiet residential 
street where our children grew up, and it continues to be a street with many youngsters playing 
outside.  We are distressed to hear of the proposed changes to the property on Broadway that would 
inevitably turn it into a densely populated area.   
Our names would have been added to the letter sent to you by the neighborhood's close knit residents, 
had we not been traveling in France.  We would like to add our voices to those strongly opposed to the 
zoning changes.  
We have asked Patty Angerer to forward this letter to you. 

Yours truly,  
Helen and Martin Goldman 

From: Holtzman-Bell, Virginia K. [mailto:virginia.holtzman-bell@nist.gov] 

Sent: Friday, June 05, 2015 12:18 PM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Cc: Salber, Stephen S. 

Subject: LUR 2015-00047: 385 Broadway 

Ms. McLaughlin: 

Please find attached the Department of Commerce’s input to the City’s consideration of the rezoning request for 
385 Broadway. 

Virginia Holtzman-Bell 
Deputy Director for Facilities Design and Construction/ 
Boulder Laboratories Site Manager 
Office of Facilities and Property Management 
National Institute of Standards and Technology 
325 Broadway,  Rm. 05-1101, Mail Stop-194.00 
Boulder CO 80305-3328 
 303-497-6673 (phone) 
 303-356-6911 (mobile) 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 35Packet Page 95

mailto:virginia.holtzman-bell@nist.gov


Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 36Packet Page 96



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 37Packet Page 97



From: "Ferro, Charles" <FerroC@bouldercolorado.gov> 
To: "psangerer@yahoo.com" <psangerer@yahoo.com>  
Cc: "McLaughlin, Elaine" <McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov> 
Sent: Monday, July 13, 2015 2:35 PM 
Subject: 385 Broadway Rezoning 

Hi Patty, 
Please note that the rezoning hearing has been tentatively scheduled for Planning Board’s consideration on August 27, 2015 at 
6:00pm. 
The Planning Board meeting will be held in chambers on the second floor of City Hall located at 1777 Broadway. Staff will send out 
a written notification to property owners within 600’ of the site as a courtesy in early August. Please feel free to contact me with any 
questions. 
Best, 
Charles 

Charles Ferro, AICP 
Development Review Manager  
City of Boulder - Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
303.441.4012 - Direct 
303.441.3241 - Fax 
ferroc@bouldercolorado.gov 
www.bouldercolorado.gov 

 Facebook |  Twitter |  YouTube |  RSS 

P Please consider the environment before printing this email. 

From: ps angerer <psangerer@yahoo.com> 
Date: July 13, 2015 at 5:37:09 PM MDT 
To: "Ferro, Charles" <FerroC@bouldercolorado.gov> 
Subject: Re: 385 Broadway Rezoning 
Reply-To: ps angerer <psangerer@yahoo.com> 

Hi Charles, 
Thank you for the notification of the calendar scheduling. 
I have a couple of questions: 
1. What is the entire process for changing zoning?
2. What is the entire process for changing land use?
Pretty broad questions, but I am a little confused as to how many boards and how many times in front of those boards. 
Thanks 
Patty 

Hi Patty, 
Apologies for the delayed response. 
The processes are a bit complex but, I’ve done my best to summarize them. 
Please feel free to call me (or Elaine) with any additional questions. 
Best, 
Charles  

Charles Ferro, AICP 
Development Review Manager  
City of Boulder - Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
303.441.4012 - Direct 
303.441.3241 - Fax 
ferroc@bouldercolorado.gov 
www.bouldercolorado.gov 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 38Packet Page 98

mailto:FerroC@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
mailto:McLaughlinE@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:ferroc@bouldercolorado.gov
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/2DRPowd38ArhopsupKUOyrKruKMUCMCruKMUC-CrjKOMOMqekQkjqtShPzybRPhOrt-cqS1h2HpW7NJk-ItgHN6FASgGSuxYrlfH7kaYhGpdKqgooRZ_HYOMOev79ZuVt4QszD-svpKqemn-EyCJtdmZSul3PWApmU6CQjrVK_8K6zBV55BeXNKVI04XJL8lGlVv25mPQfzqFZoWxnydj9JqCM8_7UwEJFeJundEKf3CjobZ8QgcLfCy0pznk36Bzh02_5aMB0yrjvdXULN
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/k-Kr3wUp418SyMOUYPtNB4TsSZtxNdxcSZtxNdZcSDtBxBwQsFEECQXIzD74nHCzASXYoRI2y5mPQfzqFZoWxnydj9IxlIZ3USGvmeElUzkOrsQwMNHX_nVBxAs-ejWZOW9EV7fYU-PsQsILZh5dqWqJXIYG7DR8OJMddFCTPt-hsd7bOabatTztPo0epykV_7BY8lrfg-dGDRzG5jqRdwh-fN1hritqYKrhsu7cCMnWhEwpuvd40P6KE6db6y05-alxa14SC-rlm5p
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/2DRPoQd1MwrhopsupKUOyrKruKMUCMCruKMUC-CrjKOMOMqekQkjqtShPzybRPhOrt-cqS1h2HpW7NJk-ItgHN6FASgGSuxYrlfH7kaYhGpdKqgooRZ_HYOMOev79ZuVt4QszD-svpKqemn-EyCJtdmZSul3PWApmU6CSjrVK_8K6zBV55BeXNKVI04mGTdIx_bUgGSuxYrlfH7kaAqCjqRdwh-fN1hritqYKrhsu7cCMnWhEwpuvd40P6KE6db6y05-alxa14SC-r9oAP
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=6658&Itemid=28
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
mailto:FerroC@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
mailto:ferroc@bouldercolorado.gov
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


 Facebook |  Twitter |  YouTube |  RSS 

P Please consider the environment before printing this email.

From: ps angerer [mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com] 

Sent: Monday, July 13, 2015 5:37 PM 

To: Ferro, Charles 
Subject: Re: 385 Broadway Rezoning 

Hi Charles, 
Thank you for the notification of the calendar scheduling. 
I have a couple of questions: 
1. What is the entire process for changing zoning?
After the applicant submits an official application and the fee, staff then reviews the application & makes a 
recommendation to Planning Board based on the review criteria found in Section 9-2-18(e) B.R.C. 1981. Planning 
Board makes a recommendation to the City Council regarding whether or not a rezoning should be approved 
based on aforementioned criteria. This occurs at a public hearing (the public is welcome to address the board). 
City Council then considers the Planning Board’s recommendation via an ordinance. Typically there are two 
reading of an ordinance. The first reading is an opportunity for council and the public to review a proposal and ask 
questions of staff and or the applicant. The second reading is another public hearing (the public is welcome to 
address council) and this is typically when approval or denial would occur. All public hearings are published in the 
Daily Camera at least 10 days in advance of a hearing.  

2. What is the entire process for changing land use?
The standards and processes are outlined here.  
There are land use plan changes that require only the approval of the City Planning Board and the City Council 
only and those that require the approval of the City Planning Board and the City Council in addition to the County 
Planning Commission and the County Board of Commissioners. There are individual changes that may be 
considered at any time as well as those that occur through the “mid term” update period or the “5 year or major 
update” period. 

In this case, the land use map designation was changed in accordance with the last “mid term” update that was 
approved in 2008 (refer to my email from 7/7/15 for the approval documentation). 

Pretty broad questions, but I am a little confused as to how many boards and how many times in front of 
those boards. 
Thanks 
Patty 

From: lyalts@aol.com [mailto:lyalts@aol.com] 

Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 9:43 AM 
To: boulderplanningboard 

Subject: LUR2015-00047 

Subject:  Proposed rezoning of 385 Broadway, Boulder. 
LUR2015-00047  

I wish to address only one of the many aspects of the impact of the proposed rezoning on the 2200 
block of Bluebell Avenue: A safe zone for children to live in and play. 

My wife and I bought our home at 2250 Bluebell Avenue in 1965--50 years ago, and occupied it with 
our three children.  It was ideal for children: A no-through-traffic cul-de-sac lined exclusively with one-

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 39Packet Page 99

http://www.facebook.com/bouldercolorado.gov
http://twitter.com/bouldercolorado
http://www.youtube.com/bouldercoloradogov
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=6658&Itemid=28
mailto:psangerer@yahoo.com
https://www.municode.com/library/co/boulder/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT9LAUSCO_CH2REPR_9-2-18RE
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan-2010-1-201410091122.pdf
mailto:lyalts@aol.com
mailto:lyalts@aol.com


family homes.  Children could safely play on the street and ride their tricycles or bicycles on the block. 
This has not changed.  Kids still play and ride up and down the block with or without parents.  Further, 
I have often noted that only drivers that do not live here, who mistakenly try to drive through our block, 
drive so much faster through it than we residents.   

Any rezoning that would increase traffic or parking by outside groups would impair this wonderful 
quality of the 2200 block of Bluebell. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 40Packet Page 100



_________________ 

August 18, 2015 
To: Boulder Planning Board 
Re: LUR2015-00047, Zoning Change request for 385 Broadway 
From: Shirley Keller, 2240 Bluebell Ave, Boulder, CO 

My husband was one of the original occupants of the Medical/Dental building at 385 Broadway where he 
practiced dentistry from 1957 until he retired in 1987.  We built our house, just five lots west of my husband’s 
office in 1964; our house on Bluebell Avenue has been our family home for the last fifty years. 
The site on which 385 Broadway was built has been zoned residential low density since it platting.  A variance 
was granted which allowed the construction of this non-conforming one story medical dental building.  Over the 
years additional variances were granted for the expansion of the building.  The medical/dental use has been long 
accepted by the neighborhood as it developed to the west and north.   It has had adequate parking, continuous 
access off of Broadway and a buffer of dense growth that has protected the neighborhood from noise and light 
pollution.  In addition it has been a welcome source of medical and dental services for the extended area, 
accessible by foot traffic, bicycle and public transportation.  In the way this building has served the community, 
it has been an asset and a good fit not only for the immediate area but for all of this part of Boulder.  

 In 2008 Mr. Tenenbaum requested the land use designation be changed from Low Residential to Transitional 
Business because, “Office and medical usage have been the historical use of this property since 1956.  It is an 
extremely busy and important center serving the Boulder community.”  He further stated, “. . . it seems unlikely 
that it would ever be desirable for residential use, and will better serve the people of Boulder by insuring that it 
remains in its current capacity.”   (Planning Board Agenda, February 21, 2008, Agenda Item#5A Page#C-17).  
We believed Mr. Tenenbaum when he said he only wanted to improve the building. 

Now a new owner is requesting a zoning change to Business Transitional 2.  It is difficult to imagine that any one 
of the 32 uses listed as “by-right” possibilities under BT2 would meet the same criteria or be in any way 
complementary to this area.  Neither I nor any of my neighbors have any interest in a zoning change that would 
allow any of the possible uses to be established at the Broadway end of our street.   We have no assurance which 
of these uses would be considered but the history of the real-estate investor who purchased the property suggests 
that he specializes in student housing. 

This request for rezoning 385 Broadway from RL1 to BT2 is unacceptable to me and I strongly urge that the 
request be denied. 

Matt Ludemann 
2290 Bluebell Ave. 
Boulder, CO 80302 
720-233-6976 

August 19, 2015 

Re: Rezoning request at 385 Broadway 

Dear Boulder Planning Board Members, 

I am writing to you in opposition of the rezoning request to ‘high residential’ of the property at 385 Broadway in 
Boulder.  For the past 5 ½ years, I have lived with my wife and two small children at 2290 Bluebell Ave, the 
house bordering the Broadway property directly to the west.  I can tell you unequivocally that this is a single 
family neighborhood.  The house across the Bluebell cul-de-sac from 385 Broadway, the house across Bluebell 
from our property, and our next door neighbors to the west all have small children ages 1-8.  Many of the other 
owners on the block are original owners and elderly.  There are no college rentals on the block.  As evidenced by 
our community block parties, and the “Lower Bluebell” stone sign and neatly maintained flower bed at the top of 
the block, the owners on this block take great pride in the quiet, family-friendliness of the neighborhood. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 41Packet Page 101



I have several concerns about allowing the rezoning of the property at 385 Broadway to ‘high residential’.  First 
and foremost, a high residential property would greatly compromise the quiet, single family nature of the block. 
Currently, there are very few college student residences west of Broadway and south of Baseline, and none on 
our block of Bluebell.  This would presumably change abruptly with many college students living in the 
proposed four bedroom apartments if the rezoning was approved.  Noise would be disruptive on the block.  My 
children’s bedtime is 8pm.  Having been a college student once upon a time, I know that most of their bedtimes 
are quite a bit later.  I would expect there to be tensions between the families in the neighborhood and the ‘high 
residential’ tenants regarding evening noise levels.  We do not want college students loitering around the 
neighborhood cul-de-sac. 

Secondly, additional vehicle traffic on Bluebell is a big concern.  Currently, the access to 385 Broadway is off of 
Broadway through the NIST government property to the south.  The original proposal for the 385 Broadway 
property is asking for fewer parking spaces on the property than is traditionally allowed.  Even if parking is 
adequate for this facility, I would expect residents to try to park on Bluebell because of its close proximity and 
easy access off of Broadway and Baseline.  This would make our quiet street much busier and louder.  Also, 
Bluebell is a major bike route off of the Broadway bike path that feeds all of Lower Chautauqua including King 
and Mariposa.   Our family uses Bluebell frequently for bike access to the Broadway path, as do many families 
and bike commuters in the area.  Additional vehicle traffic on Bluebell would potentially make bike traffic 
unsafe.  I also worry that because the primary pedestrian access to 385 from Broadway may be indirect for some 
residents, residents would be inclined to cut through the Bluebell cul-de-sac and create a path off of the cul-de-
sac.  To take that a step further, the 385 Broadway developer could create formal pedestrian or vehicle access to 
Bluebell.  Creating any kind of access directly to Bluebell from 385 Broadway would further disrupt the 
neighborhood. 

Student neighborhoods and single family neighborhoods are both tremendous assets to our Boulder Community. 
While it is in Boulder’s development plans to expand ‘high residential’ housing, it is neither in Boulder’s plans 
nor in Boulder’s best interest to compromise additional long-standing single family neighborhoods with ‘high 
residential’ property geared toward students.  Rather than having ‘high residential’ student property spread into 
our single family neighborhoods, of which there are precious few, let’s work to expand housing in areas that are 
already student neighborhoods, and keep the wonderful single family neighborhoods of Boulder, single family.   

For the above reasons, my family and I strongly oppose the zoning change on 385 Broadway to ‘high 
residential’.  If the unfortunate decision to rezone the 385 Broadway property is made, please do everything you 
can to minimize its impact on our neighborhood.  Thank you very much for your consideration in this matter, and 
thank you for your dedicated service to our great community! 

Sincerely, 

Matt Ludemann 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 42Packet Page 102



From: orentaft@comcast.net [mailto:orentaft@comcast.net]  
Sent: Monday, August 17, 2015 8:23 AM 

To: boulderplanningboard 
Subject: Proposed zoning change to 385 Broadway, Boulder, CO 

8/17/15 
RE: Rezoning & Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) 

Dear City of Boulder, Staff, Planning Board and City Council 

We are Oren and Helen Taft, 485 Sunnyside Lane, Boulder, CO. We are 50 year 
residents of Boulder and have lived at this address since 1991.  Due to the proximity 
of our residence and 385 Broadway, we received a notice from the city of the 
proposed zoning change to the above subject property.  We thank you for this 
notification and for our chance to respond to this proposal.  We are NOT in favor of 
this re-zoning proposal. 

Our main concern is a potential increase in vehicle traffic and parking congestion in 
our neighborhood.  If zoning is changed from RL-1 to BT-1 or 2, a “By-Right” 
development would result, increasing the density of the subject site, beyond its’ 
carrying capacity. None of the long list of BT-1 or 2, by-right development options fit 
with the current neighborhood. (Please see: Boulder Comprehensive Plan, Para. 
2.10) 

Our residence sits on a corner lot and Mariposa fronts our house. While lower 
Mariposa is a permitted parking block, we already have many transient, non-
permitted vehicles parking here.  Permit monitoring seems spotty at best and an 
increase in out of area parked cars will only compound this problem.   

 385 Broadway is a small site and should zoning increase the density the natural 
alternative will be an increase in neighborhood parking on lower Columbine, 
Mariposa and Bluebell. Among other potentials, Baseline Ave. would experience a 
negative impact into our neighborhood.  The current weekday mass exodus from 
upper Baseline slows the normal flow of traffic.  When the Broadway light stops 
eastbound Baseline traffic, vehicles moving west from Broadway, must sometimes 
bypass 22nd and drive to the light on 20th to be able to turn left and into the 
neighborhood.  A resultant increase in this neighborhood traffic attempting to turn left 
onto 22nd, will most certainly cause a back-up past a busy fire station and even onto 
the Baseline/Broadway intersection.   

We do not wish to dwell on the traffic that already exists in front of our address, but 
want to offer a short review.  Having been subject to the Skunk Creek Underpass 
Project, without much recourse, we now live amid a virtual sea of human 
transportation.  We’ve lost our street in front of our house (Sunnyside Lane) yet 
through the kindness of the postmaster we were able to keep our address.  
Sunnyside Lane was a buffer from Broadway and we experienced little pedestrian 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 43Packet Page 103

mailto:orentaft@comcast.net
mailto:orentaft@comcast.net


traffic. We lost another buffer when 3 of our mature trees died due to project digging 
in front of our property.  The city did plant evergreens outside of our property, in front 
of the tunnel, but that has only led to homeless people dragging items over from the 
Goodwill Store boxes, to use behind the evergreens as sleeping mats.  This is all 
against our front yard fence and we constantly are placing these items in our trash 
cans.  We often contact the police to shepherd these campers along their way.  Most 
annoying as a result of the underpass, the Broadway roadbed was raised above our 
fence level and now focuses a higher decibel vehicle noise across our property and 
into our home.   

We had little chance of changing the outcome of the Skunk Creek Underpass project 
and its impact to our home.  We hope this letter will help Staff, Planning Board and 
City Council decide to maintain the current zoning at 385 Broadway Avenue.  
By keeping 385 Broadway currently zoned RL-1, (low density residential), the future 
of our neighborhood will remain mostly as it exists today and should any changes be 
contemplated down this road, the by-right development list is shorter and much more 
acceptable. For other proposed uses, the review process will still be an option, one 
that does not exist if zoning is changed to BT-1 or 2.   

Respectfully Submitted 

Oren and Helen Taft 
485 Sunnyside Lane 
Boulder, CO 80302 

From: Beth Fleming [mailto:bflemingca@hotmail.com]  

Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 12:58 PM 
To: boulderplanningboard 

Subject: Rezoning & Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) 

RE: Rezoning & Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) 
Dear City of Boulder, Staff, Planning Board and City Council 
Executive Summary: NO to zoning change to 385 Broadway Ave 

I am the owner of 2285 Bluebell Ave, Boulder, CO which is directly across Bluebell from the 385 Broadway lot 
in question.  I live in my home with my husband and 2 small children.  I am strongly opposed to the 385 
Broadway Rezoning Change from RL-1 to TB-2.   The 2008 decision to change BVCP Land Use for  the lot on 
385 Broadway Ave was based on misinformation, false statements and conflicts of interest.   Our neighborhood 
association plans to fight the BVCP land use designation for this lot as business transitional based on this 
misinformation.  If the City of Boulder rushes to make a decision on this lot’s zoning during the BVCP 2015 
revision period, they will be cutting off our neighborhood associations’ ability to work through the issues with 
the BVCP. 

The number 1 concern to me is the developer’s push to get the zoning changed before discussing issues of access 
to the 385 Bluebell lot if it becomes a transition business zone.   In the definition of the BVCP Land Use 
Descriptions,  “The  Transitional  Business  designation  is  shown along certain major streets. These  are  areas 
usually zoned for less intensive business uses than the General Business areas, and they often  provide a 
transition to residential areas.”    The BVCP land use designation change in 2008 was allowed at a time when 
the access to 385 Broadway came through NIST with an easement.  Since then, NIST has heightened it’s security 
in many ways and has stated in its recent letter to the planning board that they do not plan to support the 
continuation of their easement to the lot if the lot becomes BT-2.   My understanding is that there is no other 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 44Packet Page 104

mailto:bflemingca@hotmail.com


access point from Broadway into the property.   The developer is trying to delay the conversations about 
planning and property access until after the zoning decision has been made.    

But I would argue that, by the nature of BVCPs zones descriptions, a transitional business zone lot should and 
must have access from the major street.   If not through NIST or directly from Broadway, the only other access to 
the property would be through Bluebell Ave which is a dead end quiet residential street with no access to 
Broadway.  This means that any BT-2 building traffic would need to access the business through the residential 
neighborhood entering from Baseline and 22nd, driving down 22nd ave and driving down Bluebell Ave.   If you
do not understand the planned access to the lot from Broadway, then you should not approve rezoning.   

The 385 Broadway property has always been one of non-conforming use.   It changed ownership in 2006.  Then 
the owner requested the change be made to the BVCP Land Use to allow for minor improvements to the existing 
non-conforming single-story office building.   The property owner did not make the improvements but instead 
put the property up for sale as TB-2 Zoned lot in 2014.  It was a total misrepresentation of the plans for the lot.  
The property was marketed by the seller as a TB-2 zoned property with the potential to build up to a 18K sq ft 
building.   

On Broadway between University and Greenbriar (@ 3.5 miles), there are no lots with business transitional 
zoning - ZERO.   In addition, our entire lower Chautauqua neighborhood (From Baseline to King and from 15th 
to broadway ) is 100% low density residential.   The proposed rezoning to BT-2 zoning is totally inappropriate 
for this historic residential area.   

The fact that the current old commercial building has remained out of conformity with its designated land use 
without much argument from the neighbors is because it was low impact to the neighborhood.  It had access from 
Broadway through NIST.  As a dentist and optical office, it has very low car, foot and bike traffic.   It has a large 
parking lot with ample parking for the needs of the current businesses.  Most of the development possibilities in 
an BT-2 zone would have a huge impact on the neighborhood: 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 45Packet Page 105



- construction staging
- car, foot and bike traffic on Bluebell
- backed up traffic on Baseline (West of Broadway) in front of the fire station waiting to turn onto 22nd

- increased parking on Bluebell

As noted in the BVCP Plan’s charter “The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan policies guide decisions about 
growth, development, preservation, environmental protection, economic development,  affordable housing, 
culture and the arts, urban design, neighborhood character and transportation. The policies also inform decisions 
about the manner in which services are provided, such as police, fire, emergency medical services, water utilities, 
flood control and human services.”  It is intended as a guide, not legally binding document for local land use 
decisions  

Please do not rezone this lot without allowing us the opportunity to fight the BVCP’s incorrect change to 
Business Transitional in 2008.  Also, do not rezone this lot without understanding access from Broadway.   A lot 
cannot be described as a way to create a buffer from a busy street to a residential neighborhood if the only access 
is through that neighborhood.  No Rezoning of 385 Broadway.   

Thanks, 
Beth Fleming 
2285 Bluebell Ave, Boulder, CO. 

To: Boulder Planning Board 

Re: LUR2015-00047 

Location: 385 Broadway 

Description:  Proposal to rezone from RL-1 to BT-1 

From: Tom Van Zandt and Natalie Hedberg 
2255 Bluebell Avenue,  
Boulder 80302 
303-499-6395

Date: Aug. 18, 2015 

The only reason the proponents give for rezoning from RL-1 to BT-2 is to make the City zoning agree 
with the BVCP.   But there isn't any requirement, in either the City Zoning regs or the BVCP, that the 
City zoning and BVCP uses agree in detail.  The BVCP is advisory to the City, not regulatory.     

We are very concerned that BT-2 zoning allows much more intensive uses that are not compatible with 
the neighborhood (but greatly increases the value of the property for the applicant!).   Some of the 
allowed uses are: Fraternities, Sororities, Dormitories, Boarding houses, Town houses, and 
Congregate care facilities.  Such uses are in direct contradiction to BVCP Neighborhoods policies. 

For example, BVCP Policy 2.10, Preservation and Support for Neighborhoods, says "the city will work 
with neighborhoods to protect and enhance neighborhood character and livability".   These allowed, by 
right, uses would certainly degrade the livability of the 2200 block of Bluebell Avenue as well as the 
larger neighborhood to the west and north.  Imagine the intrusion of a fraternity or student housing on 
this quiet residential neighborhood!  Nighttime uses are particularly objectionable.  Note that next to 
385 Broadway there are eight children up to the age of 11 in the residences at 2280, 2285, 2290 
Bluebell, and 415 Sunnyside Lane.   

Also, BVCP Policy 2.15, Compatibility of Adjacent Land Uses, requires that adjacent widely varying 
uses be separated by "interface zones, transitional areas … and cascading gradients of densities," 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 46Packet Page 106



and "the transitional area should be within the zone of more intense use".  It's obvious that a one-acre 
property is much too small to include an effective transitional area especially when you consider that 
the parcel less the 25-foot buffers on the north and west sides leave only 0.8 of an acre for 
development.  Such a buffer would do nothing to minimize noise and light pollution.     

The foregoing paragraphs present clear and convincing evidence that the proposed rezoning is NOT 
consistent with either the policies or goals of the BVCP or with  
BRC 9-2-18(a).  For this reason we strongly oppose the proposed zoning change. 

From: Helen <hgoldman@colorado.edu> 
Date: August 19, 2015 at 9:54:03 AM MDT 
To: boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov 
Subject: Fwd: 385 Broadway LUR2015-00047 

Dear Planning Board Members: 

My husband and I live at 2275 Bluebell Avenue, nearly opposite the property requesting a zoning change.  We 
have lived on this quiet residential street since 1972, and raised our two children here.  I invite you to actually 
take a stroll down our street to see what we are in danger of losing.  

If the proposal is accepted, our neighborhood is about to undergo a drastic and destructive change, which will 
undermine a family centered neighborhood where young children play safely, especially in the lower part of our 
street and the cul-de-sac.    It has been a haven that substitutes for a local playground, which we do not have.   

A bit of history:  when we moved in, city planners included a playground in every other residential 
neighborhood, close enough for children to walk or ride bikes to, with no intervening major streets to cross, like 
Broadway.  I was curious why we were not so blessed.  So I called the city offices and their response was that 
when the city gave the land next door to the federal government for the Bureau of Commerce, there was an 
agreement between the city and the federal government that the local residents could use the unbuilt part of the 
land there to "play."  Hah!  Some playground, with limited access and no facilities.  

So our little haven of peace and quiet, broken only by the laughter of the children at play will be shattered by 
traffic, parked cars and extremely dense population.  There could be as many as 64 cars and as many or more 
unrelated people using our street.  We feel that the original 2008 zoning change was a Trojan Horse, meant to 
undermine our right to live quietly on our lovely residential street.   Please do not do this to us.   

Yours truly,  
Helen Goldman 

Sent from my iPad 
From: lyalts@aol.com [mailto:lyalts@aol.com] 

Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 3:35 PM 

To: boulderplanningboard 
Subject: LUR2015-00047 

Subject:  Proposed rezoning of 385 Broadway, Boulder. 
LUR2015-00047  

I wish to address only one of the many aspects of the impact of the proposed rezoning on the 2200 
block of Bluebell Avenue: A safe zone for children to live in and play. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 47Packet Page 107

mailto:hgoldman@colorado.edu
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:lyalts@aol.com
mailto:lyalts@aol.com


My wife and I bought our home at 2250 Bluebell Avenue in 1965--50 years ago, and occupied it with 
our three children.  It was ideal for children: A no-through-traffic cul-de-sac lined exclusively with one-
family homes.  Children could safely play on the street and ride their tricycles or bicycles on the block.  
This has not changed.  Kids still play and ride up and down the block with or without parents.  Further, 
I have often noted that only drivers that do not live here, who mistakenly try to drive through our block, 
drive so much faster through it than we residents.   

Any rezoning that would increase traffic or parking by outside groups would impair this wonderful 
quality of the 2200 block of Bluebell. 

Sincerely, 

Helmut Altschuler 
2250 Bluebell Avenue 
Boulder, CO 
303-442-8769

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 48Packet Page 108



From: Julianna Bellipanni [mailto:romanwu@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 7:51 PM 

To: boulderplanningboard 

Subject: LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) NO to zoning change to 385 Broadway Ave 

RE: Rezoning and Site Review Processes LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) 
NO to zoning change to 385 Broadway Ave 
- 
Dear City of Boulder, Staff, Planning Board and City Council: 

I have lived with my brother’s family for 4 years at 2290 Bluebell Ave, which is directly adjacent to 385 
Broadway.  I rely completely on my bike for transportation in and around Boulder.  This location has offered me 
complete convenience and accessibility to the bike path and safe roads to get around.  I am concerned that re-
zoning of 385 Broadway will increase traffic and parking on Bluebell Ave and inhibit safe bike riding on this 
street.  Bluebell is a major though fare for bikes as it connects directly with the bike path.  When cars are parked 
along both sides of the street, a bike and a single car cannot pass safely.  Last week, cars were parked on each 
side of the street, a car was traveling eastbound on Bluebell, and I was riding westbound.  There was no room for 
the car to move over and he couldn’t pass me safely.  I had to dismount in order to avoid being hit by the car.  I 
have serious concerns that rezoning 385 Broadway will lead to more traffic and parking on Bluebell and it will 
no longer serve it’s function of allowing bike accessibility from western neighborhoods onto the Broadway bike 
path.  This has the potential to affect all biking residents of Boulder, regardless of where they live.  No to 
rezoning of 385 Broadway Ave 

Sincerely, 

Robert Ludemann 

From: julianna bellipanni <juliannaroma@yahoo.com> 
To: "boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov" <boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 7:45 PM 
Subject: LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) NO to zoning change to 385 Broadway Ave 

RE: Rezoning and Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 ( 385 Broadway Ave. ) 
NO to zoning change to 385 Broadway Ave 

Dear City of Boulder , Staff, Planning Board and City Council: 

I was born and raised in Boulder and currently I am the owner and occupant of   2290 Bluebell Avenue , directly adjacent to 
385 Broadway.  When my husband, young child and I moved into this house almost 6 years ago, we chose this neighborhood, 
this street and this house based on the particular characteristics it offered:  a dead end street, a residential community, at a 
distance from student rentals; views out all the windows of mature vegetation (not looking into any other properties’ 
backyard).  At that time, it appeared the Boulder city council and staff had an interest in preserving open space, parks and the 
character of neighborhoods by limiting excessive development and inappropriate re-development within the city limits.   

The current medical/dental clinic at 385 Broadway seemed a curious neighbor within our residential neighborhood, but has 
proved to be a wonderful one as it is unobtrusive and has very minimal traffic--Much less than is typical of this type of 
building.  The developer’s lawyer argues “a “Medical-Dental Office” use generates 36.13 trips per day per 1000 square feet 
of office space.  Given the existing 17,600 square foot medical office, that is 636 trips/day.  On the other hand, a “Residential 
Condo/Townhome” use generates 5.81 trips per day per unit.  In the case of 16 units, that results in a total of only 93 
trips/day.  In other words, the specific use about which NIST expresses concern would result in 543 fewer trips per day.”  
This is completely erroneous.  I hear the amount of cars that come in and out of that building daily and it is at most maybe 30 
and is not disruptive at all.  A Residential Condo/Townhome seemingly designed for college students who drive to and from 
class, activities and downtown multiple times a day and have many guests would lead to exceedingly more traffic and parking 
concerns. In addition, the proposal suggests 4 students per unit which equals 64 people, drastically increasing the traffic trips 
per day.   

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 49Packet Page 109

mailto:juliannaroma@yahoo.com
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov


A business-transitional 2 (BT-2) zoning change would allow the creation of a building that would significantly affect my 
house:   It would inhibit my access to natural light; flood my house with artificial lights at night; increase noise and trash, and 
potentially damage or destroy the mature vegetation along my eastern property line.   

I understand the developer needs to demonstrate “by clear and convincing evidence that the proposed rezoning is necessary to 
come into compliance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan map”.  Rezoning 385 Broadway is not necessary for 
compliance with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Map.  It seems one of the most important tenants of the 
Comprehensive Plan is 2.10 Preservation and Support for Residential Neighborhoods.  Rezoning this land is completely 
contradictory to this point of the Comprehensive Plan.  Not supporting the rezoning would be in compliance with this 
tenant, as it would demonstrate “the city will work with neighborhoods to protect and enhance neighborhood character and 
livability.”  Because of this issue of access to the property (NIST has said they will not allow a large development to use the 
access road) and what the redevelopment would look like in a business transitional zone (The developer has stated an intent to 
build high-density condominiums suitable for student use), the character and livability of our neighborhood would be 
irrevocably changed for the worst:  If NIST refuses access through their property and access is through Bluebell, the 
numerous speeding cars would not allow my children to be safe playing outside in what is now a cul-de-sac.  If the developer 
is granted the rezoning change and continues with their plan to build condominiums tailored for students, instead of having 
quiet evenings filled with ice cream street parties we will be subject to late loud parties, marijuana smoking and college 
drinking.   

I understand the developer is pushing through rezoning so they don’t have to discuss their redevelopment plans which they 
know will significantly harm the neighborhood.  It is clear from their letter dated June 17, 2015, they have no interest in 
neighborhood or NIST input into their re-development plans and would like to have ultimate freedom in deciding what to 
build with no deference to the community, which would be granted to them by a rezoning decision. (Again, allowing this 
goes against the comprehensive plan to preserve and support residential neighborhoods)  However, it is also clear from their 
June 17, 2015 letter they intend to build a high density condominiums (as they erroneously argue about the traffic patterns for 
this sort of establishment).  The developer is well-known for the construction of high-density student housing in other parts of 
Boulder .  It can only be assumed this is his intent and if rezoning is granted, this will happen.  Besides ruining the 
community, this type of development would necessitate increased police response.  Because student housing does not fit into 
our neighborhood and our concerns have been dismissed by the developer, the neighbors will not tolerate any late night noise, 
parties, drinking or marijuana smoking nearby.  When this occurs, unfortunately we will be forced to call the police to 
respond and manage these issues, diverting their presence and time away from areas already notorious for dealing with 
student life.   

There are plenty of places in Boulder more suitable for this type of development—such as that proposed for 27th 
way/Broadway (where the old Wendy’s used to be), which can be developed appropriately.  Spot-zoning a single parcel of 
residential land into business transitional is not appropriate, ruins our neighborhood , disrupts my family’s way of living, and 
negates all the reasons we chose to live in this house. 

Please join with the Boulder citizens and choose to protect and defend our neighborhood and community against the bullying 
of a single developer.  No Rezoning of 385 Broadway. 

Thank you. 

Sincerely, 

Julianna Bellipanni 

ATTACHMENTS:  A copy of this letter in Microsoft Word; PDF file with NIST's concerns (p. 12); Developer's letter 
indicating dismissal of neighborhood and NIST concerns 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 50Packet Page 110



-----Original Message----- 
From: Dan Olson [mailto:danolson1@gmail.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 11:43 PM 
To: boulderplanningboard 
Subject: NO on rezoning 385 Broadway 

Hello, please see the attached letter regarding the proposed rezoning of 385 
Broadway. 

We urge the planning board to VOTE NO on the rezoning, as it is done without 
complete information and would be ruinous to the character of the Lower 
Bluebell neighborhood. 

Thanks, 

Dan Olson 
2285 Bluebell Ave 

From: Jennifer Lancaster [mailto:jenn_lancaster@hotmail.com] 

Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2015 9:35 PM 
To: boulderplanningboard 

Subject: Regarding the rezoning of 385 Broadway Ave 

Please see the attached letter. 

Regarding:   Rezoning & Site Review Processes - LUR2015-00047 (385 Broadway Ave.) 

Dear City of Boulder, Staff, Planning Board and City Council, 

Executive summation:  Please vote no to zoning change to 385 Broadway Avenue 

My family and I live at 415 Sunnyside Lane, Boulder CO; directly across the street (Bluebell Avenue) from 385 
Broadway Avenue.  We have owned our home since 2003 (and I am a CO native).  I have 3 young children 
ages, 11, 9 and 9.   

I purchased my home because of the neighborhood, the cul-de-sac, the schools, the community and the quietness 
of our neighbors and neighborhood.  I am requesting that you decline the request to rezone 385 Broadway 
Avenue because it would change the tenor of our lower Bluebell community, the quietness of our street and 
would devalue our homes.  Most importantly (to me); it would greatly increase vehicle traffic which would 
impact my family’s quality of life.  (The developer has implied they would build high density condominiums).  

We LOVE our neighborhood because it safe.  My children feel comfortable riding their bikes up and down 
Bluebell, running over to our neighbors to play with their children, and we have ice cream socials in our cul-de-
sac.  If 385 Broadway were rezoned it is unclear how the numerous tenants would access the property (given 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 51Packet Page 111



NIST’s statements) and undoubtedly they would drive and park on Bluebell, given the easy access (and possibly 
the only access).  I would no longer feel comfortable having my children outside with numerous cars driving on 
Bluebell; and with high turn-over tenants who are not vested in our community, nor our children.  I understand 
people want to make money and utilize under-developed space, but I ask you to consider the impact that has on 
our children and our community.   

I moved to Boulder and to Lower Chautauqua because of the family centric neighborhood and quality of life.  I 
specifically chose not to live on the Hill because of the high traffic, high turn-over population and how these 
influences would impact my children.  

I ask that we keep the zoning as it stands on 385 Broadway Avenue and maintain the integrity of our 
neighborhood. 

Thank you for your consideration. 

Regards, 

Jennifer Lancaster Alexander 

415 Sunnyside Lane Boulder, CO  80302 

720-301-6129

From: Tom Angerer [mailto:tkpaper@msn.com]  
Sent: Thursday, August 20, 2015 2:48 PM 

To: boulderplanningboard 

Subject: Opposition to Zoning Change for 385 South Broadway (LUR2015-00047) 

As a homeowner at 2225 Bluebell Avenue since 1978, I strongly oppose the proposed Zoning Change to the 
property at 385 South Broadway. 

When the original request for a specific variance to construct a specific medical/dental building at 385 South 
Broadway was made (sometime in the late 1950’s), I am confident that the request seemed reasonable to the 
neighborhood and the city.  After all, the variance represented a benefit to the neighborhood in that the building 
would house low-impact dental and eye-doctor businesses, thus making access for the neighborhood to obtain 
dental and optometry care readily  available.  It was a variance specifically for a medical/dental facility, not a 
range of facilities that a "zoning change" would allow the developer to construct.  

In 2008 we were asked by the building’s owner, Mr. Tenenbaum, to agree to a zoning change for his property, 
because it would make it easier to upgrade and repair the building.  Perhaps we were naive to believe that a 
zoning change was necessary, especially when the owner never proceeded with any of those repairs and 
upgrades.  However, as a result of his request, a “land use” change to the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
was moved by the Planning Board and ultimately approved by City Council.  Planning Staff did try to help and 
thus recommended that the land use change be accompanied by a 25’ buffer on the North and West sides of the 
property.  However, following City Council's vote to approve the land use change, we learned that a “a 
condition” (i.e. the buffers) could not be attached to the land use change as had been originally recommended by 
City Staff.  Also, we never learned what could or could not be done in a “buffer”, but it turned out that a buffer 
was not allowed at the time of the land use change. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 52Packet Page 112

mailto:tkpaper@msn.com


Now, we are again faced with an untenable situation.  If we agree to a zoning change to the property, we agree to 
a “by right” change of the property by a developer who initially asked for a permit to build multi-unit residences 
on the site along with a variance request for a reduced parking requirement.  The consequences of such a 
development would be dire to our neighborhood.  Since access to the site is relatively inconvenient from 
Broadway, we would see increased hazardous traffic conditions on Bluebell, Mariposa, 22nd, 21st and 20th 
Streets.  The young children of our neighborhood would certainly be exposed to additional risk when playing in 
the street as children are prone to do on a “dead end” street like Bluebell. 

 Is it not the City Council’s and Planning Board’s goal to preserve the character and stability of
neighborhoods which are classified as residential (RL-1)?

 Is it not the City Council’s and Planning Board’s goal to conserve property values by encouraging the
most appropriate uses of land within zoning districts?

 Is it not the City Council’s and Planning Board’s goal to protect the peace, comfort, convenience and
welfare of those citizens of an area that is zoned residential (RL-1)?

A zoning change for 385 South Broadway, would actually impede the City Council’s and Planning Board’s 
ability to fulfill those goals for the Lower East Chautauqua neighborhood. 

Please do NOT allow a zoning change from Residential Low Density (RL-1) to Business Transitional (BT-1 or 
BT-2) for the property at 385 South Broadway.  If there are changes that need to be made to this building and 
property, let them be initiated as a non-conforming use variance request to the original zoning of Residential 
Low Density. 

Sincerely, 

Tom Angerer 
2225 Bluebell Avenue 

From: Paul Cheng [mailto:pacheng@gmail.com] 
Sent: Thursday, August 20, 2015 3:10 PM 

To: boulderplanningboard 

Subject: LUR2015-00047 

Planning Board, 

    We have attached a letter that we have written regarding concerns we have about the proposed rezoning of 385 
Broadway (LUR2015-00047). 

Thank you for your consideration! 

Paul Cheng and Crystal Lee 

From: Trina Rioux [mailto:tarioux@j-rlaw.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, June 17, 2015 2:58 PM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 53Packet Page 113

mailto:pacheng@gmail.com


Cc: Brad Curl; asopher@sophersparn.com; Pannewig, Hella; mattjohnke@gmail.com; Gehr, David 

Subject: 385 Broadway– Application for Rezoning (LUR2015-00047)  

Ms. McLaughlin: 

Please see the attached correspondence from Brad Curl in connection with the above-referenced matter. 

Trina Rioux, Legal Assistant 
Johnson & Repucci LLP
2521 Broadway St., Ste A 
Boulder, Colorado 80304 
Phone: 303-442-1900 
Fax: 303-442-0191 
E-mail: tarioux@j-rlaw.com

This email message is for the exclusive use of the intended recipient(s) and may contain confidential, privileged and nondisclosable 
information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure or distribution is prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the 
sender by reply email immediately and destroy any and all copies of the message.   

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 54Packet Page 114

mailto:tarioux@j-rlaw.com


Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 55Packet Page 115



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 56Packet Page 116



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 57Packet Page 117



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 58Packet Page 118



Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 59Packet Page 119



From: Ferro, Charles  
Sent: Tuesday, June 30, 2015 6:06 PM 
To: Brad R. Curl 
Cc: Gehr, David; Pannewig, Hella; McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject:  

Mr. Curl, 
Please find the attached letter related to 385 Broadway. 
Best, 
Charles 

Charles Ferro, AICP 
Development Review Manager  
City of Boulder - Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
303.441.4012 - Direct 
303.441.3241 - Fax 
ferroc@bouldercolorado.gov 
www.bouldercolorado.gov 

 Facebook |  Twitter |  YouTube |  RSS 
P  Please consider the environment before printing this email. 

Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 60Packet Page 120

mailto:ferroc@bouldercolorado.gov
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/
http://www.facebook.com/bouldercolorado.gov
http://twitter.com/bouldercolorado
http://www.youtube.com/bouldercoloradogov
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=6658&Itemid=28


Attachment C - Correspondence Received

Agenda Item 3E     Page 61Packet Page 121



Attachment D - Applicant's Written Statement

Agenda Item 3E     Page 62Packet Page 122



Attachment D - Applicant's Written Statement

Agenda Item 3E     Page 63Packet Page 123



Attachment D - Applicant's Written Statement

Agenda Item 3E     Page 64Packet Page 124



Attachment D - Applicant's Written Statement

Agenda Item 3E     Page 65Packet Page 125



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: November 17, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE 
Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only, 
Ordinance No. 8095 amending subsection 9-12-2(b), “Prohibition of Sale Before Plan 
Approval,” B.R.C. 1981 to allow the owner of the property at 2180 Violet Ave. to sell a portion 
of the unplatted parcel to Habitat for Humanity of Boulder Valley, Inc. for the purposes of 
developing affordable housing. 

Applicant: Habitat for Humanity of Boulder Valley, Inc. 
Owner:  2145 Upland LLC 

PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Bob Eichem, Finance Director /Acting Executive Director of Administrative Services 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Sloane Walbert, Planner I 
Beth Roberts,  Housing Planner  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The City Council is asked to consider an ordinance to amend subsection 9-12-2(b), B.R.C. 1981, 
which prohibits the sale of any parcel of land that has not been subdivided in accordance with the 
city’s subdivision regulations. The ordinance will enable the property owner (2145 Upland LLC) 
to sell a portion of the property located at 2180 Violet Ave. to Habitat for Humanity of Boulder 
Valley, Inc. before January 1, 2016. Per Habitat for Humanity’s attached written statement 
(Attachment C), if they do not own the property by that time, they will lose eligibility for 
Community Development Block Grant Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR) grants for the planned 
low-income housing development on the property. The proposed ordinance can be found in 
Attachment B.  

While this request only involves the allowance to sell a portion of property prior to subdivision 
in order to meet a federal funding deadline, a subsequent Concept Plan, Site Review, subdivision 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 1Packet Page 126



review with Preliminary and Final Plats and an Annexation Agreement Amendment (approved 
by City Council at a public hearing) would be required in order to develop the property as 
proposed by Habitat for Humanity. The result of the proposed ordinance would only allow for a 
fee simple portion of the property at 2180 Violet to be sold in order to meet a federal funding 
deadline. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Suggested Motion Language: 

Motion to introduce on first reading and order published by title only, Ordinance No. 8095 
amending subsection 9-12-2(b), B.R.C. 1981 to allow the owner of the property at 2180 
Violet Ave. to sell a portion of the unplatted parcel to Flatirons Habitat for Humanity 
Community Housing Development, Inc. for the purposes of developing affordable 
housing. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS  
• Economic – This project will provide up to 14 new units of workforce housing serving

to support competitive and quality businesses. Development of the housing will also 
create construction jobs. 

• Environmental – Potential environmental impacts will be evaluated through the
development review process.

• Social – This project is anticipated to provide up to 14 units of permanently affordable,
family-friendly for-sale homes. Note that per the written statement Habitat for
Humanity intends to ask for additional density beyond the underlying zoning through
an annexation amendment to allow 17 units of permanently affordable units
(Attachment C).

OTHER IMPACTS  
• Fiscal – No impact.

• Staff time – The request was not processed through the provisions of a standard
subdivision application process and was processed outside of normal staff work plans.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
Notification will be sent to the Planning Board prior to second reading in conformance with 
Section 79 of the Boulder City Charter.  

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
The request was processed outside of the provisions of the standard subdivision process. 
However, the proposal has been noticed to the public in accordance with the requirements 
found in section 9-4-3, “Public Notice Requirements,” B.R.C. 1981 have. Public notice of this 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 2Packet Page 127



proposal was sent to property owners within 600 feet of the property at 2180 Violet Ave. on 
November 4, 2015. A posting sign was also placed on the property.  

BACKGROUND 
The subject property is 
located at 2180 Violet 
Ave. at the northwest 
corner of 22nd Street and 
Violet Avenue (refer to 
Figure 1). The property 
was annexed into the city 
in 1997 and is subject to 
the requirements of the 
attached annexation 
agreement (Attachment 
D). As part of annexation, 
the northern portion of the 
property was assigned a 
zoning designation of 
Residential - Medium 2 
(RM-2) (previously 
referred to as Medium 
Density Residential – 
Established (MR-E)) and the southern portion of the property was zoned Residential - Low 1 
(RL-1) (previously Low Density Residential – Established (LR-E)). Refer to Figure 2. The 
zoning districts that were assigned to the area in the mid 1990’s are consistent with planned 
land uses in the North Boulder Subcommunity Plan. 

Figure 1: Vicinity Map
 

Figure 2: City Zoning Districts 

2180 Violet Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 3Packet Page 128



The annexation agreement contains very specific affordable housing requirements for the 
property including size-restricted units affordable to the first purchaser of the unit. This means 
that subsequent sales of each property would allow the affordability restrictions to be 
terminated over time. (As a note, the Restricted Unit Housing Program did not meet the city’s 
affordable housing goals and was discontinued in 2002.) In addition to the required restricted 
units, the agreement requires the applicant to provide eight permanently affordable units, 
affordable in perpetuity, to households earning between 60% and 120% of the area median 
income (AMI), with an average income of 90% of AMI.  

The owner also annexed two other properties simultaneously in 1997, located at 2145 Upland 
Ave. and 1917 Upland Ave., each of which has an annexation agreement including restricted 
units provisions. The 2145 Upland Ave. agreement’s affordable housing requirement is based 
on the development potential of the property resulting in either one permanently affordable unit 
for households earning up to 90% of AMI or one size restricted unit initially affordable to 
households earning up 110% of AMI. The 1917 Upland Ave. agreement requires two units that 
are permanently affordable to households earning between 60% to 120% of the area median 
income (AMI), and one size-restricted unit initially affordable to households earning up 110% 
of AMI. Refer to Figure 3 for a vicinity map and Attachments E and F for the annexation 
agreements. 

Figure 3: Vicinity Map 

ANALYSIS 
As indicated in the attached written statement, it is the current property owner’s and Habitat for 
Humanity’s ultimate goal to amend the annexation agreements that affect the three properties 
to transfer all of the affordable housing provisions required by the respective annexation 
agreements to the property at 2180 Violet Ave., absolving the properties at 2145 Upland Ave. 
and 1917 Upland Ave. of any future affordable housing requirements or contributions.   

2180 Violet Ave. 

2145 Upland Ave. 

1917 Upland Ave. 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 4Packet Page 129



More specifically, under the current annexation agreement for 2180 Violet, the owner is 
required to provide eight permanently affordable units and five restricted units. With this 
proposal, Habitat will provide 14 permanently affordable for-sale units on the 2180 Violet 
property. Through the annexation agreement amendment, Habitat for Humanity’s intends to 
ask for additional density beyond the underlying zoning on the property to allow 17 units of 
permanently affordable units. 

The three annexation agreements require a total of 17 affordable units, 11 permanently 
affordable units affordable to households with incomes ranging from 60% to 120% of AMI and 
six restricted units that are only made affordable to the first purchaser; subsequent sales can be 
made to a market rate buyer and at market rate pricing as noted above. Habitat for Humanity’s 
mission is to provide permanently affordable housing to households earning up to 60% of 
AMI; in Boulder, the range of incomes for households purchasing homes through Habitat for 
Humanity is 40% - 60% of AMI. Allowing Habitat to provide the required affordable housing 
results in a deeper and permanent level of affordable housing. 

Per Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan policy 1.24, applications for annexation are required 
to demonstrate a special opportunity or benefit to the city with emphasis given to the provision 
of permanently affordable housing. In 1997 when the three properties were annexed, the 
affordable housing provisions included in the respective annexation agreements were 
determined to provide such a benefit. However, staff finds that facilitating a proposal that 
would allow the exploration of a development plan that could result in 14 permanently 
affordable units represents a much greater permanent housing benefit than what was required 
in 1997. Community benefit would be fully explored in the context of subsequent review 
processes. The subject ordinance would only allow for Habitat for Humanity to secure the 
property and meet their funding deadline.    

ATTACHMENTS  
A. Survey of Proposed Parcel (2180 Violet Ave.) 
B. Proposed Ordinance No. 8095 
C. Written Statement 
D. Annexation Agreement – 2180 Violet Ave. 
E. Annexation Agreement – 2145 Upland Ave. 
F. Annexation Agreement – 1917 Upland Ave. 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 5Packet Page 130

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan-2010-1-201410091122.pdf


Attachment A - Survey of Proposed Parcel (2180 Violet Ave.)

Agenda Item 3F     Page 6Packet Page 131



Attachment A - Survey of Proposed Parcel (2180 Violet Ave.)

Agenda Item 3F     Page 7Packet Page 132



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

ORDINANCE NO. 8095

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SUBSECTION 9-12-2(b), 
B.R.C. 1981, TO ALLOW THE OWNER OF THE PROPERTY 
GENERALLY LOCATED AT 2180 VIOLET AVENUE TO 
SELL A PORTION OF AN UNPLATTED, PROPOSED 
SUBDIVISION TO HABTITAT FOR HUMANITY OF THE 
BOULDER VALLEY, INC. UNDER CERTAIN CONDITIONS, 
AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS.

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO FINDS:

A. 2145 Upland LLC, a Colorado limited liability company, is the owner (the

“Owner”) of an approximately 1.2 acre parcel of land (the “Property”), a legal

description of the Property is attached hereto as Exhibit A, which constitutes the

northern portion of a larger parcel of land generally located at 2180 Violet

Avenue (the “Larger Parcel), a legal description of the Larger Parcel is attached

hereto as Exhibit B;

B. Habitat for Humanity of Boulder Valley, Inc., a Colorado nonprofit corporation,

intends to purchase the Property to build and maintain permanently affordable

housing;

C. Habitat for Humanity of Boulder Valley, Inc. must acquire ownership of the

Property prior to January 1, 2016 to be eligible for CDBG-DR grants for the

planned low-income housing development on the Property.

D. The Property has not yet been subdivided from the Larger Parcel;

E. The subdivision process will require several months to be completed; and

F. Subsection 9-12-2(b), B.R.C 1981, prohibits, among other things, the sale of any

portion of a proposed subdivision until a plat thereof has been recorded.

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page 8Packet Page 133



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO:

Section 1.  Subsection 9-12-2(b), B.R.C. 1981, is hereby amended to allow the Owner to 

sell the Property to Habitat for Humanity of Boulder Valley, Inc. prior to the recording of a plat 

of a subdivision creating a separate lot for the Property, provided, however, that (1) the Property 

is not resold, nor is construction commenced thereon, prior to the time of a plat of the 

subdivision creating a lot for the Property and consistent with the requirements of Chapter 9-12, 

Subdivision, B.R.C. 1981, has been recorded, and (2) a concept plan review and site review 

approval shall be completed for the Larger Parcel prior to application for said subdivision 

consistent with the requirements of Subsection 9-2-14(b), B.R.C. 1981, as those requirements 

would apply in the absence of this ordinance and a sale of the Property prior to recording of a 

plat.

Section 2. This ordinance shall be considered an amendment to Chapter 9-12, 

“Subdivision,” B.R.C. 1981.  To the extent that this ordinance conflicts with any other ordinance 

of the city, such ordinance shall be suspended for the limited purpose of implementing this 

ordinance.  Nothing in this ordinance shall be construed as a waiver of the City’s police power. 

Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, is consistent with the goals and policies of the Boulder Valley 

Comprehensive Plan, and covers matters of local concern.

Section 4.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page 9Packet Page 134



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 17th day of November, 2015. 

____________________________________
Mayor

Attest:

____________________________________
City Clerk

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 1st day of December, 2015. 

____________________________________
Mayor

Attest:

____________________________________
City Clerk

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page 10Packet Page 135



Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page 11Packet Page 136



Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3F     Page 12Packet Page 137



Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance

EXHIBIT B

Agenda Item 3F     Page 13Packet Page 138



Attachment C - Written Statement

Agenda Item 3F     Page 14Packet Page 139



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 3F     Page 15Packet Page 140



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 3F     Page 16Packet Page 141



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 3F     Page 17Packet Page 142



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 3F     Page 18Packet Page 143



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 3F     Page 19Packet Page 144



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 3F     Page 20Packet Page 145



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 3F     Page 21Packet Page 146



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 3F     Page 22Packet Page 147



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave

Agenda Item 3F     Page 23Packet Page 148



Attachment D - Annexation Agreement - 2180 Violet Ave 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 24Packet Page 149



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 25Packet Page 150



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 26Packet Page 151



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 27Packet Page 152



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 28Packet Page 153



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 29Packet Page 154



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 30Packet Page 155



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 31Packet Page 156



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 32Packet Page 157



Attachment E - Annexation Agreement - 2145 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 33Packet Page 158



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 34Packet Page 159



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 35Packet Page 160



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 36Packet Page 161



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 37Packet Page 162



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 38Packet Page 163



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 39Packet Page 164



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 40Packet Page 165



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 41Packet Page 166



Attachment F - Annexation Agreement - 1917 Upland Ave.

Agenda Item 3F     Page 42Packet Page 167



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  November 17, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE:   Consideration of an Emergency Ordinance No. 8096 approving a 

supplemental appropriation to acquire the Boulder Community Hospital Broadway Campus; 

setting forth related details; and declaring an emergency. 

Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder City Council and convene as the 

Boulder Municipal Property Authority Board of Directors. 

PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works  
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning and Sustainability 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
Ron Gilbert, Assistant Controller 
Elena Lazarevska, Senior Financial Analyst 
Maria Diaz, Budget Analyst 
Doug Newcomb, Property Agent 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

In furtherance of the council decision to authorize the acquisition of Boulder Community 
Hospital Broadway Campus (BCH Broadway), the Boulder Municipal Property Authority 
BMPA) issued its Taxable Certificates of Participation, Series 2015 (the “2015 Certificates”) in 
the amount of $41,000,000.  Proceeds of the taxable 2015 Certificates have been approved for 
the purpose of providing funds to acquire the BCH Broadway Campus.  The proposed ordinance 
represents the general fund requirements to enable the purchase of the property. 

Due to the complexity and timing requirements for this transaction, it is not included in the 
regular supplemental appropriation ordinance included in the consent agenda of Nov. 17, 2015. 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 1Packet Page 168



The purchase of this property has been on a compressed timeline. Closing is scheduled for Dec. 
4, 2015. Since the transaction was entered into, the closing date has been set for early December.  
If this purchase were included in the regular supplemental appropriations, the normal timeline 
would consist of a minimum of two readings, and there would be a thirty day period before the 
ordinance was final on Dec. 31, 2015. To meet the closing deadline, staff recommends the 
attached emergency ordinance for the appropriation be approved by council. The appropriation 
would become available after the emergency ordinance is approved. The actual appropriation for 
the proceeds of the transaction and the costs associated with the purchase will occur in the 
BMPA resolution that council acting as the Board of Directors of BMPA will consider when 
acting on agenda item 3I. 

Additional reasons for the recommendation are: 

 The size of the appropriation is significant on its own and the separate supplemental
appropriation by the city and BMPA provides the best transparency for tracking the
transaction in the future.

 It needs to be very clear for all parties involved that the funds have been properly
appropriated and are available to complete the purchase and pay the related costs on Dec.
4, 2015.

 This is a very complex financial transaction from a budget, accounting, and financial
reporting standpoint. It is important that all aspects of the transaction be properly
authorized and documented. Finance staff has been in contact with the city’s new external
independent auditors to ensure all aspects of the transactions are being accounted for
properly and in a timely manner.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

A motion to publish by title only, and adopt as an emergency measure Emergency Ordinance 
No.1177 (Attachment A) that appropriates funds to purchase the Boulder Community Hospital 
Broadway Campus; pay all costs related thereto; and declaring an emergency.   

Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder City Council and convene as the Boulder 
Municipal Property Authority Board of Directors. 

COUNCIL SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic: The financing of the acquisition of the Boulder Community Hospital
Broadway Campus property through certificates of participation provides a mechanism
for the city to fund the acquisition price in a manner that allows the city to take advantage
of the opportunity to obtain the property for use, directly or indirectly to provide needed
city services.

Agenda Item 3G     Page 2Packet Page 169



 Environmental:  The city has conducted environmental studies on the property and
amended the Purchase Agreement with BCH to address the limited issues raised by such
studies.

 Social:  The future use of the property will be determined through extensive public
processes. It is anticipated that the future use of the property will, directly or indirectly,
provide a means to provide city services.

OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal:  The appropriation of the proceeds of the 2015 Certificates for purchase of the
BCH Broadway Campus allows the city to complete its obligations under the Purchase
Agreement between the city and the hospital, and to pay or reimburse the city for all costs
related to the acquisition, including reimbursing the general fund for the $3,000,000
earnest money deposit. The 2015 Certificates were sold through a competitive bid which
was for a true interest rate of 3.599%, resulting in the annual lease payments being less
than $2.9 million. The first annual payment is included in the adopted 2016 City of
Boulder Budget. The ability to access part of the property in the next two years and all of
the property in 2018 may allow the city to reduce lease payments for other currently
leased city offices. The $174,000 appropriation is for the general fund of the city to make
the payment that will have accrued between the date the proceeds of the COPs were
received by BMPA through December 31, 2015. In the BMPA resolution the same
amount will be appropriated for the BMPA part of the transaction.

 Staff time:  Completing the purchase of the hospital property and administration of future
payments of the lease payments on the 2015 Certificates is part of normal staff time that
is included in the appropriate department budgets.

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 

On July 14, 2015 council entered into an agreement in principal to offer to purchase the BCH 
Broadway Campus for $40,000,000 and pay a $3,000,000 earnest money deposit. The issue also 
includes an additional one million dollars (for a total of $41,000,000) to pay cost of issuances and 
costs incurred by the city to purchase the site and ready it for use. BCH accepted the city’s bid, 
and the parties entered into a purchase agreement with closing set for Dec. 4, 2015. The city will 
have access to the portion of the campus south of Alpine upon closing. The city will have access 
to the portion north of Alpine by January, 2018, unless BCH vacates the property earlier. That 2-
year period of time has been referred to as the “leaseback” period.   

On Sept. 15, 2015, council authorized the use of Certificates of Participation (COPs) to finance 
the acquisition of BCH Broadway Campus. BMPA was created in 1988 as a Colorado non-profit 
corporation for such transactions. The city sold city property to the Boulder Municipal Property 
Authority (BMPA) that is used as collateral for the least transaction. BMPA will lease the 
property back to the city for the term of the certificates by a Lease Purchase Agreement (21 
years). At the end of the lease (21 years), the last piece of collateral property will be conveyed 
back to the city. During the term of the lease, individual pieces of collateral will be released as an 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 3Packet Page 170



amount equal to the current fair market value of the principal is paid off by the city’s general 
fund. The properties used for collateral and the order in which they will roll off are the Park 
Central Building, the East Boulder Community Center and the Public Safety Building.     

Per the approval granted by council on Sept. 15, 2015, BMPA sold the COPs by competitive bid.  
The winning bidder was Robert W. Baird and Company, Inc.  The true interest costs of the bid 
was 3.599% and the maximum debt service is under $2.9 million per year.  The estimate of the 
annual payments approved by council was up to $3.2 million per year. The lower payment is a 
direct result of the strong rating on the Certificates by rating agencies, and the strong financial 
performance and solid financial policies followed by the city in combination with the low interest 
rate environment. The final closing on the Certificates (the date when the proceeds will be 
received) is scheduled for Nov. 17, 2015.   

The city used the COPs form of financing due to the short timeframe of the purchase. Lease 
purchase transactions are not a general obligation and based on a Colorado Supreme Court 
decision are not a multi-year obligation of the city. The designation of not being a multi-year 
obligation is important as it exempts the COPs from the requirements of the Taxpayer Bill of 
Rights that is often referred to as TABOR. Therefore, the money to pay for the lease payments 
each year must be appropriated specifically in each annual budget. As was covered earlier, 
collateral other than the BCH Broadway Campus was used, and the certificates were issued as 
taxable rather than tax-exempt.  Both were done to provide maximum flexibility under United 
States tax laws when deciding how and with what partners the property may be put to use in the 
future.    

Council approved a reimbursement resolution on Aug. 18, 2015. It allows the city to use the 
proceeds for all costs incurred by the city related to the hospital purchase beginning sixty days 
prior to the resolution being adopted by Council, This includes such costs as environmental 
studies and surveys, and to reimburse the general fund for the $3,000,000 earnest money deposit.  

Attachment A Emergency Ordinance No. 1177 to appropriate funds to purchase the BCH 
Broadway Campus 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 4Packet Page 171



Attachment A 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

ORDINANCE NO.  8096 

AN ORDINANCE MAKING SUPPLEMENTAL 
APPROPRIATIONS; SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS; AND DECLARING AN 
EMERGENCY 

WHEREAS, the City Council has approved Ordinance No. 8092 adopting a 

supplemental budget for 2015, and Ordinance No. 8092 appropriating those funds, which 

ordinances will not be effective until 30 days after final passage; and 

WHEREAS, the supplemental budget includes the expenditure of the proceeds of the 

BMPA Certificates of Participation issued to acquire the BCH Broadway Campus, the closing of 

which is set for December 4; 2015.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BOULDER, COLORADO, that the following amounts are appropriated from fund balances 

to the listed funds: 

Section 1.  General Fund 

Appropriation from Fund Balance $ 174,000 

Negative Appropriation - Ordinance #8063 ($3,000,000) 

Section 2.  An emergency exists as it is necessary for this appropriation to be approved 

and effective for the closing date of December 4, 2015 on the acquisition of the BCH Broadway 

Campus. 

Section 3.  The City Council finds that this ordinance is necessary for the immediate 

protection of the public health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the City and covers matters 

of local concern. 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 5Packet Page 172



Attachment A 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

Section 4.  The council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title only 

and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the Office of the City Clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

READ ON FIRST READING, PASSED, ADOPTED AS AN EMERGENCY 

MEASURE BY TWO-THIRDS COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 17th day of November 2015. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 6Packet Page 173



CITY OF BOULDER 
BOULDER MUNICIPAL PROPERTY AUTHORITY AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  November 17, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE:   Consideration of a Resolution No. 142 approving an appropriation to use 

the proceeds from the sale of The Boulder Municipal Property Authority Taxable Certificates 

of Participation, Series 2015 (the “2015 Certificates”) to acquire the Boulder Community 

Hospital Broadway Campus; pay all costs related thereto; setting forth related details. 

Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder Municipal Property Authority Board of 

Directors and reconvene as the Boulder City Council. 

PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works  
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning and Sustainability 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
Ron Gilbert, Assistant Controller 
Elena Lazarevska, Senior Financial Analyst 
Maria Diaz, Budget Analyst 
Doug Newcomb, Property Agent 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

This memo and proposed resolution is the companion piece to the proposed general fund 
supplementary appropriation (agenda item 3H) for the council decision to authorize the 
acquisition of Boulder Community Hospital Broadway Campus (BCH Broadway).  The detail of 
the transaction and the proposed emergency ordinance can be found in the 3H agenda memo.  

The Boulder Municipal Property Authority (BMPA) issued its Taxable Certificates of 
Participation (COPs), Series 2015 (the “2015 Certificates”) in the amount of $41,000,000.  
Proceeds of the 2015 Certificates have been approved for the purpose of providing funds to 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 1Packet Page 174



acquire the BCH Broadway Campus.  Because BMPA is a separate entity, it must appropriate 
funds separately from the city.  Such entities appropriate funds by resolution and do not need 
emergency action by the Board. The attached resolution is to appropriate the proceeds prior to 
the closing set for Dec. 4, 2015.   

The City Council members are the Board of BMPA. Approval by the Board of the attached 
appropriation resolution for BMPA, when combined with the City Council action on the general 
fund emergency appropriation ordinance, will complete all city and BMPA requirements to 
finalize the purchase of the BCH Broadway Campus on Dec. 4, 2015, as has been previously 
agreed to by both parties.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff requests the board of directors consider this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

A motion to adopt Resolution No. 142 (Attachment A) that appropriates the proceeds from the 
issuance of The Boulder Municipal Property Authority Taxable Certificates of Participation, 
Series 2015 (the “2015 Certificates”) to purchase the Boulder Community Hospital Broadway 
Campus; pay all costs related thereto; and setting forth related details. 

Consideration of a motion to adjourn from the Boulder Municipal Property Authority Board of 
Directors and reconvene as the Boulder City Council. 

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS: 

BMPA was formed by the city to own properties for the city to facilitate financing of projects and 
allow the use of certificates of participation as a financing mechanism to purchase properties.  
The last certificates of participation issued through BMPA were in 1997 and 1998 for the Public 
Safety Building and the East Boulder Community Center.  The lease payments on both of those 
buildings have been paid off and they can used as collateral for this lease transaction.  

The financing of the purchase of the Boulder Community Hospital Broadway Campus was 
accomplished by BMPA issuing certificates of participation in the amount of $41,000,000 known 
as the BMPA Taxable Certificates of Participation, Series 2015 (the “2015 Certificates”) in 
accordance with the terms of Resolution No. 140 adopted by BMPA on Sept. 15, 2015.     
Proceeds of the taxable 2015 Certificates have been pledged by BMPA to pay the costs of the due 
diligence in preparing for closing, reimbursement to the city of the $3,000,000 earnest money 
deposit and other related costs, and the remainder of the purchase price in the amount of 
$37,000,000 to acquire the Boulder Community Hospital Broadway Campus.    

The total of the appropriation by BMPA is greater than $41 million, but the amount the city will 
pay BMPA for the principal amount over the length of the lease is $41 million. The additional 
amount represents a premium that was paid for the certificates by the buyer of the certificates. 
This additional amount is normal when issues are sold by competitive sale. The amount is used to 
pay for the costs that are incurred in long term financing. It pays for such costs as bond and 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 2Packet Page 175



disclosure counsel fees, the financial advisor fees, and the underwriters discount, trustee fees, and 
other miscellaneous costs incurred by BMPA in issuing the COPs.  The proposed appropriation 
also recognizes the accrued amount of interest payable as of Dec. 31, 2015.   

Attachment A: Appropriation Resolution No. 142 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 3Packet Page 176



RESOLUTION NO. 142 

A RESOLUTION APPROPRIATING THE PROCEEDS OF THE SALE OF 
CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION FOR ACQUISITION OF THE BCH 
BROADWAY CAMPUS; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS  

WHEREAS, the City of Boulder (the “City”), in the County of Boulder and the State of 
Colorado (the “State”), is a municipal corporation duly organized and existing as a home rule 
city under Article XX of the Constitution of the State (the “Constitution”) and the home rule 
charter of the City (the “Charter”); and 

WHEREAS, The Boulder Municipal Property Authority (the “Corporation”), a nonprofit 
corporation that was formed in 1988 for the purpose of purchasing, leasing or otherwise 
acquiring real estate, property and improvements, as well as leasing, conveying, selling or 
transferring such real estate, property and improvements, all for the use and benefit of the 
residents of the City, is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of 
the State of Colorado (the “State”); and 

WHEREAS, by the terms of Resolution No. 140 the Corporation issued Certifications of 
Participation in the amount of $41,000,000 for the acquisition by the city of the BCH Broadway 
Campus; the City desires to sell to the Corporation certain existing buildings and the land 
thereon owned by the City and consisting of the City’s Public Safety Building, the East Boulder 
Community Center and the Park Central Building (collectively, the “Property”), and to lease the 
same back from the Corporation; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporation desires to appropriate the proceeds from the sale of the 
Certificates for the city to purchase the BCH Broadway Campus, fund reserves, pay costs of 
issuance of the Certificates, and pay other costs related to the Certifications and the acquisition, 
including reimbursement to the city of funds it advance, all in accordance with Resolution No. 
140. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of The Boulder 
Municipal Property Authority that: 

Section 1.  The proceeds from the issuance of the Certificates in the amount of 
$41,560,680 and proceeds from the General Fund for lease payments in the amount of $174,000 
are appropriated for expenditure to acquire the BCH Broadway Campus, pay any costs related to 
issuance of the Certificates or the acquisition, to reimburse the city for funds it advanced for the 
acquisition, and such other costs as authorized by law and approvals of the Corporation and the 
city.  

Section 2.  This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its introduction and 
passage. 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3H     Page 4Packet Page 177



INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED AND ADOPTED this 17th  day of November, 2015.

[SEAL] 

By 
President 
The Boulder Municipal Property Authority 

ATTEST: 
By 

Secretary-Treasurer 
The Boulder Municipal Property Authority 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3H     Page 5Packet Page 178



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: NOVEMBER 17, 2015 

COMMUNITY CULTURAL PLAN 

PRESENTERS  
David Farnan, Library & Arts Department Director 
Matthew Chasansky, Office of Arts + Culture Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Boulder has long been host to a remarkable cultural environment.  From the initial 
agreement with Chautauqua Association in the 19th Century, to the growth of the 
Universities, the establishment of the cultural grants program, and the founding of 
remarkable cultural organizations: the city government’s investment in that innovative 
culture has been significant.  Yet, it has not always been consistent, as the priorities of 
government swing towards and then away from certain important initiatives.  Today, we 
find our city in a remarkable moment: the marketplace for our many cultural 
organizations is robust, the creative sector of the economy is increasingly important to 
our prosperity, and our residents are having a sophisticated community conversation 
about how the arts fit into the livability of Boulder.  At this moment, we find the 
community ready to elevate the conversation about culture.  The Community Cultural 
Plan is a response to this call for action. 

After more than a year of inquiry with the community and exhaustive research, the 
Community Cultural Plan presents a Vision for Boulder:   

Together, we will craft Boulder’s social, physical, and cultural environment to 
include creativity as an essential ingredient for the well being, prosperity, and joy 
of everyone in the community. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 1Packet Page 179



This mission statement for culture is meant to be useful to all residents, from all 
backgrounds and at all levels of participation.  The recommendations of the Community 
Cultural Plan are the city government’s role in supporting the community to achieve that 
Vision. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to approve the adoption of the Community Cultural Plan, and recommend 
that the Library & Arts Department begin implementation on January 1, 2016. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic – The Community Cultural Plan contains services, tools, and capacities
for city staff to support the creative sector of the economy through professional
development tools, research, capacities to address workforce challenges, and
many other programs.

 Environmental – In several recommendations, the Community Cultural Plan
promises to have a positive impact on livability and attachment, both critical
foundations for success of “the city” as a solution to the most critical
environmental challenges we will soon face.

 Social – The Community Cultural Plan contains recommendations for programs
that have great promise to fill a gap in how welcoming and open our city can be,
and the degree to which our social offerings meet the needs of our residents,
including the potential for authentically supporting underserved populations.

More detailed relationships between the Community Cultural Plan and the 
Sustainability Framework can be found in Appendix 10, page 130, of the 
attachment.  

OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal – The Community Cultural Plan makes specific budget recommendations,
including impacts for the general fund allocation to the Office of Arts + Culture as
well as steps to accomplish sustainable funding for the public art and grants
programs specifically.  Details can be found on page 88 of the attachmnent.

Agenda Item 5A     Page 2Packet Page 180



• Staff time – Recommendations in the Community Cultural Plan call for a staff
capacity increase for the Office of Arts + Culture in phases, from the current 2.0
FTE to a fully staffed office of 6.0 FTE.  Details can be found on page 89 of the
attachment.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 

The Community Cultural Plan has been endorsed by: 

the Boulder Arts Commission (October 21, 2015: 4-0 in favor, 1 absence), 

the Planning Board (October 22, 2015: 7-0 in favor), 

and the Parks & Recreation Advisory Board (October 26, 2015: 7-0 in favor). 

Over the course of the process, the Community Cultural Plan was repeatedly on the 
agenda for these three groups, with the most input received from the Boulder Arts 
Commission.  Other Boards & Commissions that gave feedvback to the Community 
Cultural Plan include the Library Commission, the Downtown Management Commission, 
and the University Hill Commercial Area Management Commission. 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 

Public engagement for the Community Cultural Plan was significant and successful, 
including well over 2,000 individuals participating.  Details of the process and results of 
the public inquiry efforts can be found in Appendix 5, page 104, of the attachment. 

ANALYSIS 

The public demand for action in government support for the arts, culture, and the creative 
sector of the economy is clear.  It is the recommendation of staff that Council fully adopt 
the Community Cultural Plan.  Doing so will give direction to staff on several key points: 

1. Strategies:  Staff will realign the work of the Office of Arts + Culture around
these eight sets of programs.  In this way, the city can have a clear, strategic, and
effective positive influence on the community.

2. Budget and Staffing Capacities:  By adopting the Community Cultural Plan,
Council will provide staff a road map on how to sustain the programs in order to
have the greatest and most efficient effect.

3. Vision: The Community Cultural Plan contains a bold and ambitious vision for
how the community can work together.  Council’s endorsement of this Vision will
be the most important way for cultural leaders to align around the community’s
aspirations.

Agenda Item 5A     Page 3Packet Page 181



4. Staff Mission and Guiding Principles: Council’s adoption of the Community
Cultural Plan will give staff guidance on how to best implement the programs.
This includes committing the Office of Arts + Culture to a sophisticated
leadership focus, as outlined in the Guiding Principles on page 43 of the
attachment, as well as through the Staff Mission: to facilitate the success of
alignment in the creative community.

Alternatives to Approval of Adoption: 

Council may conditionally approve adoption based on a specific criteria being 
met. 

Council may withhold adoption until specific adjustments are made or further 
information provided. 

Council may choose not to approve adoption. 

ATTACHMENTS  

Community Cultural Plan and Appendices. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 4Packet Page 182



1 

Community Cultural Plan 
City of Boulder Library & Arts Department 

Office of Arts + Culture 
Final Draft: November 17, 2015 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 5

Attachment A

Packet Page 183



 

2 
 

  

  

  
  

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 6

Attachment A

Packet Page 184



 

3 
 

Contents 
 

A.    Introduction 5 
B.    A Very Brief History of Boulder Arts 6 
C.    Planning Process 9 
D.    Community Priorities 14 
E.    Vision 16 
I.   Strategies 17 
II.     Guiding Principles 43 
III.    Implementation 46 
IV.   Appendices 91 

 
 
 

In order to respect our resources, this document is designed as a digital file only.  
We hope you will consider enjoying it on your e-reader or computer, rather than printing. 
 
 
 

Image Credits:   
 
2  - Membrana by Rosane Volchon O’Connor at BMoCA.  Image appears courtesy of the artist. 
4  - Performance of Boxes at the Dairy Center.  Image appears courtesy of 3rd Law Dance/Theater.  
8 - Cast of Failure, A Love Story.  Image appears courtesy of The Catamounts.  Pictured are Ryan Wuestewald, 

Crystal Eisele, and Nina Rolle. 
13 - West Water Outlaws at the Fox Theater, Boulder.  Image appears courtesy of photographer Kristen Cohen. 
15 - Performance of Rock, Karma, Arrows at the Dairy Center.  Image appears courtesy of MOTUS Theater, 2015.  

Pictured is Jose Aguila.  Michael Ensminger, photographer. 
18 - Performance of Appalachian Spring by Frequent Flyers Aerial Dance and the Boulder Philharmonic.  Image 

appears courtesy of Frequent Flyers® Productions. 
21 - Progress photo of a new mural by Katherine Homes, part of the PLACE Project.  Image appears courtesy of the 

NoBo Art District. 
24 - Macky Auditorium at the University of Colorado.  Image appears courtesy of CU Presents. 
27 - A Creative Accelerator class in the Black Box at the madelife.  Image appears courtesy of madelife. 
30 - Performance of Goodnight Courtney Love by Joanna Rotkin and Laura Ann Sameulson/Hoarded Stuff at the North 

Boulder Recreation Center.  Image appears courtesy of Hoarded Stuff & Joanna and the Agitators. 
33 - Krasica Farmhouse by Bobbi Vischi.  Image appears courtesy of the artist. 
35 - Cast of Outside Mullinger.  Pictured are Emily Paton Davies and Tim McCracken.  Image appears courtesy of the 

Boulder Ensemble Theater Company. 
39 - Performance of SLAB at ATLAS, University of Colorado.  Pictured is Emily K. Harrison.  Image appears courtesy of 

Square Products Theater Company. 
42 - Burst Forth by Julie Marin.  Image appears courtesy of the artist, 2015. 
45 - A packed crowd at the Chautauqua Auditorium.  Image appears courtesy of Colorado Public Radio. 
90 - March 1920 by Jane Shepherd Braley.  Image appears courtesy of the artist. www.jxnatsu.wordpress.com.  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 7

Attachment A

Packet Page 185



 

4 
 

  

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 8

Attachment A

Packet Page 186



 

5 
 

A.  Introduction 
 
 

Boulder is an outstanding place to be creative.  To be here is to be inspired: by the bold steps we have 
taken as a community, by the great places we have built, and by the inimitably beautiful natural 
backdrop to our city.  This environment of inspiration attracts, and is improved by, the creative people 
that call this place home.  We are further blessed by an innate drive of innovation and self-reliance that 
has fostered an incomparable marketplace for cultural organizations, venues, and businesses.  For many 
years, the community has pushed the practice and commerce of culture forward at a trendsetting pace.   
 
Now, from this advanced position, we find the community ready for a sophisticated perspective on the 
role of government in culture and the creative economy.  The Community Cultural Plan is the result of 
an inquiry into the thoughts and desires of our residents, students, visitors, and workforce about our 
collective aspirations for Boulder’s culture.  In this way, it tells the story of what we wish to become, and 
serves as a call to action for all levels of cultural participation.  It also tells the story of challenges: there 
are problems to solve.  Most of all, it narrates a communal understanding about the benefits of culture.  
If you make art, work for a creative business, attend a performance, take photographs as a hobby, or 
simply enjoy the beauty of our city, then you, too, have a stake in the success of the Community Cultural 
Plan.   
 
This document is also a toolbox for city government and describes the ways in which public art, 
economic tools, services for practicing artists, and support of cultural organizations, neighborhoods, and 
diverse communities all intersect with social resiliency, environmental sustainability, and economic 
prosperity to achieve a thriving and beautiful city.  The programs, capacities, and services that are 
recommended here are a network of support meant to encourage our advanced position, distribute 
accomplishment to all people, and facilitate remarkable successes of which we can all be proud.   
 
When you read this document you will see yourself in it.  We all have a role to play.  And, with effort and 
commitment, we can achieve the community’s vision: together, we will craft Boulder’s social, physical, 
and cultural environment to include creativity as an essential ingredient for the well being, prosperity, 
and joy of everyone in the community. 

 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 9

Attachment A

Packet Page 187



 

6 
 

B.    A Very Brief History of Boulder Arts 
 

By Jennifer Heath 
 
The renowned poet-photographer Robert Adams once claimed that the Colorado light attracts and is 
most useful to visual artists.  Cloudier places, he determined, are best suited to writers. 
 
Anthropologists notwithstanding, we can't know how the light affected the indigenous or early Hispanic 
art-makers, but in the 19th century, dazzled Euro-American painters first dribbled then swarmed into 
the area that became Boulder. “Rocky Mountain” Joe Sturtevant arrived in 1874 to become our first 
official photographer.  Later, circa 1895, Jean Sherwood assembled bevies of sparkling summer painters, 
who called themselves “Bluebirds”. The artists kept coming, including famous names: Clifford Still, 
Muriel Sibell Wolle, Mark Rothko, Eve Drewelowe, Max Beckmann, Thomas Hart Benton, Georgia 
O'Keeffe… some passing through, some to make Boulder home. 
 
A few, sadly, were tuberculosis sufferers, residing at the Mt. Sanitas sanitarium, now the Mapleton 
Center.  In 1891, Elmer P. Green, before succumbing to consumption at 23, painted a gorgeous view of 
Boulder Falls, held in the CU Art Museum's Permanent Collection. 
 
In 1958, the world-class Boulder Philharmonic was established.  In 1976, the Colorado Music Festival 
began gathering orchestral players from throughout the globe to perform in the marvelous Chautauqua 
Auditorium, an 1898 barn built as a summer study center.  By 1980, a group of ordinary Boulderites 
succeeded in founding the outstanding Boulder Bach Festival.  There have always been superlative 
choral groups, and, in 1985, the Ars Nova Singers took the world stage. 
 
Downtown, in the 1960s, '70s, and early '80s, rockers and folk musicians converged in their hundreds.  A 
few were destined to become superstars.  Once upon a time, the Pearl Street Mall was hot with music 
venues, while the hills nearby hosted prestigious recording studios. Add to the mix those skilled, 
inventive musicians who used stones, water glasses, or handsaws as instruments. 
 
In a city where physical activities are prominent, dance is a favorite artform.  In the 1970s, the Boulder 
Free School nurtured the arts in the old Highland Building.  Its dance program was especially potent, 
directed by Marda Kirn.  In 1982, having started the Boulder Dance Festival, she launched the Colorado 
Dance Festival, importing breathtaking "new performance."  The New York Times dubbed the CDF one 
of the three best in the world, yet another illustration of how the brightest art arises out of the 
grassroots. 
 
Music was not the only art feast on the Mall.  Those six blocks were once densely populated with 
galleries featuring the work of painters, sculptors, artisans and photographers living right in the heart of 
the city.  High-quality crafts rendered in Boulder – from quilting to woodworking to banjo building to 
glass blowing – still meet national standards.  Maybe it's the clay soil that drew so many ceramicists. 
Some, like Betty Woodman, went on to great fame. 
 
Marcelee Gralapp, director of the library from 1966-2008, was among the first to recognize the need for 
the city government to support artists of all disciplines with funding for projects or simply to provide 
necessary time and materials to create.  To that end, in 1979, she helped to spearhead the Boulder Arts 
Commission.  She added an art gallery and a film and concert series to the library's functions.  Attitudes 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 10

Attachment A

Packet Page 188



 

7 
 

were shifting, efforts expanding to harness artistic excellence beyond the marketplace, and to up the 
ante by exhibiting Boulder artists cheek by jowl with outsiders.  Karen Ripley-Dugan took over the 
Boulder Arts Center in the old 13th Street firehouse and in 1978 became its first paid director, renaming 
it Boulder Center for the Visual Arts.  Eventually the gallery was fashionably rechristened Boulder 
Museum of Contemporary Art, a non-collecting exhibition space. 
 
In the late 1950s, students at the University of Colorado formed the Experimental Cinema Group, whose 
members not only watched films, but made them.  The celebrated filmmaker Stan Brakhage's presence 
transformed Boulder into an international center for avant-garde film.  For years, the Pearl Street's Art 
Cinema, now a clothing shop, was a setting for innovative film and live performances by local artists. 
With room to grow at the Dairy Center for the Arts, Boulder's mainstream theatre groups have 
expanded from early mainstays like the Upstart Crow and, later, the Bug Performance and Media Space. 
 
With the Naropa Institute's genesis in 1974, the influence of Lee Worley and Barbara Dilley ─ veterans of 
New York's Living Theatre and the Judson and Merce Cunningham dance troupes ─ began to be felt 
among Boulder's performers, eventually spreading into endeavors like the Fringe Festival.  Naropa also 
brought in Allen Ginsberg to shape an important “school of poetics”.  Even before the Beat invasion, 
despite the radiant sunshine, there was an energetic, if modest, vanguard of poets and writers 
percolating on the scene.  Naropa added to the mix with visitations from bicoastal and international 
artists.  The school encouraged self-publishing and small presses, so that in the 1990s, Boulder boasted 
more independent publishers than any other city in the world.  Across its 139-year history, the 
University of Colorado has developed its own dynamic arts happenings, including cinema, museums, and 
the Colorado Shakespeare Festival. 
 
Whether town or gown, Boulder's citizens have made up the heart of a vibrant community whose soul is 
revealed through its commitment to the arts. 
 
Such a brief history leaves little room for much that's essential: book artists, storytellers, children's book 
illustrators and writers, architects, graphic, digital and video artists, artists in the schools, the Neodata 
Endowment, private patrons, collectors, and so many more who enriched Boulder immeasurably and 
made possible what we are today. 

 
 
Jennifer Heath is an award-winning cultural journalist, curator, and author/editor of more twelve 
fiction and non-fiction books, published by mainstream and university presses. Her art exhibitions 
tour nationally and internationally. She has lived and worked in Boulder for more than 40 years and 
most recently conceived and is chair of a Boulder-wide project called A History of the Visual Arts in 
Boulder (HOVAB). 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 11

Attachment A

Packet Page 189



 

8 
 

 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 12

Attachment A

Packet Page 190



 

9 
 

C.    Planning Process 
 

C.1  Guidelines for the Planning Process 
 

The following guidelines were created to shape a process in reflecting the city’s priorities for the 
development of the Community Cultural Plan: 

 
As a “community” plan, the project has a city-wide perspective and an extensive time-
horizon.  The plan will seek to answer the question “What is the community’s vision for arts, 
culture and the creative industries?” 

 
Transparency and good stewardship of the public trust will ensure the inclusion of the 
community’s voice and encourage the continued support for the implementation of this 
plan. 
 
Focus areas for the plan may include public art, the creative sector of the economy, funding, 
sustainable cultural tourism, and the vibrancy of street-level experiences. 
 
The process will be open and forthcoming, taking best advantage of the City of Boulder’s 
collaborative professional culture. 
 
The city-wide priorities of advancing sustainable and resilient practices, encouraging 
diversity, and promoting the success of Boulder communities will be foundations for the 
process. 

 
 

C.2  Appreciation 

The completion of the Community Cultural Plan is primarily due to the investment of people in the 
community who took time to assist in the process and consult on the content of the document.  Our 
gratitude goes out to: the research consultants, Cultural Planning Group; staff of the Office of Arts + 
Culture; members of the boards and commissions, especially the Boulder Arts Commission 
members; City Council; our steering committee members and volunteers; participants in our 
interviews, focus groups, and Cultural Summits; and the thousands of residents who participated in 
public engagement opportunities. 
 
A full list of those that deserve the thanks of our community for participating in the Community 
Cultural Plan can be found on page 93. 

 
 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 13

Attachment A

Packet Page 191



 

10 
 

C.3  Public Inquiry as the Cornerstone 
 

The cultural landscape of Boulder has changed since the last strategy document was complete: the 
Cultural Master Plan of 2005.  Among these changes are an unparalleled marketplace of cultural 
organizations, growth in the number and types of creative sector workers and businesses, and an 
emphasis on culture in the civic dialog.  These emerging conditions convinced staff that it was now 
imperative to gain a thorough understanding of the new priorities and desires of Boulder residents. 
 
To accomplish this, Cultural Planning Group (CPG) was hired as consultants and developed a public 
inquiry system called “The Culture Kitchen.”  In a series of engagements held in-person and online 
from October to December 2014, the staff and consultants gathered public input using the following 
tools: 
 
 A public art event series, 
 Stakeholder interviews, 
 Online surveys, 
 Brief intercept surveys, 
 “The Recipe Box:” an online forum hosted by MindMixer, 
 Neighborhood pop-up conversations, 
 Volunteer-led conversations in the community, 
 Meetings with Boulder High School students, 
 A pop-up meeting space at the Boulder Farmers’ market, 
 Focus group meetings, and 
 Summits of cultural organizations. 

These events and forums resulted in well over 2,000 interactions with Boulder community 
members.  Information and data gathered during the Cultural Kitchen was compiled and analyzed, 
along with a series of research projects, and presented back to the community in “The Taste Test:” a 
series of events held in May of 2015.  It is through this outreach that the staff and consultants were 
able to develop a set of “Community Priorities:” the narrative of our community’s desires for the 
advancement of art and culture in Boulder. 
 
A summary of findings from the Culture Kitchen can be found in appendix IV.5. 
 
Each component of the Community Cultural Plan establishes a basis for the next step.  Each step is 
reliant on the one in front of it. 

 

 
  

Public Inquiry Research Community 
Priorities Vision Strategies Guiding 

Principals 
Goals & 

Measures 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 14

Attachment A

Packet Page 192



 

11 
 

C.4 Conditions of Culture and the Creative Economy in Boulder Today 
 

 
Boulder finds itself in an advanced position… 
 

…in its creative workforce:   
 9,134 creative professionals live here, or 8.85% of the total population (as compared 

to an average 5.33% in like cities), 
 With concentrations among photographers, writers, musicians, postsecondary 

teachers, graphic designers, and architects.1

 
 

…in the creative sector of the economy: 
 In 2013, the creative industries represented $2.3 billion in sales.2

…in the marketplace of cultural organizations: 

 

 More than 130 cultural organizations are headquartered in Boulder,  
 The top 50 of which had a direct economic spending of approximately $20 million.3

 
 

…in cultural participation: 
Respondents to our survey told us that 

 80% take advantage of our theaters and concert halls,  
 74% are artists as a hobby, 
 65% attend art galleries, exhibitions, or craft shows, 
 61% visit museums, 
 And, 30% take classes or workshops.4

 
  

  

                                                           
1 Boulder Cultural Vitality Index (WESTAF, 2015) – See appendix IV.3 
2 Boulder Community Cultural Plan Survey 2014 – See appendix IV.5 
3 Internal Revenue Service Tax Exempt and Government Entities Division, Form 990 Database 

(https://www.irs.gov/Charities-&-Non-Profits/Exempt-Organizations-Select-Check, October 2015) 
4 Boulder Community Cultural Plan Survey 2014 – See appendix IV.5 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 15

Attachment A

Packet Page 193



 

12 
 

 
 

 
Boulder has work to do… 
 

 
…in public spending on the arts: 
 The city government spends just over $6 per person on cultural affairs,  
 As compared to an average of just over $33 in comparable cities.5

 
 

…to be a welcoming city for artists: 
 The cost of living in Boulder is increasing.  Particularly in housing, where Boulder is 

significantly more expensive than national average.6

 Meanwhile, the wages of creative professionals is generally below standard livable 
wages across different family types.

 

7

 Boulder residents feel that social offerings and the sense that the community is 
open and welcoming are areas that need improvement.

 

8

 
  

…in diversity: 
 Less than 13% of the city’s population self-identifies as being part of a minority 

ethnic group.  (8% Latino, 2% Asian, 1% Black, and less than 1% Native American, all 
under-represented as compared to state and national averages), 

 Including 21% in Colorado and 17% nationally. 9

 This challenges our community to address gaps in leadership, representation, and 
participation in culture to stay competitive. 

 

 

  

                                                           
5 Boulder Community Cultural Plan Benchmark Study 2015 – See appendix IV.4  
6 Sperling’s Cost of Living Index for Boulder http://www.bestplaces.net/cost_of_living/city/colorado/boulder  

(9/2/2015)  
7 Living Wage Index for Boulder County http://livingwage.mit.edu/counties/08013  (Dr. Amy K. Glasmeier and the 

Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2015)  
8 Soul of the Community Study (Knight Foundation, 2010)  
9 Boulder County Trends Report Community Foundation of Boulder http://www.commfound.org/trendsmagazine 

(9/3/2015)  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 16

Attachment A

Packet Page 194



 

13 
 

  

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 17

Attachment A

Packet Page 195



 

14 
 

D.    Community Priorities 
 

The Community Cultural Plan will be successful only through collaboration: success for our culture is the 
responsibility of all of Boulder.  Thus, this document is not merely a municipal government work plan.  
Rather, all of our efforts must be in alignment: public and private, non-profit and for-profit, in education, 
in personal and professional life. 

 
To understand our roles, the planning process set out to establish “Community Priorities.”  These 
statements summarize the most common responses in answer to the question, “What is your vision for 
Boulder’s culture and creative economy?” and represent the broader trends that appeared in the data 
from the Cultural Kitchen, dialog with key stakeholders, and industry research.   

 
 
Support the resiliency and sustainability of cultural organizations to enhance their ability 
to benefit the community. 
 
Create a supportive environment for artists and creative professionals, while 
fostering innovative thinking and leadership among them. 
 
Prioritize the civic dialogue about the ability of culture to positively contribute to the 
economy, social offerings, the environment, and the authentic expression of diversity. 
 
Develop Boulder’s creative identity in becoming an innovative world leader in cultural 
matters and project that identity to the region and the world. 
 
Focus on the expression of culture and creativity in the public realm through public art, 
the urban landscape, culture in the neighborhoods, and serendipitous encounters with the arts. 
 
Amplify the vibrancy of Boulder’s cultural destinations: the lively mix of museums, 
performance venues, events, districts, studios, maker spaces, and other facilities that make Boulder 
an enticing place to visit, live, play, and work.  Fill in the gaps and address issues of access and 
affordability.  

 
 

 
 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 18

Attachment A

Packet Page 196



 

15 
 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 19

Attachment A

Packet Page 197



 

16 
 

E.    Vision 
 

Together, we will craft Boulder’s social, physical, and cultural 
environment to include creativity as an essential ingredient for the well 
being, prosperity, and joy of everyone in the community. 

  
E.1  Vision Elements – to understand how the Vision can best be translated into a set of municipal 

government strategies, the following Vision Elements were developed to articulate how we 
might categorize the work that must be done over the next nine years: 

  
Cultural Vitality   Together, we will achieve a highly diverse and innovative mix of cultural, 
economic and social activity that improves the life of every resident, worker, student, and visitor to 
Boulder.  The offerings will be considered among the best that can be found anywhere. 
  

Creative Identity   Together, we will cultivate the conditions where every person who visits 
Boulder counts our inspiring culture at the top of their list of grand expectations and memories.  
Meanwhile, residents will be proud of the sophisticated community conversation about culture. 
 

Vibrant Environment   Together, we will nurture the form of the city to include 
thoughtfully designed public spaces, a mix of events and destinations, and encounters with art.  
Boulder will be filled with places that inspire the residents and support their conviction that ours is 
an open, creative city.   
 
Each vision element is described in detail in appendix IV.9.  Derived from the Vision Elements are the 
Community Cultural Plan’s Strategies: tools and capacities the Office of Arts + Culture will use to 
support organizations, businesses, and individuals for achieving the Vision. 
 

E.2 Staff Mission 

Accomplishing the vision requires an alignment of all our collective cultural endeavors.  It is the 
mission of the Office of Arts + Culture to facilitate the success of this alignment in the creative 
community.   

 
 

E.3  Time Horizon 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 20

Attachment A

Packet Page 198



 

17 
 

I.  Strategies 
 

Directly derived from the Community Priorities and Vision, below are eight strategies: programmatic 
tools, tactics, and capacities which the municipal government will provide to the community. 

 

 
support our Cultural Organizations 

 
reinvent our Public Art program 

 
create and enhance Venues 

 
enhance the vitality of the Creative Economy 

 
emphasize culture in Neighborhoods and communities 

 
support individual artists and Creative Professionals 

 
advance Civic Dialogue, awareness, and participation 

 
engage our Youth 

 
Below are summaries of each strategy.  Full operational details of each strategy can be found beginning 
on page 46.  

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 21

Attachment A

Packet Page 199



 

18 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 22

Attachment A

Packet Page 200



 

19 
 

 
Support Our Cultural Organizations  

 
Community Priorities – Support the resiliency and sustainability of cultural organizations to enhance 
their ability to benefit the community.  And, amplify the vibrancy of Boulder’s cultural destinations: the 
lively mix of museums, performance venues, events, districts, studios, maker spaces, and other facilities 
that make Boulder an enticing place to visit, live, play, and work.  Fill in the gaps and address issues of 
access and affordability. 
 
Goal – Have a substantial and positive effect on the ability of Boulder’s many cultural organizations to 
advance their operational capacity, promote organizational resiliency, and encourage innovation for the 
benefit of the community. 

 
Program Areas: 

 

A. Cultural Grants – a structured program of cultural granting opportunities focused on the 
organizational sustainability and capacity building among Boulder’s marketplace of cultural 
organizations.   
 

B. Sponsorships / Partnerships – a set of funds dedicated to supporting events and 
programs which can accelerate the Vision and Strategies of the Community Cultural Plan, yet are 
best executed in partnership with private organizations. 
 

C. Leadership Development and Convening – events, access tools, and 
partnerships on direct programming to support the staff and leadership of Boulder’s cultural 
organizations in building capacity and good practices. 

Priority Recommendations: 
 

Funding – Establish a focused, sustainable, and adequate revenue source that increases the Office of 
Arts + Culture’s annual grant funds from its current level of $225K per year to $1 million by 2021.   
 
Grants Process – Reorganize the structure and processes of the grants program in a strategic 
manner in which the grants respond to the Community Priorities and the goal of this Strategy.  Take 
into account the needs of long-standing institutions while continuing to invest in new ideas and 
emerging organizations.  Structure grant-making over the nine years of this plan to recognize the 
unique needs of: 

 
 Large institutions, 
 Mid-sized, smaller, and emerging organizations,  
 Investments in innovation, entrepreneurship and artistic/organizational risk, and 
 Building leadership capacity for more effective management. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 23

Attachment A

Packet Page 201



 

20 
 

 
 

Allies:  
 
Boulder County Arts Alliance – Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau – Awesome Boulder – 
Community Foundation of Boulder – Scientific and Cultural Facilities District (SCFD) – Boulder 
Chamber of Commerce – the Latino Chamber of Commerce – University of Colorado – Naropa 
University – Boulder County Arts Leadership Forum – Create Boulder – Boulder Library Foundation – 
The PLAY Foundation – Social Venture Partners – City of Boulder Department of Human Services – 
and others. 
 

Models of Success: 
 
The Arts Council of Fayetteville, North Carolina, is a private non-profit that effectively serves as the 
arts and culture program for the City of Fayetteville, North Carolina.  The organization receives a 
dedicated source of revenue from the transient occupancy tax in Cumberland County.  These funds 
efficiently and effectively support an annual grant program for institutional support, projects, arts 
education and individual artists’ projects.  In 2014, grants totaled $597,610.   
http://www.theartscouncil.com/grants/ 
 
The Bonfils Stanton Foundation is a private organization based in Denver, Colorado which recently 
announced that its sole focus is supporting arts and culture.  Of particular interest for the 
aspirations of Boulder is the structure of their grant making that includes general operating support, 
project grants, and most notably a robust innovation/risk capital fund.   
www.bonfils-stantonfoundation.org.  
 

 
 

Detailed recommendations for  
the Support Our Cultural Organizations strategy  

can be found on page 47. 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 24

Attachment A

Packet Page 202

http://www.theartscouncil.com/grants/�
http://www.bonfils-stantonfoundation.org/�


 

21 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 25

Attachment A

Packet Page 203



 

22 
 

 
Reinvent Our Public Art Program 

 
Community Priority – Focus on the expression of culture and creativity in the public realm through 
public art, the urban landscape, culture in the neighborhoods, and serendipitous encounters with the 
arts. 
 
Goal – Many individuals, businesses, organizations, and developers will be encouraged to invest in 
improvements to public spaces through the addition of meaningful, innovative, and quality works of art.  
The municipal investment in public art will be a model, using a system of publicly transparent, 
sustainable, and innovative practices to commission artworks of enduring cultural value.   
 
Program Areas: 

 

A. Public Art Commissioning – a fully managed program to commission many 
permanent and temporary works of public art.  The program will govern public spending on art 
in public places across all city agencies and be considered strategically through a series of Public 
Art Implementation Plans. 
 

B. Maintenance and Conservation – asset management systems to maintain the 
permanent collection of public artworks as an enduring legacy for future generations. 
 

C. Interpretation, Communications, and Legacy Initiatives – a set of tools 
for staff to promote the public art collection as an important part of daily life in Boulder 
including tours, signs, online programs, and continuing relationships with artists. 
 

D. Mural Program / Facilitation of Urban Art and Design – partnerships and 
collaboration with private individuals, businesses, organizations, and state or Federal 
government agencies who wish to install art in public places. 

Priority Recommendations: 
 

A Sophisticated Program – In considering the full lifecycle of a public art project, the Office of Arts + 
Culture will build a high-performing public art program that is an industry leader.  In terms of 
process, this involves a thorough updating of practices, among them: a high standard of public 
inquiry, strategic and thoughtful selection processes, sustainable funding, and carefully executed 
design review.  In addition, the collection itself must meet the highest of standards and represent 
the most important developments in contemporary practice.  This pursuit of quality works of art 
implies variety and diversity, not necessarily popular taste.  It is important for the city to be 
confident in this measure of success; no work of art will be universally loved.  The ability to take risks 
is important to the program.  The public art program will actively seek temporary and permanent 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 26

Attachment A

Packet Page 204



 

23 
 

public art in traditional media, yes.  And, also, in time-based media, performance, music, interactive 
projects, design, social practice, conceptual art, web-based art, and all emerging forms of public art.  
The collection of public artworks will be successful when it is diverse, thought-provoking, and 
vibrant.   

 
Sustainable Funding – After the initial launch of the public art program, the Office of Arts + Culture 
will explore a source and mechanism for permanent public art funding in the 2018 budget.   An 
important consideration will be the ability to create a robust program through commissioning 
several new works of art every year.  Public art needs to be considered in terms of decades, with a 
funding structure to achieve a vibrant public art program well after the time horizon of this plan.  To 
do this, a diverse portfolio of various sources of funding is needed.  It should be secure, flexible, and 
at an adequate level to acquire and maintain new works of art on a regular basis. 

 
Unified Approach – There have been substantial investments in public art over the years, 
particularly by the Transportation, Parks, and Parking Services divisions of the City of Boulder.  
However, a strategic and consistent process is needed to advance the investments in public art.  The 
Office of Arts + Culture will assume leadership in the public art process while maintaining close 
collaborations with those agencies that are most affected by the public art program. 

 
Allies: 

 
Boulder County – The State of Colorado – Regional Transportation District (RTD) – Federal 
Government Public Art Program – EcoArts Connections – Open Arts – &Art – City of Boulder Public 
Works-Transportation – City of Boulder Community Vitality – City of Boulder Parks & Recreation – 
City of Boulder Planning, Housing & Sustainability – City of Boulder Facilities & Asset Management – 
Civic Area team – and others 

 
Models of Success: 

 
The City of Denver has developed a sophisticated set of policies and procedures to complement the 
enforcement of their public art ordinance.  This stewardship has been carefully utilized over several 
decades of activity, and has translated not only into a quality collection of public art, but also has led 
to community engagement.  The people of Denver love their public art, and respect the process 
through which it is acquired. 
http://artsandvenuesdenver.com/public-art  

 

 
 

Detailed recommendations 
for the Reinvent our Public Art Program strategy 

can be found on page 55. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 27

Attachment A

Packet Page 205

http://artsandvenuesdenver.com/public-art�


 

24 
 

  

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 28

Attachment A

Packet Page 206



 

25 
 

 
Create and Enhance Venues 
 
Community Priority – Amplify the vibrancy of Boulder’s cultural destinations: the museums, 
performance venues, events, districts, studios, maker spaces, and other facilities.  Work to fill in the 
gaps and address issues of access and affordability.  
 
Goal – Improve the resiliency of visual and performing arts organizations, and the experience of their 
audiences, which are currently challenged by gaps in studio, rehearsal, performance, and exhibition 
space.  Mitigate the barriers to innovation and sustainability that are encountered due to these 
challenges. 
 
Program Areas: 

 

A. Municipal Venues for the Arts – when the municipal government decides to 
remodel or design new public buildings, a consideration of the cultural use will be part of the 
conversation.    

 

B. Advocate among Private Venues – the Office of Arts + Culture will play a 
leadership role in convening the managers and owners of private venues to discuss common 
issues and respond to community needs. 

 

C. Rental Assistance Grants – through the cultural grants program, direct assistance will 
be provided to individual artists and cultural organizations to mitigate issues of affordability and 
availability of studio, exhibition, and performance venues. 
 

Priority Recommendations: 
 

Civic Area Venues – A project to build a performing arts venue in the Civic Area has been ongoing for 
some time.  The Boulder Center for the Performing Arts is a group of volunteer advocates that has 
worked closely with city staff on this project.  They have recently demonstrated that their concept 
for a performing arts venue may indeed fill a significant gap in available facilities.  Though there are 
a number of considerations that many city officials and the public need to keep in mind, the Office 
of Arts + Culture is in a position to advocate for the specific cultural value that success in this project 
will bring to the community.  Staff will continue to support the investigation of a venue in the Civic 
Area with the Boulder Center for the Performing Arts organization and other city agencies.  Carefully 
consider not only how to fund and build such a venue, but perhaps more importantly how the 
programming and management of the facility will best be an enhancement to the mix of cultural 
organizations in Boulder, and how the sustainable business model will be a consistent benefit to the 
community. 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 29

Attachment A

Packet Page 207



 

26 
 

Venues Task Force – The Office of Arts + Culture will be an advocate in the health of Boulder’s 
portfolio of private for- and non-profit performing and visual arts venues.  To do so, staff will 
convene a group of venue managers regularly to promote collaboration and alignment of their 
goals.  In addition, staff is in a position to be an advocate for the most important issues facing the 
owners of private cultural venues.  In particular, problem solving the regulatory environment is an 
important task that must be addressed. 

Allies: 
 

The Dairy Center for the Arts – Colorado Chautauqua Association – Museum of Boulder – Boulder 
Museum of Contemporary Art – Studio Arts Boulder – Boulder Center for the Performing Arts 
Organization – NoBo Art District Organization – University of Colorado – Naropa University – private 
non-profit and for-profit performing and visual arts venues – City of Boulder Parks & Recreation – 
City of Boulder Planning, Housing & Sustainability – Civic Area Team – and others 

 
 
 

 
 

Detailed recommendations 
for the Create and Enhance Venues strategy 

can be found on page 62. 
   

Agenda Item 5A     Page 30

Attachment A

Packet Page 208



 

27 
 

 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 31

Attachment A

Packet Page 209



 

28 
 

 
Enhance the Vitality of the Creative Economy 

 
Community Priorities – Create a supportive environment for artists and creative professionals, while 
fostering innovative thinking and leadership among them.  And, prioritize the civic dialogue about the 
ability of culture to positively contribute to the economy, social offerings, the environment, and the 
authentic expression of diversity. 

Goal – Enhance Boulder’s leading position as a home to creative professionals and businesses. 
 
Program Areas: 
 

A. Partner with City Agencies for the Creative Sector – by collaborating with 
the Office of Economic Vitality and other city agencies, existing economic incentive and support 
programs will be deployed to the creative sector while new initiatives are developed. 
 

B. Creative Districts – the creative district in North Boulder will be a priority while staff also 
supports the city’s other districts to innovate and succeed in cultural programming and place-
making. 
 

C. Creative Economy Research and Convening – to best support the 
community, the Office of Arts + Culture will become a resource for data, dialog, convening, and 
leadership around the success of the creative economy. 
 

Priority Recommendations: 
 

Creative District in North Boulder – Support the grass-roots effort that has successfully assembled 
the energy of neighbors, businesses, artists, and organizations in north Boulder around the creative 
district.  Work with the NoBo Art District organization for the success of individual artists: the 
cornerstone of the district’s future. 
 
Creative Economy – There is an opportunity to deploy an incentives program specifically designed 
for creative businesses and entrepreneurs to retain or attract jobs and businesses.  This will be best 
accomplished if the Office of Arts + Culture collaborates closely with the city Department of 
Community Vitality.  It is recommended that the two agencies co-lead an initiative to investigate the 
regulatory environment, find efficiencies, promote existing incentives, and create new programs 
that will assist the creative sector.   
 
Task Force on Talent Retention and Workforce Development – While Boulder’s creative businesses 
thrive, on the horizon is a significant challenge in hiring and retaining the young, talented people 
who will sustain the work that they do.  To protect Boulder’s advanced position as a center for the 
creative economy, collaboration must be established between the city, various cultural and non-

Agenda Item 5A     Page 32

Attachment A

Packet Page 210



 

29 
 

profit organizations, and businesses to address these issues.  Convene a task force made up of 
leaders in these areas to explore solutions for the creative workforce and talent retention. 

 
Allies: 

 
NoBo Art District Organization – North Boulder community stakeholders – Boulder Chamber of 
Commerce – Boulder Latino Chamber of Commerce – Boulder Economic Council – University of 
Colorado – Boulder Valley School District – Growing Up Boulder – City of Boulder Department of 
Community Vitality – City of Boulder Planning, Housing & Sustainability – City of Boulder 
Neighborhood Services – and others 

 
Models of Success: 

 
The Crossroads Arts District in Kansas City, Missouri, grew organically from a handful of artist studios 
and galleries into a cultural destination for the creative arts, tech innovation, entrepreneurial 
ventures, event and office space, and local dining. It began in 1985 in formerly abandoned 
warehouses and historic buildings on Kansas City’s famous Film Row and was in an area considered 
part of “Midtown.”  When galleries arrived in the 1980s, the name Crossroads Arts District had 
already taken hold and became formalized with a new neighborhood association in 2001.   
www.kccrossroads.org 
 
In 2013, the Inter-American Development Bank released a study and resource that looks 
internationally at ideas, approaches and tools.  The premise of the workbook is that “if the Orange 
Economy were a country, it would be the world’s fourth largest economy, it would rank ninth in 
exports of goods and services and it would represent the world’s fourth largest work force.”    
https://publications.iadb.org/handle/11319/3659?locale-attribute=en.  

 
 

 
 

Detailed recommendations 
for the Enhance the Vitality of the Creative Economy strategy 

can be found on page 66. 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 33

Attachment A

Packet Page 211

http://www.kccrossroads.org/�
https://publications.iadb.org/handle/11319/3659?locale-attribute=en�


 

30 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 34

Attachment A

Packet Page 212



 

31 
 

 
Strengthen Culture in our Neighborhoods and Communities 

 
Community Priorities – Focus on the expression of culture and creativity in the public realm through 
public art, the urban landscape, culture in the neighborhoods, and serendipitous encounters with the 
arts.  And, prioritize the civic dialogue about the ability of culture to positively contribute to the 
economy, social offerings, the environment, and the authentic expression of diversity. 

Goal – Every resident of Boulder finds ways to creatively impact their neighborhood and social 
community, with an emphasis on underserved groups, and has easy access to cultural experiences in the 
places that are most important to their everyday lives. 
 
Program Areas: 
 

A. Creative Neighborhoods – in partnership with other city agencies, a series of projects 
in public art, leadership development, grants, support and recognition will be offered to 
community groups focused on the neighborhood as a source of profound cultural capital. 
 

B. Diversity and Inclusion – an exploration of the challenges and opportunities that exist 
for engaging underserved communities in the strategies of the Community Cultural Plan.  The 
objective is to ensure that these programs are beneficial to everyone. 

Priority Recommendations:   
 

Creative Neighborhoods Program – An opportunity exists to work closely with the City of Boulder 
Neighborhood Services Office and Parks & Recreation.  It is recommended that staff collaborates to 
create a Creative Neighborhoods program, focusing on an innovative approach to cultural 
leadership, programming, and support for culture at the most local level. 
 
Diversity and Inclusion Taskforce – The outreach for the Community Cultural Plan included strong 
conversations with leaders in many diverse communities, especially among Latino activists.  And, the 
process included a successful effort to receive a depth of cultural diversity among survey 
respondents.  However, a limited nine month public outreach project is hardly adequate to meet 
our very high expectations about fostering effective civic dialog with all facets of Boulder’s 
community.  The demand, best articulated by a participant in one of the group interviews, for the 
“authentic expression of diversity” will only be possible over time and with substantial effort on the 
part of staff.  The Office of Arts + Culture will take that time: to build bridges, to align itself with 
successful initiatives, and to hold the conversations necessary to ensure that the strategies in the 
Community Cultural Plan are available and effective for all communities in Boulder.   

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 35

Attachment A

Packet Page 213



 

32 
 

Allies: 
 

Neighborhood groups and organizations – Intercambio – El Centro de Amistad – Boulder Latino 
Chamber of Commerce – City of Boulder Department of Human Services – City of Boulder 
Neighborhood Services Office – City of Boulder Public Library – City of Boulder Parks & Recreation – 
City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks – and others 

 
Models of Success: 

 
A program of Metro Arts in Nashville, Tennessee, THRIVE is a neighborhood focused “micro-funding” 
program designed to encourage artistic development and engage community participation in the 
arts throughout Davidson County. The program equips artists, organizations and businesses with 
funding and project development tools that empower them to realize their artistic goals, while 
enriching the quality of life in Nashville neighborhoods.  
http://www.nashville.gov/Arts-Commission/THRIVE.aspx 

 
The Regional Arts Commission of St. Louis (RAC) supports people who are working at the 
intersection of art and community through training, professional development, workshops, 
networking opportunities, and other programs. RAC’s commitment to community led to its founding 
the Community Arts Training (CAT) Institute, the longest-running sustained training program of its 
kind in the United States.  
http://racstl.org/art-community/community-arts-training-cat-institute   

 
 
 

 
 

Detailed recommendations 
for Strengthen Culture in our Neighborhoods and Communities 

can be found on page 71. 
 
   

Agenda Item 5A     Page 36

Attachment A

Packet Page 214

http://www.nashville.gov/Arts-Commission/THRIVE.aspx�
http://racstl.org/art-community/community-arts-training-cat-institute�


 

33 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 37

Attachment A

Packet Page 215



 

34 
 

 
Support Artists and Creative Professionals 

 
Community Priority – Create a supportive environment for artists and creative professionals, while 
fostering innovative thinking and leadership among them. 

Goal – Boulder will increasingly attract artists and creative professionals for all it has to offer, not only in 
beautiful surroundings and quality of life, but also in the ability to thrive in the creative sector. 
 
Program Areas: 
 

A. Support and Recognition for Artists and Creative Professionals – a 
series of programs will be available to recognize the accomplishments of Boulder artists, and 
provide opportunities for the community to build Boulder’s reputation as a great home for 
creative practice. 
 

B. Livability and Affordability – the Office of Arts + Culture will join with other city 
agencies and community groups in addressing this unexpected by-product of Boulder’s 
prosperity and bring perspective on how the issue affects creative professionals.  
 

C. Professional Development Tools – scholarships, education opportunities, and 
access initiatives will be offered to support leadership and good business practices among our 
workforce of creative professionals. 

Priority Recommendations: 
 

The Issue of Affordability – The City of Boulder is working with many public partners and private 
groups to address the issue of affordability and access in residential and commercial markets.  The 
Office of Arts + Culture will join with these groups on finding the means to resolve this challenge for 
all professions, including artists. 
 
Fellowship Program for Artists – Establishing or partnering on a fellowship program for individual 
artists can provide an impressive return on a modest investment.  An initiative to recognize the work 
of the most innovative and promising talent in our community, and provide them with 
unencumbered resources to “do what they do best,” will not only be a system of recognition, but 
will also encourage the brand of Boulder as a great place for creative people to thrive.  This may be 
accomplished as a program of the Office of Arts + Culture, or be incorporated into an existing 
program such as The Dairy Center Honors or the Boulder Museum of Contemporary Arts artist 
residency program. 
 
Business of the Arts Education Series – Until recently, a collaboration with the Boulder County Arts 
Alliance for professional development was a popular tool for individual artists and creative 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 38

Attachment A

Packet Page 216



 

35 
 

professionals to enhance their business skills.  This “Business of the Arts” program was curtailed 
when funding was cut, but continues to have potential.  By the second phase of this plan, the 
partnership with Boulder County Arts Alliance will be renewed, with an eye on developments that 
may improve content and format to best serve the creative professionals of Boulder. 

 
Allies: 

 
The NoBo Art District Organization – Boulder Chamber of Commerce – Boulder Latino Chamber of 
Commerce – Boulder County Arts Alliance – Boulder County Arts Leadership Forum – University of 
Colorado – Naropa University – Small Business Development Center – Studio Arts Boulder – Open 
Arts – Boulder Digital Arts – Boulder Design Works – madelife – Boulder Arts Association – Boulder 
Metalsmithing Association – The Dairy Center for the Arts – Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art – 
City of Boulder Planning, Housing & Sustainability – City of Boulder Department of Community 
Vitality – and others 

 
Models of Success: 

 
Create Denver began as a week-long initiative to build leadership and skills sharing among that city’s 
groundswell of graphic designers, architects, fashion designers, and other creative professionals.  
The sensibility of the programs was as much celebration as programming, but has developed into a 
robust and sophisticated series of tools that contribute to the meteoric success of Denver’s creative 
sector. 
http://artsandvenuesdenver.com/create-denver  
 
Imagine Austin’s Priority Program 5 is an alliance of government agencies across the Texas 
municipality including the Economic Development, Parks & Recreation, Planning & Zoning, and 
Library departments.  The team encourages support for creative businesses in the city’s main focus 
areas of live music, festivals, theater, film, digital media, and creative art forms and provides 
programs for affordable transportation, work space, housing, and healthcare targeted at the 
creative sector.  
https://www.austintexas.gov/page/creativeeconomy  

 
 

 

 
 

Detailed recommendations 
for Support Individual Artists and Creative Professionals strategy 

can be found on page 75. 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 39

Attachment A

Packet Page 217

http://artsandvenuesdenver.com/create-denver�
https://www.austintexas.gov/page/creativeeconomy�


 

36 
 

 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 40

Attachment A

Packet Page 218



 

37 
 

 
Advance Civic Dialogue, Awareness, and Participation 

 
Community Priorities – Prioritize the civic dialogue about the ability of culture to positively contribute to 
the economy, social offerings, the environment, and the authentic expression of diversity.  And, develop 
Boulder’s creative identity in becoming an innovative world leader in cultural matters and project that 
identity to the region and the world. 

Goal – Every person in Boulder will understand their role in the culture of the community, feel that 
access to information about culture is readily at hand, and will feel invited into the conversation. 
 
Program Areas: 

 

A. Promoting the Community Cultural Plan – the new programs, grants, and 
services described in the Community Cultural Plan require strong communication projects so 
that all stakeholders understand the government’s new role, and how they can participate and 
benefit. 
 

B. Facilitate the Civic Dialogue – the community’s desire for a sophisticated, city-wide 
engagement around culture will be facilitated by the Office of Arts + Culture with opportunities 
for inquiry and exchange in civic gatherings, online, industry meet-ups, in the media, and other 
forums. 
 

C. Develop Boulder’s Creative Identity – staff will broadcast the accomplishment of 
Boulder artists, enhance the promotional capacity of organizations, and encourage Boulder’s 
creative reputation at regional and national forums. 
   

D. Partner on a Community Cultural Calendar – a task force will be assembled 
to assess the needs and gaps in current events calendars and identify ways the city can further 
support them to better serve residents and visitors. 
 

E. Participate in Regional and National Leadership – the Office of Arts + 
Culture will participate in the national conversation about innovation in cultural affairs, the arts, 
and the creative economy. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 41

Attachment A

Packet Page 219



 

38 
 

Priority Recommendations: 
 

Participation among Cultural Leaders – Boulder residents aspire for arts, culture, and the creative 
economy to be elevated among the most important priorities in the civic conversation.  To 
accomplish this, the Community Cultural Plan intends to host activate participation in government 
by creative professionals and thought leaders in culture.  Encourage creative and cultural leaders to 
participate in civic dialogue, and consider applying for positions on advisory boards & commissions 
across city agencies. 

Allies: 
 

Boulder County Arts Alliance – Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau – University of Colorado – 
Naropa University – City of Boulder Communications – City of Boulder Boards  
& Commissions – and others. 

Models of Success: 
 

The Philly Fun Guide is considered by many to be one of the most effective community-wide arts 
marketing programs, serving the five-county Philadelphia region. It was redesigned in 2014 and 
utilizes a highly visual website, coupled with a robust promotional program.  The weekly Philly Fun 
Saver email blast reaches more than 250,000 users and represents an example of highly effective 
promotional marketing.  The site also operates a robust social media effort that amplifies the reach 
of the event information of the site.  
www.phillyfunguide.com  
 
Eugene A Go-go is more than an arts calendar, taking advantage of the active cultural community of 
Eugene, Oregon, to create a complete forum.  On the same website, creative leaders, cultural 
patrons, active residents, and tourists can discover events, sign up for classes, volunteer, or engage 
in the civic dialog around the importance of the arts. 
https://eugeneagogo.com/  

 

 
 

Detailed recommendations 
for the Advance Civic Dialogue, Awareness, and Participation strategy 

can be found on page 78. 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 42

Attachment A

Packet Page 220

http://www.phillyfunguide.com/�
https://eugeneagogo.com/�


 

39 
 

 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 43

Attachment A

Packet Page 221



 

40 
 

 
Engage our Youth 

 
Community Priority – Create a supportive environment for artists and creative professionals, while 
fostering innovative thinking and leadership among them. 
 
Goal – At the end of this nine-year plan, the young people who are now studying the creative pursuits 
will find Boulder the perfect place to grow into cultural leaders. 
 
Program Areas: 

 

A. Youth Council – a group of emerging leaders will gather to advise on issues raised by the 
Community Cultural Plan, assist in projects, engage in mentorship opportunities, and participate 
in a cohort group to follow their careers in the creative industries over the next nine years. 
 

B. Collaboration with BVSD and Education Organizations – the 
development of strategies and programs in the Community Cultural Plan will be aligned with the 
work of the Boulder Valley School District, private schools, non-traditional education groups, 
and others to ensure that the variety of cultural curriculum and opportunities are deployed to 
the best benefit of children in all age groups. 
 

C. Mentoring and Participation – the Office of Arts + Culture will partner with 
education and private organizations to offer opportunities to youth for mentorship, recognition, 
and project grants that encourage the transformative nature of arts participation. 

Priority Recommendations: 
 

Youth Council – In considering the nine-year time horizon of the Community Cultural Plan, an 
opportunity exists to collaborate directly with the creative young people who will be the cultural 
leaders at the end of that time.  Youth, for instance in their junior and senior years of high school, 
who plan to pursue creative professions will be approached to join this Youth Council.  Their 
participation in leadership projects perhaps including advisory conversations, research on the future 
of the creative workforce, and in serving as a “street team” for programming, are a few of the ways 
that they will add value to the implementation of the Community Cultural Plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 44

Attachment A

Packet Page 222



 

41 
 

Allies: 
 

Growing Up Boulder – Boulder Valley School District – Tara School for the Performing Arts – private 
schools and homeschooling associations – Youth Opportunities Advisory Board – private non-profit 
and for-profit cultural enrichment providers – University of Colorado – Naropa University – Boulder 
Chamber of Commerce – Boulder Latino Chamber of Commerce – Department of Community 
Vitality – Human Services – and others 

 
Models of Success: 

 
The Institute of Contemporary Art/Boston has an active Teen Arts Council where teens create a 
variety of programs that include film screenings, workshops, opportunities for performance, and 
more.  They work actively with both museum staff and contemporary artists.  It is focused on teens 
14-18 years of age.    
http://www.icaboston.org/programs/teens/teen-arts-council/   
 
One of the preeminent collaborative programs, a private/public partnership, focused on arts 
education is the Boston Public Schools Arts Expansion Initiative in Boston, Massachusetts.  It is a 
multi-year project launched in 2009 that is a collaborative effort by the philanthropic community, 
the Boston public schools, arts organizations, the mayor’s office and higher education institutions.   
Its focus is on access, equity and quality. 
http://www.bpsarts.org/bps-arts-expansion-initiative/  
 
New Urban Arts in Providence, Rhode Island, has a stated long-term goal “that young people and 
artist mentors work together, as collaborators and peers, to develop creative practices which allow 
them to become more imaginative, and active, community members.”  New Urban Arts has a myriad 
of these mentorship programs that encompass the school year, summer programs, workshops, 
institutes and more.  
http://newurbanarts.org/what-we-do/  

 
 

 
 

Detailed recommendations 
for the Engage our Youth strategy 

can be found on page 84. 
 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 45

Attachment A

Packet Page 223

http://www.icaboston.org/programs/teens/teen-arts-council/�
http://www.bpsarts.org/bps-arts-expansion-initiative/�
http://newurbanarts.org/what-we-do/�


 

42 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 46

Attachment A

Packet Page 224



 

43 
 

II.   Guiding Principles  
 

II.1  Stewardship: 
 
The staff members of the Office of Arts + Culture are stewards of the public trust; including public 
funds, our system of laws and policies, and confidence in local government.  Respecting this 
responsibility is all the more important in the emotional, sometimes contentious, civic dialogue 
about culture. 

 
 Staff will consider the proper stewardship of the public trust for every decision made to 

implement the Community Cultural Plan. 
 

II.2  Boulder Arts Commission: 
 
The Boulder Arts Commission (BAC) is an advisory and decision-making body which advocates on 
behalf of the community.  Appointed by City Council, the commissioners have the responsibility of a) 
serving in a jury capacity for the awarding of cultural grants, b) serving as an approval body for the 
selection process of the public art program, c) serving in an advisory capacity for the execution of 
the Community Cultural Plan, d) serving on several non-governmental boards or committees related 
to the execution of the Community Cultural Plan, and e) serving as ambassadors to the community.   
The members of the BAC are experts in different aspects of culture and creative life and are keenly 
invested in the success of Boulder’s objectives and goals related to culture and livability 

 
 Staff will utilize the talents, experience, and enthusiasm of the members of the Boulder Arts 

Commission to the best benefit of the implementation of the Community Cultural Plan.   
 

II.3  Public Inquiry: 
 
Each strategy depends on public inquiry to be successful.    Critical to the work of staff is 
thoughtfully design dialog that takes into consideration accessibility, availability, affordability, 
acceptability and accommodations to maximize participation.  Public art, in particular, requires a 
careful consideration of community input.   

 
 Staff will thoughtfully design public inquiry tools for each strategy as well as, in some cases, 

individual programs or projects to ensure that the community is fully invested in the success 
of the Community Cultural Plan. 
 

II.4  Partnerships and Collaboration: 
 
These strategies will only be successful by collaborating directly with other city agencies, non-
profits, businesses, and leaders in the community.   There will be circumstances where the role of 
government is to “clear the path” for private sector advocates to take the lead.  In all  
cases, collaboration is critical.  Each strategy should be considered with these thoughts in mind: 
Who is already doing this in the community?  Who connects us with the people and organizations 
the Community Cultural Plan is designed to benefit?  Who stands to gain from this course of action? 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 47

Attachment A

Packet Page 225



 

44 
 

 In addition to regular consultation and collaboration, staff will make partnerships the 
standard practice of doing business. 

 
II.5  Professionalism: 

 
Quality of service impacts the public’s expectations about the whole of city government.  The ways 
in which staff conducts business builds trust: good practices for the grants program and public art, 
designing documents, responsiveness, honesty, the quality of marketing and promotions, even 
answering the phone.   

 
 Staff will conduct their business with the most professional manner that reflects well on the 

city government and the high expectations of city of Boulder’s workplace culture. 
 

II.7  Diversity:  
 
Diversity of all kinds is critical to the success of the Community Cultural Plan: for leadership, for 
public inquiry, and for the results of programming.  Diversity is first addressed in terms of dialog.  
Staff must actively pursue the voices necessary to ensure broad and deep perspectives on all issues.  
Diversity is secondly a consideration of results.  For instance, the collection of public art should 
include a spectrum of diverse artists: their styles, media, and narratives.   

 
 Staff will actively seek out diverse perspectives, and diverse results, in community dialog, 

leadership, tactics, and programs. 
 

II.8  City of Boulder Vision and Values:  
 
The implementation of the Community Cultural Plan should be inexorably linked to the City of 
Boulder’s vision and values. 
 

Vision:  Service Excellence for an Inspired Future 
 

Values: 
 

 Customer Service - We are dedicated to exceeding the expectations of our community and 
our co-workers by demonstrating consistent and professional service with a solution-
oriented approach. 

 Respect - We champion diversity and welcome individual perspectives, backgrounds and 
opinions. We are open-minded and treat all individuals with respect and dignity. 

 Integrity - We are stewards of the public’s trust and are committed to service that is 
transparent and consistent with city regulations and policies. We are honorable, follow 
through on our commitments and accept responsibility. 

 Collaboration - We are committed to organizational success and celebrate our shared 
dedication to public service. We believe community collaboration and the sum of our 
individual contributions leads to great results. 

 Innovation - We promote a forward-thinking environment that supports creativity, 
calculated risks and continuous improvement. We embrace change and learn from others in 
order to deliver leading edge service. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 48

Attachment A

Packet Page 226



 

45 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 49

Attachment A

Packet Page 227



 

46 
 

III.   Implementation 
 

III.1   Detailed Operation of Strategies 
 

This section provides insight into the major considerations for implementing the Community 
Cultural Plan, and as a guide for staff to execute their responsibilities.  These should be understood 
as a set of flexible tools.  Provided that the Strategies are being well executed, and the guiding 
principles respected, there should be no barrier to staff’s creativity and innovation in the application 
of these guidelines. 
 
Measures – Within the detailed recommendations are “measures:” high level summaries of those 
aspects of the strategy which are ideal for evaluating success.  Posed as questions, the measures are 
designed to give direction on what investigations need to be considered.  The methods and tools for 
the actual evaluation are described below within the Advance Civic Dialog, Awareness, and 
Participation Strategy. 
 
Key to symbols in the strategy operation charts: 
 

$$$: 
$$: 

$: 
 

: 
: 
: 

 
First Phase:  

Middle Phase: 
Final Phase: 

Significant Budget Required 
Moderate Budget Required 
Minor Budget Required 

 
Significant Staff Time Required  
Moderate Staff Time Required   
Minor Staff Time Required 
 
2016 to 2018    
2019 to 2021    
2022 to 2024 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 

 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 50

Attachment A

Packet Page 228



 

47 
 

 
 
Support for Cultural Organizations, Programmatic Structure: 

 
 

SUPPORT FOR CULTURAL ORGANIZATIONS 
 

 
A. GRANTS PROGRAM 

 
 

OPERATIONAL GRANTS 
 

LARGE ORGANIZATIONS 

SMALL / MED ORGS 
 

PROJECT GRANTS 
 

COMMUNITY PROJECTS 

ARTS EDUCATION 
 

STRATEGIC FUNDS 
 

INNOVATION FUND 

RENTAL ASSISTANCE 
 

SCHOLARSHIPS 
 

PROFESSIONAL DEV 

CULTURAL FIELD TRIPS 
 

 

 
B. SPONSORSHIP/ 

PARTNERSHIPS 
 

SPONSORING EVENTS 

STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS 
 

NORTH BOULDER DISTRICT 

BOULDER ARTS WEEK 

CAPACITY BUILDING 

FUTURE PARTNERSHIPS 
 

  

 
C. LEADERSHIP DEV/ CONVENING 

 
 

CULTURAL SUMMITS 

SECTOR CONVENING 
 

CREATIVE INDUSTRIES 

UNIVERSITIES 

WORKFORCE INITIATIVES 
 

CAPACITY BUILDING 
 

BOARD DEVELOPMENT 

LEADERSHIP RECOGNITION 

FUTURE PARTNERSHIPS 
 

 

$$$    
First Phase 

 

$    
First Phase 

  

$    
First and Middle Phases 

 
 

 
  

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 51

Attachment A

Packet Page 229



 

48 
 

A. Grants Program 

It is important to understand that the grants program includes not only the grants to cultural 
organizations, but several other programs that appear in different strategies.  Thus, all the 
grants should be assembled as a single program for the purposes of administration, budget, and 
staffing. 

 
The grants program can be divided into four categories: operational grants, project grants, 
funds, and scholarships: 

Operational Grants for Large Organizations 
Operational Grants for Mid-sized and Small Organizations 
Project Grants for Community Events 
Project Grants for Arts Education  
Innovation Fund 
Rental Assistance Fund 
Scholarships for Professional Development / Leadership  
Scholarships for Cultural Field Trips 
 

Because these grants are derived from different places within the plan, it may be necessary to 
address the administration and guidelines in context of each individual strategy.  For example: 
Operational Grants for Large Organizations should be designed with the goals and measures of 
the Support for Cultural Organizations Strategy in mind.  However, the Scholarships for Cultural 
Field Trips should be designed to fulfill the Engage Our Youth Strategy. 

 
 Operational Grants – To bolster the sustainability of the community’s cultural organizations, 

a system of operational grants will be the priority.  The justification of this system is best 
summarized by the National Assembly of State Arts Agencies, in their “General Operating 
Support Fact Sheet”10.  In this document, are outlined six “advantages” for operating grants, 
here modified to suit the circumstances of the Community Cultural Plan: 

Operational grants maintain the autonomy of grantees, allowing them to allocate the 
dollars to their most pressing needs.  
 
Operational grants tend to be more predictable over time, which helps organizations 
maintain continuity of services to their communities. 
  
Because operational grants are flexible, grantees can use the funds in more 
opportunistic or entrepreneurial ways than project-restricted funds often allow.  

 
Operational grants come with stringent accountability and management requirements 
that incentivize and perpetuate good business practices among arts organizations.  
 
Because the grantee—not the grant maker—ultimately defines the activities for which 
operational grants are used, this funding mechanism can reduce "mission drift" among 
grantees and can help to curtail the proliferation of programs designed solely to appeal 
to funders.  

                                                           
10

 State Art Agencies Fact Book, page 1 (National Assembly of State Arts Agencies) 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 52

Attachment A

Packet Page 230



 

49 
 

 
Operational grants strengthen the nonprofit arts infrastructure and deepen working 
relationships between funders and core grantees.  

 
For each grant cycle, the Office of Arts + Culture will consider these motivations, as well as 
the practices, experience, and consultation with the Boulder Arts Commission, to design a 
program that will best serve the goal of this strategy.   

The best distribution of funds will be in multiple-year cycles.  In order to align with other 
aspects of the Community Cultural Plan, three year cycles are ideal.  However, the city 
budget process allows for only single-year budget cycles; multiple year commitments are 
not permitted.  A compromise must be struck between the city budget rules and the best 
interest of the organizations.   

 
 Innovation Fund – Boulder’s cultural organizations are comprised of a talented, thoughtful, 

and innovative workforce.  The great ideas and initiatives they come up with are risks worth 
taking.  However, it is often the case that organizations simply do not have the financial 
flexibility to take those risks.  This understandable reluctance results in a gap in the ability of 
Boulder’s creative thought leaders to be rewarded for innovative thinking.  The Office of 
Arts + Culture will support the ability of organizations to take those risks through the 
Innovation Fund.  This pool of support will be granted by the Boulder Arts Commission for 
risk-taking ventures and experiments in management systems, technology, or programming.  

 
 Oversight and Coordination – For the grants program, the role of the Boulder Arts 

Commission is described by the City of Boulder Revised Code Title 2 Chapter 3-2-3-2: 
 

To assist in the preparation of applications for grants or other sources of funding for 
arts programs for the city, and  
 
To administer the city arts grant program and other city arts programs pursuant to 
any authority provided therefore by ordinance of the council. 

 
Therefore, it is the role of commissioners to i) work with staff to establish the guidelines and 
process as is described above, ii) conduct a jury process to select grant recipients, and iii) 
assist grant applicants in understanding the decision-making process.  It is important to keep 
in mind that this role is limited.  It is staff’s role to execute the grants program and support 
the members of the commission in their responsibilities.  

 
It is necessary to revise the guidelines, application process, jury process, measures, grant 
delivery, and reporting structures every three years in coordination with the transition to a 
new phase of implementation.  Thus, the staff work plans for years 2018, 2021, and 2024 
will include a thorough evaluation of the program and a series of workshops with the public, 
the commissioners, and grant recipients to design any improvements.  That action can be 
followed by a process to refine and approve any changes that need to be made. 
 
Staff will work with applicants to support them on the entire process.  Establishing an 
internal grants management system to better track and assess reach and impact will be 
critical in the first year. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 53

Attachment A

Packet Page 231



 

50 
 

 
 Allies – In order to provide fair and transparent execution of this program area, it is 

important that the Office of Arts + Culture and the Boulder Arts Commission maintain the 
highest standards regarding ethical rules.  This means that, for the grants program, 
partnerships will be limited.  That said, these grants do not exist in isolation.  An 
understanding of the full portfolio of funding that cultural organizations need is important, 
and a conversation with organizations that work in these areas will be needed to align 
efforts: 

 
The grants program area will function best when considered in concert with the other grants 
that organizations rely on.  Coordinate with the Boulder County Arts Alliance, the Boulder 
Convention and Visitors Bureau, Awesome Boulder, the Community Foundation, SCFD, the 
City of Boulder Human Services Department, the PLAY Foundation, and others. 

 
Earned revenue is vital to Boulder organizations.  Staff will consult with them and the 
organizations that support their funding efforts including the Boulder Convention and 
Visitors Bureau, the Boulder Chamber of Commerce, the City of Boulder Department of 
Community Vitality, and others. 

 
A key factor in the sustainability of cultural organizations is private philanthropy, 
memberships, volunteerism, and participation.  There are new and existing organizations in 
the community that have the potential to galvanize leadership in this area.  The Office of 
Arts + Culture will support leadership in the advocacy for private giving and participation, 
and invest in a partnership to catalyze the effort. 

 
 Capacities – Funding for the grants program should continue to be integrated with the 

general fund allocation that is annually appropriated for the Office of Arts + Culture in the 
near term.  An investigation of a separate, sustainable funding source will be conducted by 
2021, for implementation in the long term.   

 
Initially, the grant budget should be increased by $225,000 to a total of $450,000 in 2016.  
The launch of the new grants program will provide a level of funds appropriate to show 
substantial impact in those grant programs that are a priority to the purposes of this 
strategy: operational grants and the innovation fund.  In subsequent years, the amount of 
funding should be further increased.  This plan recommends raising the total amount  
awarded in grants to $800,000 by the end of the first phase, and to $1 million by the end of 
the middle phase.  However, it is important that staff be flexible and attentive to changing 
cultural needs of the community and rise in costs that may affect the exact amount of this 
allocation. 

 
 

B. Sponsorships / Partnerships  
 

There will often be opportunities that arise which are not appropriate for the grants program.  
When an event, organization, business, or individual can collaborate with the Office of Arts + 
Culture to achieve the goals of the Community Cultural Plan , but is not a good fit to the grants 
program, staff will have a process and budget available to offer sponsorships or partnerships. 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 54

Attachment A

Packet Page 232



 

51 
 

 Sponsorships – Opportunities often come up for great things to happen for Boulder.  The Office 
of Arts + Culture will take advantage of these opportunities, and have the funding and 
collaborative capacity to follow through and support the organizations that bring these 
important events, exhibitions, performances, products, initiatives, and support programs to the 
community.   

 
The process for staff to review proposals for sponsorship must be thoughtfully designed.  It is of 
primary importance that, in considering any proposal, staff first considers if the proposal might 
not be a better fit for the grants program; the stewardship by the Boulder Arts Commission 
should be the default for any funding.  Only when it is determined that the proposal does not fit 
into the grants program, should staff consider it for sponsorship.   

 
 Partnerships – There are already many partnerships that exist between the Office of Arts + 

Culture and community organizations.  Others are emerging.  Below are a few of the most 
immediate opportunities: 

 
Boulder Arts Week – This annual event encourages cultural tourism, develops audiences, 
and galvanizes the community conversation about the arts.  Boulder Arts Week is in a 
position to positively affect the success of the community priorities of the Community 
Cultural Plan in significant ways.  The Office of Arts + Culture will identify a budget to 
partner on Boulder Arts Week.   This relationship will be established with the purpose of 
developing the sustainability and effectiveness of Boulder Arts Week over the long term.  
Each transitional year should be an opportunity to reevaluate the partnership. 

 
Creative District in North Boulder – A grass-roots effort for place-making in north Boulder 
was founded out of the concentration of artists in the district, and has galvanized a 
community effort to focus on the arts as an anchor to the area.  A partnership with the 
NoBo Art District organization, convening of all interested stakeholders, and municipal 
district designation, will be the first steps in a formal relationship designed as the 
cornerstone of successful operation of a flourishing creative district.11 

 
Private Philanthropy – A key factor in the sustainability of cultural organizations is private 
philanthropy and participation.  Through the research and engagement for the Community 
Cultural Plan, it was discovered that leadership and advocacy around private philanthropy 
for the arts are needed in Boulder.  However, it is not best for the city government to take 
on this role.  The Office of Arts + Culture will participate in convening groups and individuals 
aligned with this goal, and identify leadership in the community, either from an existing 
organization or from a new organization, to partner on filling this need.   

 
Innovation and Excellence in the Arts – Boulder has an international reputation for 
innovation and excellence in science and technology, food systems, healthy living, and social 
services.  For all these industries, the local conversation is integrated into the city’s brand.  
For the arts, Boulder is a place where innovation is happening: we are home to many 
important thought leaders, there is a profound culture of participation, and the universities 
continue their remarkable work in contemporary practice.  Thus, Boulder has the potential 
to be host to the conversation about innovation in culture, just as it is synonymous with 

                                                           
11

 See page 66 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 55

Attachment A

Packet Page 233



 

52 
 

excellence in other sectors.  The Office of Arts + Culture will organize a task force to find the 
right forums and fill gaps to catalyze that community conversation around innovation and 
excellence in the arts.   

 
Professional Development for Artists and Creative Professionals – For Boulder to be a good 
home for artists and creative professionals, there must be opportunities for them to learn 
the business skills that will complement their artistic talents.  The Boulder County Arts 
Alliance and the Office of Arts + Culture collaboration titled “Business of the Arts” will be 
renewed and enhanced.  Other partnerships with organizations that offer programs for 
creative professionals will also be pursued.12  

Plan for Future Partnerships – On transitional years, evaluate the current portfolio of 
partners and look to expand the program as new opportunities arise. 

 
 Oversight and Coordination – Staff should regularly seek consultation and advice from the 

Boulder Arts Commission.  However, it is important to keep in mind that this is not a grants 
program.  In fact, there is a danger of confusion between sponsorships or partnerships and 
cultural grants.  Thus, a clear process for staff to receive, process, approve, and administer 
proposals for sponsorship or partnership will be established. 

 
 Capacities – Though time is needed to ramp up to full capacity, a healthy program in Boulder will 

require approximately $120,000 for sponsorships and partnerships by 2020.  In transitional 
years, conduct an investigation of the performance of the program and adjust the funding 
accordingly. 

 
C. Leadership Development and Convening 

 
 Cultural Summits – During the Culture Kitchen the community of non-profit organizations met in 

a series of “Cultural Summits”.  In those gatherings, the cultural leaders expressed a desire for 
regular convening.  This is reinforced by the data: Boulder is home to a large number of non-
profits in the arts, and they have a significant economic impact.  The Office of Arts + Culture will 
host a regular series of events that brings together the staff and boards of Boulder’s cultural 
non-profit community.   This will be a platform for collaboration and discussion of good 
practices. 

 Sector Convening – In many cases, the members of the creative sector in Boulder are already 
gathering in formal and informal settings.  Professionals in advertising, design, digital 
technology, and other sectors have created a culture of conversation in these convening 
moments.  In other cases, gaps exist.  The music industry, for instance, is a healthy component 
of Boulder’s creative economy that has yet to find the right forum to get together.  The Office of 
Arts + Culture will be a facilitator of these gatherings; supporting those that already exist and 
encouraging groups to fill the gaps. 

  
 Capacity Building – The Office of Arts + Culture will find allies among private organizations to 

achieve common goals in leadership development.  There are many groups in the city, county, 
and state that offer programs in professional development and capacity building.  Connecting 

                                                           
12

 See page 75. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 56

Attachment A

Packet Page 234



 

53 
 

Boulder non-profit leaders and workers with these resources will accomplish many goals and 
community priorities.  It is recommended that the Office of Arts + Culture actively partner with 
organizations that offer services and support to cultural non-profits.  This initiative overlaps with 
professional development tools that the Office of Arts + Culture will be providing to individual 
artists and creative professionals.13  And, the programs should be considered useful for 
organizational capacity as well. 

 
 Oversight and Coordination – More so than in other strategies, the relationship between the 

staff person coordinating this program area and the leaders of cultural organization should be 
strong.  A single point of contact on leadership development and convening initiatives is the 
goal. 
 

Strategy Challenges: 
 

Institutional Support – This plan recommends increased funding for cultural organizations and 
institutions that are not necessarily owned by the city; yet have the potential to significantly 
contribute to the Community Priorities.  Several nonprofit institutions already receive some 
level of city funding in the form of annual support.  Other organizations have come to rely on 
small project grants from the city as a supplement to their portfolio of revenue.  The results of 
both these programs have been inconsistent.  This strategy is designed for funds to be spent on 
institutional support rather than program funding. It is the intent of this strategy that these 
funds can contribute to organizational sustainability.   This is a new approach to cultural 
support.  Adequate funding will allow organizations to build stability, advance operational 
capacity, and encourage innovation.    
 
Funding – For the past 20 years, the Office of Arts + Culture, with oversight from the Boulder 
Arts Commission, has stewarded a grant-making capacity.  In 2015, total grants awarded 
amounted to $225,000.  This is less than 1% of the total budgets of Boulder cultural 
organizations.   While there have been projects of notable success funded from these grants, in 
general the impact is insignificant.  The level of funds for grant distribution must increase to 
have a significant impact towards achieving the goal of this strategy.     

 
Private Philanthropy – A key factor in the sustainability of cultural organizations is private 
philanthropy, memberships, volunteerism, and participation.  There are new and existing 
organizations in the community that have the potential to galvanize leadership in this area.  The 
Office of Arts + Culture will support leadership in the advocacy for private giving and 
participation, and invest in a partnership to catalyze the effort. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
13

 See page 75. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 57

Attachment A

Packet Page 235



 

54 
 

Measures – Success in the Support our Cultural Organizations strategy will be measured against the strategic 
goal: Have a substantial and positive effect on the ability of Boulder’s many cultural organizations to advance 
their operational capacity, promote organizational resiliency, and encourage innovation for the benefit of the 
community. 

 

 As businesses, how healthy are Boulder’s cultural organizations? 

 What outreach is being conducted to encourage impact and participation of local and tourism 

audiences?  How effective is this effort? 

 What outreach are the organizations conducting to underserved populations?  How effective is this 

effort? 

 What is the opinion of the community about Boulder’s cultural organizations? 

 What economic impact, including workforce and cultural tourism, are the organizations providing? 

 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 58

Attachment A

Packet Page 236



 

55 
 

 

Reinvent our Public Art Program, Programmatic Structure: 

 
REINVENT OUR PUBLIC ART PROGRAM 

 
 

A. PUBLIC ART 
COMMISSIONING 

 
 

PUBLIC ART POLICY 

PUBLIC ART 
IMPLEMENTATION 

PLANS 

COMMISSIONING 

COORDINATION OF 
ART IN PUBLIC PLACES 

 
STATE PROJECTS 

RTD PROJECTS 

FEDERAL PROJECTS 

PRIVATE PROJECTS 
 

 

 
B. MAINTENANCE & 

CONSERVATION 
PROGRAM 

 

GENERAL  
MAINTENANCE 

TECHNICAL 
MAINTENANCE 

 

 
C. COMMUNICATIONS, 

INTERPRETATION, & 
LEGACY 

 

COMMUNICATIONS 
 

PUBLIC INQUIRY 

EVENTS 
 

INTERPRETATION 
 

PUBLIC ART TOURS 
PRINT & ONLINE 
INFORMATION 

DIDACTICS 
 

LEGACY 
 

ARTIST RELATIONS 

LONG TERM RECORD 

COPYRIGHT 
 

 

 
D. MURAL PROGRAM 

 
 
 

MURAL POLICY 

MAINTENANCE 
TRACKING 

 

$$$    
First Phase 

 

$$    
First Phase 

  

$    
First and Second Phases 

 

$    
First Phase 

 
 

 
 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 59

Attachment A

Packet Page 237



 

56 
 

A. Public Art Commissioning   

 Public Art Policy – The drafting and maintenance of a functional policy will govern how public 
funds are stewarded, how the selection process is administered, steps for approval, procedures 
regarding donated or loaned artwork, and commitments to maintenance and other legacy 
issues.  This document has a long time-horizon, and must be conceived with future generations 
in mind.  Thus, it must be carefully written to be a strong tool.  However, it must also be a 
flexible instrument, providing staff the right amount of leverage to ensure that individual 
projects are successful.  This will best be done with thorough research into model programs and 
consultation with experts in public art at the drafting phase. 

 
 Public Art Implementation Plans – Known in many communities as Public Art Master Plans, 

these Implementation Plans will govern the use of public art funds with specificity: the sites, 
selection processes, funding levels, schedules, and the detailed goals for each project. The goal 
of the Public Art Implementation Plans are to properly steward the public trust and complete 
successful projects for the community. 

 
The Implementation Plans should be drafted in transitional years of the Community Cultural 
Plan.  However, in certain circumstances, specific projects or series may be best served with 
special documents.  This is certainly true for the Civic Area. 

  
 Commissioning – In addition to the above, a few considerations are critical when designing a 

program for the commissioning of public art: 
 

The scale of projects must be considered carefully.  It is easy to fall victim to a desire to 
spread the commissions out among many artists in the interest of broadcasting as much of 
the money as possible.  However, this is likely to diminish the quality and impact of 
individual commissions as well as of the collection as a whole.  Balance the scale of 
commissions, keeping in mind the goal of this strategy and the smart investment of public 
funds in these assets. 

 
Great public art programs are a balance between the process and the results.  Boulder must 
have a sophisticated program that addresses both.   Every public art project in Boulder will 
have a great process and a guarantee a great product, or it will not proceed. 

 
Join in the regional and national conversation about the public art process.  The 
collaborative spirit amongst public art administrators, especially in Colorado with its 
numerous municipal programs, is a source for innovation and a sounding board for 
practices.   

 
The public inquiry should inform a sophisticated and careful selection panel process.  Finally, 
it is necessary to leverage the public inquiry process to build good will in the community.  
Residents who participate, even if they do not particularly like the artwork, will feel invested 
in the process and be advocates for the future of public art in Boulder. 

 
Maintain a consistent commissioning schedule.  The current interest in reinventing public 
art in Boulder reflects a desire for a level of vibrancy in the built environment.  Therefore, a 
high frequency of installations is an expectation of the public.  Consider all aspects of the 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 60

Attachment A

Packet Page 238



 

57 
 

Implementation Plans, and especially the schedules and funding levels, to ensure that this 
can be achieved. 

 
Cultivate a diversity of artists and arts practices.  The value of the collection to residents is 
connected to the variety of experiences they find.  The public art program will actively seek 
to commission a wide variety of the most innovative approaches to contemporary practice 
in the arts.  People of many different backgrounds should be represented, and the variety of 
stories the art tells should be broad.  We must be open to new media and forms of 
expression that are not typically thought of for public art: digital media, performance, music, 
web-based art, and social interventions should be in the mix.  Temporary art should be 
deployed when possible and can be particularly useful for experimentation and risk.  The 
pursuit of variety and diversity in the representations of public art projects is consistent with 
building a public collection that has a breadth of quality.    It is important for the city to be 
confident in this measure of success.  No work of art will be universally loved.   

 
Keep in mind the ultimate purpose of any municipal public art program: to commission 
works of enduring value. 

 
 Coordination of Art in Public Places – A municipal public art program is but one aspect of a city’s 

portfolio of art in public places.  Private commissions of sculpture can be sited for public display; 
hospitals and schools often hire artists; cultural organizations should be encouraged to curate 
artworks for the community; other agencies such as the Regional Transportation District, the 
universities, the State of Colorado, and the federal government will commission public art.  It is 
recommended that staff stay highly active in tracking andproviding leadership to ensure that a  
variety of projects are encouraged and coordinated strategically. 

 
There is great value in artists and creative members of the community being encouraged to 
express themselves through impacting the urban space.   The Pearl Street Mall, and its 
management company Downtown Boulder Inc., have proven the value of this exercise by 
allowing busking on the Pearl Street Mall without a permit.  This open access to creative 
expression has positively impacted the atmosphere of that retail district.  Yet, the public feels 
that this sense of openness is missing from the rest of Boulder14

 

.  We are in need of  places and 
situations for people to chalk the sidewalk, sing or play music, dance or hold flash-mobs.  The 
Office of Arts + Culture will work with city agencies to provide these forums and clear the 
hurdles for creativity in the public realm.  Keeping in mind the value of the existing rules and the 
needs of public safety, the examination of the regulatory environment is a key first step.  Do the 
laws, regulations, and permitting processes have unintended consequences that stifle the 
community voice?  A next step is to provide actual places, like the Pearl Street Mall, where 
creativity is encouraged.  The Civic Area has much potential for this type of activity.   

 Oversight and Coordination – The Public Art Policy must define the approval process as 
described above.  The Boulder Arts Commission must be an approval body.  The commissioners, 
serving as they will on a variety of selection panels and given their responsibilities to the 
process, have a special role to play.  They need to have a profound knowledge of the collection, 
the public art implementation plans, and what commissions of new works of art might mean to 
the city as a whole.  This knowledge must be brought to each selection panel by the 

                                                           
14 Soul of the Community Study (Knight Foundation, 2010) – See appendix IV.8. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 61

Attachment A

Packet Page 239



 

58 
 

commissioner representative.  To do this, the commissioners will need special opportunities for 
training and facilitated conversations so that they are comfortable with this role.   

 
Coordination with a variety of City of Boulder agencies will be critical.  It is important to 
remember that the Transportation Division, Parks and Recreation Department, and Downtown 
and University Hill Management / Parking Services Department have all done significant work in 
building the existing collection over the decades.  These agencies will be key in executing the 
new public art strategy.  It should be the practice of the public art staff person to consult with 
these internal partners early in the process, include them in decision making, and ensure that 
their needs and suggestions are thoughtfully considered. 

 
Capacities – In the First Phase of the Community Cultural Plan, a fund will be established that 
can be easily mobilized and serve to begin the public art program.  The funds identified for 
public art in the Culture and Safety Tax, passed by voters in 2014, is ideal for this purpose.   A full 
study and plan to establish a sustainable source of funding will commence in 2017.   It is the 
recommendation of the Community Cultural Plan that a “percent-for-art” ordinance be 
passed.15

 
   

Once established, it is estimated that a 1% of capital improvement projects (should that be the 
method enacted,) could generate as much as $300,000 per year.  Given the need for a robust 
program with a high frequency of installations, it is likely that this amount of money is not 
enough to successfully meet the goals of this program.  Therefore, it will be necessary to 
supplement a percent-for-art funding structure with other sources.  Investigate alternative 
funding sources such as dedicated tax or fee programs or mandates on private development. 

 
B. Maintenance and Conservation Program 

The Office of Arts + Culture will coordinate a program of asset management for the public art 
collection.  Clear roles will be established on who is responsible for regular maintenance as well 
as conservation or repair of works of art.  For instance, many cities have a policy to ensure that 
the agency responsible for the site is also responsible for regular maintenance for the art at that 
site, while special repair projects are a shared responsibility.  A condition inventory of the public 
art collection should be conducted by the Office of Arts + Culture regularly, and staff should 
assist the parties responsible for regular maintenance to track activity.  The neglect of public 
artwork reflects poorly on a community; it must be a directive of the program to efficiently and 
consistently maintain the collection. 

 
Consider the following when designing the maintenance program: 

 
A frequent challenge to the maintenance of public art begins before the artwork is even 
installed.  A thorough understanding of the artist’s intent of narrative and materials is 
important to ensuring that maintenance and conservation work is done properly.  Include a 
requirement in each public art commission to capture the artists intentions. 

 
Contracting with conservation and technical experts to produce maintenance and 
conservation recommendations for each work of art. 

                                                           
15 For more information, see appendix IV.6. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 62

Attachment A

Packet Page 240



 

59 
 

 
More so than in other program areas and strategies, the application of best practices in 
public art maintenance and conservation are technically complex.  It will require diligence 
and consistency to make sure this work is being done properly.  Ensure staff has a thorough 
and careful understanding of these practices.  In addition, Boulder is in a position to lead 
and innovate in maintenance and conservation.  Participate in the national dialogue.  It will 
be a great benefit to the program if staff creates a relationship with the programs at the 
University of Colorado and their programs that overlap the needs of the collection. 

 
 

C. Communications, Interpretation, and Legacy Projects 
 

 Communications – There are two needs in communicating about public art projects: a) 
promoting applications to commissions and b) public awareness about the process and 
collection.  The format and media for these communications must be thoughtfully considered.  
In the case of promoting applications, it is critical to the process that broad and competitive 
participation be encouraged.  The story that emerges from these different exchanges is 
important to consider; a personality that reflects the sophistication of Boulder’s public art 
program must be fostered among artists, other arts professionals, and the residents of Boulder. 

 
 Interpretation – The selection is complete, the artwork installed, and the ribbon cut.  After this 

initial phase is complete, the artwork now has a life within the larger collection of public art.  
This long-term relationship between the artwork, the collection, and the public is important and 
will not be neglected.  The Office of Arts + Culture will create programs to help the public 
understand the collection.  This can take the form of plaques, interpretive panels, guided tours, 
websites, audio, video and interactive assets.  Staff will also consider how social media and 
crowd sourcing can influence the interpretation of a work of art; perhaps there is a viral 
campaign or photo opportunity that can be encouraged around a particular artwork or site.  It is 
important to keep in mind that the opinions and conversations about the existing collection has 
a lasting impact on the public’s expectations about public art spending and their appetite for 
new commissions. 

 
 Legacy Projects – The Office of Arts + Culture will maintain strong and mutually collaborative 

relationships with artists who complete public commissions.  This is made necessary by ongoing 
issues of maintenance and copyright.  It is also a desirable act for the health of the program.  
Staff will keep track of the artist’s careers and celebrate their accomplishments.  The artists will 
get regular notes from staff on the status of their artwork and any press or community 
conversation their work produces.  Doing this is not mere good will; the continuing relationship 
with these artists is an asset to create a strong brand around the public art program.  Staff will 
be able to tell great stories about the work that Boulder’s alumni artists are doing around the 
world, and the artists themselves will carry forward the good message about Boulder’s program 
to their international network. 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 63

Attachment A

Packet Page 241



 

60 
 

D. Mural Program  
 

Currently, the owners and tenants of private buildings who wish to commission publicly visible 
murals are asked to acquire municipal review through the Sign Code16

 

 and the City of Boulder 
Design Review Committee.  Though these procedural entities do provide some public 
deliberation on issues of the built environment and visual questions, they are not equipped to 
provide expertise or guidance regarding art in public places.   

In order to resolve these gaps, the Office of Arts + Culture will develop a policy for publicly 
accessible murals.  The Boulder Arts Commission will play a role in the new review process, in 
addition to coordination with effected government agencies and their Boards & Commissions.  
In addition to an approval process, the policy should also contain standards for how the murals 
are maintained, address issues of ownership, and plan for the inevitable end of display. 

 
Several considerations are key for designing the program: 

 
Use caution in judging the aesthetic choices of private individuals.  It should not be the role 
of the Boulder Arts Commission to be the aesthetic court of Boulder.  At the same time, 
some evaluation of the quality and imagery must be established, as these works will be 
visible to the general public.  Clear and commonly accepted guidelines will be helpful, as will 
robust communications to solicit public input.   

 
The ultimate purpose of this program area is to encourage more art in public places.  
Construct the rules, procedures, and evaluation criteria with this in mind. 

 
 Oversight and Coordination – The mural policy will require that private organizations wishing to 

commission a mural on their property first apply to the Boulder Arts Commission.  The role of 
the commissioners’ review will be to determine if the mural qualifies as a “work of art”, or if it is 
a “sign or advertisement”.   Criteria should be established to codify this distinction.  Those 
determined to be works of art are then subject to a distinct set of performance standards.  
Those determined to be a sign or advertisement would go on to be reviewed through the 
standard sign code and design review processes. 

Strategy Challenges: 
 

Sustainable Funding – There is a strong level of community support for increased funding to support 
arts and culture, including public art.17

 

  Immediate steps have already been taken to launch the 
public art program; voters approved the Community Culture and Sustainability temporary tax 
program, part of which will be used for this purpose. However, long term sustainable funding will 
require further investigation. 

 
 
 
 

                                                           
16 City of Boulder Revised Code Chapter 9-9-21  
17 Boulder Community Cultural Plan Survey 2014 – See appendix IV.5 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 64

Attachment A

Packet Page 242



 

61 
 

 
 
 
 

Measures – Success in the Reinvent our Public Art Program strategy will be measured against the strategic 
goal:  Many individuals, businesses, governments, organizations, and developers will be encouraged to 
invest in improvements to public spaces through the addition of meaningful, innovative, and quality works 
of art.  The municipal investment in public art will be a model, using a system of publicly transparent, 
sustainable, and innovative practices to robustly commission artworks of enduring cultural value.   

 
 In what ways, and to what degree, does the public art installed in the city impact the community?  

What is the impact of adding art to public spaces on issues of sustainability, livability, public 
health, and resilience? How does the commissioning of public art add value to the goals of other 
municipal priorities? 

 How do the funds for commissioning art get spent?  What is the direct economic impact of 
spending on public art? 

 How is public art, both in process and when installed, perceived in the community?  What is the 
perception of Boulder’s program outside of Boulder: among visitors, the media, and across the 
country? 

 In what ways does public art play a role in the business of being an artist in Boulder? 

 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 65

Attachment A

Packet Page 243



 

62 
 

 
 
Create and Enhance and Venues, Programmatic Structure: 

 

 
CREATE AND ENHANCE VENUES 

 
 

A. MUNICIPAL VENUES 
 
 
 

CONSULTATION ON EXISTING AND 
NEW SPACES 

 

CIVIC AREA VENUES 

LIBRARY, RECREATION,  
AND OTHER FACILITIES 

NEW BUILDINGS 

 
 

 
TENANT PARTNERS 

 

BMOCA 

THE DAIRY CENTER FOR THE ARTS 

COLORADO CHAUTAUQUA 
ASSOCIATION 

MUSEUM OF BOULDER 

FUTURE PARTNERS 
 

 
 

 
B.  ADVOCATE AMONG  

PRIVATE VENUES 
 
 

 
B. RENTAL ASSISTANCE FUND 

 
(Strategy One) 

$    
First and Second Phase 

$    
First Phase  

 

 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 66

Attachment A

Packet Page 244



 

63 
 

A. Municipal Venues for the Arts 
 

 Consultation on Existing and New Spaces – Currently, opportunities exist in facilities operated by 
the Library, Parks & Recreation, and other departments, to take advantage of venues for cultural 
uses.  This is true only when that can align with those departments’ plans and missions.  Yet, the 
potential of using city facilities for filling in gaps in access, availability, and affordability of 
venues may have enormous benefits.  The Office of Arts + Culture needs the leadership of other 
city agencies in accomplishing this goal.  Staff will take advantage of the expertise and passion 
these agencies have for improving Boulder to advocate for cultural uses in existing and planned 
municipal facilities.   

 
A priority in this program area will be to build or improve venues in the Civic Area for visual and 
performing arts.  The 2012 Civic Area Vision Plan18

 

 articulates a community desire for lively arts 
experiences.  Given this direction, the existing assets of the Library, BMoCA, the Farmer’s 
Market, and a variety of festivals and events should be enhanced.  New opportunities are 
emerging: BMoCA is considering expansion, there are discussions about a possible reuse of the 
Municipal Center, the band shell and other spaces may be redesigned for new uses, an “arts 
campus” is proposed by the Boulder Arts Commission, and the Boulder Performing Arts Center 
group is proposing new facilities in the Civic Area.   

 Tenant Partners – It is important to continue the successful relationships the city has been 
developing for years in providing great venues for performing arts, visual arts, heritage and 
public culture with their cultural tenants.  BMoCA, Chautauqua, and the Dairy Center for the 
Arts are all private organizations that occupy city-owned facilities.  In addition, the Museum of 
Boulder has partnered with the city to create a private venue that is due to open in 2016.  
Studio Arts operates The Pottery Lab.  Continue to partner with these organizations and keep 
the door open to future opportunities for organizations that can best use city property for the 
benefit of the community. 

 Oversight and Coordination – The partnerships with tenant organizations should be a cross-
agency activity, connected with city leadership and a variety of Boards & Commissions.   

 
B. Advocate among Private Venues 

 
Staff will play a leadership role in advocating for solutions to the challenges of affordability, 
availability, and access among private venues.  This can be done in several ways: by leveraging 
the ongoing research that derives from this Plan, by convening the community of venue owners 
to discuss issues, or by partnering with other community leaders and organizations that are in a 
position to improve this situation.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
18 See appendix IV.11. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 67

Attachment A

Packet Page 245



 

64 
 

C. Rental Assistance Fund 
 

The Office of Arts + Culture will provide a flexible fund to assist organizations and individuals in 
the community to meet needs for renting studio, exhibition, and performance space.  There are 
many challenges that need to be carefully considered in structuring a rental assistance fund: 
 
The awards will be decided based on need and in an objective manner.  This is not a tool for 
evaluating the quality or popularity of a particular performance or exhibition.  Though a first-
come-first-served system is probably unworkable, some measure of objectivity should be 
integral to distributing funds. 

 
The awards should be for single events, rather than become ongoing support for the long term 
use of facilities. 

 
The structure and function of the grants should be considered in the spirit of their purpose: to 
bridge a gap that exists in the ability of some groups to afford renting venues.  The market 
demands a certain rent level that some organizations and individuals from time to time may not 
be able to meet.  At the same time there are many organizations that can afford the going rates.  
That ability to succeed in Boulder’s existing market is an important goal for all cultural groups.  
Ensure that this fund is used to assist applicants to get to that place of resiliency, rather than 
becoming a crutch that prevents organizations from improving. 

Strategy Challenges: 
 
Civic Area Venues – An opportunity exists to explore the mix of current and planned facility 
projects in the Civic Area for cultural uses.  Already, the Main Library, Senior Center, and 
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) can begin to address the gaps in facilities.  
What is more, the potential for future building projects in the east and west ends of the park 
will be examined to include significant arts venues.  Finally, the outdoor spaces envisioned in the 
Civic Area plan are opportunities for cultural venues.  The Office of Arts + Culture serves as an 
advocate for cultural programming and facilities in the Civic Area. 

 
Fill In the Gaps – The gap in venues falls across fine art disciplines, and is attributable to issues of 
availability, affordability, and access.  It is recommended that staff fully investigates the 
feasibility of incorporating rehearsal and small performance spaces into the city’s current 
process of facility assessment.   The potential for cultural uses will be considered whenever the 
city builds or renovates a public facility.  Staff will collaborate with Facilities & Asset 
Management, Planning, Parks & Recreation, and other agencies on this issue.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 68

Attachment A

Packet Page 246



 

65 
 

Measures – Success in the Create and Enhance and Venues strategy will be measured against the 
strategic goal:  Improve the resiliency of visual and performing arts organizations and individuals, and 
the experience of their audiences, which are currently challenged by gaps in venues.  Mitigate the 
barriers to innovation and sustainability that are encountered due to affordability of space. 

 
 What are the mix of venues; the gaps and needs?  How are they serving arts presenters?  

How are the issues of location, use, scale, affordability, availability, and equity changing over 
time? 

 What are the economic impacts of the market for studio, rehearsal, performance, and 
exhibition space?  How are the city’s contributions, directly and indirectly affecting the 
market for venues? 

 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 69

Attachment A

Packet Page 247



 

66 
 

 
 
Enhance the Vitality of the Creative Economy, Programmatic Structure: 
 

 
ENHANCE THE VITALITY OF THE CREATIVE ECONOMY 

 
 

A. PARTNER WITH CITY AGENCIES  
FOR THE CREATIVE SECTOR 

 
 

CONSULT WITH  
ECONOMIC VITALITY 

BOULDER VALLEY 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

CONSULT WITH  
REGULATORY AND 

SUPPORT AGENCIES 

 
 

 
B. CREATIVE DISTRICTS 

 
 
 

CREATIVE DISTRICT  
IN NORTH BOULDER 

 
CONSULT WITH CITY-WIDE 

DISTRICT INITIATIVES 
 

DOWNTOWN 

UNIVERSITY HILL 

EAST ARAPAHOE 

BOULDER JUNCTION 

15TH STREET DESIGN DISTRICT 

FUTURE OPPORTUNITIES 
 

 

 
C. CREATIVE SECTOR RESEARCH 

AND CONVENING 
 
 

SPONSOR CREATIVE SECTOR 
CONVENINGS 

RESEARCH PROJECTS 

TASKFORCE ON WORKFORCE  
AND TALENT RETENTION 

 

 
$    

First and Second Phases 

 
$$    

First Phase 

 
$    

First and Second Phase 
 

 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 70

Attachment A

Packet Page 248



 

67 
 

A. Partner with City Agencies for the Creative Sector 
 

 Consult with Economic Vitality – The Office of Economic Vitality currently offers programs 
and incentives, The Office of Economic Vitality partners with community groups to provide 
professional development tools to business owners.  The goal of these programs is to 
enhance the ability of businesses to succeed in Boulder’s economic climate and keep jobs in 
Boulder.19

 

  The Office of Arts + Culture will work with the Office of Economic Vitality to 
communicate opportunities to leaders in the creative sector.  Also, staff will investigate new 
opportunities that may position Economic Vitality to fully support the creative sector as an 
important part of the mix of businesses in Boulder.  For example, programs may include 
sector-specific incentives, districts to incentivize creative businesses, revolving loan 
programs, or other initiatives.   

 Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan – Staff will work with the team that is developing the 
2015 revisions to the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan to ensure that the Community 
Priorities are considered in the revisions.  Prepare to do the same for the 2020 revisions 
process. 

 
 Consult with Regulatory and Support Agencies – The regulatory environment in Boulder has 

a mixed record when it comes to encouraging creative businesses.  For instance, the 
diminishing inventory of studio space for visual artists can be in part linked to the decreasing 
availability of space in the few warehouse or light industrial areas that zoning allows.  Open 
conversations with other city agencies responsible for regulations and support programs.  
The goal of these conversations is to contribute to a healthy regulatory environment for the 
retention and attraction of creative sector businesses and workers.   

 

 
B. Creative Districts 

 
The origins of arts, gallery, or creative districts are generally organic, springing from leadership 
among the businesses and artists they serve.  In recent years, the districting concept has been 
formalized; a process that has in large part been championed by Colorado Creative Industries 
(CCI), the State arts agency.  Useful to the Community Cultural Plan is CCI’s “purposes”20

 

 of a 
creative district, here modified for circumstances in Boulder. 

Creative Districts are: 
 

 Attracting artists and creative entrepreneurs to a community, infusing new energy 
and innovation, which in turn will enhance the economic and civic capital of the 
community; 
 

 Creating hubs of economic activity, thereby enhancing the area as an appealing 
place to live, visit and conduct business, as well as create new economic activity; 

 
                                                           
19 See appendix IV.11 
20 http://www.coloradocreativeindustries.org/communities/colorado-creative-districts/about-creative-districts (State 

of Colorado, 9/1/2015)  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 71

Attachment A

Packet Page 249



 

68 
 

 Attracting visitors; 
 

 Revitalizing and beautifying communities; 
 

 Providing a focal point for celebrating and strengthening a community’s unique 
identity; 

 
 Showcasing cultural and artistic organizations, events and amenities; 

 
 Contributing to the development of healthy communities; and 

 
 Improving Boulder’s quality of life. 

 
For these reasons, it is vital that the Office of Arts + Culture work with city agencies to build 
creative districts.  Also consider creative components in other types of districts.  From this 
perspective, districts can be defined as a relationship between the city, businesses, and 
neighborhoods to achieve the mutual benefits listed above. 

 
 Creative District in North Boulder – The creative district in North Boulder is a grass-roots effort 

in which the critical concentration of artists in the district have galvanized a community effort to 
focus on the arts as an anchor to business and place-making.  The primary organization that has 
played a leadership role in this effort is the NoBo Art District group.  Other organizations, 
including the Boulder Metalsmithing Guild, First Congregational Church of Boulder, and Boulder 
Art Matrix, are active in programming.  A partnership with the NoBo Art District group, and 
convening of all organizations and interested stakeholders, should be the first step in a formal 
relationship designed as a cornerstone of the successful operation of a flourishing creative 
district.  The structure and governance of this relationship should be described in a separate 
strategic document, one that provides official municipal designation of the district.  However, 
the conversation and collaboration can begin immediately.  The ultimate goal is to create the 
conditions by which the city and partners can align their efforts around the success of the 
business of fine art.  This can be done through efforts in the built environment, programming, 
the regulatory environment, economic tools, shared promotional marketing, and place making 
initiatives.   

 
 Consult with City-wide District Initiatives – There are many districts existing and planned in 

Boulder.  They have a variety of functions and structures.  Some of them have the promise of a 
creative component: 
 

Downtown Boulder, governed by Downtown Boulder Inc., has long been participating in 
both cultural programming and as a host for creative businesses.  It is also the primary 
landing site for tourists as they begin to explore Boulder.  Support their activities and 
encourage the health of the cultural components of their strategic planning. 

 
A part of the Downtown service area is East Pearl Street.  These few blocks of Pearl Street 
between 15th and 28th Street is an area that has a distinct personality as home to several 
galleries, dance studios, and other creative businesses.  Explore this concentration and the 
potential for a unique personality to emerge there. 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 72

Attachment A

Packet Page 250



 

69 
 

University Hill, governed by several municipal and private interest groups, is a center for 
entertainment and culture focused on both the University students and neighbors.  The 
potential for taking advantage of a culture of innovation and a history of music venues in 
this district is compelling.   

 
East Arapahoe has been proposed as a “eco district” due to the concentration of reuse, 
recycling, and green industry businesses that have established themselves there.  The 
recently founded Art Parts provides recovered materials specifically for resale to artists.  In 
addition, this area is being explored for redevelopment as part of a transportation corridor.  
The community has expressed interest in a minor cultural hub centered around the Boulder 
Dinner Theater in that plan.  Finally, the presence of part of Naropa University’s campus in 
this area adds to the potential of creative assets in East Arapahoe. 

 
Boulder Junction is a district governed by two municipal commissions.  Already a site for 
some of Boulder’s most recent works of public art, there is an intention that the plazas and 
businesses around Boulder Junction be an active location for festivals, events, restaurants, 
and local business.   

 
15th Street Design District is a grass roots collective of several architecture, design, 
technology, and landscape architecture firms on 15th Street between Canyon and Arapahoe.  
The city has worked with this group on streetscape improvements and some programming.  
However the potential for this area to be a destination remains untapped. 

 
Be open to future opportunities for districts that are generated from the community.  And, 
it is important to understand that culture and creativity are not restricted to districts.  Look 
for ways to enhance the entire city as a great home for artists, creative professionals, 
organizations, and businesses. 

 
All districts will benefit from a cohesive approach.  The Office of Arts + Culture will collaborate 
with other city agencies, and particularly the Downtown and University Hill Management / 
Parking Services Department, to formulate and execute a city-wide approach to districting.   

C. Creative Sector Programs 
 

 Convening the Sector – In addition to the Cultural Summits, the Office of Arts + Culture will 
facilitate convening of professionals across the creative sector.  In many cases, there are 
organizations that have taken this on.  For instance, the advertising industry and digital 
media groups are already active.  Staff will support their continuing activity.  Other groups 
have yet to come together: the music and film industries are among those opportunities.  
Staff will seek out the right partners in those professions that could benefit and work with 
the community for the best way to program, fund, and coordinate events. 

 
 Task Force on Talent Retention and Workforce Development – While Boulder’s creative 

businesses thrive, on the horizon is a significant challenge in hiring and retaining the young, 
talented people who will sustain the industry.  Affordability of housing is certainly a facet of 
this problem.  Other issues affecting young people are a perceived deficit in social offerings,  
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 73

Attachment A

Packet Page 251



 

70 
 

and a lack in ethnic, social, and economic diversity.  To protect Boulder’s advanced position 
as a center for the creative sector, the Office of Arts + Culture will convene a task force 
made up of leaders in these areas to explore solutions for the creative workforce and talent 
retention. 

 
 

Measures – Success in the Enhance the Vitality of the Creative Economy strategy will be measured 
against the strategic goal:  Enhance Boulder’s leading position as a home to creative professionals and 
businesses. 

 
 How is the creative economy growing and changing?  How does the creative sector compare 

and interrelate with the other important components of Boulder’s economy? 
 What creative professions are currently most critical to the health of the overall economy?  

What are expectations for the future of the workforce?  
 How are the components of talent retention changing, focused on the needs of the most critical 

elements of the workforce?  What is the health of Boulder’s livability and attachment in 
comparison to competitive cities as homes for creative professionals? 

 What is the relationship between the city’s districts and the economy at both the hyper-local 
and city-wide levels?  How do the primary focus sectors in each district take advantage of the 
services of that district? 

 
 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 74

Attachment A

Packet Page 252



 

71 
 

 
 
Emphasize Culture in Neighborhoods and Communities, Programmatic Structure: 
  

 
EMPHASIZE CULTURE IN NEIGHBORHOODS AND COMMUNITIES  

 
 

A. CREATIVE NEIGHBORHOODS PROGRAM 
 
 

COORDINATION WITH THE  
NEIGHBORHOOD SERVICES OFFICE 

PDA GRANTS 

PUBLIC ART OPPORTUNTIES 

LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT 

 
 

 
B. DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION 

 
 

DIVERSITY IN CULTURE TASKFORCE 

COORDINATION WITH CITY AGENCIES 

 

$    
First and Second Phase 

$$    
First Phase 

 

 
 

A. Creative Neighborhoods Program 
 

In addition to the set of festivals, events, and destinations in the downtown core, residents want 
cultural programs in their neighborhoods: they would like the city to encourage cultural activity and 
creative expression at the most local level.21

 
   

 Coordination with the Neighborhoods Services Office and Parks & Recreation Department – The 
Office of Arts + Culture will both build a strong partnership with the city agencies that most 
directly impact the government’s coordination on a neighborhood level: Neighborhood Services 
and Parks & Recreation.  The result will be a stronger set of programs, enhanced by leadership 
from all three offices. 

                                                           
21 Boulder Community Cultural Plan Survey 2014 – See appendix IV.5 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 75

Attachment A

Packet Page 253



 

72 
 

 
 

 PDA Grants – In 2014 the Office of Arts + Culture incentivized meaningful, fun, and collaborative 
projects to build attachment through a small grants program.  These “Public Displays of 
Affection” or “PDA” funded projects in which residents expressed their love of Boulder.  The 
Office of Arts + Culture will re-imagine these grants as a neighborhood project.  The goals for the 
program are in no small way linked to the measures of “attachment” that are described in the 
Knight Soul of the Community Study22

 

 and philosophiy of livable cities.  However, this is not 
intended to become an overtly tactical exercise.  In the spirit of the concept, the grants should 
be easy to apply for and execute.  Success in this program will not be measured by numbers in 
attendance, or any revenue or media attention.  Rather, the stories that emerge, the good will 
among neighbors, and the ability for enthusiastic Boulder residents to creatively produce a “love 
letter to Boulder” will be a substantial success.  

 Public Art Opportunities – Nationally a remarkable new series of experiments in deploying 
public art concepts to neighborhoods is emerging.  This trend of rethinking the convention of 
placing public art only in city centers can have substantial benefits for Boulder.  The Office of 
Arts + Culture will establish a program in which a portion of public art funding is used for 
neighborhood projects.  This will best flourish when the neighbors themselves are closely 
involved in the process.   

 
 Leadership Development – A substantial amount of cultural activity happens at the hyper-local 

level.  Neighborhoods are centers of cultural activity: art shows in church lobbies, concerts in 
local parks, art making projects at block parties, or hobbyists sharing their creative work with 
their neighbors.  There is leadership potential to be nurtured which can help encourage creative 
activity at a block-by-block level.  These leaders in neighborhood culture can also be facilitators 
of city services across many agencies to help municipal programs achieve their goals.  The Office 
of Arts + Culture will work with other city agencies to find and mobilize these neighborhood 
creative leaders to support their work and partner with them on improving their communities. 

 
 

B. Diversity and Inclusion 
 

 Diversity in Culture Taskforce – The outreach for the Community Cultural Plan included strong 
conversations with leaders in many diverse communities, especially among Latino activists.  
And, the process included a successful effort to receive a depth of cultural diversity among 
survey respondents.  However, a limited nine month public outreach project is hardly adequate 
to meet our very high expectations about fostering effective civic dialog with all facets of 
Boulder’s community.  The demand, best articulated by a participant in one of our group 
interviews, for the “authentic expression of diversity” will only be possible over time and with 
substantial effort on the part of staff.  The Office of Arts + Culture will take that time: to build 
bridges, to align with successful initiatives, and to hold the conversations necessary to ensure 
that the strategies in the Community Cultural Plan are available and effective for all 
communities in Boulder.   

 

                                                           
22 Soul of the Community Study (Knight Foundation, 2010) – See appendix IV.8 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 76

Attachment A

Packet Page 254



 

73 
 

To start this conversation and  learning initiative, the Office of Arts + Culture will partner with 
groups and leaders to convene a taskforce.  The goal of this group will be to face the most 
challenging aspects of the current conditions in Boulder, among them: the lack of diversity in the 
community when compared to the rest of the nation, the hurdles for the city government to 
meet the needs of underserved populations, and the impending crisis that both these issues 
may cause in social and economic health.23  Also, the conversation can address a gap in 
attachment that was identified in the Knight Soul of the Community Study in “openness” and 
“social offerings”24

 

.  Ideally, this conversation can result in substantial projects by the end of the 
First Phase of the Community Cultural Plan, so that work can begin to ensure that the strategies 
and vision of the Community Cultural Plan are available to all residents, workers, and visitors in 
Boulder. 

 Coordination with City Agencies – Boulder lacks the cultural diversity that is an advantage to 
other cities throughout of the nation.25

 

  The reasons are complex: a stratification of job 
opportunities, barriers in transportation, the cost of living, competition with surrounding cities, 
and the deficits in “openness” and “social offerings”.  The risks of hesitation are significant; 
Boulder faces a crisis if we do not remain competitive.  The Office of Arts + Culture will join 
other city agencies that are working on this issue.  If successful, harnessing cultural diversity will 
go far in maintaining our economic and social resiliency, and will ensure that we do not fall 
behind in the innovation, talent, and relevancy. 

 Oversight and Coordination – This strategy, perhaps more than any other, overlaps with other 
efforts in city government.  Therefore, collaboration and engagement are critical.  Consider the 
horizontal elements of these programs: how might public inquiry and oversight that other city 
agencies employ be necessary for these initiatives?  What boards and commissions need to 
check in? 

Strategy Challenge: 
 

Diversity - In order to authentically represent the needs of all communities in Boulder, the most 
important thing staff learned from the Culture Kitchen process was just how much remains to be 
accomplished.  Nine months of public outreach was simply not enough time to build bridges to 
every diverse community.  The lack of diversity in Boulder, including ethnic diversity, potentially 
hinders economic and social resiliency as well as the personal prosperity of our residents.26

 

  The 
Office of Arts + Culture will embrace very high standards in principles of outreach, communications, 
and program delivery to all neighborhoods; this will be the manner in which we access the broadest 
cross-section of economic, social, ethnic diversity in our community.  It is a priority in the first phase 
of this plan to build relationships, engage underserved communities, and associate the efforts of the 
Office of Arts + Culture with agencies that have been doing well in this effort.   

 
  

                                                           
23 The Economic Value of Cultural Diversity: Evidence from US Cities, Gianmarco I.P. Ottaviano and Giovanni Peri 

(Journal of Economic Geography, January 2006) 
24 Knight Soul of the Community Study (Knight Foundation, 2010) – See appendix IV.7 
25 Boulder County Trends Report Community Foundation of Boulder (9/3/2015) 
26 The Economic Value of Cultural Diversity: Evidence from US Cities, Gianmarco I.P. Ottaviano and Giovanni Peri 

(Journal of Economic Geography, January 2006) 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 77

Attachment A

Packet Page 255



 

74 
 

Measures – Success the Emphasize Culture in Neighborhoods and Communities strategy will be 
measured against the strategic goal:  Every resident of Boulder finds ways to creatively impact their 
neighborhoods and social communities, and has easy access to impactful cultural experiences in the 
places that are most emotionally important to their everyday lives. 

 
 What are the cultural offerings in Boulder’s neighborhoods?  How does this activity compare to 

large events in the downtown and commercial areas in attendance, audience composition, 
scale, funding, impact, and perception? 

 What are the cultural needs of underserved populations?  How does cultural activity and 
consumption of the diverse communities in Boulder compare?  What are the barriers to 
inclusion and how are they addressed?  

 What is the diversity profile of cultural organizations, audiences, and leaders?   
 How are trends in diversity, and particularly cultural diversity, expected to affect culture and 

the creative economy?  How are threats to Boulder’s creative economy due to lack of diversity 
addressed?   

 
 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 78

Attachment A

Packet Page 256



 

75 
 

 
 
Support Individual Artists and Creative Professionals, Programmatic Structure: 

 

  
SUPPORT INDIVIDUAL ARTISTS AND CREATIVE PROFESSIONALS 

 
 

A. DIRECT SUPPORT AND 
RECOGNITION  

 

FELLOWSHIPS 

PROJECT GRANTS 
Strategy One 

 

 
B. LIVABILITY AND AFFORDABILITY 

 
 

CONSULTATION WITH  
CITY AGENCIES AND  

ALIGNED ORGANIZATIONS 

TASK FORCE ON WORKFORCE  
AND TALENT RETENTION 

Strategy Four 
 

 
C. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

TOOLS 
 

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
GRANTS 

Strategy One 

PROGRAMS FOR  
BUSINESS PRACTICES 

 

$$    
First and Second Phase 

$    
First Phase 

$    
First and Second Phase 

 

 
 

A. Direct Support and Recognition 
 

 Fellowships – Recognizing creative leaders in the community is more than simple goodwill.  
A program of offering fellowships, acknowledges accomplishment while also investing 
directly in the work that these creative leaders do.  It can also be a strong tool in advocating 
for the arts as a priority in the community dialog, as well as sending a message to the world 
that Boulder is a great place for artists to work; a place that appreciates the contribution of 
its creative residents.  The Office of Arts + Culture will develop a fellowship program to meet 
these objectives.  This need not be strictly a city initiative, and may very well integrate with 
existing programs in the community such as The Dairy Center Honors.  A fellowship should 
also consider the benefits of connecting the work of an artist with other aspects of the 
Community Cultural Plan, for instance the dialog around diversity, or how to improve the 
vibrant urban environment.  It is important that the highest goal of this program is to 
benefit the artist.  There should be an honorarium associated with the award.  It must be 
clear that this is not a contract for the purchase of artwork, or payment for services.  The 
main objective is that the artist continues to do what they do best.  A secondary aim will be 
to build a competitive accolade; something that creative professionals are eager to acquire 
and can leverage to the benefit of their career.  In keeping with the broad call from the 
community to consider the widest definition of “culture”, this fellowship should be open to 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 79

Attachment A

Packet Page 257



 

76 
 

all creative professionals.  Accomplishment in fine arts, design, the music industry, 
architecture, food culture, and all other creative pursuits should be on the table.  Carefully 
consider the structure of this program: how will the artist be chosen in a transparent 
manner?  What is the benefit of receiving this fellowship?  How is it presented and 
communicated in such a way to be an encouraging part of professional life in Boulder? 

 
 Project Grants – The Community Project Grants and Arts Education Grants, though 

operationally integrated with first strategy, are none-the-less useful to individual artists.  
This fact should be strongly communicated to Boulder’s creatives and artists.  

 
 

B. Livability and Affordability 
 

 Consultation with City Agencies and Aligned Organizations – The challenges of livability and 
affordability are not unique to creatives.  All professions experience challenges of living 
comfortably in Boulder.  Yet, artists are doubly affected: housing challenges are 
compounded by high rent of studio and rehearsal space.  In addition, affordability is a wide 
issue, and is not limited to real estate.  The sustainable wage index identifies several 
categories of budget expenses for which Boulder is challenged with high costs.27

 

  All of these 
issues of livability and affordability are the primary cause of a current crisis in culture: artists 
no longer find Boulder a sustainable place to live and work.  Though the Office of Arts + 
Culture cannot take on this challenge alone, it can offer leadership and innovation to the 
conversation.  A convening of city agencies and aligned organizations will be the first step in 
the search for solutions.  We will examine the issues in a collaborative forum, and look for 
solutions in the city’s toolbox: programming, incentives, communications, and the 
regulatory environment.  

C. Professional Development Tools 
 
 Professional Development Grants – The Office of Arts + Culture will ensure that the 

professional development scholarships, as well as leadership programs and convening 
events, include individual artists.  Though not necessarily defined alongside “cultural 
organizations” or “creative sector businesses”, artists are none-the-less small business 
owners.  They are leaders in the community, and need the same tools for running a 
successful business, having a positive impact on the community, and using good practices in 
their work.   

 
 Programs for Business Practices – For Boulder to be a good home for artists and creative 

professionals, there must be opportunities for them to learn the business skills that will 
compliment their artistic talents.  This will be accomplished through partnerships with 
several organizations that are suited to provide these services.  The Boulder County Arts 
Alliance and the Office of Arts + Culture recently ended a successful series of programs titled 
“Business of the Arts”.  This ended simply due to a funding lapse, despite demonstrated 
interest in the program.  The collaboration should be renewed and enhanced.   

 

                                                           
27 Living Wage Index for Boulder County, http://livingwage.mit.edu/counties/08013 (Dr. Amy K. Glasmeier and the 
Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2015)   

Agenda Item 5A     Page 80

Attachment A

Packet Page 258



 

77 
 

In addition, an investigation has begun to partner with the Boulder Chamber of Commerce 
and the University of Colorado for bringing the Arts Incubator of the Rockies (AIR) program 
to Boulder business and creative leaders.  AIR convenes leaders in business and the arts 
around entrepreneurship in creative sector, and has demonstrated success in cities around 
the region in fostering new partnerships and business ventures.   

 
Finally, there are resources across the region for individuals to gain professional skills.  
When these workshops or conferences arise, the Office of Arts + Culture should find ways to 
clear the barriers for Boulder creatives to participate.  Coordinating transportation, assisting 
in communications, offering scholarships, or other efforts will be offered. 

Strategic Challenge: 
 

Livability – Without question, the challenges of affordability and livability were the most complex 
issues raised in the community engagement process.  These concerns are a priority among survey 
respondents. The issue of affordability ranked second among critical issues to resolve.28  This is 
clearly not something that a cultural plan can solve alone, but neither is it  something the 
Community Cultural Plan can ignore.  Addressing these issues implies working with many 
stakeholders, inside and outside the city government: affordability and access to housing, studio 
space, display and performance venues, and livability in general are critical to artists and art 
educators who are trying to get a foothold in Boulder’s creative economy.29

 

  These challenges have 
the potential to compromise our position as a magnet for attracting creative professionals and 
artists.   

Measures – Success in the Support Individual Artists and Creative Professionals strategy will be 
measured against the strategic goal:  Boulder will increasingly attract artists and creative professionals 
for all it has to offer, not only in beautiful surroundings and quality of life, but also in the ability to 
thrive in the creative sector. 

 
 How many individual artists live in Boulder?  How do they rate access, affordability and 

availability of a) housing, b) practice/studio space, c) performance / exhibition space? 
 What are the assets and gaps for creative professions in comparison to employment needs?  

What is the gap between the livelihood of creative professionals and Boulder’s minimum 
livable wage? 

 What are the social and professional offerings available to creative professionals in Boulder?  
How do they compare with competitive cities?  What is the economic impact of spending on 
social offerings? 

 What is the perception of Boulder’s creative economy, both within and outside the city?  Do 
young people studying to enter the creative professions believe that Boulder is a viable 
environment for them to thrive as they enter the workforce?  How are the components of 
livability in Boulder specifically viewed by creative professionals? 

                                                           
28 and 32 Boulder Community Cultural Plan Survey 2014 – See appendix IV.5 
 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 81

Attachment A

Packet Page 259



 

78 
 

 

Advance Civic Dialogue, Awareness, and Participation, Programmatic Structure: 

 
 

ADVANCE CIVIC DIALOG, AWARENESS, AND PARTICIPATION 
 

 
A. PROMOTING THE 

COMMUNITY CULTURAL 
PLAN 

 
 

PROMOTING THE 
GRANTS 

COMMUNICATING 
PUBLIC ART CALLS 

SERVICES AND PROJECTS 
OF THE CCP 

 

 
B. FACILITATE THE CIVIC 

DIALOG 
 
 
 

CULTURAL CALENDARS 
TASK FORCE 

MUNICIPAL 
PROGRAMMING 

PARTNERS 

PUBLIC INQUIRY 
INITIATIVES 

ONLINE ENGAGEMENT 

RESEARCH PROJECTS 

TASK FORCE ON 
CULTURE IN THE MEDIA 

 

 
C. PROJECT BOULDER’S 

CULTURAL IDENTITY 
 
 
 

RECOGNIZING 
ACHIEVEMENT  

BOULDER IN THE MEDIA 
AND ACEDEMIC WORKS  

OPEN SOURCE 
SCRAPBOOK 

BOULDER IN  
INDUSTRY CONVENING 

 

 
D. PARTICIPATE IN 

REGIONAL AND  
NATIONAL LEADERSHIP 

 
 

DENVER-AREA 
COLLECTIVE LEADERSHIP 

INITIATIVE 

LEADERSHIP IN  
BEST PRACTICES 

 

$$    
First Phase 

$    
First and Second Phases  

$    
First and Second Phases 

$    
First Phase 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 82

Attachment A

Packet Page 260



 

79 
 

  
A. Promoting the Community Cultural Plan 

 
The breadth and complexity of the Community Cultural Plan is designed to provide a variety of 
tools to the community; some are long standing programs that will be improved and others are 
new initiatives that will change expectations of the Office of Arts + Culture.  Staff will take care 
to develop a program that a) communicates the improved and new services that are being 
provided by the city, and b) messages the progress towards achieving goals in the plan. 

 
 Promoting the Grants – An identified flaw for the grants program over the past few years 

has been in communications.  Boulder’s cultural organizations, creative professionals, and 
arts educators told us an incongruous story: those who have been in Boulder for a long time 
have come to know the grants program while newer arrivals tend to miss out.  In addition, 
the tools for staff outreach are currently underemphasized.  Staff will work as a team to 
make sure that the full timeline of the grants process: from the initial announcements to the 
final report, is conducted with the understanding that this program is in service to the grants 
applicants and recipients.   

 
 Communicating Public Art Calls – One of the most noticeable changes that will occur from 

the Community Cultural Plan will be the increased conversation around public art.  Much of 
this promotional process is outlined in Strategy 2.  This will ensure that artists are aware of 
opportunities, and that the public can clearly see the progression of the public art process.  
The Office of Arts + Culture will undertake significant outreach to accomplish this. 

 
 Services and Projects of the CCP – In addition to the special needs for communication of 

grants and public art, the other programs of the Office of Arts + Culture will require some 
good engagement tools.  Staff will develop these tools, and deploy them in a sophisticated 
manner.  A marketing plan and branding strategy is a part of this deployment.  The 
specialized needs of staff and budget should not be overlooked. 

B. Facilitate the Civic Dialogue 

 Cultural Calendars Task Force – The existing calendars that are published by the Boulder 
County Arts Alliance and the Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau are great resources.  
However, judging by responses to surveys, the community has not yet embraced either 
resource.30

 

  The Office of Arts + Culture will assist the effort to reconcile this.  The first step 
is to convene a leadership group to discuss the challenges of useful and productive cultural 
calendars: the infrastructure, funding, operation and marketing.  From that conversation, 
steps can be taken to improve the resources and get that information into the hands of 
residents. 

 Municipal Programming Partners – The City of Boulder has a long tradition of successful arts 
programming:  

 
The library hosts popular cinema screenings, concerts, exhibitions, and STEM learning 
programs, 

                                                           
30 Community Cultural Plan Survey 2014 – See Appendix IV.5 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 83

Attachment A

Packet Page 261



 

80 
 

 
Recreation centers and parks are venues for performances, and visual arts. 
  
Open Space coordinates innovative programs for Plein Air painting, concerts set in 
nature, and other programs, and 
 
The Human Services Department collaborates with community organizations to amplify 
remarkable cultural projects.   

 
All these groups have had success in delivering programs to the community, but there has 
been little coordination between them.  The Office of Arts + Culture, while not a 
programming agency itself, can offer leadership and facilitation, assist in aligning the goals 
of these programs, and can offer advice on how the city’s programs best fit into the menu of 
opportunities offered throughout the community.  It is recommended that a working group 
be formed, hosted by the Office of Arts + Culture, which gathers these leaders. 

 
 Public Inquiry Initiatives – Direct engagement with residents of Boulder is a guiding principle 

of the Community Cultural Plan.  In this way, every program and initiative must consider 
how to steward a serious and effective public inquiry element.  It is beneficial for the Office 
of Arts + Culture to collect the public inquiry elements of each program into a single clearing 
house.  Using online, in person, and survey tools, staff will clear barriers to participation.  
One profound step to do this will be in making a single point of conversation that can then 
be applied to each strategy and program area.   

 
A healthy cultural environment in Boulder will include individuals and organizations who are 
engaged.  The success of the Community Cultural Plan depends as much on this community 
advocacy as on any staff person, strategy, or funding that might be assigned.  Though the 
Office of Arts + Culture cannot promote lobbying around specific issues, it is important that 
advocacy for the arts be encouraged in general.  Community activists will be encouraged to 
continue their work and given every opportunity to participate.  When gaps in advocacy at 
the local level exist, the Office of Arts + Culture should encourage the formation of interest 
groups or organizations to fill the need. 

 
 Online Engagement – The platform of www.boulderarts.org is an asset.  The Office of Arts + 

Culture will invest in improving the website for communicating information, resourcing 
shared knowledge, deploying interactive tools, and as the nexus through which the public 
can access the good work that will grow out of the Community Cultural Plan. 

 
 Research Projects – Research is required to understand how the Community Cultural Plan is 

meeting the goals for each strategy: 

Support Cultural Organizations – Have a substantial and positive effect on the ability of 
Boulder’s many cultural organizations to advance their operational capacity, promote 
organizational resiliency, and encourage innovation for the benefit of the community. 
 
Reinvent our Public Art Program – Many individuals, businesses, governments, 
organizations, and developers will be encouraged to invest in improvements to public 
spaces through the addition of meaningful, innovative, and quality works of art.  The 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 84

Attachment A

Packet Page 262



 

81 
 

municipal investment in public art will be a model, using a system of publicly 
transparent, sustainable, and innovative practices to robustly commission artworks of 
enduring cultural value.   
 
Create and Enhance Facilities and Venues – Improve the resiliency of visual and 
performing arts organizations, and the experience of their audiences, which are 
currently challenged by gaps in venues.  Mitigate the barriers to innovation and 
sustainability that are encountered due to affordability of space. 
 
Enhance the Vitality of the Creative Economy – Enhance Boulder’s leading position as a 
home to creative professionals and businesses. 
 
Emphasize Culture in Neighborhoods and Communities – Every resident of Boulder finds 
ways to creatively impact their neighborhoods and social communities, and has easy 
access to impactful cultural experiences in the places that are most emotionally 
important to their everyday lives. 
 
Support Individual Artists and Creative Professionals – Boulder will increasingly attract 
artists and creative professionals for all it has to offer, not only in beautiful surroundings 
and quality of life, but also in the ability to thrive in the creative sector. 
 
Advance Civic Dialog, Awareness, and Participation – Every person in Boulder will 
understand their role in the culture of the community, feel that access to information 
about culture is readily at hand, and will feel invited into the conversation. 
 
Engage our Youth – At the end of this nine-year plan, the young people who are now 
studying the creative pursuits will find Boulder the perfect place to grow into cultural 
leaders. 

 
By evaluating these goals in each “measures” section, the Office of Arts + Culture can track 
progress over the course of the plan.   

 
There are many specific tools that can be utilized for evaluation of the measures: 

 
 Grants and Public Art Programs Evaluation Tools 
 Artist Census 
 Community Surveys 
 Cultural Asset Mapping  
 Cultural Vitality Index (WESTAF) 
 The Arts & Prosperity Study 
 Online Engagement (Mindmixer) 
 Youth Council Engagement 
 Media Tracking, Traditional and Social 
 Taskforce and Sector Convening 
 Public Inquiry Events 
 Boulder Arts Commission Consultation 
 Annual Report to the Community 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 85

Attachment A

Packet Page 263



 

82 
 

 Task Force on Culture in the Media – A need has been identified for more and better 
coverage and critique of the arts in local and regional media.  This is all the more important 
as the platforms for information and dialog about the arts diversifies.  The Office of Arts + 
Culture may not be best placed to play a leadership role in filling this gap.  However, it 
should lead in facilitating the conversation about culture in the media. 

 
 

C. Project Boulder’s Cultural Identity  
 

 Recognizing Achievement – Celebrating Boulder’s creative talent has several benefits for the 
community: to recognize and promote excellence, to encourage leadership, to communicate 
Boulder as a great home for artists to thrive, and to build a brand of innovative 
contemporary practice in all forms of creativity.  The Office of Arts + Culture is in a position 
to amplify the accomplishments artists receive locally, regionally, and nationally through the 
communications tools described above. 

 
 Boulder in the Media and Academic Works – In partnership with the Convention and Visitors 

Bureau, the Office of Arts + Culture can enhance the promotional work of artists, creative 
professionals and organizations.  When an important event or program is planned, staff 
should have the tools and capacity to advise artists and organizations on the means to 
produce quality collateral, strategically connect them with the media, and encourage 
coverage. 

 
In addition to references in the media, the Office of Arts + Culture will build relationships to 
encourage academics working in fields related to culture and the creative economy to 
include Boulder individuals, organizations, and programs into their work.   

 
 Open Source Scrapbook – The Office of Arts + Culture will be tracking coverage of Boulder’s 

culture and creative sector for the purposes of measuring success of the Community 
Cultural Plan.  There is an opportunity to leverage this data for an online resource that 
others may use in their own initiatives.   

 
 Boulder in Industry Convening – The national conversation about government policy, 

stewardship, contemporary creative practice, and programming for culture and the creative 
economy is conducted in several national and regional forums which convene thought 
leaders and practitioners.  The Office of Arts + Culture will be active in both encouraging 
Boulder’s creative professionals to represent the city, and should ensure that staff can 
participate themselves.  Every important industry convening event across the country will 
have representation from Boulder.    

 
D.  Participate in Regional and National Leadership 

 
 Denver-area Collective Leadership Initiative – A proposal to develop collective leadership for 

creative organizations in the Aurora-Denver-Boulder metropolitan area has been initiated by 
Denver Arts and Venues and the Bonfils Stanton Foundation.  This may eventually take the 
form of a regional alliance for culture and creative sector professionals and businesses.  As 
of the writing of this document, the initiative is still in its formative stages, and promises to 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 86

Attachment A

Packet Page 264



 

83 
 

provide for many benefits that are detailed in the Community Cultural Plan.  In time this 
effort may: a) provide resources for a broad approach to research and data, b) advocate for 
the creative sector at the state and national levels, c) convene the community and provide 
programs for good practices, and d) provide collective services.  The Office of Arts + Culture 
will continue to play a leadership role in the exploration of collective leadership, and will 
advocate for Boulder in that forum.   

 
 Leadership in Good Practices – The Office of Arts + Culture will participate in the national 

conversation about the best practices of government cultural programming.  This includes 
leadership in the development of these practices, interpreting them for the situation in 
Boulder, and implementing them to the best possible standards.  The Office of Arts + 
Culture will be a model to other governments for cultural affairs at the municipal level. 

 

Strategy Challenges: 
 
Identity – Boulder has been quietly innovating as a creative center for some time.  We are proud 
of the moments when that innovation is honored as part of the national story: the founding of 
Chautauqua, the Beat poets of the 1950s and 60s, the Conference on World Affairs, the many 
accomplished musicians that have landed in Boulder.  Today, still a home to remarkable artists 
and cultural leaders, Boulder is on its way to again being recognized for creativity.  The work of 
Naropa University, e-Town, the Colorado Chautauqua Association, Frequent Flyers, the Boulder 
International Film Festival, and others are increasingly recognized in the international 
conversation about culture.  The Office of Arts + Culture will work with the community on how 
to nurture a creative identity for the city. 
 
Aligned with this effort, the Office of Arts + Culture will begin to tell the story of the innovations 
in the Community Cultural Plan itself: the focus on cultural organizations, a sophisticated public 
art program, the creative neighborhoods initiative, and comprehensive research projects are 
among the unique aspects of this plan that will be a point of pride.   
 
 

Measures – Success in the Advance Civic Dialogue, Awareness, and Participation strategy will be measured 
against the strategic goal:  Every person in Boulder will understand their role in the culture of the 
community, feel that access to information about culture is readily at hand, and will feel invited into the 
conversation. 

 
 What are the opportunities for the community to inquire, and be heard, on matters of culture?  

How many people are participating?   
 What are the results of public inquiry on decision making?  How does the city follow through on 

questions and suggestions raised through public engagement?   
 To what degree do residents feel that Boulder is an “open” culture: a place that is welcoming, 

where ideas are encouraged and innovations in the arts are possible?   
 What is the nature of the civic dialog about culture in the community, traditional and social media, 

and in other forums? 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 87

Attachment A

Packet Page 265



 

84 
 

 

Engage our Youth, Programmatic Structure: 
 

 
ENGAGE OUR YOUTH 

 
 

A. YOUTH COUNCIL 
 
 
 

ADVISORY 

RESEARCH ON THE FUTURE OF 
CREATIVE SECTOR WORKFORCE 

STREET TEAM 

 
 

 
B. COLLABORATION WITH BVSD 

AND EDUCATION ORGANIZATIONS 
 
 

ART IN EDUCATION GRANTS 
Strategy One 

CULTURAL FIELD TRIP 
SCHOLARSHIPS 
Strategy One 

CONSULTATION FOR  
ALIGNMENT WITH BVSD 

 

 
C. MENTORING AND 

PARTICIPATION  
 
 

GRANTS FOR YOUTH 

MENTOR MATCHMAKING 

 

$    
First and Second Phases 

$$    
First Phase 

$    
Second Phase 

 

 
 

A. Youth Council 
 

In considering the nine-year time horizon of the Community Cultural Plan, an opportunity exists 
to collaborate directly with the creative young people who will be the cultural leaders at the end 
of that time.  Youth, for instance in their junior and senior years of high school, who plan to 
pursue creative professions will be approached to join this Youth Council.   

 
 Advisory – The Office of Arts + Culture will take advantage of the fresh perspective the 

members of the Youth Council can provide.  In addition to the advice that can benefit 
programs, these individuals can use this experience to develop leadership skills that could 
become an asset later for service on boards, commissions, and panels. 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 88

Attachment A

Packet Page 266



 

85 
 

 Research on the Future of the Creative Sector Workforce – By participating over the full 
term of the plan, the members of the Youth Council can be engaged longitudinally for data 
and stories that may reveal how the Community Cultural Plan serves individuals that will be 
entering full participation in culture as the plan comes to a close.  The Office of Arts + 
Culture will convene this group, and develop a series of tools for measuring their progress.  
This is best done in close collaboration with the schools and educational experts, for 
instance at the University of Colorado.  The project will also require a significant 
commitment from the youth.  Nine years is a long time for continuous engagement; staff 
will not only strategize ways to keep people interested in participating, but will also create 
contingencies for the inevitable attrition that will occur.   

 
 Street Team – In the initial years, the Youth Council can serve as ambassadors for the 

Community Cultural Plan.  The Office of Arts + Culture will deploy these motivated 
individuals as a “street team”: serving to bring the public inquiry and research projects of 
the Plan directly to the community.  Staff will find the right ways to thank them for their 
service. 

 
B. Collaboration with Boulder Valley School District and other Education Organizations 

 
 Art Education Grants & Cultural Field Trip Scholarships -  These grants, coordinated through 

the cultural grants program, will only function at their fullest potential when aligned with 
the mission, goals, and structures of the educators and administrators that stand to benefit.  
The Office of Arts + Culture will coordinate with BVSD, other school districts, education 
organizations, private schools, and educators to ensure that the format of these grants are 
designed to the best service of the students and teachers. 

 
 Consultation for Alignment with BVSD - The Office of Arts + Culture will take advantage of 

the opportunity to work with BVSD on a close alignment of goals and systems.  This is 
especially true in matters of cultural participation, civic dialog, and the creative economy.   

 
C. Mentoring Program 

 
 Grants for Youth – Creative leaders among Boulder’s high school and university youth may 

be a perfect fit for the goals of some of the grants described in the Grants program area.  In 
particular, the Community Project grants and Professional Development scholarships 
promise to provide young people with specific opportunities.  In addition to the benefits 
that may arise from awarding youth, the mere process of applying for grants is a valuable 
learning experience and will be encouraged.  To accomplish this, the Office of Arts + Culture 
will work directly with school administration and teachers to create special outreach and 
mentoring programs encouraging youth to apply for grants, give special assistance in the 
application and reporting processes, and support the recipient of a grant to ensure success.  
Staff may also consider assigning specific grants especially for youth which is integrated into 
classroom curriculum. 

 
 Mentor Matchmaking – Staff will find sponsorship opportunities, or directly partner with an 

organization, to connect young creative leaders with practicing artists and creative 
professionals in the community for mentoring relationships.  The opportunities for such a 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 89

Attachment A

Packet Page 267



 

86 
 

program to support Community Cultural Plan goals regarding participation and workforce 
over the long term are important to consider. 

 

Strategy Challenges: 
 
Gap in Cultural Offerings for Youth – The region’s schools offer arts programming in the 
classroom and there are a smattering of youth classes on offer at local organizations.  With this 
spectrum of social offerings mind, it is the perspective of many high school youth that 
opportunities for them to engage with the arts are limited.31

 

  While some successes by groups 
like Growing Up Boulder, BMoCA, and others are stand-outs, this programming is not always 
widely communicated, or of interest to the large numbers of youth.  This gap is important not 
only for the edification of these particular young people, but also has impacts on the creative 
economy; the youth of today are the cultural leaders of a decade from now.  And, when asked, 
many of these youth in high school and college do not see a promising future for creative 
pursuits in Boulder. 

Measures – Success in the Engage our Youth strategy will be measured against the strategic goal:  At 
the end of this nine-year plan, the young people who are now studying the creative pursuits will find 
Boulder the perfect place to grow into cultural leaders. 

 
 What are the offerings for young people to learn about, and be inspired to become, cultural 

participants, cultural leaders and creative professionals?  What is the impact of these 
programs? 

 What are the barriers for young people to pursue the full arc of their career goals in Boulder?  
How does mitigation of these barriers affect the composition of the creative workforce? 

 What is the perception of culture among young people?  Do they feel engaged, and feel that 
social offerings in culture are adequate?  Do they feel that Boulder offers them the 
environment for building a successful career and creative life? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  

                                                           
31 Community Cultural Plan Survey 2014 – See Appendix IV.5 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 90

Attachment A

Packet Page 268



 

87 
 

III.2  CCP Time Horizon: 
 

The implementation of the above strategies will occur over a nine-year time horizon: 

 
This nine year scope is divided into three year increments.  Work plans will be developed by staff for 
each year to give guidance to the day-to-day operation of the Strategies and to set achievable goals.  
The end of each phase is considered a “transitional year”: 2018, 2021, and 2024.  In the work plans 
for these transitional years, staff will refine all the strategies and program areas, and update 
necessary documents such as the Public Art Implementation Plans and grants program guidelines.  
For the final transitional year, an update of this Community Cultural Plan should be considered. 

 
III.3  Financial Recommendations 
 

Since 2011 the City of Boulder uses Priority Based Budgeting (PBB) as a tool to ensure city service 
priorities are based on community goals and values.  Implementation of PBB is two-fold; follow best 
practices for allocating resources to ensure fiscal health and identify a prioritization scheme. 
Programs and services are ranked and prioritized based on two sets of criteria, a) the ability to help 
the community achieve desired results and b) basic program attributes.  
 

Community Results Goals: 
 Accessible and Connected Community 
 Economically Vital Community 
 Environmentally Stable Community 
 Healthy and Socially Thriving Community 
 Safe Community 
 Good Governance 

Basic Program Criteria: 
 Mandate to Provide Service 
 Change in Demand for Service 
 Reliance on City to Provide Service 
 Self Sufficient / Cost Recovery 
 Cost Avoidance / Increasing 

Inefficiencies 

 
Responsive to the criteria, the Office of Arts + Culture will actively align the documentation of 
initiatives, research, and evaluations from within the strategies and programs in order to be 
specifically responsive to the needs of the PBB process. 
 
III.3.1 Funding Sources 
 

In the near term, the Office of Arts + Culture will continue to be funded through a contribution 
from the General Fund, with a special fund established for public art from the proceeds of the 
Community Culture and Safety Tax.  This will provide flexibility to begin priority initiatives 
immediately upon adoption of the Community Cultural Plan.   
 
In the first phase of the time horizon, a sustainable source of funding for Public Art needs to be 
implemented.  Then, the potential of a secure funding source for the grants program will be 
explored, for deployment in the third phase.   
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 91

Attachment A

Packet Page 269



 

88 
 

III.3.2 Projected Uses of Funds: 
 

Use  First Phase Goal for 2018 Middle Phase Goal for  2021 Final Phase Goal for 2024 
     

Personnel & Administration  
 

 $310,000* $450,000* $450,000* 
  Increase staff from 2 FTE to a fully staffed office of 6 FTE by the end of the middle phase. 
 Identify and fund any key administrative gaps including professional development, 

equipment and technology, administration of grants and public art, etc. 
* These amounts are a preliminary estimate, and will continue to be refined as the process continues. 

     
     

Cultural Grants  $600,000 $800,000 $1,000,000 
  Funds will be used for distribution to grant recipients only. 
 By 2021, a sustainable source of funding will be identified. 

Sponsorships / Partnerships   $70,0000 $100,000 $120,000 
  Increases will be considered based on the developing needs of sponsored and partnered 

programs, as well as for adding additional sponsored events and partners each year. 

 
 

Public Art (Assigned Fund)  $300,000 $300,000 $300,000 
  Funds will be used for contracts with artists in the commissioning of public art only. 
 In the first two years, this funding will be derived from the Community Culture and Safety 

Tax.  By 2018, a permanent source of funding will be identified. 
 After the permanent sources of funding are in place, it is expected that the budget will 

fluctuate from year to year, with $300,000 being an expected average. 

Programming for Strategies  $30,000 $100,000 $130,000 
  Funds will be used for the programs, events, and materials to operate the strategies.   
 A portion of this budget will be assigned to technical maintenance of the public art 

collection. 

     
TOTAL:  $1,310,000 $1,750,000 $2,000,000 
     

  

   
Purple:  Administration  
Green:  Public Art & Programs  
Orange:  Funds Delivered to Organizations and Individual Artists 

 
 

24% 

46% 

5% 

23% 

2% 

26% 

46% 

5% 

17% 

6% 

22% 

50% 

6% 

15% 

7% 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 92

Attachment A

Packet Page 270



 

89 
 

III.4  Staff Capacities at Full Implementation:   
  

Manager, Office of Arts + Culture (1 FTE)  
Liaison to the BAC 
Leadership & Management of All Strategies 
Personnel, Finance, and Liaison to City Agencies  
Community and Media Contact  
Task Forces  
Strategic Partnerships 
Diversity and Inclusion 
Livability and Affordability 
Participate in Regional and National Leadership 

 
 

   

 
  Office Coordinator (1 FTE) 

Board Secretary to the BAC 
Office Management / Budget Tracking 
Support for All Strategies   

    

 
  Program Coordinator, Grants and Cultural Support Programs (1 FTE) 

Support our Cultural Organizations 
Create and Enhance Facilities and Venues   

    

 
  Program Coordinator, Creative Sector and District Programs (1 FTE) 

Enhance the Vitality of the Creative Economy 
Support Individual Artists and Creative Professionals   

    

 
  Program Coordinator, Research and Civic Dialog Programs (1 FTE) 

Advance Civic Dialog, Awareness, and Participation 
Engage our Youth   

    

 
  Program Coordinator, Public Art and Neighborhood Programs (1 FTE) 

Reinvent our Public Art Program  
Emphasize Culture in Neighborhoods and Communities   

 
III.5  Structure:   
 

The Office of Arts + Culture is a division of the Library & Arts Department.  The Director of the 
Department serves as leadership, shares responsibility with the Manager as community and media 
contact, and is the liaison to the City Manager’s Office and City Council.   

Agenda Item 5A     Page 93

Attachment A

Packet Page 271



 

90 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 94

Attachment A

Packet Page 272



 

91 
 

IV.  Appendices 
 
IV.1  Appreciations 
 
IV.2  Community Cultural Plan Process Timeline  
 
IV.3  Cultural Vitality Index Findings 
 
IV.4  Selections from the Community Cultural Plan Benchmark Study 
 
IV.5  Summary of Findings from the Community Cultural Plan Inquiry 
 
IV.6  Comparison: Public Art Programs in Colorado 
 
IV.7  Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan  
 
IV.8 Knight Soul of the Community Study  
 
IV.9  Vision Elements Defined 
 
IV.10  Connections to the City of Boulder Sustainability Framework 
 
IV.11  National Assembly of State Arts Agencies State Arts Agency Fact Sheet.   
 
IV.12  Further Reading 
 
  

 

 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 95

Attachment A

Packet Page 273



 

92 
 

APPENDIX ONE 
 

Appreciations 
 
Our community is grateful to the neighbors who helped with the planning process and in consultation 
on the drafting of the Community Cultural Plan document: 
 

Thanks to the thousands of residents who participated by giving their opinions, filling out surveys, 
joining the online conversation, and commenting on the Community Cultural Plan at various points 
along the way. 
 
Thanks to the many talented experts, stakeholders, and community activists who were interviewed 
through the course of this plan, including: Mark and Polly Addison, Robin Beeck, Kathy Beeck, Joan 
Breummer, Annette Coleman, Aaron Cook, Brian Coppom, Joe deRaismes, Bruce Dierking, Nick 
Forster, Donna Gartenmann, Alicia Gibb, Sue Hammond, Kent Hansen, Carrie Haverfield, Josie 
Heath, Kathy Jones, Kathy Kucsan, Melinda Mattingly, Deana Miller, Sacha Millstone, Lisa Nesmith, 
Judy Reid, Bill Rigler, and Amanda Berg Wilson. 
 
Thanks to the many staff members of the many City of Boulder agencies who assisted in this 
process, especially Larry Ferguson of the Information Resources/GIS Office, as well as Jennifer Bray 
and Jennifer Miles of the Boulder Public Library.  Most particularly we appreciate the staff of the 
Office of Arts + Culture: Juliette Bartsch, Joel Haertling, Greg Ravenwood, and in particular Mary 
Fowler and Mary Wohl Haan who both played a critical role in the operation of the planning process. 
 
Thanks to the members of Cultural Planning Group consultants for the Community Cultural Plan.  In 
particular, we thank Martin Cohen, Linda Flynn, and Jerry Allen whose expertise, talents, and 
thoughtfulness contributed to the success of the process. 
 
Thanks to the many leaders of Boulder’s community of non-profit cultural organizations who 
participated in a special series of “cultural summits” to review and comment on the drafting of the 
Community Cultural Plan: Dairy Center for the Arts: Bill Obermeier,  Raissa Johnson,  Sharon Nehls; 
Cudmudgeonly Press: Clara Burns; LOCAL Theater Company: Megan Mathews, Sallie Smith; 
Language of Fish Collective Arts: Soleil Chappelle,  Arrow Zoe Amelia,  Adderly Bigelow; Boulder 
Ensemble Theatre Company: Stephen Weitz, Janet Salmons; Barrio É: Tamil Maldonado; Latino 
Chamber: Jose D. Beteta; Truth Be Told: Nina Rolle, Johanna Walker; BaoBao Festival: Kari 
Abankwah, Kasey Shelling (also The Living Classroom); Boulder History Museum:  Nancy Geyer, Carol 
Taylor, Laura Skaggs; Boulder Housing Partners: Shannon Cox Baker, Danielle Vachon; Greater 
Boulder Youth Orchestras: Brian Jack, Gary Lewis, Pris Walker, Arthur Lieb; Americas Latino: Irene 
Vilar; Joanna & the Agitators: Joanna Rotkin; Moondance International Film Festival:  Elizabeth 
English; Boulder International Film Festival: Robin Beeck, Kevin Smith; Art Parts Creative Reuse 
Center: Denise Perreault; Boulder Art Matrix: Sally Eckert, Buffy Andrews (also Art Parts), Amy 
Tremper; Conference on World Affairs at CU: Bryan New; Boulder Museum of Contemporary Arts: 
David Dadone, Jaye Zola, Jordan Robbins, Ron McMahan, Caitlin Berube-Smith, Mardee Goff; 
Cantabile: Kathleen McCormick, Joanne Karpinski ; Boulder High School: Virginia Schick, Chris 
Sweeney, Beau Bryson, Scott Cawlfield; e-Town: Margo Josephs; Sound Circle and Resonance 
Women's Chorus: Sue Coffee; Boulder County Arts Alliance: Charlotte LaSasso; Boulder Chamber 
Orchestra: Jennifer Slater, Bahman Saless; Viva Theatre Program of the Society for Creative Aging; 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 96

Attachment A

Packet Page 274



 

93 
 

Boulder Chorale: JoAn Segal (also American Music Center); Band of Toughs: Joan Bruemmer-Holden, 
Jeff Goldberg, Colleen Mylott; Seicento Baroque Ensemble: Deborah Vink, Evanne Browne, Doug 
Hofmeister; Boulder Chorale: Karon Kelly, Eddie Cheng; Boulder Metalsmithing Association: Beth 
Merckel; Motus Theater: Audrey Fishman-Franklin, Kirsten Wilson, Wendy Baring-Gould (also One 
Action Boulder and Women Work Together/Mujeres Trabajan Unidos); ARTology: Laura Tyler; 
NEOCOMPROMO: Dalia Dorta; Habitat for Artists: Cindy Sepucha; Locheartarts: Chelsea Pohl; Randy 
Compton; Colorado Chautauqua Association: Susan Connelly, Bob Yates; Studio Arts Boulder: Paul 
Heffron; Bob Crifasi; Seicento: Deborah Vink  (also Nature Conservancy); Boulder Philharmonic 
Orchestra: Kevin Shuck; Ecoarts: Marda Kirn; Open Arts: Matt Cohn, Stephen DeNorscia; Off 
Broadway Fine Arts: Catherine Compton; NoBo Art District: Susan Eriksson, Lisa Nesmith; US Pro 
Cycling Monument: Kimmerjae Johnson; Tesseract Productions: Hugh Moore, Kori Beck; The Secret 
Garden: Ed Jabari; KGNU: Jeannie Brisson; Boulder Fringe Festival: Liberty Shellman; Circle of Care: 
Joan Raderman; Now or Never Theatre: Betsy Tobin; Square Product Theatre: Emily K. Harrison (also 
Boulder Arts Week); Colorado Music Festival: Andrew Bradford; Kirsten Cohen Photography: Kirsten 
Cohen; ARTology: Laura Tyler; Boulder Center for the Performing Arts: Melinda Mattingly;  
Catamounts: Joan Bruemmer-Holden; Lyra Mayfield Dance: Lyra Mayfield; Tinker Arts: Christie 
Slater; CU Presents: Joan McLean Braun; Boulder Chamber of Commerce: Deborah Malden; 
Convention and Visitors Bureau: Mary Ann Mahoney. 
 
Special thanks to the cultural partners to the city for their advice and leadership: Susan Connelly of 
the Colorado Chautauqua Association, David Dadone of the Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art, 
Nancy Geyer of the Museum of Boulder, and Bill Obermeier of the Dairy Center for the Arts. 
 
Thanks to the members of the Boulder Arts Commission who served during the process: Felicia 
Furman, Linda Haertling, Tamil Maldonado, Ann Moss, Anna Salim, and Richard Turbiak.  
 
Thanks to the members of the City of Boulder Boards & Commissions that weighed in on the plan 
throughout the process: Boulder Junction Access District, Downtown Management Commission, 
Parks & Recreation Advisory Board, Planning Board, and the University Hill Commercial Area 
Management Commission.  
 
Thanks to the members of City Council who served during the process: Matt Appelbaum, Macon 
Cowles, Suzanne Jones, George Karakehian, Lisa Morzel, Tim Plass, Andrew Shoemaker, Sam 
Weaver, and Mary Young,  
 
A special thanks to the volunteers on the Community Cultural Plan steering committee: Jose Beteta, 
Joan Mclean Braun, Leah Brenner, Rebecca DiDominico, Roy Holloway, Brandy LaMae, Max 
Lenderman, Lyra Mayfield, Charlotte LaSasso, Mary Ann Mahoney, Deborah Malden, Virginia Schick, 
Christie Slater, and Richard Turbiak.   

 
The Community Cultural Plan was written by Matt Chasansky, Manager of the Office of Arts + Culture 
with David Farnan, Director of the Library & Arts Department. 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 97

Attachment A

Packet Page 275



 

94 
 

APPENDIX TWO 

Community Cultural Plan Process Timeline 
 
 

 
 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 98

Attachment A

Packet Page 276



 

95 
 

APPENDIX THREE 

Creative Vitality Index Findings, page 1 
 
CPG has contracted with The Western States Arts Federation to conduct a Creative Vitality Index 
study.  Using data from several sources, this tool dissects the creative sector of the economy based 
on postal codes to compare key indicators with similar geographical areas. 
 

2013 Occupation Figures Boulder 
CO 

Ft. Collins 
CO 

Loveland 
CO 

Madison 
WI 

Tempe  
AZ 

Eugene  
OR 

City Population 103,166 152,061 71,344 243,344 168,288 159,190 

Study Population 118,362 181,350 87,733 338,408 169,425 193,334 

Advertising and promotions managers 41 20 8 78 53 48 

Public relations and fundraising  24 11 5 156 79 88 

Agents and business managers 80 51 16 73 55 36 

Architects, except landscape and naval 419 151 72 331 282 160 

Landscape architects 89 34 16 73 41 16 

Architectural and civil drafters 178 85 45 190 199 121 

Anthropologists and archeologists 25 11 3 40 16 50 

Historians 7 6 3 23 5 6 

Religious activities and education 45 73 40 262 78 70 

Postsecondary teachers 749 161 33 7,790 1,404 2,807 

Archivists 7 4 1 21 5 4 

Curators 13 7 3 28 6 10 

Museum technicians and conservators 3 5 2 10 4 4 

Librarians 29 14 66 339 47 84 

Library technicians 49 22 53 375 87 167 

AV and multimedia collections specialists 5 2 4 27 12 5 

Art directors 337 177 59 300 138 137 

Craft artists 153 98 52 118 57 97 

Fine artists 124 86 41 145 64 81 

Multimedia artists and animators 304 167 56 378 124 154 

Artists and related workers, all other 64 45 16 58 33 30 

Commercial and industrial designers 84 56 20 142 102 53 

Fashion designers 46 17 3 25 22 21 

Floral designers 49 62 20 119 63 62 

Graphic designers 728 405 116 1,012 640 452 

Interior designers 238 207 38 323 224 124 

Merchandise displayers and trimmers 114 82 39 131 295 39 

Set and exhibit designers 17 11 3 19 19 14 

Designers, all other 31 15 4 34 24 11 

Actors 146 84 28 143 130 62 

Producers and directors 130 62 25 263 95 117 

Dancers 44 36 10 54 21 22 

Choreographers 17 11 3 11 11 10 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 99

Attachment A

Packet Page 277



 

96 
 

 
 

Creative Vitality Index Findings, page 2 
 

2013 Occupation Figures Boulder 
CO 

Ft. Collins 
CO 

Loveland 
CO 

Madison 
WI 

Tempe  
AZ 

Eugene  
OR 

Music directors and composers 96 69 31 181 52 76 

Musicians and singers 751 477 166 659 271 432 

Radio and television announcers 59 29 21 178 24 60 

Broadcast news analysts 24 14 6 25 8 13 

Reporters and correspondents 83 40 16 116 29 93 

Public relations specialists 360 188 82 1,020 263 137 

Editors 302 147 71 486 210 140 

Technical writers 124 63 23 194 129 24 

Writers and authors 786 429 156 722 343 380 

Interpreters and translators 263 327 56 712 888 150 

Media and communication workers, all other 89 88 14 193 252 55 

Audio and video equipment technicians 62 44 13 117 151 67 

Broadcast technicians 17 4 6 94 12 18 

Sound engineering technicians 35 14 3 95 12 20 

Photographers 990 1,122 181 2,270 2,645 471 
Camera operators, television, video, and 
motion picture 33 18 7 93 42 40 

Film and video editors 50 15 6 39 35 17 
Media and communication equipment 
workers, all other 41 17 6 20 21 17 

Ushers, lobby attendants, and ticket takers 107 189 52 159 172 96 

Costume attendants 4 5 1 14 4 7 
Entertainment attendants and related 
workers, all other 4 3 1 39 29 4 

Makeup artists, theatrical and performance 18 12 3 18 10 11 

Advertising sales agents 325 124 61 475 246 204 

Library assistants, clerical 32 21 44 275 79 114 

Musical instrument repairers and tuners 21 29 8 52 43 17 

Jewelers and metal workers 69 68 60 78 82 77 

TOTAL 9,134 5,834 1,996 21,415 10,488 7,902 

% of population 8.85% 3.84% 2.80% 8.80% 6.23% 4.96% 

 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 100

Attachment A

Packet Page 278



 

97 
 

Creative Vitality Index Findings, page 3 
 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 101

Attachment A

Packet Page 279



 

98 
 

Creative Vitality Index Findings, page 4 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 102

Attachment A

Packet Page 280



 

99 
 

APPENDIX FOUR 

Selections from the Community Cultural Plan Benchmark Study 
 

2013 Data Boulder 
CO 

Ft. Collins 
CO 

Loveland 
CO 

Madison  
WI 

Tempe  
AZ 

Eugene  
OR 

       

City Population 103,166 155,000 66,859 243,344 168,228 159,190 

Geographic Size 25.7 sq. miles 57.0 sq. miles 25.5 sq. miles 76.8 sq. miles 40 sq. miles 43.7 sq. miles 

Total General Fund Budget $319,600,000 $556,500,000 $222,400,000 $267,123,939 $494,417,726 $493,900,00 

       

Staff Level 2.00 FTE 21.30 FTE 13.00 FTE 1.00 FTE Not provided. 29.25 FTE 

       

Annual Operating Budget*  $587,872 $5,066,866 $2,376,310 $1,970,000 $9,000,000 $4,975,964 

Public Art Funding $128,000** $325,100 $351,040 $150,000 $152,000 Not provided. 

Grant Program Funding $242,000 $364,500 $0 $150,000 $150,000 $110,995 

Per Capita Funding for the Arts $6.94 $34.78 $35.54 $8.71 $59.00 $31.25 

       
 

*Annual Operating Budget combines all funds including the public art and grants budgets.  This also includes facility operations 
or subsidies, if any. 
 
**Public art funding calculations for the City of Boulder fluctuates dramatically from year to year.  To provide more comparable 
data, this figure is calculated as an approximate average derived from 5 years of data. 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 103

Attachment A

Packet Page 281



 

100 
 

APPENDIX FOUR, continued. 
 
Summary of Findings from the Benchmarking Study by Cultural Planning Group 

                                                           
32 The Creative Vitality™ Suite was designed and developed by WESTAF, a regional nonprofit arts service organization, experienced research 
organization, and developer of technology solutions for the arts.  Information is available at www.cvsuite.org.  

 

Context – A Benchmarking Study  
by Cultural Planning Group 
 
As an integral part of developing the cultural plan for Boulder, a cohort of six communities was 
examined from across the country sharing certain characteristics with Boulder.  They are small 
to mid-sized municipalities with large state universities (for the most part).   They range in size 
from 66,900 to 243,000 or so.  Three are in Colorado and were chosen based on perceptions of 
their arts and culture amenities and municipal support.   Additionally, the communities chosen 
for benchmarking generally have profiles of being progressive communities with values similar 
to Boulder. 

The benchmarking research was an opportunity to ask “how do we compare to other places like 
us?”  In approaching this research, there were two different approaches utilized.  One was basic 
research on the support for arts and culture in each community. Questions posed included:  
What role do these communities play in supporting the arts?  What form does that support take?  
What is their level of arts and cultural funding?  What role do they play in providing arts and 
cultural facilities?  The answers vary widely, with their individual approaches to arts and cultural 
support responding to the unique qualities of the community. 

Secondly, data from the CV Suite, a research product of WESTAF32

In addition to Boulder, the five communities studied are: 

 was utilized to understand 
the characteristics of the creative landscape – creative occupations, creative industries and the 
non-profit cultural industry. 

• Eugene, OR 
• Madison, WI 
• Tempe, AZ 
• Loveland, CO 
• Ft. Collins, CO 

 
Page 1 of 4 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 104

Attachment A

Packet Page 282

http://www.cvsuite.org/�


 

101 
 

Table 1:  Population and University Presence 

 

Population University 
University 

Enrollment 

Boulder, CO 103,166 University of Colorado 30,265 
Tempe, AZ 168,288 Arizona State University 83,301 
Madison, WI 243,344 University of WI-Madison 43,193 
Eugene, OR 159,190 University of Oregon 24,181 
Loveland, CO 66,859 

 
N/A 

Ft. Collins, CO 155,000 Colorado State University 31,725 
 

Support within the six communities, including Boulder, ranges from grants for arts and cultural 
organizations and individual artists, to support for facilities and public art programs.  All commit 
local tax dollars to support the arts, primarily through the general fund with the exception of 
Tempe, AZ where the programs are funded through a dedicated 1/10th of a cent sales tax for 
the arts.  This sales tax was a 10-year assessment, primarily focused on funding the capital and 
operating costs of the Tempe Center for the Arts. In some instances the municipalities own a nd 
operate cultural facilities.  In others they may subsidize local facilities.  Programming 
expenditures vary by municipality depending on local tradition. 

All five cities examined in here had active public art programs.  All public art programs are 
funded through the capital projects funds and four of the five are dedicated as 1% for art 
programs.  Eugene, OR is on any project over $50,000. 

Per capita funding of the arts by the municipality ranges from a low of $6.94 in Boulder to a high 
of $59.00 in Tempe, AZ.   Average per capita funding among the benchmark cities is $28.59 
and the median is $33.02. 

 

 

 

 

Page 2 of 4 

 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 105

Attachment A

Packet Page 283



 

102 
 

Table 2: Local tax-funded support for arts and culture 

 

Per Capita 
expenditure 

Grants for the 
arts 

Total Annual 
Budget, 

including 
facility 

funding/subsidy 

Public Art Program 

Boulder, CO  $6.94  $242,000 $587,872 $128,000 

Tempe, AZ  $59.00  $150,000  $9,000,000   $152,000  
Madison, WI  $8.71   $170,000   $1,970,000   $150,000  

Eugene, OR $31.25 $57,000 $4,975,000 1% capital 
$50K+ 

Loveland, 
CO  $35.54   $-     $2,376,310   $351,040  

Ft. Collins, 
CO  $34.78   $364,500   $5,066,866   $325,000  

In addition to examining the municipal support for non-profit arts, individual artists and public art, 
this study utilized data from the Creative Vitality Suite (CVSuite) from WESTAF, a research tool 
to examine and compare creative activity, both for-profit and non-profit, in benchmark 
communities. 
 
Data for this report was derived by approximating municipal boundaries through zip codes.  As 
a result, the population provided in the CVSuite for the communities examined may differ than 
the Census estimates, as zip codes stretch beyond municipal boundaries. 
 
The CV Suite draws from secondary sources including ESMI, the National Center of Charitable 
Statistics and the National Assembly of State Arts Agencies. 
 
A “Snapshot” report on Boulder is included in the Appendix of this plan that includes 
background on the source data. 
 
In a review of the CVSuite data, the findings regarding creative occupations the following: 

 
• It is notable that in nearly all instances the average and median wages in Boulder are 

higher (the highest in fact in most cases) - out of the 58 creative occupations examined 
through CVSuite, Boulder had the highest average and median wages in nearly 85% of 
occupations. 

• Of these six cities for comparison Boulder has the highest percentage of jobs in creative 
occupations, 8.85% of all jobs.  Five of the six cities are university towns (only Loveland 
does not have a public university). 

• Tempe, Boulder and Madison have nearly the same number of architects, though 
Boulder is much smaller than the other two communities (1/2 the population of Madison).  

Page 3 of 4 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 106

Attachment A

Packet Page 284



 

103 
 

 
  

• Boulder, perhaps not surprisingly, has the highest number of craft artists of the six cities. 

• Boulder has the highest number of artists though not the highest number of fine artists. 

• Boulder has the highest number of actors and musicians. 

• Boulder has the highest percentage of its population engaged in creative occupations of 
the comparison cities (slightly higher than Madison). 

It is a reasonable observation that Boulder for its population is highly engaged in creative 
activities as measured by creative workers, creative occupations and overall creative industries.  
Of the six cities examined, Boulder has a far more robust and vital creative economy 
 
Other notable data regarding Boulder and creative activity: 

• Between 2012 and 2013 there was an increase of 1% in total number of creative jobs in 
Boulder. 

• In 2013 the creative industries represented nearly $2.3B in industry sales. 

• In descending order, the five occupations with the greatest number of creative workers in 
Boulder are: 

o Photographers 

o Writers and authors 

o Musicians 

o Postsecondary teachers 

o Graphic designers 

 

Page 4 of 4 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 107

Attachment A

Packet Page 285



 

104 
 

 
APPENDIX FIVE 

 

Summary Findings from the  
Public Inquiry Process 
 
 
The Community Cultural Plan public inquiry was conducted online and on the streets from October – December 
2014 in a series of engagements that were collectively branded as “The Culture Kitchen”.  The priorities of this 
process were to a) hear from as wide and diverse a group as possible, b) to assemble a sample that was large 
enough to be convincingly valid, and c) establish measures that could be repeated and improved over the time 
horizon of the CCP. 
 
 
Culture Kitchen Inputs: 
 

1. Pop-up Events 

2. Onsite Interviews and Group Discussions 

3. Neighborhood Conversations 

4. MindMixer (The Recipe Box)  

5. Full Online Survey 

6. Intercept Survey 

 
Response: 
 

 25 Culture Kitchen Pop-up Events 

 Over 75 Onsite Interviews and Group Discussions 

 300+ Intercept Surveys 

 20+ Neighborhood Conversations, More Than 100 Participants 

 MindMixer Engagement: 1,132 Unique Visitors, 4,867 Page Views, 500+ Interactions 

 1,087 Respondents to the Full Online Survey in English and Spanish 

 Total Interactions Topped 2,000 

 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 108

Attachment A

Packet Page 286



 

105 
 

Respondent Profiles: 
 
 
 

Full Online Survey 
 

Gender Identification Age Education Race 
Identifiation 

 
Female = 68% 
Male = 32% 
PNTA = 0% 

 
Under 21 = 1% 
21-44 = 34% 
45-54 = 21% 
55-64 = 24% 
Over 65 = 17% 
PNTA = 3% 
 

 
High School  = 1% 
Some college = 5% 
Undergraduate = 40% 
Graduate Degree = 52% 
PNTA = 2% 
 

 
American Ind/Alaska = 0% 
Asian = 1% 
Black/Multi-racial = 3% 
Hispanic/Latino = 4% 
White = 84% 
PNTA   8% 
 

 

Income Range Professional in the Arts Volunteers at Arts or 
Cultural Orgs Engaged in the Arts 

 
Less than $50K = 22% 
$50K-$100K = 27% 
$100K - $250K = 33% 
PTNA = 18% 

 
Yes = 43% 
No = 55% 
Not Sure = 1% 

 
Yes = 23% 
No = 42% 
Sometimes = 35% 
 

 
Very = 47% 
Somewhat = 34% 
Mildly = 15% 
Not Really = 3% 
Not At All = 1% 
 

 

 
Intercept Survey 

 
Gender 
Identification Age Race 

Identifiation Residency 

 
Male = 28% 
Female = 63% 
PNTA = 9% 

 
Under 21 = 5% 
21-44 = 43% 
45-54 = 15% 
55-64 = 18% 
Over 65 = 17% 
PNTA = 2% 
 

 
American Ind/Alaska = 1% 
Asian = 3% 
Black/Multi-racial = 6% 
Hispanic/Latino = 4% 
White = 86% 
PNTA   0% 
 

 
Live and work in Boulder = 54% 
Only Live in Boulder = 20% 
Only Work in Boulder = 7% 
Live and Work Outside Boulder = 19% 

 
 
*PNTA = Prefer not to answer. 

 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 109

Attachment A

Packet Page 287



 

106 
 

 
 

“The Recipe Box” MindMixer Website 

 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 110

Attachment A

Packet Page 288



 

107 
 

Findings: Key Themes 
 
The resource of artists as an asset to Boulder: 

 Addressing affordable venues and spaces 
 Developing a city focus on arts and cultural activities/events 
 More support for individual artists  
 Authentically celebrating diversity 
 A focus on historic preservation 
 Addressing access and affordability ( housing, lifelong arts education 

 
Fostering involvement and support from the City government: 

 Funding (more than just The Dairy and BMoCA) 
 Communications 
 Cultural diversity 

 
Cultivating private sector support:  

 Venture capitalist community 
 Tech community 
 Foundations  

 
Creating an arts district in Boulder: 

 Collaborative spaces for artists to live/work 
 Performing spaces/rehearsal spaces 
 Use of existing building (industrial) 
 Multi-use 

 
Improved communications, artist collaborations and press coverage: 

 Community awareness  
 One source with all events, programming, opportunities, etc (currently there are 19 different sites but 

events-oriented) 
 Media relations 

 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 111

Attachment A

Packet Page 289



 

108 
 

Findings: What Do You Love About Boulder? 
 

 Open Spaces: Trails, outdoor sports, competitive sports environment 
 The Culinary Culture: past, present, and future.  
 Farm-to-table origins 
 Sustainability and support of local agriculture industry 
 The Independent Music Scene 
 Collaborative culture 
 Local venues 

 
What is your favorite cultural place or activity in Boulder? 
 

 Farmer’s market  
 BMOCA 
 NoBo Art District   
 Macky Auditorium 
 E-Town Hall  
 International film festival  
 Chautauqua summers  
 Dinner theater  
 Open Studio  
 The Dairy 
 The Bluegrass Festival 
 Dushanbe Teahouse  
 The Library 
 Story Slams 
 CU arts and cultural events 
 Visiting Denver for arts and cultural experiences  

 
 

 
 
 
 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 112

Attachment A

Packet Page 290



 

109 
 

Findings: Thoughts on Vision 
 
 
Some common themes arose when we asked people for the vision for Boulder’s culture and creative sector.  Below 
are samples that represent some of those ideas that came up frequently: 
 
 
 
 
  

“I would like for Boulder to value art as an integral 
aspect of our humanity and sense of wellbeing. And, 
to make art accessible to all, regardless of income.”  

 

“I would like to see more public art that represents 
the current, more educated and sophisticated art 
appreciators that live and work here.”  

 

“A more diverse and integrated representation of 
art; including African American, Hispanic, Jewish, etc. 
cultures.”  

 

“20 years ago Boulder was known as an ‘Arts’ city. I 
would love for Boulder to once again be known 
nationally as a community that is supporting and 
generating avant guard art. Having more festivals 
does not achieve this goal, the City needs to support 
artist living here and producing art.”  

 

“To create a culture of philanthropy for the arts,  If 
this could be encouraged, public / private 
partnerships could be established to fund some great 
art and culture in Boulder.” 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 113

Attachment A

Packet Page 291



 

110 
 

Findings: The Role of the City 
 
 
Respondents also answered the question of the municipal government’s role in some key ways: 
 
 
 
 
 
  

“The City should create more funding through 
taxation and partnership with private donors.”  

 

“It is within the best interests for Boulder for the city 
to value art as an integral part of our humanity, then 
plan and fund accordingly.”  

 

“It’s important for the City government to provide 
funding and structure such as initiatives and zoning 
changes to accomplish a new art and culture vision.”   

 

“Provide incentives for developing an arts/cultural 
district. City needs to motivate redevelopment that 
allows for arts spaces – finding spaces for all 
creatives, commercial as well as non-commercial.”  

 

“The city should connect people and geographic 
areas and provide the necessary ongoing support to 
ensure projects are completed. And, importantly, the 
city is in a unique position to encourage 
philanthropy.”  

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 114

Attachment A

Packet Page 292



 

111 
 

Findings: The Latino Perspective 
 
During the Culture Kitchen events, the CCP team put out a special call to the Latino community of Boulder.  Online 
and intercept surveys were distributed, and a special forum was held.  Below are some key results of that inquiry.   
 

 More representation for the Latino community in city government is needed. 
 Latino community marginalized from main Boulder community. 
 City treats events with “Latino agenda add-ons” rather than integrated into the events. 
 Want events which integrate all cultures and show “real” culture rather than the stereotypical.  
 Zoning is a significant issue when organizing neighborhood events. 
 Lack of cultural understanding within city communications. 
 A distinct split between Latino and White begins in middle school – there is a need to change the patterns.  
 Latino youth need space outside of school – access and affordability are issues. 
 Arts and cultural opportunities for youth is significantly lacking. 
 Creation of a family–oriented cultural center is a need – “Gathering places create understanding”. 
 The investigation of how the government can support culture in minority communities needs more time, 

resources, and tools to complete. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

“It’s a puzzle – Boulder is a beautiful place, but a 
contradiction at times.  There are so many good 
things: the natural wealth, everything is clean and 
safe, but we don't participate in it.  We are left on 
the outside; someone else owns it”. 

“Arts and culture for us is a way of life…it is in our 
everyday routines, part of all of our celebrations…we 
can share that with Boulder”.  

 
“Great events include the Latino Youth Conference 
and the Women’s Conference…they are life changing 
for some Latinos. 

 

“We need a voice…a champion in city government … 
someone who really knows the community and 
understands the needs. “ 

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 115

Attachment A

Packet Page 293



 

112 
 

Critical Insights 
 

 Respondents are creatively active, with almost all respondents indicating they participate in arts and 
cultural activities. 

 Both residents and non residents want to see better support of artists and arts and cultural nonprofits. 

 The majority of respondents cite more traditional modes of participation such as attending live 
performances, art galleries and shows, museums, and festivals.  Many want to see more arts and cultural 
activities within their own neighborhoods, and at non-traditional venues. 

 There is significant support for a tax increase to support arts and cultural activities. 

 There is a significant call to the city to increase their support arts and culture  

 
 
  
 
 
  

“I have a vision of a Boulder where artists are more 
involved and active in the planning and spending 
decisions.” 

 

“The best single feature of Boulder has been Pearl 
Street. It is walker friendly, and the collection of 
sidewalk cafes brings people out of the buildings. It's 
a great place to people watch.  I would love to see 
more participatory cultural activities in different 
parts of the city.” 

 

“I would like to feel like Boulder citizens and city 
Council hold and support art as a vital aspect of 
"what we value" and "who we are" as a culture, and 
to recognize that art is a valuable economic resource.  
There are so many talented people who call Boulder 
home.”  

 

Boulder is at a crossroads…needs to choose between 
being an “elite” destination or a unique creative 
community…it can’t be both.  

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 116

Attachment A

Packet Page 294



 

113 
 

Community Profile: Creative Activities 
 
76%   Took photographs 
68%   Read novels, sort stories, or poems 
67%   Cooked creative dishes or meals 
38%   Played a musical instrument 
33%   Danced socially or with a group 
31%   Made crafts such as jewelry, sewing, knitting, or quilting 
30%   Painted or drew pictures, or did print-making or collage 
21%   Wrote novels, short stories, or poems 
20%   Made videos, short films or animation 

   18%   Sung in choir, with a group, or solo 
18%   Worked with fiber arts such as knitting, sewing, embroidery 
14%   Made sculptures, woodwork, or ceramics 
11%   Made digital illustrations or 3-D digital art 
13%   Played live music or performed rap 
8%   Wrote music, composed lyrics 
7 %   Acted in plays, musicals, or theatre 
6%   Performed in storytelling events or poetry slams 
5%   Choreographed dance, ballet, modern, etc. 

 
Why do you take part in these activities? 
 

 
 
 
 
  

74% 

48% 

30% 

17% 

16% 

16% 

13% 

7% 

As a leisure activity or 
hobby on my own 

As a way to share time 
with friends or family  

 As a leisure activity 
through group 

workshops/classes 

As a professional artist 

 As a way to 
supplement my income 

 As a business 
professional working in 

the arts field 

 As an aspiring 
professional artist  

 I do not personally 
participate in creative 

activities 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 117

Attachment A

Packet Page 295



 

114 
 

Community Profile: Destinations 
 

Where do you get your culture? 

 

 
 
 
How do you rate cultural offerings in Boulder? 

 

 

80% 

65% 

62% 

61% 

61% 

59% 

54% 

41% 

34% 

29% 

25% 

18% 

75% 

58% 

52% 

48% 

52% 

54% 

51% 

30% 

32% 

22% 

7% 

12% 

Live performances at concert halls or theaters 

Art galleries, exhibits or crafts shows 

University-based arts or cultural events for the community 

 Museums (art, science, history, children’s, etc.) 

Arts events/activities at community centers, libraries, … 

Arts festivals (music, art, film, etc.) 

Live performances at non-traditional venues 

Festivals/celebrations in my neighborhood 

Food festivals 

Ethnic or cultural festivals (e.g. African American, Hispanic) 

Arts or cultural events for children or teenagers 

Creative co-working or "maker spaces" 

Resident 

Non Resident 

2% 2% 2% 4% 
8% 10% 7% 13% 

16% 18% 
17% 

28% 

44% 
46% 48% 

41% 

30% 24% 26% 
14% 

Variety Availability  Quality Affordability  

Excellent 
Good 
Adequate 
Fair 
Poor 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 118

Attachment A

Packet Page 296



 

115 
 

Community Profile: Desires 
 
What would you like to see more of in Boulder? 
 

 
 
What are the most important things for the city to support? 
  

 

41% 

39% 

39% 

38% 

36% 

32% 

30% 

30% 

29% 

27% 

28% 

23% 

26% 

36% 

41% 

44% 

33% 

34% 

28% 

30% 

24% 

29% 

29% 

22% 

Festivals/celebrations in my neighborhood 

Arts festivals (music, art, film, etc.) 

Live performances at non-traditional venues 

Live performances at concert halls or theaters 

 Museums (art, science, history, children’s, etc.) 

Creative co-working or "maker spaces" 

Art galleries, exhibits or crafts shows 

Arts or cultural events for children or teenagers 

Arts events/activities at community centers, libraries, places 
of worship, etc. 

Food festivals 

Ethnic or cultural festivals (e.g. African American, Hispanic) 

University-based arts or cultural events for the community 

Resident 

Non 
Resident 

63% 

51% 

41% 

41% 

41% 

36% 

69% 

53% 

45% 

32% 

40% 

37% 

 Support nonprofit arts and 
cultural organizations 

Support artists in Boulder 
(live/work space, 

rehearsal/performance space) 

Support after-school and 
summer arts/cultural programs 

for children 

Support public art projects 

Support more arts and cultural 
events and activities 

Support arts and cultural 
programming for adults and 

families 

Resident 

Non Resident 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 119

Attachment A

Packet Page 297



 

116 
 

Community Profile: Support from the City 
 
I would support additional funding for city programs. (Residents Only) 
 

 
 
 
The City of Boulder should… (Residents Only) 
 

 
 

70% 

52% 

49% 

14% 

24% 

18% 

5% 

8% 

13% 

6% 

10% 

14% 

5% 

6% 

6% 

$10 Annually 

$15 Annually 

$20 Annually 

Very Favorable 

Somewhat Favorable 

Somewhat 
Unfavorable 

Not at all favorable 

Don't know 

33% 

47% 

15% 

1% 

4% 

fully support and expand arts and 
cultural opportunities 

play a major part in supporting and 
expanding arts and cultural 

opportunities 

play a small part in supporting and 
expanding arts and cultural 

opportunities 

Not at all support and expand arts and 
cultural opportunities 

Not sure 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 120

Attachment A

Packet Page 298



 

117 
 

Intercept Survey Results: Findings 
 
What should the city support? 
 

 
 
 
I would support additional funding for city programs. (Residents Only) 
 

 
 

 

62% 

50% 

49% 

47% 

36% 

33% 

51% 

57% 

48% 

32% 

38% 

36% 

Support artists in Boulder (live/work space, 
rehearsal/performance space, affordable 

housing) 

Support after-school and summer 
arts/cultural programs for children/youth 

Support nonprofit arts and cultural 
organizations (facilities, funding) 

Support more arts and cultural events and 
activities 

Support public art projects 

Support arts and cultural programming for 
adults and families 

Resident 

Non resident 

5% 8% 13% 
22% 

37% 
24% 

73% 

56% 
63% 

$10 Annually $15 Annually $20 annually 

Very Favorable 

Somewhat Favorable 

Not at all favorable 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 121

Attachment A

Packet Page 299



 

118 
 

APPENDIX SIX 
 

Comparison of Public Art Programs in Colorado page 1 
 
 
 

 
City Funding Mechanism Eligible Projects 

Fort Collins 

Benchmark Budgets 

Standard Percent for Art 1% of CIP; Over $250,000; 
Artists added to projects of 
$50,000 - $250,000 at the 
discretion of PM. 

2013-2014= $272,232.00 
(Calculated Biennially) 

Lakewood Standard Percent for Art 
 

1% of CIP; New Projects Only 2013= $41,000  
2014= $45,000 

Littleton General Fund Includes capital funds, 
operating revenue, 
donations, etc. 

2013= $69,475.00  
2014= $71,778.98  

Loveland Pooled Percent for Art (at 
least 1% stated in ordinance) 

CIP; Over $50,000 excl 
engineering, admin, fees, 
permits, and indirect costs; 
excl special impr. districts.  

2013= $273,501.00   
2014= $607,120.00  
2015= $351,040.00 

Vail Private Fee and Tax 
Increment 

Real Estate Transfer Tax  
(set amount) 

 Approx. $80,000/year 

    

 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 122

Attachment A

Packet Page 300



 

119 
 

Comparison of Public Art Programs in Colorado, page 2 
 

Type Funding Pros Cons Models 
1. Traditional 

Percent-for-art  
 

A portion (typically 1% - 3%) of 
the construction budget of 
municipal capital improvement 
projects is set aside from the 
project budget for the purposes 
of commissioning public 
artworks.  In most cases, a 
threshold amount is set; for 
instance the rule might apply 
only for projects that have a total 
budget of more than $50,000.00. 

• Protected politically 
over the long term. 

• Public is invested in 
founding the program. 

• Palatable implications 
to tax rates. 

• Could be applied to 
utilities spending to 
increase capacity. 
 

• Funding will be 
inconsistent over time. 

• Funding is typically low, 
and projects few, for 
our size city. 

• Project sites only 
associated with their 
source construction 
projects.  
 

Denver,  
Longmont,  
Ft. Collins,  
Grand Junction.  

2. Public Benefit / 
Private Mandate 

 

Private developers are required 
to set aside a portion of 
commercial projects to acquire 
artwork for public display.  Often, 
additional rules are included such 
as a threshold budget, or the 
stipulation that the owner may 
contribute the amount to a pool 
which is spent by public 
commissioning. 

• Adds a source of 
funding and projects to 
build a critical mass of 
artworks. 

• Adds a tool for fulfilling 
public benefit 
requirements. 

• May not be palatable 
to developers. 
 

Aurora  
(in addition to 
traditional  
percent-for-art).  
 

3. Percent-for-art 
Pooled 

Rather than being derived 
directly from CIP project budgets, 
the funds are calculated 
according to the budgets of CIP 
projects, and then transferred 
from the general fund into a 
pooled account.  Funds are then 
spent based on a strategic plan, 
rather than solely based on an 
association with the CIP project 
site.  Note: transportation and/or 
Parks and Recreation projects 
may be exempted from the rule. 

• More flexible budgets 
and sites. 

• Projects can be 
distributed 
geographically in a 
more strategic way, 
rather than only 
adjacent to city 
buildings. 

• Possibly less politically 
stable. 

• Requires complex 
budgeting and analysis, 
and risks incomplete 
calculations. 

Loveland. 

4. General Fund An account within the city 
budget, derived from the general 
fund or some other reliable 
source, is assigned to the 
commissioning of public art.  In 
many cases the amount is 
determined by a formula, such as 
a percentage of the total general 
fund. 

• Offers flexibility for the 
implementation of a 
strategy over short 
periods of time. 

• Most precarious in 
terms of sustainable 
funding.   
 

Co Springs. 

5. Private Fee or Tax 
Increment 

A specific allocation derived from 
an incremental tax or fee is 
transferred to a special account.  
For instance, a portion of the fees 
on permits or a portion of the 
seat tax for a convention or 
theater district can be applied to 
commissioning public art. 

• Offers a complimentary 
funding mechanism 
that can bolster a 
standard model. 
 

• May not be palatable 
to those impacted by 
the fees or taxes. 
 

Wheat Ridge. 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 123

Attachment A

Packet Page 301



 

120 
 

APPENDIX SEVEN  
 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, 2015 Update 
 
As the Community Cultural Plan process comes to a close, the city begins its five-year cycle of updating 
the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan.  This document impacts all city planning efforts, and will include 
a significant relationship with the Community Cultural Plan: both in giving direction for, and receiving 
inspiration from, this cultural vision and strategy.   Staff of the Office of Arts + Culture will update this 
appendix document to give detail on those aspects of the 2015 update of the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan that impact the cultural sector and creative economy. 
 

 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 124

Attachment A

Packet Page 302



 

121 
 

APPENDIX EIGHT  
 

KNIGHT SOUL OF THE COMMUNITY STUDY  
 
Knight Soul of the Community – Summary of Findings by Community  
(http://knightfoundation.org/sotc/findings/boulder/, August 26, 2015) 

 
 

Boulder, Colo. 
 
The information in our study covers the Boulder, Colo., Metropolitan Statistical Area. 
 
In each community, the Knight Soul of the Community study identified factors that emotionally attach 
residents to where they live. Some of these community characteristics that drive attachment were 
rated highly by residents, and are therefore community strengths while others were rated lower, 
making them opportunities for improvement. This information can provide communities a roadmap for 
increasing residents’ emotional attachment to where they live, which the study found has a significant 
relationship to economic vitality. 
 
Attachment to the Boulder area is trending higher in 2010.  Residents’ passion for the Boulder area is 
significantly higher and residents’ ratings of it being the perfect place to them is significantly higher in 
2010. 
 
In the Boulder area, social offerings (entertainment infrastructure, places to meet people), aesthetics 
(an area’s physical beauty and green spaces) and openness (how welcoming a place is) are the most 
important factors emotionally connecting residents to where they live. 
 
Aesthetics is perceived as a community strength. Parks and trails were rated significantly higher in 
2010. 
 
Openness, particularly to racial and ethnic minorities and social offerings, particularly residents caring 
about each other remain areas needing improvement.  
 
Perceptions of the local economy and safety significantly improved; however, neither were key drivers 
factors in attaching residents to the area. 
 

Knight Soul of the Community 2010: Boulder Implications 
 
The purpose of Knight Soul of the Community is to provide communities a roadmap for understanding 
what attaches residents to their community and why it matters – not to be prescriptive on what 
communities should do with the information. However, the findings do point to some general 
implications and suggestions, some of which the community may be already undertaking, or provide 
new opportunities for consideration.  
 
 

Page 1 of 3  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 125

Attachment A

Packet Page 303

http://knightfoundation.org/sotc/findings/boulder/�
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Boulder_County,_Colorado�


 

122 
 

 
Like the other 25 communities studied in Soul of the Community, Boulder’s key attachment drivers are 
social offerings, aesthetics and openness. However, it is not as simple as identifying best practices in 
each of these areas and replicating them everywhere.  Instead, as the name implies, Soul of the 
Community encourages a conversation about a community’s soul or essential essence as a place around 
these key drivers. Some possible questions to ask are: What is it about our aesthetics/social 
offerings/welcomeness that is unique to our community? Where do we excel or struggle in those areas? 
Using that information to optimize those drivers to encourage resident attachment—and potentially 
local economic growth – is what Soul of the Community seeks to accomplish. 
 
Attachment to Boulder has increased during the three years of the study.  This finding alone helps to 
demonstrate that attachment to place is about more than jobs and the economy.  The things that most 
attach residents to the area – social offerings, openness and aesthetics – and the general rating of these 
areas by residents have remained basically unchanged during all three years of the study. 
 
A consistent and clear strength of Boulder in the eyes of its residents is the area’s parks, playgrounds 
and trails which are rated similarly to the natural beauty of the area, due to a significant jump in the 
rating of parks, playgrounds and trails in 2010. Ratings of aesthetics in the Boulder area far surpass 
those in its comparison communities, which includes high-performing coastal communities. This is a 
central strength the community should leverage. 
 
An additional strength is Boulder’s relatively high ratings of welcomeness to young talent.  In 2009, 
young talent was perceived as significantly more welcome than the year before, and this gain was 
maintained in 2010.  Boulder was one of the very few communities studied that had a significant 
increase in perceived welcomeness to young talent in any year of the study. This important and unique 
momentum is critical to maintain. 
 
Despite having higher ratings than its comparison communities, social offerings remains a challenge area 
for Boulder, particularly the perception that residents care about each other.  This must be addressed as 
social offerings are particularly important to young people. 
 
Additionally, the community’s perceived openness is another challenge area, despite its gains with 
young talent.  Although residents rate it as fairly welcoming to young adults, young families and gays 
and lesbians, it has lower ratings in welcomeness to all other groups.  For attachment to continue to 
grow and for people to want to come and stay in Boulder, all residents must feel welcomed there. 
 
Clearly, Boulder has made unique and significant gains in recent years in feeling like a welcoming place 
for young talent.  This finding coupled with its upward trending levels of attachment position Boulder as 
a community on the rise if it can maintain and even improve this momentum. The community should 
market its clear strength in aesthetics and welcomeness to young talent as a hallmark differentiator 
between it and comparable communities. 
 
 

Page 2 of 3 

 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 126

Attachment A

Packet Page 304



 

123 
 

 
Additionally, creating social offerings that take advantage of the aesthetics is warranted. The community 
should continue to provide arts and cultural opportunities and social community events, but it should 
focus more on using them to build resident caring in the community. For example, have the young 
professionals lead a series of community events in the arts district or along the riverfront or beach so 
they can volunteer their professional expertise to other groups in the community (tax help for young 
families, English as second language service for new local citizens, showcasing local bands, etc.). This will 
improve perceptions of openness to all while also potentially improving the perception of residents 
caring for each other. 
 

Page 3 of 3 

 

Full study: http://knightfoundation.org/sotc/.  

 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 127

Attachment A

Packet Page 305

http://knightfoundation.org/sotc/�


 

124 
 

APPENDIX NINE: VISION ELEMENTS DEFINED 
 

Cultural Vitality 
What does it mean for a community to be “culturally vital”?  More than a mere measure of economic factors or a 
count of destinations, vitality is a perspective that examines community through the health and resiliency of the 
many facets of creativity expressed by, and consumed by, the people there.  
 
First, we all fall into categories, or roles, of participation: 
 
 

 
 

The size of the circle, though not a corollary to data, represents the relative size of the population that is 
participating as described.  Thus: the deeper the participation, the smaller the population. 

 
Next, culture affects our lives in several places: at home, at work, in a classroom, in our “third places”, in a 
museum, gallery, studio, or performance venue, or in the public realm. 
 
Finally, the creative activity in our lives is delivered to us from different sources: from non-profit museums, venues, 
and organizations, from for-profit businesses, from the media and entertainment industry, from educational 
institutions, from the support provided by government, from friends and neighbors, from religious institutions, 
from social clubs and organizations, from individual artists, from within. 
 
 
 

Passive Civic Beneficiary  
of Public Culture  

Audience Member / Attendee  
of Cultural Programs 

Member / Consumer / 
Philanthropist 

Volunteer / Partner / 
Hobbyist 

Creative 
Professional 

Thought 
Leader 

Artist 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 128

Attachment A

Packet Page 306



 

125 
 

Cultural vitality, then, is the health and resiliency of each category of our personal interaction with culture:  
 

 Our category of participation,  
 The places we live, play and work,  
 And the source from which we get our culture. 

Not only do we discover that, given the depth and variety of ways we all participate, that cultural vitality has an 
effect on every person who lives in, works in, or visits Boulder.  It is also a concept for which we all have a role to 
play.  However, it demands specificity: the depth of participation, the variety of places and sources, indicates the 
degree to which an individual has responsibilities to the rest of the community.   
 
Another valuable definition of Cultural Vitality comes from The Urban Institute and their 2006 study, Cultural 
Vitality in Communities: Interpretation and Indicators.   
 

Cultural vitality is the evidence of creating, disseminating, validating, and supporting arts and culture as a 
dimension of everyday life in communities.  
 

The authors go on to write that this definition: 
 

… recognizes arts and cultural participation as valuable on its own terms and also integral to everyday life, 
community dynamics, and community conditions.  It recognizes that arts and culture are also resources that 
come out of communities rather than merely resources that are “brought to” communities from the outside. 
Arts and cultural activity is no longer thought of as only for special occasions. 33

 
 

The Cultural Vitality in Communities study divides cultural vitality into three “domains”: 1) the presence of 
opportunities for cultural participation, 2) participation itself, and 3) support for cultural participation.34

 
 

Thus, the examination, measurement, and designing of programs from the perspective of cultural vitality lead us to 
think about the whole.  Rather than actions taken from an isolated or specialized perspective, we will contemplate 
the many facets of any decision.  The Community Cultural Plan, and the city’s strategies, will be successful when 
enhancing the full spectrum of cultural vitality.  The vision of transforming Boulder to a place where culture is an 
essential ingredient to everyday life can only be accomplished with this approach to breadth and depth. 
  

                                                           
33 Jackson, Maria Rosario et. al., Cultural Vitality in Communities: Interpretation and Indicators, (12-14, The Urban 
Institute, 2006) 
34 Jackson, Maria Rosario et. al., Cultural Vitality in Communities: Interpretation and Indicators, (12-14, The Urban 
Institute, 2006)  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 129

Attachment A

Packet Page 307



 

126 
 

Creative Identity 
There are cities where culture has long been closely associated with the “personality” of the people and 
place: the set of associations and expectations that one has when thinking about that city.  In short, a 
city’s cultural brand.  We think of New York, Chicago, L.A.: big cities that provide the inescapable gravity 
of cultural activity.  Yet we also think of Taos, Marfa, and Ann Arbor.  The spectrum and variety of cities 
that are centers of cultural leadership are diverse.  

Identity for a city is an extension of this concept of personality.  In one sense, identity is a process by 
which an individual may come to know Boulder.  This process contains four steps: 

 

 

An individual comes to hear about Boulder through stories: a set of inputs.  They have heard Boulder 
casually mentioned on the news as the location of a Federal agency; Boulder is featured in a television 
show as the backdrop for a story; they see an advertisement from a Boulder company or organization; 
someone tells them about the groovy time they had there when they passed through in the Sixties.  
From these inputs, a set of expectations is established.  Everyone knows, and expects, that Boulder is a 
place for natural beauty, innovative science and technology, or healthy living.  Next they directly 
experience Boulder by visiting or working in the city.  The expectations are confirmed or refuted.  Their 
memories of time in the city come next.  Will these memories be extraordinary and inspiring?  The 
stories they tell others contribute to how Boulder’s identity is perpetuated.   

It is by examining our impact on all four aspects that we can strategically improve identity.   

stories 

expectations experiences 

memories 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 130

Attachment A

Packet Page 308



 

127 
 

Identity also has a local aspect; the people who live in Boulder also equally impacted by the identity.  
Though the sequence of building this identity may be more fluid, the components are the same.  Inputs 
include community conversations, the local media, and government speech.  The experience may be 
more developed, adding neighborhoods, schools, and places of worship to the restaurants and cultural 
destinations.  The stories they tell are more personal, emotional, and impactful.   

To achieve the vision, we all can contribute to each step in the process of building identity.  This is not to 
say that we all will speak with one voice; the diversity of our opinions is a positive part of our identity.   
Rather, we all must align our actions and our words to have a cumulatively positive effect. 

 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 131

Attachment A

Packet Page 309



 

128 
 

Vibrant Environment 
Vibrancy in the urban environment is important to Boulder residents.  Though much of the reason we all 
chose Boulder was the remarkable natural environment that is so tantalizingly close to the city, the 
sensibility that draws us to the mountain-side compels us to pay close attention to the way we build.  
Add to this desire for beauty and meaning in the public realm a sense of responsibility: Boulder is a place 
where ideas about the best and most productive way to build a city is a central part of conversation.  It 
is clear that we must all partner to meet the demand for a beautiful, interesting, meaningful, and vibrant 
urban experience. 
 
For Boulder’s culture, a vibrant environment has several components: a) a beautiful visual environment, 
b) cultural destinations, c) street-level culture, d) a welcoming and robust set of social offerings, e) 
distracting “third places”, f) activity at the neighborhood level, and g) the ability to creatively impact our 
city. 
 

Visual Environment – The Flatirons and foothills are tough competition for our urban spaces.  Always 
visible from anywhere in town, our natural backdrop is the focus of how our city looks.  And, for that 
we are so very lucky.  This fact compels us to consider strongly the aesthetic of our public spaces 
and neighborhoods.  Yet, our ideas on what comprises beauty are diverse and sometimes 
contradictory.  Thus, the focus on how to create a beautiful city is best considered with a healthy 
dose of diversity, discussion, and disagreement.   
 
Cultural Destinations – Far more than simple tourist traps, our many museums, galleries, 
performance stages, movie theaters, music halls, festivals, and outdoor venues have long been a 
part of what we love about Boulder.  The participation of Boulder residents as members, volunteers, 
and visitors to these cultural destinations is more robust than in many comparable communities, 
demonstrating their importance to our city’s vibrancy.35

 

  These venues and events also provide a 
certain capital of contemporary practice and innovative thought leadership that has the potential to 
influence the national conversation on the arts.   

Street-level Culture – Though our destinations are important, it is increasingly a fact that cultural 
consumers are looking for a wider variety of experiences.  This is especially true of the younger 
generations that are emerging into the cultural marketplace.  They no longer desire the conclave of 
cultural expertise that is represented by the white-cube of the gallery as their sole creative outlet.  
People find value in the portfolio of options that are available: in museums and theaters, yes.  But, 
also in coffee shops, on street corners, in shops, in parks, in unexpected places.  This “street-level 
culture” is already established in Boulder, and has every opportunity to develop and thrive. 
 
Social Offerings – Beyond the portfolio of street-level culture, there is a significant desire for direct 
participation in the creative exercise.  Participants are no longer content with simply sitting in the 
audience, observing culture at a distance.  They desire interaction, education, and impact.  This fact 
has complicated the traditional model.  For instance, membership in a cultural organization is no 
longer a simple exchange to support in important institution.  Rather, the leaders of these venues 

                                                           
35 Community Cultural Plan Survey 2014 – See Appendix IV.5 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 132

Attachment A

Packet Page 310



 

129 
 

must engage people directly on the level of their own creative interests.  This national trend of 
increasingly complex social offerings needs thoughtful consideration in the conditions of Boulder’s 
culture. 
 
Third Places – Home is our “first place”, work our “second”.  Ray Oldenberg, in his book The Great 
Good Place, calls our attention to “third places”: where we gather for community.  These may be 
coffee shops, barbers, pubs, diners, fitness clubs, parks, or libraries.  Oldenberg;s work included 
several characteristics of third places: 

 
• Are free or inexpensive, 
• Food and drink, while not essential, are important, 
• Are highly accessible, usually within walking distance of home or work, 
• Have regulars – those who habitually congregate there, 
• Are welcoming and comfortable, and 
• Both new friends and old can be found there.36

   
 

To add to his list, many third places have a creative component.  Whether you enjoy the work of a 
local chef, tap your feet to live music while you sip your coffee, chat about your new favorite author, 
or admire a local artist on the walls of your recreation center: for many their third place is also their 
best access to local culture.  Third places are thus an ideal calculation of the health of a city’s 
environmental vibrancy.  Boulder appears to be quite healthy by this measure. 
 
Neighborhoods – Our attention about cultural offerings tends to concentrate in city centers, retail 
zones, and municipal campuses.  Yet, this does not make residential neighborhoods cultural deserts.  
Gatherings in local parks, religious institutions, neighborhood schools, and block parties are places 
where cultural experiences are frequent.  In addition, most cultural activity happens in the home.  
By any measure (numbers of participants, economic spending, etc) the home amateur, hobbyist, or 
even creative professional working from home have the greatest influence on cultural vibrancy.  In 
Boulder this is especially true, where people are working from garages and basements on 
photography, creative writing, visual art, cooking, gardening, contemplative arts, and other creative 
pursuits in remarkably large numbers.37

 
 

Creative Impact – Not content to keep our creativity confined to the garage or basement studio, 
Boulder residents have long desired to express themselves in the public realm.  Sharing their 
inspiration with neighbors may take many forms: caring for a community garden, building a “little 
library”, painting a mural on a fence, volunteering one’s creative skills for a school or community 
group.  It is our desire that the vibrancy of Boulder’s urban environment include easy ways for us to 
creatively express ourselves.   

 
 

 
 
  

                                                           
36 Shantanu Ganguly and P. K. Bhattacharya Vision 2020: Looking Back 10 Years and Forging New Frontiers (2013, The 
Energy and Resources Institute). p. 217. 
37 Community Cultural Plan Survey 2014 – See Appendix IV.5 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 133

Attachment A

Packet Page 311



 

130 
 

APPENDIX TEN: SUSTAINABILITY FRAMEWORK & PRIORITY BASED BUDGET 

Community Cultural Plan:  
Connections to the City of Boulder Sustainability Framework 
 
 
The City of Boulder uses the “Sustainability Framework” as a tool to guide staff and City Council for 
budget decisions.  These “priorities” were set in 2010 during an extensive community engagement 
process, and are used in a system of evaluation called “Priority Based Budgeting”. 
 

 
 
Below is a chart which describes the connections between each element of the Sustainability 
Framework, a concept in the Community Cultural Plan, and the applicable Cultural Plan Strategy. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 134

Attachment A

Packet Page 312



 

131 
 

Sustainability Framework Element Connection Community Cultural Plan Strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

Safe 
Community 

Communities that gather for cultural 
activities know their neighbors, and 
check up on eachother.  These 
connected neighborhoods are 
demonstrably safer.  The Creative 
Neighborhoods program will promote 
opportunities for that gathering. 

Emphasize Culture in 
Neighborhoods and 

Communities 

Healthy & 
Socially 
Thriving 

Community 

Opportunities for creative expression 
are a part of community health that is 
offered by the variety of cultural 
organizations that call Boulder home.  
The Office of Arts + Culture will 
encourage that facet of community 
health.  Strategy One: 

Support Our 
Cultural 

Organizations The variety and diversity of social 
offerings, and the degree to which they 
are a welcoming part of eveyday life, is a 
priority for the programs of the Office of 
Arts + Culture. 

Support Our 
Cultural 

Organizations 

The Office of Arts + Culture views 
programs for creative professionals 
broadly, advocating for the type of 
urban environment and activities that 
these talented people demand from 
their community. 

Support Artists 
and Creative 
Professionals 

The young people who wish to enter the 
creative industries are the cultural 
leaders of tomorrow, and will lead a 
socially thriving community full of 
creative opportunities; the Office of Arts 
+ Culture will invest in the long game. 

Engage Our Youth 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 135

Attachment A

Packet Page 313



 

132 
 

Sustainability Framework Element Connection Community Cultural Plan Strategy 
 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

  

 

Livable 
Community 

The urban environment comes alive for 
our residents when public spaces are 
thoughfully filled with arts experiences.  
The Office of Arts + Culture will lead a 
variety of aesthetic offerings, including 
through the commissioning of public art 
on a civic scale. 

Reinvent our  
Public Art Program 

Cultural Organizations and practicing 
artists add vibrancy to the social offerings 
that are critical infrastructure for city life.  
Our community will build a foundation of 
livability, and thus attachment to 
Boulder, on the programs offered by 
these creative leaders. 

Support Our 
Cultural 

Organizations 

Support Artists and 
Creative 

Professionals 

Our community clearly desires more 
cultural experiences in their 
neighborhoods, and among underserved 
communities.  The Office of Arts + Culture 
will mobilize programs to places where 
municipal cultural services do not often 
reach. 

Emphasize Culture 
in Neighborhoods 
and Communities 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 136

Attachment A

Packet Page 314



 

133 
 

Sustainability Framework Element Connection Community Cultural Plan Strategy 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Accessible & 
Connected 
Community 

The Office of Arts + Culture will respond 
to the community call for an elevated 
conversation around culture by 
implementing robust public engagement 
for all its programs, facilitating a healthy 
civic dialog about the arts, and ensuring 
that this is done in an accessible way. 

Advance Civic 
Dialog, Awareness, 
and Participation. 

Environmentally
Sustainable 
Community 

A challenge to pedestrian and bicycle 
commuting are “visual deserts”.  The 
public art program will include initiatives 
to create interesting places that 
encourage alternatives to single-
occupancy vehicle commuting. 

Reinvent our 
Public Art Program 

Incentives for businesses in the creative 
economy will be paired with the 
environmental requirements that will 
demonstrate how our community of 
creative industry leaders are providing 
community benefit across our 
community’s list of priorities. 

Enhance the 
Vitality of the 

Creative Economy 

By incentivizing and encouraging 
cultural activity in the neighborhoods, 
the grass-roots communication and 
programming around environmental 
sustainability, so vibrant in Boulder, can 
be specifically targeted and accelerated. 

Emphasize Culture 
in Neighborhoods 
and Communities 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 137

Attachment A

Packet Page 315



 

134 
 

Sustainability Framework Element Connection Community Cultural Plan Strategy 

 

 

  

Economically 
Vital 

Community 

Many programs that the Office of Arts + 
Culture offers to the creative businesses 
and professionals are specifically 
designed to protect our advanced 
position as a regional leader in this 
important economic sector. 

Create and 
Enhance Venues 

Enhance the 
Vitality of the 

Creative Economy 

Support Artists and 
Creative Professionals 

Tourism in Boulder is complemented by a 
powerful and innovative mix of 
exhibitions, performances, events and 
festivals.  The Office of Arts + Culture will 
support the organizations that are 
creating this portfolio of remarkable 
experiences for our visitors. 

Support Our 
Cultural 

Organizations 

Good 
Governance 

Pubilc inquiry is a guiding principal in all 
aspects of the work of the Office of Arts + 
Culture, ensuring that meaningful and 
accessible engagements on decisions 
making are integrated into leadership. 

Strategy Seven: 
Advance Civic 

Dialogue, 
Awareness, and 

Participation. The work of the Office of Arts + Culture 
includes deep and systematic research 
tools, exploring the ways in which 
cultural groups, individuals, and 
businesses are changing over time in how 
culture is created and consumed. 

Advance Civic 
Dialogue, 

Awareness, and 
Participation. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 138

Attachment A

Packet Page 316



 

135 
 

APPENDIX ELEVEN: STATE ARTS AGENCY FACT SHEET 
 
Note: this document contains the “advantages” of operational support as referenced above. 
 

 
Page 1 of 2 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 139

Attachment A

Packet Page 317



 

136 
 

 Page 2 of 2 

  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 140

Attachment A

Packet Page 318



 

137 
 

APPENDIX TWELVE: NETWORK OF DATA and REFERENCES 
 
 
In addition to the resources that appear as appendices, below are links to documents or information 
referenced in the Community Cultural Plan. 
 

 City of Boulder Sign Code:  https://bouldercolorado.gov/plan-develop/sign-code. 
 

 City of Boulder Civic Area Vision and Master Plans: https://bouldercolorado.gov/civic-
area.  

 
 City of Boulder Office of Economic Vitality: 

https://bouldercolorado.gov/business/economic-vitality  
 

 “Purposes of a Creative District” Colorado Creative Industries Creative District Program 
at a Glance http://www.coloradocreativeindustries.org/communities/colorado-creative-
districts/about-creative-districts (State of Colorado Office of Economic Development: 
Colorado Creative Industries, 9/1/2015) 
 

 Knight Soul of the Community Study http://knightfoundation.org/sotc/ (Knight 
Foundation, 2010)  

 
 Living Wage Index for Boulder County http://livingwage.mit.edu/counties/08013  (Dr. 

Amy K. Glasmeier and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2015)   
 
 The Dairy Center Honors https://tickets.thedairy.org/Online/Honors (9/1/2015) 

 
 Cultural Vitality in Communities: Interpretation and Indicators by Maria Rosario Jackson, 

et al.  (http://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/alfresco/publication-pdfs/311392-
Cultural-Vitality-in-Communities-Interpretation-and-Indicators.PDF, The Urban Institute, 
9/1/2015) 
 

 Sperling’s Cost of Living Index for Boulder, Colorado 
http://www.bestplaces.net/cost_of_living/city/colorado/boulder (9/2/2015) 

 
 Boulder County Trends Report Community Foundation of Boulder 

http://www.commfound.org/trendsmagazine (9/3/2015) 
 
 The Economic Value of Cultural Diversity: Evidence from US Cities by Gianmarco I.P. 

Ottaviano and Giovanni Peri (Journal of Economic Geography, January 2006) 
http://joeg.oxfordjournals.org/content/6/1/9.full  

 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 141

Attachment A

Packet Page 319

https://bouldercolorado.gov/plan-develop/sign-code�
https://bouldercolorado.gov/civic-area�
https://bouldercolorado.gov/civic-area�
https://bouldercolorado.gov/business/economic-vitality�
http://www.coloradocreativeindustries.org/communities/colorado-creative-districts/about-creative-districts�
http://www.coloradocreativeindustries.org/communities/colorado-creative-districts/about-creative-districts�
http://knightfoundation.org/sotc/�
http://livingwage.mit.edu/counties/08013�
https://tickets.thedairy.org/Online/Honors�
http://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/alfresco/publication-pdfs/311392-Cultural-Vitality-in-Communities-Interpretation-and-Indicators.PDF�
http://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/alfresco/publication-pdfs/311392-Cultural-Vitality-in-Communities-Interpretation-and-Indicators.PDF�
http://www.bestplaces.net/cost_of_living/city/colorado/boulder�
http://www.commfound.org/trendsmagazine�
http://joeg.oxfordjournals.org/content/6/1/9.full�


 

138 
 

 
 
Below are links to the network of data which describe Boulder’s culture.  These are studies that, though 
not directly related to the content of the Community Cultural Plan, are none-the-less critical to 
understanding the broad context in which the issues of culture and the creative economy are best 
understood. 

 
 Economic Activity Study of Metro Denver Culture by the Colorado Business ‘ 

Committee for the Arts (November 2014) 
http://cbca.org/programs/economic-activities-study/  
 

 Arts & Economic Prosperity IV by Americans for the Arts (June 2012) 
http://www.americansforthearts.org/by-program/reports-and-data/research-studies-
publications/arts-economic-prosperity-iv  

 
 Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (October 2015) 

https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan  
 
 Economic Impact of Tourism by the Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau 

http://www.bouldercoloradousa.com/includes/content/images/media/docs/2014-RRC-
Tourism-Economic-Impcat-Visitor-numbers-2013.pdf (March 2014)  

 
 Top 100 Places to Live Study by the Livability and the Initiative for Creativity and 

Innovation in Cities  http://www.livability.com/co/boulder (September 2015) 

 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 142

Attachment A

Packet Page 320

http://cbca.org/programs/economic-activities-study/�
http://www.americansforthearts.org/by-program/reports-and-data/research-studies-publications/arts-economic-prosperity-iv�
http://www.americansforthearts.org/by-program/reports-and-data/research-studies-publications/arts-economic-prosperity-iv�
https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan�
http://www.bouldercoloradousa.com/includes/content/images/media/docs/2014-RRC-Tourism-Economic-Impcat-Visitor-numbers-2013.pdf�
http://www.bouldercoloradousa.com/includes/content/images/media/docs/2014-RRC-Tourism-Economic-Impcat-Visitor-numbers-2013.pdf�
http://www.livability.com/co/boulder�


 

139 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
www.boulderarts.org 

 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 143

Attachment A

Packet Page 321



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: November 17, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE:  Discussion and input on the proposed 2016 State and Federal 
Legislative Agenda 

PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Carl Castillo, Policy Advisor 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The purpose of this item is to allow council to review and provide input on the city’s 
proposed 2016 State and Federal Legislative Agenda (the “2016 Agenda,” Attachment 
A). Proposed substantive policy changes from the 2015 Agenda are summarized below 
and reflected with strike-through and double-underline formatting. 

Once approved, the 2016 Agenda will be available to present to the city’s state legislative 
delegation at a breakfast scheduled for Dec. 18, 2015 and to its congressional delegation 
during a visit to Washington D.C. anticipated sometime next year. The 2016 Agenda will 
also provide individual council members and city staff with authority to advocate on 
behalf of the city for the stated positions as opportunities arise during the rest of this year 
and throughout 2016. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Economic - City lobbying efforts have and are expected to continue to contribute
to the city’s economic sustainability goals. In 2016, this is expected to include
advocating for continued funding for the University of Colorado Boulder and the
federally funded laboratories in Boulder.

• Environmental - City lobbying efforts have and are expected to continue to
contribute to the city’s environmental sustainability goals. In 2016, this will

Agenda Item 6A     Page 1Agenda Item 6A     Page 1Packet Page 322



include efforts to ensure implementation of EPA’s Clean Power Plan and to 
encourage widespread adoption of electric and efficient motorized vehicles. 

• Social - City lobbying efforts have and are expected to continue to contribute to
the city’s social sustainability goals. In 2016, this is expected to include 
advocating for an increased minimum wage.  

OTHER IMPACTS 

• Fiscal - The proposed 2016 Agenda includes several positions that would protect
the city’s financial resources, including those that would lead to state and federal
assistance for flood disaster recovery and mitigation expenses and that would
protect the city’s workers compensation and retirement system. In terms of
financial outlays, the city anticipates renewing contracts for lobbying services
with the following consultants:

o Smith Dawson & Andrews – Approximately $40,000/year for city-specific
representation before Congress and the federal executive branch.

o Headwaters Strategies, Inc. – Approximately $48,000/year for city-
specific representation before the Colorado General Assembly and the
state executive branch.

o Grayling – Approximately $23,340/year for the city’s portion of a contract
for federal representation of the US 36 Mayors and Commissioners
Coalition.

• Staff time - Creation of a legislative agenda, and devoting time to advance it, is
part of staff’s approved work plan.

COUNCIL LEGISLATIVE COMMITTEE FEEDBACK 

Council’s Legislative Committee (Mayor Pro Tem Jones and Council Members 
Karakehian and Weaver, the “Committee”) met on July 30th and again on Sept. 15th to 
review and provide input on the proposed 2016 Agenda. The Committee recommended 
several changes, all which have since been incorporated into the proposed 2016 Agenda 
under consideration by council. The one exception was related to a suggestion to 
advocate for a state requirement for mobile home parks to provide individual water 
meters to each homeowner. Staff’s preliminary research has indicated that such change in 
state law may be unnecessary and that the city could require such individual metering by 
ordinance. 

It is important to note that the Committee spent time considering the addition of two 
positions to the agenda, both which it eventually decided not to add. The first related to 
the ongoing effort to reform construction defects legislation. The Committee concluded 
that existing information was still insufficient to determine that current law discouraged 
construction of condominiums in Boulder or that protecting arbitration provisions in the 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 2Agenda Item 6A     Page 2Packet Page 323



governing documents was the best way to remove that obstacle. The second position 
related to the “Homeless Right to Rest Act,” which was proposed in 2015 and is expected 
to be reintroduced in 2016. The Committee had concerns with this legislation but 
determined it was best for the city to not take a position until and unless such legislation 
was introduced and only after further council discussion informed by the political 
necessities, or lack thereof, for the city to involve itself in this controversial discussion.  

BACKGROUND 

The 2016 regular session of the Colorado General Assembly is scheduled to convene on 
Jan. 13, 2016. Each legislator is allowed to introduce five bills. The deadline for 
legislators to request their first three bills is Dec. 1, 2015. Unless “late bill” status is 
granted, all bills must be introduced no later than Jan. 29, 2016. 

In order to develop the proposed 2016 Agenda, modifications from the city’s 2015 
Agenda were made. In making these modifications, several considerations were taken 
into account, including: 

1. A review of the 2015 state legislative session;
2. A review of the 1st session of the 114th Congress;
3. Input from city staff and council’s legislative committee, and;
4. Discussions with the city’s regional partners

ANALYSIS 

Most of the changes made to the 2016 Agenda reflect minor refinements of existing 
positions, deletions of provisions no longer relevant or updated facts to support existing 
positions. The following changes to the city’s 2016 State Legislative Priorities, however, 
are important to highlight: 

1) Preamble – Made a connection between the city’s pragmatic 2016 goals and
its more ambitious long term goals.

2) Clean Power Plan Rule – Replaced general language related to energy
legislation with specific opposition to efforts to undermine implementation of
the Clean Power Plan Rule.

3) Tax Credits for Electric Vehicles - Replaced general language related to
electric and efficient motorized vehicles with specific language in support of
making existing tax credits for electric vehicles transferable.

4) Bus on Shoulder for US 36 - Added new position in support of allowing US
36 BRT vehicles to use “Bus on Shoulder” for local service.

5) Minimum Wage - Maintained support for increasing the minimum wage.

Agenda Item 6A     Page 3Agenda Item 6A     Page 3Packet Page 324



6) Photo Traffic Enforcement - Maintained support for protection of local
government authority to use photo traffic enforcement.

7) Water Rights - Maintained opposition to threats to city’s water rights.

ATTACHMENTS  

Attachment A – Proposed 2016 Agenda, substantive policy revisions reflected 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 4Agenda Item 6A     Page 4Packet Page 325



 
 

 
 

           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

2016 

Proposed  

Nov. 17, 2015  

 

State and Federal 
Legislative Agenda 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 5Packet Page 326



 
 

 
Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 6Packet Page 327



 

 
 
  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 7Packet Page 328



 
 

 
 
  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 8Packet Page 329



 

 
 

 
CONTACTS 

 
City Council 

NAME/ADDRESS CURRENT TERM CONTACT INFORMATION 
Matthew 
Appelbaum 
200 Pawnee Drive 
Boulder, CO  80303 

Began 
11/19/2013 

Expires 
11/21/2017 

303-499-8970  
appelbaumm@bouldercolorado.gov 

Aaron Brockett 
1601 Yellow Pine Ave 
Boulder, CO 80304 

Began 
11/17/2015 

Expires 
11/19/2019 

303-913-1025 
brocketta@bouldercolorado.gov 

Jan Burton 
852 11th Street 
Boulder, CO 80302 

Began 
11/17/2015 

Expires 
11/21/17 

214-632-6289 
burtonj@bouldercolorado.gov 

Suzanne Jones 
1133 6th Street 
Boulder, CO  80302 

Began 
11/17/2015 

Expires 
11/19/2019 

720-633-7388  
joness@bouldercolorado.gov 

Lisa Morzel 
2155 Poplar Avenue 
Boulder, CO  80304 

Began 
11/17/2015 

Expires 
11/19/2019 

303-815-6723   
lisamorzel@gmail.com   

Andrew Shoemaker 
1064 10th St. 
Boulder, CO 80302 

Began 
11/19/2013 

Expires 
11/21/17 

303-332-8646 
shoemakera@bouldercolorado.gov 

Sam Weaver 
2423 23rd Street 
Boulder, CO 80304 

Began 
11/19/2013 

Expires 
11/21/17 

303-416-6130 
weavers@bouldercolorado.gov 

Mary Young 
1420 Alpine Ave 
Boulder, CO 80304 

Began 
11/19/2013 

Expires 
11/21/17 

303-501-2439 
youngm@bouldercolorado.gov 

Bob Yates 
3820 Cloverleaf Drive 

Began 
11/17/2015 

Expires 
11/19/2019 

303-884-8891 
yatesb@bouldercolorado.gov 

 
 
City Manager 
Jane S. Brautigam 
303-441-3090 
brautigamj@bouldercolorado.gov 
 

City Attorney 
Tom Carr 
303-441-3020 
carrt@bouldercolorado.gov 
 

Policy Advisor 
Carl Castillo 
303-441-3009 
castilloc@bouldrecolorado.gov

Mailing Address  
P.O. Box 791, Boulder, 
CO 80306 

 
 

Physical Address 
1777 Broadway, Boulder, 
CO 80302 
 
 

Legislative Website 
bouldercolorado.gov/policy-
advisor/state-federal-
legislative-matters 
  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 9Packet Page 330



 

 
 

 
  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 10Packet Page 331



 

 
 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
PURPOSE OF THE LEGISLATIVE AGENDA ........................................................ 5 

2016 STATE LEGISLATIVE PRIORITIES AT A GLANCE ................................... 7 

2016 FEDERAL LEGISLATIVE PRIORITIES AT A GLANCE ............................. 8 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND COMMUNITY RESILIENCE ....................................... 9 

• Preserve and support the ability of local governments to engage in climate action 
efforts ........................................................................................................................................ 9 

• Facilitate access to renewable energy ............................................................................... 9 

• Expand the development of climate change adaptation strategies ................................ 10 

• Enhance customer energy choice ..................................................................................... 10 

• Increase public access to energy data .............................................................................. 10 

• Support energy utility and regulatory enhancements .................................................... 11 

• Increase energy efficiency ................................................................................................ 12 

• Encourage more widespread adoption of electric and efficient motorized vehicles ....... 12 

• Support reform of Property Assessed Clean Energy (PACE) Finance statutes to allow 
for resumption of Boulder County’s ClimateSmart Loan Program (CSLP) .......................... 13 

• Promote waste reduction and diversion efforts ............................................................... 13 

• Support improvements to the Colorado Oil and Gas Conservation Commission’s 
oversight of oil and gas drilling and preservation of local control to adopt regulations, 
moratoriums or other limits as necessary ............................................................................. 14 

• Federal and state support for building community resilience ........................................ 16 

DEMOCRACY AND GOVERNANCE ....................................................................... 17 

• Support for an amendment to the U.S. Constitution abolishing corporate personhood 17 

• Support General Assembly action to submit to the Colorado electorate a referred 
measure to reform the current process for citizen-initiated constitutional and statutory 
amendments by altering the signature collection requirements and requiring a 
supermajority voter approval for constitutional amendments, except for those measures 
that look to amend previous voter-approved constitutional amendments; and requiring for 
a time a supermajority approval by the General Assembly to change citizen-initiated 
statutory amendments ........................................................................................................... 17 

ECONOMIC VITALITY .............................................................................................. 18 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 11Packet Page 332



 

2 
 
 
 
 

• Protect core provisions of the Colorado Urban Renewal law, which provide effective 
redevelopment tools for municipalities such as tax increment financing and eminent 
domain .................................................................................................................................... 18 

• Support continued funding and support for the federally funded labs located in Boulder
 18 

• Support facilitating the ability of municipalities to enter into revenue sharing 
agreements ............................................................................................................................. 20 

HOUSING ..................................................................................................................... 20 

• Oppose federal efforts to reduce appropriations for HUD Public Housing and Section 8 
programs which provide rental assistance to low-income households .................................. 20 

• Oppose federal reductions to Community Development Block Grant program and 
HOME Investment Partnerships ........................................................................................... 20 

• Support for state housing trust fund ............................................................................... 21 

• Support legislation that helps address the power imbalance between owners of mobile 
homes and owners of mobile home parks .............................................................................. 21 

HUMAN SERVICES/HUMAN RIGHTS ................................................................... 22 

• Support comprehensive federal immigration reform ...................................................... 22 

• Protect unaccompanied children immigrating into the United States ........................... 23 

• Increase the minimum wage ........................................................................................... 24 

• Oppose further cuts to state funded health and human service programs, especially 
those that are preventive in nature ....................................................................................... 24 

INTERNAL ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS .......................................................... 25 

• Protect workers’ compensation system ........................................................................... 25 

• Protect governmental immunity...................................................................................... 25 

• Oppose changes that could unnecessarily result in increased contributions or force a 
reduction in benefits for members of the Public Employees Retirement Association (PERA)
 26 

LOCAL CONTROL ...................................................................................................... 27 

• Oppose threats to local control and home rule authority ............................................... 27 

NATURAL RESOURCES, WILDLIFE AND PARKS ............................................ 27 

• Protect the ability of local governments and the land trust community to acquire and 
protect parks and open space ................................................................................................. 27 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 12Packet Page 333



 

3 
 
 
 
 

• Support state legislation furthering implementation of the city’s Urban Wildlife 
Management Plan .................................................................................................................. 28 

• Support to address the city’s emerald ash borer infestation .......................................... 29 

• Support  restoration of local government authority to regulate certain pesticide uses 
and for additional protections for pollinators, human health and water quality ................. 29 

• Support efforts that protect the boulder community from wildfire and promote 
ecological forest health ........................................................................................................... 30 

PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY ............................................................................. 31 

• State and federal assistance for flood disaster recovery needs and expenses ................ 31 

• Support for safe use and commercial regulation of recreational marijuana .................. 32 

• Support removal of barriers that prevent legitimate marijuana businesses to access 
banking services ..................................................................................................................... 32 

• Promote health and safety concerns associated with alcohol abuse in the greater 
community .............................................................................................................................. 32 

• Close the federal gun show loophole................................................................................ 33 

• Oppose expanding the application of the “make my day” law beyond personal 
residences ............................................................................................................................... 33 

• Oppose legislation limiting the state’s ability to regulate concealed weapons or local 
government’s ability to restrict possession of weapons in public facilities ........................... 33 

• Oppose mandates for local government enforcement of federal immigration laws ....... 34 

• Oppose infringements on employment and personnel decisions made by municipal 
police and fire departments ................................................................................................... 34 

• Oppose imposition of onerous information gathering and reporting requirements on 
public safety, especially when those requirements come with substantial costs that are not 
supported by adequate funding.............................................................................................. 34 

• Increase the financial threshold of property damage that triggers a police investigation 
of non-injury traffic accidents ................................................................................................ 35 

• Oppose limitations on municipal authority to operate red light or photo radar cameras 
to enforce traffic safety ........................................................................................................... 35 

ROCKY FLATS ............................................................................................................ 36 

• Support funding for the Department of Energy for the Office of Legacy Management 
and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service in order to manage Rocky Flats as a national wildlife 
refuge with the appropriate systems in place for long term stewardship ............................ 36 

TAX POLICY ................................................................................................................ 36 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 13Packet Page 334



 

4 
 
 
 
 

• Support the Market Fairness Act and other action to preserve and expand the 
authority of local governments to collect taxes ..................................................................... 36 

TELECOMMUNICATIONS ....................................................................................... 37 

• Reestablish the right of municipalities to provide telecommunication services such as 
large and complex city-wide fiber and premise networks ..................................................... 37 

TRANSPORTATION .................................................................................................. 37 

• Increase transportation funding and prioritize its expenditure on projects that 
maintain existing infrastructure, are multimodal in design and that otherwise promote 
smart growth .......................................................................................................................... 37 

• Realign the Colorado Transportation Commission to include population, not just 
geography, to ensure fair representation of the metropolitan area ...................................... 39 

• Promote “Complete Streets,” accommodating all modes of travel .................................. 39 

• Oppose limitations on the city’s ability to regulate vehicle use on sidewalks, multi-use 
pathways, and bike lanes, or that requires the city to alter its current code in order to 
maintain current policy on allowed uses of those facilities ................................................... 39 

• Oppose transfering the maintenance responsibilities for regional highways from the 
Colorado Department of Transportation to local governments ............................................. 39 

• Support flexible solutions and new funding opportunities to address impacts of train horn noise and 
support creation of quiet zones ..................................................................................................... 40 

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO................................................................................. 40 

• Support a renewed commitment by the state and federal governments to fund the 
University of Colorado and its capital programs ................................................................... 40 

WATER .......................................................................................................................... 41 

• Support legislation that promotes the efficient utilization and conservation of water . 41 

• Oppose significant threats to the city’s water rights ...................................................... 41 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 14Packet Page 335



 

5 
 
 
 
 

PURPOSE OF THE LEGISLATIVE AGENDA  
 
The purpose of the city’s 2016 State and Federal Legislative Agenda (the “Legislative 
Agenda”) is to formalize city positions on legislation expected to be considered by the 
Colorado General Assembly and the U.S. Congress. The city offers the Legislative Agenda as 
a guideline to legislators for reference when considering legislation impacting the City of 
Boulder. Strategic, targeted, and/or abbreviated versions of the information contained in this 
agenda will also be created throughout the year for use in further legislative 
communications. 
 
The Legislative Agenda was developed in advance of the convening of the 2016 Colorado 
General Assembly and the 115th U.S. Congress. Consequently, it does not address legislation 
by bill number. Instead, it describes the underlying interest the city has on specific issues. 
With the coordination of the city’s Policy Advisor, it will be used by individual council 
members and city staff to inform city positions taken on specific bills once these legislative 
sessions begin. At that point, council may also consider amendments to the Legislative 
Agenda and address specific bills that have been proposed. 
 
The city often attempts to influence state and federal policies through other avenues, beyond 
the legislative agenda, such as by submitting comments on administrative rulemakings or 
“sunset” reviews of expiring legislation, or by making direct appeals to federal and state 
administrative officials. While the Legislative Agenda is not designed to direct such action, it 
can be looked toward as a resource to inform such city efforts. 
 
Council may revisit the Legislative Agenda at any point. It may do so as a body, or through 
its Legislative Committee. Council created this committee for the purpose of convening on an 
ad hoc basis with the Policy Advisor and other city staff as necessary when one or more of the 
following circumstances exist: 
 
1. There is an immediate need for council members to participate with staff in developing a 

legislative strategy to advance or defeat a bill which is clearly addressed by the city’s 
legislative agenda or other council-approved policy documents, or; 

 
2. There is action expected on pending legislation that affects a matter which council has 

previously provided general direction on and that could significantly impact the city, but 
which council did not provide sufficient specific direction on (either through its legislative 
agenda or other approved policy documents) and with timing that will not allow for 
council direction to be obtained. In these limited situations, the Policy Advisor may turn 
to the committee for direction on such legislation so that the city can advocate 
accordingly. Council is to be informed whenever such committee direction has been 
provided, and may choose to subsequently revisit such direction.  

 
Council’s Legislative Committee is also turned to during non-legislative periods to provide 
suggestions on revisions to the legislative agenda and to plan agendas for meetings with 
legislators. 
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 15Packet Page 336



 

6 
 
 
 
 

As has been done in years past, council is again adopting a goal that modifications to this 
legislative agenda require consistency, when applicable, with the six criteria described below: 
   
1. Uniformity with current city council goals;  
2. Expected relevance in the upcoming or present state and federal legislative sessions;  
3. Uniqueness of issue or impact to the City of Boulder;  
4. Viability, or likelihood of achieving goal;  
5. Opportunity for providing funding for City of Boulder; and,  
6. High probability of metrics of success in order to allow the position to be deleted from 

future agendas if achieved. 
 
Departures from these criteria are made in unique circumstances as determined by council, 
such as when adoption of a city position is important to support its regional partners, even 
while the legislation is otherwise of limited consequence to the city. 
 
The city welcomes the opportunity to discuss the city’s Legislative Agenda. Please direct any 
questions to City Council members or to the city’s Policy Advisor at 303-441-3009. 
 
  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 16Packet Page 337



 

7 
 
 
 
 

2016 STATE LEGISLATIVE PRIORITIES AT A GLANCE   
 
The city expects to adopt and communicate positions on dozens of state bills during 
the 2016 state legislative session. The six positions listed below, however, address 
the bills that the city expects to focus the bulk of its limited resources and political 
capital on. These priorities are selected not only due to their importance to the city 
but because related legislation is expected to be introduced in 2016 and involvement 
of the city and its legislative delegation could be determinative to their outcome. The 
priorities take into account the expected political realities of the upcoming session 
and accordingly are first and foremost pragmatic. Nevertheless, they are considered 
important in their own right and are also considered incremental steps that will 
create support in future years for some of the city’s more ambitious legislative goals. 
 

1. Oppose state legislation aimed at undermining the implementation of EPA’s 
Clean Power Plan Rule, including those that would create a requirement for 
General Assembly approval of the state’s plan. More on this position can be 
found at page 11. 
 

2. Modify the existing state tax credit for electric vehicles by allowing them 
to be transferable, thereby creating new financing opportunities (e.g., leases, 
performance contracting, etc) and/or allowing public sector agencies to take 
advantage of the credits (i.e., 100% refundable in the absence of tax liability). 
More on this position can be found at page 12. 
 

3. Support legislation allowing US 36 BRT vehicles to use “Bus on Shoulder” 
for local service.  
 

4. Support state legislation that results increasing the minimum wage to 
$10.10 an hour and/or allows municipalities the authority to adopt minimum 
wage requirements higher than the federal and state standards. The city’s 
reasoning for this position is described on page 24.  

 
5. Preserve the authority of local governments to use red light cameras or 

photo radar enforcement. Page 35 describes how these tools are used by the 
city and their importance to the public’s safety.  
 

6. Protect against significant threats to the city’s water rights, especially 
those allowing for out-of-priority, un-augmented well use in the South Platte 
basin. Page 41 describes the negative impact to the city of permitting such use. 

 
  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 17Packet Page 338



 

8 
 
 
 
 

2016 FEDERAL LEGISLATIVE PRIORITIES AT A GLANCE 
 

1. Seek federal support for Boulder’s federally funded labs and the University of 
Colorado Boulder. As described further on pages 18 and 40, these institutions 
are foundational to the economic and cultural well being of the city. 
 

2. Support legislation necessary to seek state and federal assistance for flood 
disaster recovery needs and expenses described further on page 31.    
 

3. Continue to brief federal officials on the city’s municipalization efforts and 
seek support as necessary, while positioning Boulder as a national pilot for 
building a resilient electricity system, adopting distributed generation and 
implementing aggressive demand-side initiatives, as explained further on page 
9 of the agenda. 

  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 18Packet Page 339



 

9 
 
 
 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND COMMUNITY RESILIENCE 
 

• PRESERVE AND SUPPORT THE ABILITY OF LOCAL 
GOVERNMENTS TO ENGAGE IN CLIMATE ACTION EFFORTS 

 
Preserve and support the ability of local governments to develop and implement effective 
energy strategies that reduce environmental impacts by:  
 

o Forming their own energy utilities;  
o Enhancing the right of local governments to condemn electric assets at fair market 

value while opposing utility efforts to seek lost revenues  
o Securing access to information from regulated utilities of designated 

undergrounding funds and communitywide energy information relevant to climate 
action programs;  

o Facilitating local government purchases of street lighting; and, 
o Funding local government energy efficiency and renewable energy programs.  

 

• FACILITATE ACCESS TO RENEWABLE ENERGY 
 
Facilitate access to renewable energy by:  
 

• Allowing for aggregation of residential or commercial electric customers in municipal 
purchase of renewable energy on behalf of these groups of customers (a.k.a. 
community choice aggregation);  

• Reinstating the federal production tax credit for wind energy which was allowed to 
expire at the end of 20134; 

• Extending the 30 percent federal investment tax credit for solar energy for residential 
projects and maintaining the 30 percent tax credit for commercially-owned projects 
(including projects owned by commercial developers but installed on residential 
rooftops);  

• Allowing mobile home owners to receive the same rebates and incentives for 
installation of solar panels as are available to other homeowners;  

• Establishing a small state level carbon tax with proceeds used to fund renewable 
energy projects as well as transmission and distribution system improvements that 
enable additional deployment of renewables and energy efficiency measures; 

• Supporting federal policies that establish a price on carbon emissions domestically as 
well as internationally;  

• Removing the 120 percent cap on net metered generation; and, 
• Allowing customer access to diverse solar options through a variety of well-designed 

and equitable policies (including net metering, feed-in tariffs, “value of solar” tariffs, 
or minimum bills) that fully recognize the value of local solar.  

 
  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 19Packet Page 340



 

10 
 
 
 
 

• EXPAND THE DEVELOPMENT OF CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION 
STRATEGIES 

 
The city understands that the early impacts of climate change have already appeared and 
that scientists believe further impacts are inevitable, regardless of decreases to future global 
greenhouse gas emissions. In addition, the city recognizes that decisions we make today 
about land use, infrastructure, health, water management, agriculture, biodiversity and 
housing will have lasting consequences. It is therefore important to begin planning now for 
the impacts of climate change in the future. Consequently, the city supports legislation that 
expands the development of climate change adaptation strategies such as those that initiate, 
foster, and enhance existing efforts to improve economic and social well-being, public safety 
and security, public health, environmental justice, species and habitat protection, and 
ecological function. 
 

• ENHANCE CUSTOMER ENERGY CHOICE 
 
Enhance the energy choices available to customers by:  
 

o Making any necessary changes to the community solar gardens law (HB10-1342) 
to allow for its successful implementation, especially with regard to facilitating 
formation of smaller (500 kW and under) solar gardens, and enabling local 
ownership of wind and solar gardens above and beyond ERP requirements and 
without incentives, if a community chooses;  

o Enacting time-of-day electricity price signals that would, among other things, 
promote charging of vehicles at night;  

o Requiring statewide lighting, appliance and other equipment efficiency standards 
and/or incentives, as appropriate, for efficient technologies;  

o Facilitating peer-to-peer customer sharing of electricity generation through 
strategies like enhanced virtual net metering or microgrid development;  

o Allowing local governments to develop regional energy networks that implement 
energy efficiency programs with direct funding from utilities; and, 

o Precluding utilities from imposing excessive charges onto their customers for net 
metering of distributed renewable energy generation, customer-sited combined 
heat and power systems, or on-site energy recapture systems. 

 

• INCREASE PUBLIC ACCESS TO ENERGY DATA 
 
Increase the public’s access to energy data by:  

o Standardizing regulated utility filings to increase transparency at the PUC and 
requiring all PUC discovery to be publicly available and filed in machine-readable 
formats; 

o Promoting best practices related to energy data, such as adoption of the Green 
Button Program by regulated utilities;  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 20Packet Page 341



 

11 
 
 
 
 

o Facilitating the development of a third-party demand-side management program 
implementer;  

o Facilitating the development of an energy data center or energy statistics branch 
within a state energy agency to produce data sets related to research and 
policymaking; 

o Enabling regulated utilities to provide aggregated whole-building data to building 
owners and property managers for use in building benchmarking and energy 
efficiency improvements; and, 

o Creating an exception to the Colorado Open Records Act that confirms the ability 
of local governments to protect customers’ energy data when they participate in 
local energy efficiency programs. 

 

• SUPPORT ENERGY UTILITY AND REGULATORY ENHANCEMENTS 
 
Support energy utility and regulatory enhancements by:  
 

o Requiring utilities to file grid modernization plans with commitments to 
distribution grid upgrades and targets that facilitate energy efficiency,  and 
renewable energy, and grid-connected energy storage;  

o Changing the Public Utilities Commission regulations to encourage investments 
in conservation by replacing the current focus on minimization of energy rates to 
one focusing on minimization of the consumer’s total energy bill;  

o Unbundling rates to clearly differentiate fixed and variable energy costs;  
o Facilitating the use of investor–owned transmission lines at fair and reasonable 

prices to convey renewable energy from multiple sources (a.k.a. retail wheeling). 
o Encouraging the Public Utilities Commission to consider comprehensive 

performance-based regulation for utilities, which would compensate them based 
on providing customer choice and satisfaction, reliability and resilience, and 
reduced carbon emissions, as opposed to applying traditional cost of service 
concepts. 
 

The city also supports legislation similar to HB12-1234 that would clarify that, for purposes 
of the rules governing intervention in administrative hearings before the Colorado Public 
Utilities Commission (PUC), customers of a business regulated by the PUC qualify as 
persons who "will be interested in or affected by" the PUC's order. 
 
In 2015, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) finalized rules designed to reduce 
carbon emissions from coal-fired power plants across the country. Known collectively as the 
Clean Power Plan, they require each state to develop a plan to meet new source performance 
standards and emission guidelines for both new and existing electric generating units and to 
submit those plans to the EPA by the summer of 2016. The city supports Governor 
Hickenlooper’s intentions to implement this plan through the Colorado Department of Public 
Health and Environment. The city will oppose any state legislation aimed at undermining 
this implementation, including laws that would create a requirement for General Assembly 
approval of the state’s plan. 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 21Packet Page 342



 

12 
 
 
 
 

• INCREASE ENERGY EFFICIENCY 
 

• Increase energy efficiency by establishing high performance residential and 
commercial building codes. At the state level, encourage the adoption of at least 
the 2012 version of the International Energy Conservation Code (IECC). 

• Allow local governments to develop regional energy networks that implement 
energy efficiency programs 

• Facilitate development of a third-party demand-side management program 
implementer 

• Facilitate the development of outcome-based and net zero energy codes. 
• Reinstate the energy-efficient commercial and residential buildings federal tax 

deductions that expired at the end of 2013. 
 

• ENCOURAGE MORE WIDESPREAD ADOPTION OF ELECTRIC AND 
EFFICIENT MOTORIZED VEHICLES 

 
Metropolitan Denver and the northern Front Range were classified as a "marginal" ozone 
nonattainment area by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency effective July 20, 2012. 
The city supports legislation that would decrease the amount of air pollutants, including 
greenhouse gas emissions, resulting from the use of motorized vehicles. While the primary 
approach will always be to encourage alternative modes of transportation that reduce vehicle 
miles travelled, the city will also support legislative change that reduce energy use and 
emissions of air pollutants from vehicles, specifically legislation that:  
 

o Modifies existing state tax credit for electric vehicles making them transferable in 
order to create new financing opportunities (e.g., leases, performance contracting, 
etc) and/or to allow public sector agencies to take advantage of those credits (i.e., 
100% refundable in the absence of tax liability); 

o Uses existing “Alternative Fuels Colorado Program” state funding to ensure the 
development of a network of strategically located public fast-charging stations 
along the state’s major corridors, irrespective of whether they are co-located with 
compressed natural gas stations; 

o Modifies current “HOV Exemption Program,” which provides owners of 2,000 low-
emission and energy efficient vehicles free access to high-occupancy-toll lanes, to 
limit the exemption to three years per vehicles and to allocate the new permits to 
only the owners of the most energy efficient vehicles, which should be updated 
periodically. 

o Requires the state’s vehicle registration database to be structured to allow local 
governments to have access to fuel efficiency information of the vehicles registered 
in their jurisdiction;   

o Provides Colorado counties the option to implement a revenue-neutral system that 
imposes higher vehicle registration fees on the purchase of less efficient vehicles 
and rebates on the purchase of more efficient vehicles (assuming social equity 
concerns can be concerned);  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 22Packet Page 343



 

13 
 
 
 
 

o Supports the adoption of the next phase (post-2025) of federal vehicle efficiency 
standards for light duty vehicles and of the next phase (post 2016) of federal 
efficiency standards for medium and heavy duty vehicles; 

o Requires a percentage of vehicles sold in Colorado to meet “zero emission vehicle 
standards,” as enacted in California (requires 15% of vehicles sales to be ZEV by 
2025) and subsequently adopted by nine other states;  

o Increases state biofuel infrastructure and develop a statewide biofuels strategy, 
and;  

o Encourages the proliferation of public charging stations for electric vehicles by 
requiring new parking lots and parking structures to provide a minimum number 
of public charging stations. 
 

• SUPPORT REFORM OF PROPERTY ASSESSED CLEAN ENERGY 
(PACE) FINANCE STATUTES TO ALLOW FOR RESUMPTION OF 
BOULDER COUNTY’S CLIMATESMART LOAN PROGRAM (CSLP) 

 
The city has been an active supporter of Boulder County’s PACE finance program, the CSLP. 
Many city residents have taken advantage of the CSLP to secure low-interest loans to make 
energy efficiency and renewable energy upgrades to their homes. However, actions taken in 
2010 by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Federal Housing Finance Agency have forced 
local governments across the country, including Boulder County, to suspend their PACE 
financing programs. The city supports reversal or resolution of these federal actions, either 
through legislation or regulation, to allow PACE programs to again move forward. If such 
federal action is taken, the city would also urge the Colorado General Assembly to quickly 
take any action necessary to conform Colorado’s PACE enabling statutes with the new 
federal requirements.  
 

• PROMOTE WASTE REDUCTION AND DIVERSION EFFORTS 
  
In Colorado, there are currently no statewide minimum waste diversion goals. In addition, 
there exist artificially inexpensive landfill tip fees and no minimum recycled content 
standards. This often makes the most environmentally responsible management practices 
like source reduction and recycling and composting cost prohibitive. The city supports 
statewide legislation that would: 
 

o Encourage product stewardship and take-back programs (a.k.a. “extended 
producer responsibility”);  

o Ban specific materials;   
o Require post-consumer minimum content standards for product manufacture;  
o Implement statewide or regional landfill tip fee surcharges to be used for waste 

reduction;  
o Create tax credits to encourage source reduction, recycling and composting, and 

markets for recycled materials, and;  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 23Packet Page 344



 

14 
 
 
 
 

o Establish a statewide waste diversion goal structured to include incentives and 
assistance programs to spur waste diversion state-wide, and encourage additional 
resource recovery.  

 
While the city opposes "waste to energy" technologies involving trash incineration or 
incentivizing landfilling for the sake of energy creation, the city supports energy capture 
from anaerobic digestive technologies at composting and wastewater treatment plants. The 
city also supports energy production from the organic matter portions of the waste stream 
that would otherwise end up in a landfill if not used to make energy or energy products.  
Examples of this type of beneficial use include woody construction and demolition waste and 
yard or food waste that is not able to be otherwise diverted from landfilling and can be used 
to produce electricity or liquid fuel components. The city, however, views all energy 
production uses as last in priority to other beneficial uses such as composting, recycling, and 
re-purposing. 
 
The city also has specific concerns about the environmental hazards posed by electronic 
waste in landfills. Therefore, the city supports legislation that requires extended producer 
responsibility that is regulated to be environmentally and socially acceptable. Finally, the 
city would support repeal of the prohibition contained in state law (C.R.S. Section 25-17-104) 
on local government bans on “use or sale of specific types of plastic materials or products” or 
restrictions on “containers . . . for any consumer products.” 
 

• SUPPORT IMPROVEMENTS TO THE COLORADO OIL AND GAS 
CONSERVATION COMMISSION’S OVERSIGHT OF OIL AND GAS 
DRILLING AND PRESERVATION OF LOCAL CONTROL TO ADOPT 
REGULATIONS, MORATORIUMS OR OTHER LIMITS AS 
NECESSARY 

 
Oil and gas drilling is an industrial activity that is increasing in Colorado and within the 
northern Front Range, and which poses significant risks and potential adverse impacts, 
These include damage to air and water quality, scenic values, property values, public 
infrastructure, and public health and that can significantly affect both local quality of life 
and economic prosperity.  
 
There is growing public concern about the proximity of oil and gas development to 
communities and other sensitive resources and about industry techniques, such as hydraulic 
fracturing (or “fracking”), used to access oil and gas resources. Fracking is a process whereby 
fluids are injected at high pressure into underground rock formations to blast them open and 
enable new or increased exploitation of fossil fuel resources. Chemicals typically used in the 
fracking process include diesel fuel, benzene, industrial solvents, and other carcinogens and 
endocrine disrupters. According to the Colorado Oil and Gas Conservation Commission 
(COGCC), nearly all of the more than 51,000 oil and gas wells operating in Colorado are 
fracked.  
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 24Packet Page 345



 

15 
 
 
 
 

There is increasing evidence and growing concern that oil and gas operations emit toxic air 
pollutants, volatile organic compounds that cause ground-level ozone, and potentially large 
amounts of methane, one of the most potent greenhouse gasses. Further, according to the 
COGCC, since 2010, there have been more than 1,500 spills in Colorado – an average of 500 
each year – and more than 20% of these spills have contaminated water supplies. 
Accordingly, the city believes that fracking should not be an exempted activity under the 
Clean Water Act or Safe Drinking Water Act or other federal environmental laws. 
 
In July of 1993 the City of Boulder adopted its own regulations to govern oil and gas 
operations and production on city open space lands. These regulations require an application 
to the city manager, and hearings conducted by the Open Space Board of Trustees and City 
Council. Since the adoption of these regulations in 1993, no one has applied to conduct new 
drilling operations on Open Space lands. These regulations, however, do not address the 
issue of fracking or other emerging concerns about oil and gas impacts, nor do they address 
any potential drilling that might be proposed within city limits on non-open space lands. 
 
Boulder County and many of the communities surrounding Boulder are facing increased oil 
and gas drilling activity and are in various stages of adopting moratoria or crafting new rules 
to address potential risks and adverse impacts from fracking and other drilling activities. 
The State of Colorado argues that state authority preempts local rules. In addition, the oil 
and gas industry sued Longmont challenging a ban on fracking within city limits that was 
adopted by Longmont citizens by a 60% vote. A decision in favor of industry is currently 
being appealed by Longmont. Furthermore, several multi-year studies are underway—
including one by the University of Colorado at Boulder—to analyze air, water and public 
health impacts of fracking, the results of which will not be out for several years. In response, 
the Boulder City Council adopted a year-long moratorium in June 2013 on processing any 
new permits for oil and gas exploration or development within the city limits or on our city 
open space. The council subsequently placed an initiative on the November ballot to extend 
this moratorium until June 2018, while waiting for the results of these pending studies and 
lawsuits; voters passed this ballot initiative (2H) by over 78%. 
 
The City of Boulder believes that local governments have both the right and responsibility to 
take action to protect the public health and well being of its residents as well as the 
environment. The city supports the state setting minimum standards and best management 
practices for the oil and gas industry (such as those suggested by the International Energy 
Agency on this subject, entitled “Golden Rules for a Golden Age of Gas”), but also believes 
that local jurisdictions must be allowed to adopt strong rules as needed to address local 
concerns and conditions. To that end, the city supports legislation that clarifies and 
strengthens the authority of local governments to use their existing land use authorities to 
manage and tailor oil and gas activities within their borders to ensure public health, safety 
and welfare, and to protect the environment. The city also opposes legislation that would 
preempt local authority to establish bans, temporary moratoriums, or to establish and 
enforce regulations over such fracking operations.  
 
In addition, the city supports legislation that would address specific oil and gas drilling 
impacts, including legislation to: 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 25Packet Page 346



 

16 
 
 
 
 

 
• Better protect homes and communities by increasing the minimum distance 

between wells and occupied buildings from the current 350’ setback to 1000’, 
1,500’ for schools, giving local governments an effective role in controlling the pace 
and footprint of development in their jurisdictions;  

• Lift the current prohibition on local governments passing along the cost of 
inspections to industry.  

• Adopt statewide protections for water including: requiring setbacks from all 
streams and lakes; requiring baseline and periodic water monitoring at all drilling 
sites; raising casing and cementing standards to ensure wellbore integrity; and 
requiring operators to formulate a water management plan and recycle 
wastewater before acquiring new supplies. 

• Better protect air quality at and near oil and gas operations and decrease 
greenhouse gas emissions by requiring strict controls on fugitive emissions from 
oil and gas facilities, including adopting the latest technology in leak detection and 
repair. 

•  Address the dual mandate and composition of the COGCC to make its primary 
role the regulation of the oil and gas industry to protect the public health, safety 
and the environment. 

• Support further study of air, water and public health impacts oil and gas 
operations and ways to mitigate or avoid impacts. 
 

• FEDERAL AND STATE SUPPORT FOR BUILDING COMMUNITY 
RESILIENCE 

 
In December 2013, Boulder was selected as one of 32 inaugural cities to participate in 100 
Resilient Cities, an exciting new initiative pioneered by the Rockefeller Foundation that is 
committed to building resilience in diverse communities worldwide. Resilience and adaptation 
are real challenges Boulder is wrestling with as the community recovers from historic flooding 
that created severe and lasting impacts. This follows just three years after experiencing (then) 
Colorado’s most financially destructive wildfire in state history. These experiences and a long 
history of climate mitigation initiatives have taught the city that resilience strategies involve more 
than managing or recovering from disruptive events. Resilience as the ability to “bounce back” is 
insufficient. To mobilize the resources and community support necessary to significantly increase 
our social, economic and ecological resilience, we must formulate a compelling vision of the 
future towards which our efforts allow us to “bounce forward”. 

Over the next two years, we will be working to develop a resilience strategy that will build on past 
successes and look to new integrated planning to ensure a thriving future for our 
community. With Rockefeller Foundation support, the city has hired its first Chief Resilience 
Officer to lead the coordination and development of broad reaching resilience strategy. 

In order for Boulder and other communities around the nation to implement these strategies, 
they will require coordination and financial and technical support from the state and federal 
governments. The city will support legislation that furthers such goals.  
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 26Packet Page 347



 

17 
 
 
 
 

DEMOCRACY AND GOVERNANCE 

• SUPPORT FOR AN AMENDMENT TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION 
ABOLISHING CORPORATE PERSONHOOD 

 
On November 1, 2011, the residents of Boulder voted, by a 73 percent majority, to approve 
Ballot Question No. 2H which called for “reclaiming democracy from the corrupting effects of 
corporate influence by amending the United States Constitution to establish that: 1) Only 
human beings, not corporations, are entitled to constitutional rights; and 2) Money is not 
speech, and therefore regulating political contributions and spending is not equivalent to 
limiting political speech.” 
 
The City of Boulder will support state and federal legislation similar to SJR12-1034, or 
action by other intergovernmental partners, that furthers efforts to amend the U.S. 
Constitution with language that captures the sentiment, if not the exact language, expressed 
by Ballot Question No. 2H. This includes support for the joint resolution that was introduced 
in the U.S. Senate on December 8, 2011 by Senator Bernie Sanders to amend the 
Constitution to exclude corporations from First Amendment rights to spend money on 
Political Campaigns (a.k.a. the Saving American Democracy Amendment).  

• SUPPORT GENERAL ASSEMBLY ACTION TO SUBMIT TO THE 
COLORADO ELECTORATE A REFERRED MEASURE TO REFORM 
THE CURRENT PROCESS FOR CITIZEN-INITIATED 
CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY AMENDMENTS BY ALTERING 
THE SIGNATURE COLLECTION REQUIREMENTS AND REQUIRING 
A SUPERMAJORITY VOTER APPROVAL FOR CONSTITUTIONAL 
AMENDMENTS, EXCEPT FOR THOSE MEASURES THAT LOOK TO 
AMEND PREVIOUS VOTER-APPROVED CONSTITUTIONAL 
AMENDMENTS; AND REQUIRING FOR A TIME A SUPERMAJORITY 
APPROVAL BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY TO CHANGE CITIZEN-
INITIATED STATUTORY AMENDMENTS  

 
Over the past 25 years, as a result of its low threshold requirements, Colorado has 
experienced a surge in citizen-initiated ballot measures. In the last 18 years alone, the 
constitution has been amended 35 times, adding detailed and sometimes conflicting 
provisions with far-reaching consequences. The city supports state legislation similar to 
HCR12-1003 that would reform the citizen initiative process to make it more difficult to 
amend the state constitution while providing assurance to Colorado citizens that statutory 
amendments will be respected by state elected officials. 
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 27Packet Page 348



 

18 
 
 
 
 

ECONOMIC VITALITY 

• PROTECT CORE PROVISIONS OF THE COLORADO URBAN 
RENEWAL LAW, WHICH PROVIDE EFFECTIVE REDEVELOPMENT 
TOOLS FOR MUNICIPALITIES SUCH AS TAX INCREMENT 
FINANCING AND EMINENT DOMAIN  

 
Unlike many communities that contain vast areas of undeveloped land planned for future 
commercial and residential use, Boulder's future economic sustainability will depend on 
effective and ongoing re-use of existing developed property. The majority of future 
redevelopment in Boulder will be completed by private entities and through private 
investment. However, in rare circumstances, and based on the requirements of the urban 
renewal law, projects that demonstrate a compelling community need may only be achievable 
through a public/private urban renewal partnership. Municipalities should retain the 
capacity to facilitate revitalization of their urbanized areas.  
 
In 2015, HB15-1348 was enacted into law to promote an equitable financial contribution 
among affected public bodies in connection with urban redevelopment project. In 2016, 
legislation is expected to be introduced that is consistent with the intent of HB15-1348 but 
that addresses perceived technical, implementation or interpretation issues with how the bill 
was drafted. Specifically, the 2016 effort will aim to distinguish between urban renewal 
projects that are materially affected by a substantial modification and those that are 
unaffected. The city anticipates no impacts from such bill and, accordingly, to merely monitor 
that legislative effort. The city, however, recognizes that there have been instances of abuse 
of this tool that threaten its continued availability. Accordingly, the city will support 
legislation designed to address such abuses, specifically those designed to assure that: the 
tax increment base is set at a fair level; the impacts of projects in the urban renewal area are 
adequately communicated to the other impacted taxing districts (e.g., allowing counties to 
appoint a member to serve on urban renewal authority board), and/or; the increment 
revenues be distributed to impacted taxing entities following repayment of financial 
obligations. 
 

• SUPPORT CONTINUED FUNDING AND SUPPORT FOR THE 
FEDERALLY FUNDED LABS LOCATED IN BOULDER  

 
The city’s economic vitality policy strongly supports the federally funded laboratories that 
are located in the city, specifically:  
 

o Cooperative Institute for Research in Environmental Sciences (CIRES) 
o Joint Institute for Laboratory Astrophysics (JILA) 
o Laboratory for Atmospheric and Space Physics (LASP) 
o National Center for Atmospheric Research (NCAR) 
o National Ecological Observatory Network (NEON) 
o National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 28Packet Page 349



 

19 
 
 
 
 

o National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) 
o Earth System Research Laboratory (ESRL) 
o National Geophysical Data Center (DGDC) 
o Office of Oceanic and Atmospheric Research (OAR) 
o National Weather Service (NWS) 
o National Environmental Satellite, Data and Information Service (NESDIS) 
o Space Weather Prediction Center (SWPC) 

o National Telecommunications and Information Administration (NTIA) 
o University Corporation for Atmospheric Research (UCAR) 
o UNAVCO 
o United States Geological Survey (USGS) 

 
The labs, the research they conduct, and the researchers and staff they employ are vitally 
important to the City of Boulder, Boulder County, the Denver metropolitan region, the state, 
and the nation as a whole. The research funding they receive is redistributed throughout 
Colorado and beyond in the form of discretionary employee income, purchases of goods and 
services from suppliers, and contractual agreements with universities and private industry. 
Technologies they’ve created have led to technology transfer and spin-off companies.   
 
In the Boulder metro area alone, federal research labs employed over 3,539 people in 2012. 
The NOAA, NIST and NTIA labs accounted for over one-third of this employment. These are 
high-skilled, highly educated employees whose average annual compensation in 2012 was 
$107,900. In August 2013, CU’s Leeds School of Business released a study entitled, “CO-
LABS Economic Impact Study: Economic and Fiscal Impacts of Federally Funded Research 
Facilities”. According to the report, the net economic benefit to Boulder County of the federal 
labs, combined with other federally funded research laboratories in Colorado, totaled $743.2 
million in FY 2012. 
 
Boulder highly values the scientific contributions the labs and their employees have made to 
the entire nation, as well as the economic impact they have on our community. These 
institutions work closely with scientific researchers from the University of Colorado in 
Boulder and Colorado State University in nearby Ft. Collins. This synergy of scientific 
knowledge is found nowhere else in the United States.  
 
Just as the labs generate direct benefits (employment, local spending) and associated indirect 
activity through an economic multiplier effect, the opposite holds true for funding reductions. 
According to CU’s Leeds School of Business, for every job lost at these federal laboratories, 
an additional 1.17 jobs will be lost in Colorado. For every $1 million in funding cuts to the 
labs, an additional $1.13 million in economic impact will be lost. Perhaps even more 
troubling, our national capacity for research and innovation will be damaged by lay-offs of 
scientists and researchers, jeopardizing new advanced technologies, future businesses 
formed to commercialize developing technologies, and our global competitiveness.   
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 29Packet Page 350



 

20 
 
 
 
 

• SUPPORT FACILITATING THE ABILITY OF MUNICIPALITIES TO 
ENTER INTO REVENUE SHARING AGREEMENTS   

 
The city believes that there are a number of shortcomings associated with the current 
reliance municipalities have on sales tax generation. These include revenue-driven 
development detached from community land use goals, the use of incentives to capture 
development at the expense of municipal budgets, and sales tax revenue volatility resulting 
from counterproductive competition of regional retail outlets. In order to address these and 
other limitations, the City of Boulder, in conjunction with the Boulder County Consortium of 
Cities, is exploring the possibility of a revenue sharing agreement with one or more of its 
municipal neighbors. The significant challenge of such an undertaking would be diminished 
if the state were to provide mechanisms to encourage such agreements. One possibility would 
be for the state to establish a task force to evaluate the possibility of exploring revenue 
sharing as it may relate to the creation of a service tax or the removal of barriers to collecting 
Internet sales tax. 
 

HOUSING 

• OPPOSE FEDERAL EFFORTS TO REDUCE APPROPRIATIONS FOR 
HUD PUBLIC HOUSING AND SECTION 8 PROGRAMS WHICH 
PROVIDE RENTAL ASSISTANCE TO LOW-INCOME HOUSEHOLDS  

In the continuum of housing options for Boulder citizens, public housing and Section 8 
vouchers provide a unique source of safe and affordable homes for approximately 1,000 
families. Public housing and voucher assistance serve the most low income families in 
Boulder, 95 percent of whom have incomes below $14,000 annually and pay an average of 
less than $300 per month in rent. There are very few, if any, market options for these 
families who depend entirely on the availability of federal assistance in order to live with 
dignity and assurance of shelter. 

• OPPOSE FEDERAL REDUCTIONS TO COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
BLOCK GRANT PROGRAM AND HOME INVESTMENT 
PARTNERSHIPS  

 
Boulder has participated in the CDBG program since 1975, and funds have been used in the 
past for a variety of projects ranging from assistance to nonprofit agencies that provide 
services to the city’s low and moderate income residents, to construction of the Pearl Street 
Mall, and renovation of the Chautauqua Auditorium.  Boulder has also participated in the 
HOME program since 1992 and program funds have supported the production and 
preservation of affordable housing.  For the past eightnine years Boulder has been the lead 
agency for a regional HOME Consortium including all of Boulder and Broomfield Counties.  
Half of the HOME funds received by Boulder are used in Boulder and half in the other 
Consortium communities. In 20154, the city received $704,99120,822 in CDBG funding, a 
317% decrease over 105 years, and $866,115940,084 in HOME funding, a 361% decrease in 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 30Packet Page 351



 

21 
 
 
 
 

five years, from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. The CDBG and 
HOME programs allow the city to strengthen public infrastructure, increase supply of 
affordable housing, and improve the quality of life for the city's low and moderate income 
residents.  
 

• SUPPORT FOR STATE HOUSING TRUST FUND  
 
The city is supportive of legislative efforts that would lead to creation and financing of a 
state affordable housing trust fund.  One example is the mechanism that was put in place 
through HB14-1017, which created a state low income housing tax credit operated through 
the Colorado Housing and Finance Authority (CHFA). The program is to sunset and requires 
legislative action in 2016 to continue. In the last two years, nearly 2,000 affordable housing 
units were developed in various municipalities throughout the state using state tax credits. 
This program is another tool for the state to develop affordable housing in communities. 
 

• SUPPORT LEGISLATION THAT HELPS ADDRESS THE POWER 
IMBALANCE BETWEEN OWNERS OF MOBILE HOMES AND 
OWNERS OF MOBILE HOME PARKS 

 
It is the policy of the city to encourage affordable housing ownership, including 
manufactured housing.  Current market conditions place owners of manufactured housing at 
a disadvantage compared to other potential investors in the purchase of manufactured home 
communities. These dynamics often lead to the exclusion of the potential buyers who have 
the most at stake and the greatest need for an opportunity to purchase the park. 
The following are examples of the changes that the city may support to mobile home owners: 
    

1. Create an enhanced enforcement mechanism for the provisions of the Colorado 
Mobile Park Act and associated funding source; 

2. Require a minimum one-year lease; 
3. Prohibit changes in park rules during term of lease; 
4. Create an opportunity to purchase a mobile home park by residents or non-

profit organizations; 
5. Expanded (i.e., 6 month) notification requirement if mobile home park is to be 

closed.  
 
  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 31Packet Page 352



 

22 
 
 
 
 

HUMAN SERVICES/HUMAN RIGHTS 
 

• SUPPORT COMPREHENSIVE FEDERAL IMMIGRATION REFORM  
 
The City of Boulder has been, and remains, committed to the protection of civil and human 
rights for all people. It believes in the dignity of all Boulder residents, regardless of 
immigration status, and recognizes the importance of their many contributions to the social, 
religious, cultural and economic life of the city. 
 
The failures of the U.S. immigration system have had profound impacts within the Boulder 
community. These include very young students losing motivation to excel in their learning 
because of knowledge that they lack affordable higher educational opportunities and the 
existence of an underclass, climate of fear, informal economy and work force inequities. 
 
Accordingly, the city welcomes and encourages cooperation at all levels of government to 
work together to support swift and responsible legislative action to produce equitable, 
humane, effective and comprehensive federal immigration reform that provides for: 
 

1. Enforceable immigration laws; 
2. A rational and humane approach to the undocumented population; 
3. A simplified visa system which allows for family unification of those who have been 

separated by the legal immigration backlog process and which provides for legal 
status for the existing immigrant workforce; 

4. A rate and system of controlled immigration that matches the needs of our economy; 
5. Social integration for our existing immigrant workforce and their families; 
6. Recognizing employers as key allies in implementing immigration policy and 

enhancing enforcement of labor laws to remove the market advantage that leads to 
exploiting immigration status to pay lower wages, avoid taxes and violate labor laws; 

7. A system which ultimately aids in border control, and; 
8. Bilateral partnerships with other countries to promote economic development that 

will reduce the flow of immigrants. 
 
The city also supports federal legislation, such as the often introduced Development, Relief, 
and Education for Alien Minors Act (The “DREAM Act”), that would qualify students for 
immigration relief if they have resided in the United States for several consecutive years, 
arrived in the U.S. as young children and demonstrated good moral character; put such 
students on a pathway to citizenship if they graduate from high school or obtain a GED and 
complete at least 2 years towards a 4-year degree or serve in the U.S. military for at least 
two years, and; eliminate a federal provision that discourages states from providing in-state 
tuition to their undocumented immigrant student residents, thus restoring full authority to 
the states to determine state college and university fees. Similarly, the city supports 
legislation, like HB14-1124, which would allow instate tuition for American Indian Tribe 
members with ties to Colorado. 
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 32Packet Page 353



 

23 
 
 
 
 

Finally, the city supports legislation like the Uniting American Families Act of 2013 (S.296), 
which would ensure that all Americans, regardless of sexual orientation, receive equal 
treatment under immigration laws. The 2013 bill specifically would have allowed partners 
and children of U.S. citizens and lawful permanent residents to obtain lawful permanent 
resident status the same way heterosexual spouses can.  It would also allow for family-based 
immigration for gay and lesbian Americans and the reunification of families, which 
strengthens our communities. 
 

• PROTECT UNACCOMPANIED CHILDREN IMMIGRATING INTO THE 
UNITED STATES  

 
In 2014, an unprecedented number of unaccompanied minors fled their home countries in 
Central America to seek refuge in the United States, creating a humanitarian crisis and 
requiring immediate action by the Administration and Congress of the United States.  Many 
of the U.S. laws and procedures regarding unaccompanied minors are focused on the welfare 
of the child, rather than detention, and the United States Department of Health and Human 
Services (HHS) must place the children in the “least restrictive setting” possible. Boulder 
City Council urges the President and Congress of the United States to adopt immigration 
policies that ensure that unaccompanied minors receive appropriate child welfare services, 
legal support and expeditious reunification with their families already in the United States. 
 

• FURTHER THE RIGHTS OF ALL PEOPLE REGARDLESS OF THEIR 
ACTUAL OR PERCEIVED SEXUAL ORIENTATION OR GENDER 
VARIANCE STATUS 

 
On May 18, 2004, Boulder’s City Council adopted Resolution No. 947. This resolution 
affirms the city’s commitment to the protection of civil rights for all people as outlined 
in the city’s human rights ordinance. Furthermore, the resolution recognized the 
many contributions that the city’s gay, lesbian, bisexual and transgender residents 
have provided that have enhanced the lives of all in the community. Finally, the 
resolution declared support for repealing or legislatively challenging the Colorado 
state law prohibiting the issuance of same sex marriage licenses.   

 
Consistent with the city’s long history of support for the equal rights of all people regardless 
of their actual or perceived sexual orientation or gender variance status, the city will 
continue to support the right for same-sex couples to enjoy and be bound by the same legal 
rights and responsibilities as married, opposite-sex couples, including the right to be issued a 
marriage license and to file joint income tax returns.  
 
The city supports the Employment Non-Discrimination Act (ENDA) of 2013 (S. 815), a 
federal bill to prohibit employment discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation or 
gender identity. With no clear federal law prohibiting workplace discrimination on the basis 
of sexual orientation or gender identity, many lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 33Packet Page 354



 

24 
 
 
 
 

workers live with uncertainty and fear about whether they'll be able to keep a job and care 
for their families. Without a comprehensive federal law like ENDA, these workers lack 
antidiscrimination protections in a majority of states.  
 

• INCREASE THE MINIMUM WAGE  
 
In his 2014 State of the Union address, President Obama called on Congress to raise the 
federal minimum wage from $7.25 to $10.10 an hour. Colorado's minimum wage is currently 
$8 per hour. The Economic Policy Institute estimates that raising the federal minimum wage 
to $10.10 by 2016 would: 
 

▪ Increase wages for 269,000 working Coloradans who currently make the minimum 
wage; 

▪ Raise wages for another 141,000 Coloradans who would see their salaries adjusted 
upward to reflect a new pay scale; 

▪ Elevate all affected Coloradans' total earnings by $578.1 million each year, 
contributing to workers' spending power; 

▪ Support 217,000 children in Colorado; and, 
▪ Increase Colorado's GDP by $366 million and create 1,500 full-time jobs over three 

years. 
 
Raising the minimum wage also would reduce Coloradans' reliance on safety nets like 
Medicaid, the Children's Health Insurance Program and the Supplemental Nutrition 
Assistance Program (SNAP). In Colorado, raising the minimum wage would decrease SNAP 
enrollment by more than 42,300 people and save Colorado $40.7 million. Two-thirds of 
minimum wage workers are women. Women, minorities, and families with children would be 
among those to benefit most from a higher minimum wage. Nearly 17,000 Colorado veterans 
would also see higher wages. 
 
For these reasons, the city supports change at either the state or federal level that would 
increase the state’s minimum wage to $10.10 by 2016. 
 
The city would also support efforts to amend Colorado law as necessary so as to allow 
municipalities to establish their own minimum wage laws higher than the state or federal 
minimum wage. 
 
 

• OPPOSE FURTHER CUTS TO STATE FUNDED HEALTH AND 
HUMAN SERVICE PROGRAMS, ESPECIALLY THOSE THAT ARE 
PREVENTIVE IN NATURE 

 
In recent years the state made drastic cuts to services that help provide a safety net to 
thousands of city residents. This includes services to very low income residents, children and 
families, mentally ill, disabled and people without health insurance. The city urges the 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 34Packet Page 355



 

25 
 
 
 
 

General Assembly to avoid making further cuts to those essential services that serve the 
city’s most vulnerable, especially intervention and prevention services that keep people out of 
crisis. 
 

INTERNAL ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 

• PROTECT WORKERS’ COMPENSATION SYSTEM    
 
The city’s self-insurance program is a cost efficient method to provide workers’ compensation. 
The workers’ compensation system serves a dual purpose, providing benefits promptly to 
injured employees in a cost-effective manner and minimizing costly litigation. Consequently, 
the city will support legislation that improves the administrative efficiency of the State of 
Colorado’s Division of Workers’ Compensation. 
 
State intervention or taxation can negatively impact the city. Consequently, the city will 
oppose legislation that increases insurance premium costs to employers, adds administrative 
burdens or taxes to self-insurance programs, promotes litigation, or removes existing off-sets 
to workers’ compensation benefits. 
 
The city also opposes efforts to expand “presumptive disease” claims associated with workers’ 
compensation insurance. Presumptive disease claims are a change in the philosophy guiding 
workers’ compensation insurance. They presume an existing or previous employee obtained 
the disease from work associated with that person’s employer unless the employer can prove 
otherwise. The 2007 legislative session enacted legislation that requires that, under the 
Workers’ Compensation Act of Colorado, if a firefighter contracts cancer of the brain, skin, 
digestive system, hematological system or genitourinary system, the condition be deemed to 
have occurred within the scope of employment unless the employer can prove that the 
covered cancer did not occur within the scope of employment. This is a particularly difficult 
proposition for employers as many diseases have a genetic component and cannot be 
definitively detected in baseline (time of hiring or imposition of new law) testing. The result 
of this legislation was a 15 percent increase in premiums associated with fire employees. The 
city opposes any effort to further shift the burden of proof for workers’ compensation claims.  

• PROTECT GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY 
 
The complexity and diversity of city operations and services required to meet the needs of the 
residents of Boulder may expose the city and its officers and employees to liability for 
damage and injury. City officers and employees must be confident that they have the city’s 
support in the lawful and proper performance of their assigned duties and responsibilities.   
 
Consequently, the city will support legislation that provides immunity to municipalities and 
their officers and employees in the lawful and proper performance of their duties and 
responsibilities and that discourages baseless and frivolous claims against the same. 
Conversely, the city will oppose legislation that expands or increases municipal liability or 
further limits municipal immunity beyond current law. 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 35Packet Page 356



 

26 
 
 
 
 

 

• OPPOSE CHANGES THAT COULD UNNECESSARILY RESULT IN 
INCREASED CONTRIBUTIONS OR FORCE A REDUCTION IN 
BENEFITS FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES 
RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION (PERA) 

 
Two significant pieces of legislation were enacted in recent years aimed at putting PERA 
back on track to being fully funded. The first, SB06-235, passed in 2006, made several 
changes, including: (1) temporary increases in the amount that employers from each division 
must contribute to PERA, with increases staying in effect until accounts in those divisions 
are found to be 100% funded; (2) the addition of an eight percent cap per year on the Highest 
Average Salary (HAS) for new hires; (3) a change of the Rule of 80 to a Rule of 85 with a 
minimum retirement age of 55 for new hires; (4) a prescribed amortization period reduced 
from 40 years to 30 years; (5) a requirement for independent actuarial studies to be 
conducted before future benefit increases could occur; and, (6) a new requirement to purchase 
service at full actuarial cost. 
 
Then in 2010, SB10-001 was enacted to require, among other things: (1) additional increases 
in the temporary employer contributions beyond previous requirements, with exemptions for 
the local government division where further increases were deemed unnecessary; (2) 
reductions in the cost of living adjustments (COLA); (3) application of the 3-year HAS with a 
base year and an eight percent spike cap applicable to current members not eligible to retire 
on January 1, 2011; (4) extension of the Rule of 85 to existing members with less than five 
years of service credit as of January 1, 2011, creation of a Rule of 88 for new hires and a Rule 
of 90 for hires after 2017, and; (5) a new requirement for contributions from retirees who 
return to work.   
   
Despite this legislation, a result of comprehensive and collaborative efforts by PERA, 
legislators and representatives of employer groups, and despite a 2012 independent auditor 
finding that PERA’s assumed 8% rate of return is “within a reasonable range of possible 
scenarios,” a variety of legislation has since been and is expected to continue to be introduced 
in the Colorado General Assembly to further change the PERA system. The city recognizes 
that further reforms may indeed be required and consequently supports legislation deemed 
necessary to stabilize PERA’s funds, but only when informed by a comprehensive evaluation 
of the impacts of those changes so as to protect against unnecessary increases to employer or 
employee contributions or reductions in employee benefits. One reform the city would 
support without further analysis is changes to the composition of the 16-member PERA 
Board of Trustees to provide more balanced representation from non-PERA covered 
members. However, as one of the largest of the 24 member governments in PERA’s Local 
Government Division, Boulder will oppose piecemeal state legislation that has unknown 
financial impacts.  
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 36Packet Page 357



 

27 
 
 
 
 

LOCAL CONTROL 

• OPPOSE THREATS TO LOCAL CONTROL AND HOME RULE 
AUTHORITY 

 
Several bills are introduced each session that threaten to erode local powers. As a general 
matter, the city believes that local problems need local solutions and that the current 
authority and powers of municipal governments in areas such as land use, zoning, personnel 
matters and sales tax, should not be further eroded. Legislation threatening local control, 
that does not otherwise further interests specified in this legislative agenda or otherwise 
recognized by City Council, will be opposed by the city. 
 

NATURAL RESOURCES, WILDLIFE AND PARKS 

• PROTECT THE ABILITY OF LOCAL GOVERNMENTS AND THE 
LAND TRUST COMMUNITY TO ACQUIRE AND PROTECT PARKS 
AND OPEN SPACE 

 
Colorado Lottery proceeds have been one of the few sources of state funding for conservation 
of natural resources, wildlife and parks, providing $2.3 billion statewide over the past 28 
years. Profits from the sale of lottery products are allocated according to the following 
formula: up to 50 percent to the Great Outdoors Colorado (GOCO) Trust Fund, 40 percent to 
the Conservation Trust Fund (CTF), and 10 percent to the Colorado Division of Parks and 
Outdoor Recreation. GOCO provides competitive grants to projects that preserve, protect and 
enhance Colorado’s wildlife, parks, rivers, trails and open space. The fund is capped 
(approximately $54 million in 2011) and any spillover is directed to the BEST rural school 
capital construction assistance fund. The CTF funds are used by local communities across 
the state for outdoor projects including trail construction, ball fields, playgrounds, and 
adding new parks or enhancing existing parks.  
 
CTF and GOCO funds have for years been a critical part of the city’s capital budget. 
Important acquisitions have been added to Boulder’s inventory of parks and open space that 
have helped shape our community, preserve ecological systems and create opportunities for 
active and passive recreation for people of all ages. Among the projects accomplished with 
GOCO funding include Valmont Bike Park, winner of the 2011 Colorado Parks and 
Recreation Association award for recreation facility design and future host of the 2014 USA 
Cyclo-Cross National Championships.  
 
The city supports preservation of the current lottery distribution formula and will oppose 
legislation that would change that allocation or create new lottery scratch tickets for other 
purposes that would decrease demand for the existing lottery tickets. 

The city also encourages congress to restore funding for the Land and Water Conseration 
Fund (LWCF) which was allowed to expire this past September. The LWCF was, until very 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 37Packet Page 358



 

28 
 
 
 
 

recently, a Federal program established to provide funds and matching grants to federal, 
state and local governments for the acquisition of land and water, and easements on land 
and water, for the benefit of all Americans. The main emphasis of the funds are for 
recreation and the protection of natural treasures in the forms of parks and protected forest 
and wildlife areas.  

The primary source of income to the fund was fees paid to the Bureau of Ocean Energy 
Management, Regulation and Enforcement by companies drilling offshore for oil and gas 
and, to a lesser extent, the sale of surplus federal real estate and taxes on motorboat fuel. 

 

• SUPPORT STATE LEGISLATION FURTHERING IMPLEMENTATION 
OF THE CITY’S URBAN WILDLIFE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 
The Urban Wildlife Management Plan (UWMP) was developed to provide guidance on how 
Boulder’s urban areas will provide diverse, self-sustaining, native wildlife populations in a 
manner compatible with basic human needs, social and economic values and long-term 
ecological sustainability. The plan also seeks to reduce conflicts between humans and wildlife 
in the urban core. Management of the city’s lands outside of the urban core such as Open 
Space and Mountain Parks lands and utilities lands (Silver Lake Watershed, Boulder 
Reservoir) are covered by the plans of the appropriate managing department.  
 
Because of the network of nearby natural lands, its geographic setting at the intersection of 
the mountains and plains, Boulder’s urban areas are visited or inhabited by a wide range of 
wildlife species. Some species keep a low profile, present little or no conflict and go unnoticed 
by most urban residents. Other species are highly valued by the community, but most of 
these present little or no conflict with urban services or land uses. There are, however 
species that are valued by the community that do come into conflict with people. These 
include prairie dogs, black bear, mountain lions, Canada geese and mule deer. The city is 
often attempting to simultaneously conserve these species on open space lands, while 
managing conflict in the urban area.   
 
There are often opportunities on a species-specific level to support legislation at a state or 
federal level to complement our conservation and conflict management efforts. Examples 
include support of funding for mosquito management to address state or federal public 
health issues/mandates; modifications of laws to allow prairie dog relocation to other 
counties without commissioner approval; and, modifications to in-stream flow legislation that 
would allow the city to retain the value of its water rights while simultaneously conserving 
native and sport fisheries. 
 
  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 38Packet Page 359



 

29 
 
 
 
 

• SUPPORT TO ADDRESS THE CITY’S EMERALD ASH BORER 
INFESTATION 

 
In late September of 2013, the emerald ash borer (EAB), an invasive pest of ash trees, was 
identified within the city limits of Boulder. The EAB is very a hard to detect, and even more 
difficult to detect in early stages and exterminate, insect that kills even healthy ash trees 
within 2-4 years of initial attack.first symptoms. Although the EAB flies, infestation 
normally results from movement of infested ash trees and wood (e.g., firewood, chips, 
packing and industrial materials). All attempts to eradicate this pest across the Midwest 
have failed due to the difficulty in detection and ease of movement; by the time the pest is 
found in an area it has already established and spread to other areas. 
 
The EAB poses a significant threat to allthe ash trees within the city. There are 
approximately 5038,000 city park and public street rights-of-way trees under the jurisdiction 
of the Boulder Parks and Recreation Urban Forestry Division: approximately 6,000 are ash 
trees (152 percent of the public tree population). That number within the city rises to 
70,98,000 when you include private ash trees within the city and 1.45 million when you take 
into account all the ash trees in the Denver metro area. Consequently, local governments 
may require significant support from the state to contain the threat, enforce a quarantine, 
remove dead trees and to educate the public.  
 
The city will support necessary state legislation, including requests for supplemental funding 
for the CDA or the creation of an account to support emergency response to pests when no 
specific agricultural or horticultural industry is primarily impacted, to allow the state to 
partner with the city in addressing the challenges presented by the EAB.  

• SUPPORT MORE BALANCE IN THE COMPOSITION OF 
COLORADO’S “PESTICIDE ADVISORY COMMITTEE,” FOR 
RESTORATION OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT AUTHORITY TO 
REGULATE CERTAIN PESTICIDE USES AND FOR ADDITIONAL 
PROTECTIONS FOR POLLINATORS, HUMAN HEALTH AND WATER 
QUALITY 

 
The Colorado Pesticide Applicators’ Act applies to pesticide applicators with the focus 
primarily on testing and licensing of commercial pesticide applicators. The act is 
administered and enforced by the Colorado Department of Agriculture which It also 
administersincorporates EPA rules and federal pesticide law in Colorado. Until 2006, when 
industry-backed legislation was enacted, the Act allowed local governments in Colorado wide 
discretion to enact pesticide regulations. Since 2006, however, local control to regulate 
almost all aspects of pesticide use has been preempted by state law. The 2006 legislation 
expanded state preemption for all pesticide users. The only exception is for the posting of 
notification of pesticide applications for non-commercial pesticide applicators. 
 
Revisions to the Act can now be expected in 2015, following a sunset review initiated this fall 
and expected to be concluded with a report and recommendations by the end of 2014. Given 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 39Packet Page 360



 

30 
 
 
 
 

the city’s vested concerns in regaining some of its former authority to protect human health 
and the environment from the potential adverse effects of pesticides, the city representatives 
expect to be involved at several steps in the sunset review. During this time, it will advocate 
for legislation that provides a more balanced perspective on pesticide use that takes into 
account recent studies concerning the human health and environmental impacts of pesticides 
that were not known at the time the Act was initially enacted. Specifically, it will support 
expansion of the state’s Pesticide Advisory Committee to include members with technical 
expertise in human health risk (particularly to children), non-target species impacts 
including pollinators, water quality impacts, local governments, and others to ensure the 
publics’ best interests; state protections concerning pesticide exposure that affects for 
children, and pollinators and water quality; and, restoration of the ability in specific 
situations for local governments to regain some authority to restrict pesticide use when 
immediate risk to human health or the environment cannot be addressed by the federal or 
state governments to adequately safeguard the public interest in a timely manner. The city 
will also support funding for increased education or research on alternatives to pesticides 
and programs that provide increased pesticide-free habitat, sustainable agriculture and 
preservation of biodiversity. 
 
Rapid decline of honeybees and other pollinators threatens the U.S. agricultural system and 
the functioning of general ecosystem services. Urgent regulatory action is needed at all levels 
of government. State restoration of local control would allow municipalities to address 
pollinator-specific concerns. The city also supports measures for pollinator protections at all 
levels of government, including federal legislation such as the Saving America’s Pollinators 
Act. of 2013 (H. R. 2692).  

• SUPPORT EFFORTS THAT PROTECT THE BOULDER COMMUNITY 
FROM WILDFIRE AND PROMOTE ECOLOGICAL FOREST HEALTH 

 
The city owns and manages 10,000 acres of forested open space and mountain parks land, 
almost all outside the boundaries of the city but immediately adjacent to residential areas. 
The health of these forests is critical to preventing catastrophic fires and to supporting 
biodiversity and creating resiliency. Historic fire suppression has led to overly dense forest 
conditions around Boulder that can have a direct impact on wildfire intensity and frequency, 
habitat function, water quality, and recreational values. The city is dedicated to protecting 
these natural resource values by implementing vegetation management activities that 
improve the overall ecological health of our forests, decrease the risk of high intensity 
wildfires, maintain and improve habitat for fish, wildlife, and plants, and protect public and 
private resources. Accordingly, the city will support federal and state legislation that 
promotes wildfire mitigation and forest restoration efforts in the wildland/urban interface.  
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 40Packet Page 361



 

31 
 
 
 
 

PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY 

• STATE AND FEDERAL ASSISTANCE FOR FLOOD DISASTER 
RECOVERY NEEDS AND EXPENSES 

 
September 2013 brought unprecedented rainfall to the region causing significant flooding 
and extensive damage to many Colorado communities. In Boulder, total damage to city 
infrastructure and public lands is estimated at $27.6 million, and private-property damage is 
estimated at $200 million. The city was declared a national disaster which created the 
opportunity for possible reimbursement through the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA), Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) and the State of Colorado. As of 
September, 20154, the city had spent approximately $1720.1 million on flood recovery. 
Estimated reimbursements from FEMA, the State of Colorado and the Federal Highway 
Administration (FHWA) are currently anticipated to be $17.614.5 million. The city continues 
to pursue To date, the city has received over $4.1 million in non-FEMA grant funding from 
federal and state agencies for recovery and resilience projects. City staff is actively pursuing 
additional grant opportunities as they become available. As the city moves into the 
administration and project management phase of the FEMA process, it is finding that it is 
expending significant resources to ensure that projects and related expenses remain eligible. 
For example, city staff was told by FEMA over the course of a year to follow city procurement 
processes to keep projects eligible. Recently, the guidance was changed so that the city does 
need to follow the state’s procurement process. This has resulted in significant staff 
resources to retroactively address procurement issues which diverts from the city’s primary 
objective of rebuilding stronger.  The city continues to expend significant resources to ensure 
that FEMA projects and expenses remain eligible for reimbursement. The city wants to 
ensure that the State of Colorado and FEMA region VIII possess the appropriate capacity to 
provide the technical assistance necessary to ensure an efficient flood recovery process. The 
city will support efforts to ensure that the state and FEMA receive appropriate resources to 
support local governments’ efforts to rebuild as more resilient communities. 
 
The city still has one FEMA project from the 2013 floods which is under appeal. As of the 
time of this writing, it is anticipated that the city’s first appeal, which is based upon differing 
interpretations of FEMA policies, will be denied. The city intends to pursue its right to a 
second appeal, which will result in review by the Assistant Administrator for the Mitigation 
Directorate in Washington D.C. The city will support efforts to ensure that FEMA policies 
adequately support the unique aspects of flood recovery in mountain states.  
 
 
The city, in collaboration with the other jurisdictions in Boulder County, have been working 
together to obtain Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Community Development Block 
Grant – Disaster Recovery (CDBG-DR) funds.  This program is administered through the 
State of Colorado, and similar to the FEMA Public Assistance program, the city wants to 
ensure the state possesses the appropriate resources, and continues to coordinate with local 
jurisdictions on where the remaining needs are.  For example, the State of Colorado’s 1st 
Substantial Amendment to the Action Plan which directs the funding to various programs 
identified a nearly equal need between housing and infrastructure needs.  A local unmet 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 41Packet Page 362



 

32 
 
 
 
 

needs analysis performed by the communities in Boulder County demonstrated that 78% of 
the remaining need is within the infrastructure category.  The city appreciates HUD’s 
approval of the continues to support the sub allocation approach to allocating CDBG-DR 
funding in Boulder County to allow projects to be sufficiently funded and the local unmet 
needs analysis to direct all future funding decisions.   

• SUPPORT FOR SAFE USE AND COMMERCIAL REGULATION OF 
RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA  

 
The city will support or oppose legislation, as necessary, in furtherance of the following 
principles: 
 

1. Maintaining or creating new mechanisms to ensure marijuana is appropriately 
labeled and regulated so that only adults intentionally choosing to use marijuana are 
exposed to it, that such users receive a safe product with complete information about 
the impacts of what they are choosing to ingest, and that these substances are kept 
away from children. 

2. Maintaining a dual licensing system to allow both the state and local governments to 
issue and enforce licensing of commercial marijuana facilities. 

3. Allowing local governments to recover the full costs of any commercial licenses they 
choose to allow. 

4. Maintaining as a matter of state interest and responsibility the creation of overall 
safety requirements related to recreational marijuana while reserving to local 
governments specific abilities, but not mandate, to adopt additional requirements and 
monitor and enforce those rules. 

 

• SUPPORT REMOVAL OF BARRIERS THAT PREVENT LEGITIMATE 
MARIJUANA BUSINESSES TO ACCESS BANKING SERVICES  

 
Legitimate marijuana businesses in Boulder are forced to operate on a cash-only basis 
because the substance's federal status currently bars banks from doing business with them. 
This inequity creates a vulnerability to several of the enforcement priorities outlined in the 
Deputy Attorney General's letter dated August 29, 2013. More importantly it creates a 
serious local public safety problem. Statutory solutions are at the federal level and there are 
efforts underway to try and address this, most recently by Rep. Ed Perlmutter. The city will 
support these efforts to remove legal and administrative barriers that prevent these 
businesses from accessing banking services. 
 

• PROMOTE HEALTH AND SAFETY CONCERNS ASSOCIATED WITH 
ALCOHOL ABUSE IN THE GREATER COMMUNITY  

 
Boulder’s City Council adopted Resolution 960 on October 19, 2004, concerning alcohol abuse 
within the community. This resolution affirmed the city’s commitment to finding solutions to 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 42Packet Page 363



 

33 
 
 
 
 

address the critical issues of health, safety and well being stemming from alcohol abuse 
within the city.   
 
Since this time, Council has expressly stated its support for appropriate legislation that 
would: 
 

1. Require the sale of kegs containing alcohol to have a tag attached that would permit 
tracing of the purchaser, and; 

2. Require mandatory server training. 
3. Repeal the provision contained in C.R.S. Section 27-81-117 preventing municipalities 

from adopting public drunkenness ordinances; and 
4. Permit municipalities to regulate licensees’ hours of alcohol service. 

 
The city will support appropriate legislation that furthers these goals. Conversely, the city 
will oppose any legislation that undermines these goals, including efforts similar to SB12-
118 which would eliminate the 25 percent food requirement for Hotel and Restaurant liquor 
licenses. 
 

• CLOSE THE FEDERAL GUN SHOW LOOPHOLE 
 
While criminal background checks are currently required for purchases of guns at gun shows 
in Colorado, there are states that do not have such laws. In order to ensure that guns are not 
placed in the hands of criminals, a federal law eliminating the gun show loophole is 
necessary.    
 

• OPPOSE EXPANDING THE APPLICATION OF THE “MAKE MY DAY” 
LAW BEYOND PERSONAL RESIDENCES  

 

• OPPOSE LEGISLATION LIMITING THE STATE’S ABILITY TO 
REGULATE CONCEALED WEAPONS OR LOCAL GOVERNMENT’S 
ABILITY TO RESTRICT POSSESSION OF WEAPONS IN PUBLIC 
FACILITIES  

 
H.R.822, the National Right-to-Carry Reciprocity Act of 2011, is pending in Congress. This 
The city will oppose federal legislation that would require Colorado to honor concealed carry 
permits granted by other states, even when those permit holders could not meet the 
standards required by Colorado law. This would strip Colorado of the power to create its own 
public safety laws and hand that power over to the federal government – and the states with 
the weakest protections. H.R.822 would also empower gun traffickers and threaten the safety 
of our police officers. To protect vulnerable people, states have set standards for carrying 
handguns that include criteria beyond an applicant’s ability to pass a federal background 
check. For example, many states issue permits to people with alcohol abuse problems, no 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 43Packet Page 364



 

34 
 
 
 
 

firearms safety training, or who are under the age of 21. Colorado does not. Colorado also 
grants limited discretion to law enforcement to approve or deny a permit. Colorado’s 
standards also keep guns out of the hands of dangerous criminals. H.R.822, however, would 
permit citizens of states with less strict laws to freely carry concealed weapons in our state. 
Because of these problems, the city urges its federal delegation to stand up for law 
enforcement and support Colorado’s right to make its own decisions about how to protect 
public safety. 
 
Boulder also has concerns with regard to the open carrying of guns. While cities are 
prevented from restricting permitted holders of concealed weapons, Boulder wants to make 
sure it maintains the ability to prevent the open carrying of guns in its public facilities. The 
open carrying of weapons is alarming to many people and can create logistical issues for the 
police department. 
 

• OPPOSE MANDATES FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT ENFORCEMENT 
OF FEDERAL IMMIGRATION LAWS 

 
The city supports preserving the option for its police officers to enforce federal laws, 
including federal immigration laws. However, it will vigorously oppose any state or federal 
legislation that mandates that its police enforce federal immigration laws, especially if they 
are unfunded mandates or are likely to result in enforcement officers engaging in racial 
profiling or discrimination based on race, ethnicity or national origin. 
 

• OPPOSE INFRINGEMENTS ON EMPLOYMENT AND PERSONNEL 
DECISIONS MADE BY MUNICIPAL POLICE AND FIRE 
DEPARTMENTS  

 
Employees of the city’s fire and police departments are part of collective bargaining units. As 
part of those units, they have the right to negotiate the terms of their employment. The city 
opposes any state or federal law that would mandate municipalities to collectively bargain 
with public safety employee labor unions over wages, benefits, or working conditions, under 
one-size-fits-all rules.  
 

• OPPOSE IMPOSITION OF ONEROUS INFORMATION GATHERING 
AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS ON PUBLIC SAFETY, 
ESPECIALLY WHEN THOSE REQUIREMENTS COME WITH 
SUBSTANTIAL COSTS THAT ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY ADEQUATE 
FUNDING 

 
An example of a reporting requirement that has been imposed on local law enforcement 
agencies in the past is the state law requiring the arrest of undocumented immigrants to be 
reported to Immigration and Customs Enforcement.  

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 44Packet Page 365



 

35 
 
 
 
 

• INCREASE THE FINANCIAL THRESHOLD OF PROPERTY DAMAGE 
THAT TRIGGERS A POLICE INVESTIGATION OF NON-INJURY 
TRAFFIC ACCIDENTS 

 
It takes very little damage to a vehicle to reach the current threshold of $1,000. While the 
city’s police department currently responds to most accidents, increasing the damage 
threshold will provide greater flexibility and more local control over the use of police 
resources. 
 

• OPPOSE LIMITATIONS ON MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY TO OPERATE 
RED LIGHT OR PHOTO RADAR CAMERAS TO ENFORCE TRAFFIC 
SAFETY 

 
Boulder is one of nine cities in Colorado that use photo enforcement to enhance the safety of 
its streets. The red light locations in Boulder were carefully selected due to a historic rate of 
higher accidents over other locations. Use of photo enforcement at these red light locations 
has yielded significant safety benefits and reduced red light running accidents by 68 percent. 
Moreover, fewer and fewer red light tickets are issued at these locations each year due to 
increased compliance. Removal of these cameras could result in accident rates and non-
compliance returning to pre-enforcement levels.  
 
Quantifying photo speed enforcement success is somewhat more difficult. It is implemented 
per strict state statute requirements that limit where it can be placed. It enables the city to 
enforce speed limits in neighborhood locations that do not have a high enough volume of 
traffic to justify deployment of officers. It is particularly effective in school zones. One 
conclusion that can be made is that photo speed enforcement has enhanced the safety of 
neighborhood streets and school zones by reducing speeding.  
 
Between 1999, when Boulder first introduced photo enforcement, and 2013, fines associated 
with violations of the city’s photo enforcement program and red light violations generated 
$13,695,940 in revenue at a direct cost to the city of $13,118,972.  When soft costs of 
overseeing the program are factored in, the costs of running the program essentially run 
even to the revenue it generates.  
 
The true cost associated with motorists running red lights and speeding through 
neighborhoods is not captured in the financial information provided above. It is best 
quantified in the cost to our community associated with the personal injury and property 
damage from motorists speeding and running red lights. Recent studies have shown that the 
average red light camera location in the U.S. results in $38,000 a year in reduced societal 
costs, not to mention the number of lives and grief saved from fewer right-angle crashes. For 
Boulder, with our eight (8) red light running cameras, this results in $304,000 in societal cost 
saved annually.  
 
For these reasons, the city will oppose any legislation similar to SB14-181 that would 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 45Packet Page 366



 

36 
 
 
 
 

prohibit or otherwise further restrict the rights of local governments to use red light cameras 
or photo radar enforcement.  

ROCKY FLATS 

• SUPPORT FUNDING FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY FOR 
THE OFFICE OF LEGACY MANAGEMENT AND U.S. FISH AND 
WILDLIFE SERVICE IN ORDER TO MANAGE ROCKY FLATS AS A 
NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGE WITH THE APPROPRIATE 
SYSTEMS IN PLACE FOR LONG TERM STEWARDSHIP 

 
In February of 2006, the Rocky Flats Stewardship Council (RFSC) was formed to focus on the 
post-closure management of Rocky Flats, the former nuclear weapons plant southwest of 
Boulder. As a member of RFSC, the city is very supportive of the 2001 federal legislation 
(Rocky Flats National Wildlife Refuge Act of 2001) that designates Rocky Flats as a future 
national wildlife refuge site as well as the requirement that long-term liability, ownership 
and management of the site remain with the federal government. The city supports 
legislation authorizing, funding, or otherwise providing assistance for the Rocky Flats 
Legacy Stakeholders Organization, or alternative organization, to work on coordinating 
regional open space and conservation efforts as they relate to Rocky Flats  
 

TAX POLICY 

• SUPPORT THE MARKET FAIRNESS ACT AND OTHER ACTION TO 
PRESERVE AND EXPAND THE AUTHORITY OF LOCAL 
GOVERNMENTS TO COLLECT TAXES 

 
According to research undertaken by Forrester Research for Internet Retailer, national 
online retail spending climbed to nearly $200 billion in 2011, up from $30 billion in 2000, and 
will grow approximately 10 percent per year to reach $280 billion and comprise more than 
seven percent of overall national retail spending by 2015. At the state level, the National 
Conference of State Legislatures estimates that Colorado will lose $352 million in 2012 from 
uncollected sales taxes. The growth in internet retail activity presents a clear challenge to 
the operating budgets of Colorado’s local governments, many of which rely on sales taxes to 
fund critical municipal services, as well as the state budget. Consequently, the city supports 
legislation, such as the Marketplace Fairness Act, that provides authority for states and 
Colorado local governments to collect sales taxes on purchases made over the internet, 
regardless of whether the vendor has a physical nexus with the state. Appropriate 
limitations on this authority might include exemptions for small businesses, centralized 
collection of taxes on non-nexus sales and adoption of a common tax base for non-nexus sales. 
However, the city will not support changes which would allow the state to collect and remit 
tax revenues on non-nexus sales based on anything other than each municipality’s individual 
sales tax rate (e.g., the city opposes use of a blended tax rate) or which would dictate the tax 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 46Packet Page 367



 

37 
 
 
 
 

base or assume authority to collect revenues on local nexus sales which the city already has 
the authority to tax and collect.     
 

TELECOMMUNICATIONS 

• REESTABLISH THE RIGHT OF MUNICIPALITIES TO PROVIDE 
TELECOMMUNICATION SERVICES SUCH AS LARGE AND 
COMPLEX CITY-WIDE FIBER AND PREMISE NETWORKS 

 
The provision of telecommunication access to ensure effective and appropriate access to 
educational and city resources are seen as a must in today's society. Utilizing current 
infrastructure and public‐private partnerships can create necessary competition to retain 
low‐cost, high‐speed access to our residents, regardless of economic status. Senate Bill 05‐152 
preempted home rule municipalities from providing telecommunication services (with certain 
limited exceptions) without a vote of the people, even if infrastructure had already been 
built. Boulder believes that this legislation is overly restrictive in its private sector “non-
compete” provisions. Given the very “low and slow” market evolution in providing low-cost 
and easily accessible internet and other telecommunication services, the city is completely 
hamstrung in seeking ways of legitimately investing public dollars in infrastructure and 
services to resolve the digital divide and general access issues in our communities. 
 

TRANSPORTATION 

• INCREASE TRANSPORTATION FUNDING AND PRIORITIZE ITS 
EXPENDITURE ON PROJECTS THAT MAINTAIN EXISTING 
INFRASTRUCTURE, ARE MULTIMODAL IN DESIGN AND THAT 
OTHERWISE PROMOTE SMART GROWTH  

 
The city  and the entire Denver metropolitan area are in need of new funding to maintain 
existing infrastructure and transit services, for multi-modal transportation improvements 
related to roadway, bicycle, pedestrian, carpool/vanpool and for travel demand management 
activities that would increase the efficiency of the existing system. There is a critical need for 
federal and state funds to ensure completion of the US 36 BRT project, including funding to 
acquire the best vehicles and BRT amenities possible and first and final mile connections to 
that corridor. Funding is also necessary for implementation of the recommendations of the 
Northwest Area Mobility Study (NAMS); specifically North I25 bi-directional HOV/Transit 
lanes and development of an arterial BRT system along SH119, US287, 120th Ave, South 
Boulder Road, Arapahoe/SH7, and SH 42.  
 
The city supports turning to funding sources that are tied to transportation use, including 
vehicle registration, car rentals, gasoline consumption, or vehicle miles traveled, provided 
that a significant portion of the funding generated is directed toward specific, identified 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 47Packet Page 368



 

38 
 
 
 
 

projects, including US Highway 36 and arterial BRT, or to programs that fund alternative 
modes of transportation.  
 
This city also supports the recent trend of turning to managed lanes as a practical solution 
for improving mobility by providing viable travel options in congested corridors. In fact, the 
city believes that any significant new lane capacity built with state funds be required to be 
managed. Managed lanes should result in regulation of demand to ensure choices for the 
traveler beyond the single occupancy vehicle by providing for the option of travel by bus and 
free or discounted access to high occupancy vehicles (“HOVs”), as well as allowing pricing to 
help manage corridor performance, such as dynamic, variable-priced tolls linked to 
congestion. Public-private partnerships (PPPs) are often essential to identifying funding to 
construct managed lanes. The challenge, however, is that the partnerships can sometimes 
focus too much on revenue generation and insufficiently on transportation performance. 
Moreover, decisions can be made by the state that do not receive sufficient vetting and/or 
oversight from the affected local governments. In order to ensure that only appropriate toll 
projects are built, the city would support legislation to require all PPPs for managed lanes to 
undergo a transparent approval process and to demonstrate maximization in the 
transportation of people (not just vehicles); reinvestment of at least a portion of toll operating 
revenues into the corridor for continued improvements; and prioritization of travel choices 
with a portion of toll revenues supporting transit and/or travel demand management, in 
order to maximize the value of the transportation investment and to ensure that lower-
income residents benefit from the public investment in a toll road. The city also support 
legislation mandating a determination by the appropriate Metropolitan Planning 
Organizations (MPOs) that all toll projects, including those which do not use state or federal 
funding, be analyzed for consistency with the development policies of the MPO’s plan, and 
that the MPOs assess implications of such projects on the region’s fiscal health, air and 
water quality, energy, climate change and long-term sustainability. Finally, the city would 
support legislation similar to HB12-1171 that would prohibit the use of so called “non 
compete” clauses which are sometimes included in PPPs to preclude maintenance of, or 
improvements to, existing roads (e.g., Highway 93) in order to increase travel demand on 
new tolled lanes. 
 
The city believes that new or existing funding should be used for regional priorities as 
determined by the area MPO, or, where no MPO exists, by the local Transportation Planning 
Region (TPR) where the improvements are supported by the affected local governments. The 
city also believes that state legislation should require MPOs and TPRs to model projects for 
their expected contribution to greenhouse gases and vehicle miles traveled and to prioritize 
those projects that reduce both.  
 
With regard to federal transportation funding, MAP-21, the latest federal transportation 
authorization bill, made continued funding for the federal government’s Safe Routes to 
School (SRTS) program beyond the 2013-14 fiscal year very unlikely. The SRTS program has 
proven itself a successful and popular program in Colorado. It has provided CDOT with 
approximately $2.5 million/year allowing capital and programmatic funding to flow to more 
than 500 schools across Colorado to improve safe access to schools, ranging from small towns 
like Ridgeway and Brush, to our largest cities like Denver and Colorado Springs. As a result, 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 48Packet Page 369



 

39 
 
 
 
 

the number of children walking and biking to school has increased by as much as 31 percent. 
SRTS helps make kids safer, improves congestion near schools, and gives students 
opportunities to become more comfortable with travel options at an early age. The 2014 Safe 
Routes to School Act (HB14-3012) directed $700,000 in general fund revenue to allow part of 
the programmatic functions to continue for the 2014-2015 fiscal year. The city would support 
legislation in 2015 that would provide funds to continue this program, helping ensure safe 
transportation for our most vulnerable population; our children.      
  

• REALIGN THE COLORADO TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION TO 
INCLUDE POPULATION, NOT JUST GEOGRAPHY, TO ENSURE 
FAIR REPRESENTATION OF THE METROPOLITAN AREA 

 

• PROMOTE “COMPLETE STREETS,” ACCOMMODATING ALL MODES 
OF TRAVEL 

 
The city supports legislation that furthers the concept of “Complete Streets” where modes are 
interconnected and a complete set of options are made available to improve efficiency and 
mobility for all.  The city also supports legislation that promotes sustainable transportation 
solutions recognizing energy sources, impacts of vehicle miles traveled, connections to land 
use, urban design, and increased accessibility for all. 
 

• OPPOSE LIMITATIONS ON THE CITY’S ABILITY TO REGULATE 
VEHICLE USE ON SIDEWALKS, MULTI-USE PATHWAYS, AND BIKE 
LANES, OR THAT REQUIRES THE CITY TO ALTER ITS CURRENT 
CODE IN ORDER TO MAINTAIN CURRENT POLICY ON ALLOWED 
USES OF THOSE FACILITIES 

 
The city’s current ordinances prohibit the use of Segways or motorized “toy vehicles” such as 
scooters, electric skateboards or mini bikes on sidewalks, multi-use paths or bike lanes. City-
initiated changes to such policies would best be informed by a public process where input 
from the various sidewalk, multi-use path, and trail users could be solicited and evaluated. 
The city opposes changes to state law that would require the city to change its policy or force 
an unnecessary and potentially controversial re-evaluation of its policy. 
 

• OPPOSE TRANSFERING THE MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES 
FOR REGIONAL HIGHWAYS FROM THE COLORADO DEPARTMENT 
OF TRANSPORTATION TO LOCAL GOVERNMENTS 

 
In past years, the Colorado General Assembly has been asked to consider legislation that 
would lead to the unilateral transfer to local governments of state highways. Boulder has 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 49Packet Page 370



 

40 
 
 
 
 

several state highways that would be subject to such “devolution,” including U.S. 36 and 
Highways 93, 7 and 119. The city believes that these types of regional highways, which 
service multiple communities and counties, need to remain the responsibility of the state 
government. 

• SUPPORT FLEXIBLE SOLUTIONS AND NEW FUNDING OPPORTUNITIES TO 
ADDRESS IMPACTS OF TRAIN HORN NOISE AND SUPPORT CREATION OF 
QUIET ZONES 

 
The city intends to participate in the upcoming Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) rule 
making process anticipated to open in late 2014/early 2015 2016 to modify the train horn rules and 
requirements to create quiet zones. Whether through that process or through legislative means, the 
city will support more flexible and affordable options that work within the context of the local 
communities and support the safety goals of the FRA as well as the sustainability goals of EPA, 
HUD, DOT (FTA & FHWA). Addressing train horn noise and quiet zones is important to achieve 
local, regional, and national goals for multimodal transportation options, safety, housing, jobs, and 
the environment. Opportunities to amend the FRA train horn rules and quiet zone requirements, as 
well as identify funding sources for implementation, will address existing community concerns 
caused by train horn noise and support transportation options and mixed use, transit oriented 
development areas within the core areas of the city and other communities located along the 
Burlington Northern Santa Fe railroad corridor. 
 

UNIVERSITY OF COLORADO 

• SUPPORT A RENEWED COMMITMENT BY THE STATE AND 
FEDERAL GOVERNMENTS TO FUND THE UNIVERSITY OF 
COLORADO AND ITS CAPITAL PROGRAMS 

 
The City of Boulder has been the proud home to the flagship campus of the University of 
Colorado (CU) since 1876. CU’s Boulder campus (CU-Boulder) brings to the city the Colorado 
Shakespeare Festival, the Conference on World Affairs, the CU Concerts and Artist Series, 
access to libraries, athletic events, noncredit courses, and numerous other social and cultural 
offerings, all of which significantly contribute to the city’s vibrancy. Furthermore, it directly 
employed 14,803 people in fiscal year (FY) 2011, 8,105 which were non-students (including 
temporary workers) earning average salaries of $57,216, accounting for 5.2 percent of total 
employment in Boulder County. Through research, teaching, operations, construction, 
student spending, and visitation, CU is an economic driver in Boulder County, contributing 
more than $1.5 billion in economic activity locally driven off $809 million in direct 
expenditures in the county in FY2011. This funding is by and large non-local, thus 
leveraging outside investment for the local economy. The presence of CU’s research facilities 
and the highly skilled labor force that CU produces, have attracted major federal facilities, 
satellite institutions, and major private firms to the city. Yet, as reflected in the above graph, 
state funding for CU-Boulder has seen a dramatic decline over the last decade, a decline that 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 50Packet Page 371



 

41 
 
 
 
 

is anticipated to continue over at least the next two years. In light of the extraordinary 
importance of CU to the city, the city will support state and federal legislation that provides 
a renewed attention to funding CU, its capital programs (currently facing a deferred 
maintenance backlog of approximately $500320 million), and particularly legislation that 
helps preserve the flagship status of the CU-Boulder campus.  
 

WATER 

• SUPPORT LEGISLATION THAT PROMOTES THE EFFICIENT 
UTILIZATION AND CONSERVATION OF WATER 

 
Boulder is on the forefront of support for water conservation and efficient utilization of 
water. Boulder uses a water budget rate structure to reward the efficient use of water and 
penalize wasteful practices. Boulder has adopted water conservation goals for build-out that 
will help meet the city's adopted reliability criteria for water supplies without significant 
new water acquisitions when fully using water sources already owned by the city. Water 
conservation can be an important public outreach and educational tool and can help to 
maximize reservoir storage levels and water use reductions needed during drought periods. 
Although the first priority for conserved water is drought protection and the extent to which 
the city can direct conserved water to any particular use is limited, when reservoirs are full, 
some conserved water can be provided for non-permanent uses such as annual agricultural 
leasing or instream flow enhancement. Accordingly, Boulder will support legislation that 
promotes water conservation, instream flow enhancement and the efficient utilization of 
water when such legislation is structured to also be protective of the city’s water rights. By 
way of example, the city would support legislation that would phase in a requirement that 
new indoor water fixtures (including toilets, urinals, showers and faucets) sold in Colorado 
meet reduced flush volume requirements consistent with the US Environmental Protection 
Agencies WaterSense guidelines, provided that the legislation would not mandate 
retrofitting nor require local governments to assure compliance. 
 

• OPPOSE SIGNIFICANT THREATS TO THE CITY’S WATER RIGHTS  
 
In prior years, Boulder has lost thousands of acre-feet of the city’s water because of the lack 
of proper well augmentation on the South Platte River. Loss of this reservoir water increases 
Boulder’s risk of severe water shortage during drought years. In non-drought years, the city 
supports Boulder Creek basin farmers through annual leases of any water in excess of the 
city's short-term and long-term needs for approximately $30 per acre foot.  Offsetting un-
augmented well use in the South Platte basin would represent a $120,000 loss to the city in a 
year that 4,000 acre-feet of water is given up and would also decrease water for Boulder 
Creek farmers by reducing the city's leasable supplies. If other water users with junior water 
rights were to operate without proper augmentation and cause Boulder to need to 
permanently replace the water rights for 4,000 acre-feet of municipal water to protect the 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 51Packet Page 372



 

42 
 
 
 
 

city against drought and any negative effects of climate change that might occur, it would 
cost $48,000,000 or more. 
 
Recent Colorado Supreme Court decisions have found that the State Engineer was not 
properly administering some water rights, such as for agricultural irrigation wells that were 
operating under junior water rights without providing senior water rights owners with 
sufficient augmentation water.  New state legislation passed in the years from 2003 to 2009 
clarifies that many well owners must file in water court for well augmentation plans and 
address the amount of augmentation water to be provided.  To protect the yield of its existing 
water rights, Boulder has coordinated with other water users owning senior surface water 
rights, including many farmers, to participate in water court cases and monitor legislative 
actions regarding water rights. Many of the underlying disputes have now been addressed.  
Nevertheless, some issues remain that may result in the General Assembly again becoming 
the arena for water bills that attempt to incrementally adjust, or in many cases by-pass, the 
state constitution’s Prior Appropriation Doctrine.   
 
Bills that may be introduced might include attempts to limit the amount of augmentation 
water that junior diverters are required to return to the river to less than their impact on 
more senior water rights or to replace the jurisdiction of water courts with state engineer 
authority such that decisions on the adequacy of augmentation plans would be less 
transparent and subject to political influence. The city is committed to the legal principle of 
maximum utilization of both surface water and groundwater and believes this can best be 
achieved through water court-approved augmentation plans rather than the political 
process. To the extent that future bills significantly threaten the city’s water rights, such as 
by shifting responsibility for well augmentation from well users to senior water rights 
owners, or increasing reliability for junior water rights by decreasing reliability for senior 
water rights, they will be vigorously opposed. 
 

Attachment A

Agenda Item 6A     Page 52Packet Page 373



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: Nov. 17, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE  
Motion to accept the city manager’s recommendation to disburse 2016 Human Services 
Fund allocations to community human service agencies.  

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Karen Rahn, Human Services Director 
Wendy Schwartz, Human Services Planning and Program Development Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This memorandum informs City Council of the 2016 Human Services Fund (HSF) awards of 
$2,056,188 to 45 programs administered by 34 community agencies. The HSF Advisory 
Committee (HSFAC) completed funding deliberations in September. The city manager approved 
the recommendations on Nov. 2, 2015. 

CITY MANAGER PRELIMINARY DECISION 
The city manager recommends council accept the funding recommendations proposed by the 
HSFAC and approved by the city manager and authorize the city manager to disburse $2,056,188 
in HSF funds. 

Suggested Motion Language:  
The city manager requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of 
the following motion: 

Motion to accept the city manager’s recommendation to disburse 2016 Human Services 
Fund allocations to community human service agencies.  

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic - More than $2 million will be allocated for programmatic operating expenses

to human services agencies serving Boulder residents in 2016. Many services provide
support that allows lower-income families and individuals to remain housed, employed and
contributing members of the community.

Agenda Item 6B     Page 1Packet Page 374



 Social - HSF funding provides a safety net of basic services, including physical and mental
health care, emergency shelter, transitional and permanent supportive housing and
programming to assist Boulder residents in meeting basic needs and achieving self-
sufficiency. HSF support also promotes a system of prevention and early intervention
services designed to preclude more costly treatment services before problems become
acute. Residents served by agencies receiving HSF funding are primarily diverse, lower-
income or at-risk populations.

BACKGROUND  
The 2016 allocation represents the twenty-second year of the HSF, established after passage of the 
0.15 percent sales and use tax in 1992. Beginning in 1992, 40 percent of the funds collected 
through this tax were used to fund human services. In 2009, a ballot initiative extended the 0.15 
percent sales and use tax indefinitely, and without restriction, to continue “to fund, without 
limitation, fire, police, library, parks, human services and other general fund purposes.”  

The 2016 HSF funding cycle was the third year in which HSF collaborative partners used 
e-CImpact - a regional, online grant management and application system (GMS). Collaborative 
use of the GMS with other partners fulfills a key objective of the regional Boulder County Human 
Services Strategic Plan (HSSP) and city goals of advancing regional human services planning and 
coordination of community funding. The four funding partners include the City of Boulder 
Department of Human Services, Boulder County, the City of Longmont and Foothills United 
Way. The Human Services Department serves as the project leader and system administrator for 
the GMS, managing the development and ongoing maintenance of the system and providing 
technical assistance to funding partners and applicants. 

The shared online system includes common impact areas, community outcomes and indicators for 
all four funders (Attachment A: 2016 Regional Impact Areas with Community Outcomes and 
Indicators). These impact areas are aligned with the five priority areas identified in the City of 
Boulder 2006-2015 Housing and Human Services Master Plan. 

Applications to the HSF are made through a competitive Request for Proposals (RFP) process 
during the late spring/early summer. The process for deliberations and developing 
recommendations included: 

 Technical assistance and training for local agencies interested in applying;
 HSFAC and staff review and analysis of applications;
 HSFAC interviews with applicant agencies regarding their proposals;
 HSFAC deliberations and recommendations;
 Preliminary recommendations communicated to applicants; and
 Recommendations to city manager.

ANALYSIS 
The City of Boulder received funding requests totaling $3,095,906 for 53 programs from 46 
agencies. A total of $2,056,188 was available for 2016 funding. The competition for funds 
resulted in difficult funding decisions, based on the established criteria. (Attachment B: 2016 
HSF Awards and Requests by Impact Area) lists 2016 HSFAC funding recommendations, 
including programs not funded, by impact area. Of 53 total program applications received; 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 2Packet Page 375

http://www.buildinglivablecommunities.org/
http://www.buildinglivablecommunities.org/
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/Housing_and_Human_Services_Master_Plan-1-201307091501.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/Housing_and_Human_Services_Master_Plan-1-201307091501.pdf


 8 did not meet eligibility criteria;
 5 are recommended at the full amount of their request;
 34 are recommended at less than their 2016 request; and
 6 are not recommended for funding.

(Attachment C: 2016 HSF Awards and Requests by Alphabetical Order) lists the 2016 awards in 
alphabetical order with agency totals for those agencies receiving multiple funding awards. 

In addition to assessing alignment to the impact areas, outcomes and indicators, the HSFAC 
(Attachment D: HSFAC Members) evaluated proposals based on technical criteria established in 
the RFP, the funding application and funding guidelines. 

In addition to the HSF allocations identified in these recommendations, the Boulder Homeless 
Services Collaborative request (via Bridge House proposal) for day shelter and services is being 
funded from Human Services Department budget in the amount of $100,000. This funding was set 
aside in 2015 for a collaborative pilot project which would advance city goals to improve 
emergency services coordination and integration. Additional information about this project is 
included in the footnotes to Attachments B and C. 

The Human Services Department is currently updating the Human Services Strategy. Changes to 
city funding priorities and criteria will be considered by council in the 1st and 2nd quarters of 2016.

NEXT STEPS 
 December 2015 – January 2016 - Negotiation and execution of contracts with funded

agencies
 Agencies receive first half of awards in early 2016
 Funded agencies submit midyear progress report in July 2016. Contingent upon meeting

midyear goals, agencies receive second half of 2016 funds
 Agencies submit final reports by end of January 2017

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A: 2016 Regional Impact Areas with Community Outcomes and Indicators 
Attachment B: 2016 HSF Awards and Requests by Impact Area  
Attachment C: 2016 HSF Awards and Requests by Alphabetical Order 
Attachment D: HSFAC Members 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 3Packet Page 376



ATTACHMENT A: 2016 Regional Impact Areas with Community Outcomes and Indicators 

2016 Impact Areas, Outcomes and Indicators  Revised May 2015 

Impact Area 1: Preparing low-income and at-risk children and youth for success 
A. Outcome: Children are school-ready upon entering kindergarten. 

Indicators: 
 Percentage of families provided quality, affordable and/or culturally competent child care

options; 
 Percentage of parents acquiring  knowledge and skills to prepare children for school;
 Percentage of parental involvement and engagement in their child’s early childhood education;
 Percentage of young children who exhibit developmentally-appropriate language, learning,

cognitive and literacy skills; 
 Percentage of young children with social-emotional competence; and
 Percentage of young children provided preventive and comprehensive medical, dental, mental

and behavioral health care.

B. Outcome: Youth are healthy and successful in school and have the skills necessary for self-
sufficiency and success as an adult. 

Indicators: 
 Percentage of students who have four or more absences during any one month or 10 days

during a school year; 
 Percentage of youth engaging in risk behaviors (as defined by the Youth Risk Behavior

Survey); 
 Percentage of youth who graduate from high school;
 Percentage of dropout youth who obtain their GED;
 Percentage of youth who complete career technical training or post-secondary education;
 Percentage of parental involvement and engagement in their child’s education; and
 Percentage of youth with significant or chronic disabilities or special needs with a transition

plan to adult-centered services and/or adult life.

Impact Area 2: Improving economic well-being, independence and self-reliance for adults 
A. Outcome: Individuals and families have a path toward greater financial independence and security. 

Indicators: 
 Percentage of adults who complete basic adult literacy and/or GED;
 Percentage of individuals completing career or job readiness training;
 Percentage of lower-income individuals acquiring skills to maintain stable housing,

employment, education and/or assets;
 Percentage of individuals who establish a support network of resources and services in order to

avoid crisis ; and
 Percentage of individuals moving toward increased wages or stable income to meet basic

needs and away from (or decreased) public or private assistance.

B. Outcome: Individuals who have continuing and long-term needs achieve or maintain 
healthy, safe and independent lives to the maximum extent possible. 

Indicators: 
 Percentage of individuals provided community-based services and resources;
 Percentage of individuals provided transportation ; and

Agenda Item 6B     Page 4Packet Page 377



ATTACHMENT A: 2016 Regional Impact Areas with Community Outcomes and Indicators 

 Percentage of elderly and/or individuals with disabilities who are able to maintain independent
living. 

  Impact Area 3: Meeting basic needs for individuals and families 
Outcome: Individuals and families at-risk or in crisis access services to help meet immediate and/or 
basic needs.  

Indicators: 
 Percentage of individuals and/or families provided affordable, nutritious food;
 Percentage of individuals and/or families provided transportation;
 Percentage of individuals and/or families enrolling in public benefits ;
 Percentage of individuals and/or families who are at-risk of homelessness receiving short-term

assistance to prevent homelessness;
 Percentage of homeless individuals and/or families provided emergency shelter;
 Percentage of homeless individuals and/or families moving into transitional housing;
 Percentage of homeless individuals and/or families moving into permanent supportive or permanent

housing;
 Percentage of individuals and/or families provided preventive support and treatment for dental,

mental and physical health care;
 Percentage of clients that develop, implement and/or complete recovery/treatment/service plans;
 Percentage of individuals and/or families receiving emergency services referred to other agencies

for longer term case management and/or services ; and
 Percentage of individuals and/or families with a medical home.

Impact Area 4: Building a safer community 
Outcome: Individuals and families access services to prevent and reduce interpersonal violence 
in their lives; remain safe and crime-free in their neighborhoods; and have the tools and resources 
to prevent future harm. 

Indicators: 
 Percentage of individuals and/or families provided services that provide safety;
 Percentage of individuals and/or families provided prevention and education resources;*
 Percentage of individuals and/or families who establish a support network to help remain free

from abuse or recidivism;
 Percentage of individuals who establish a support network and do not re-offend 12

months after completion of restorative justice or release from correctional
institutions;* and

 Percentage of individuals engaged in education, job training activities, or employment
during 12 months after release from a correctional institution.*

*The City of Boulder does not currently fund these indicators.

Agenda Item 6B     Page 5Packet Page 378



ATTACHMENT B: 2016 HSF Awards by Impact Area 

2016 Human Services Fund Awards by Impact Area 
Impact Area: Children and Youth 

Agency Program 2015 
Award 

2016 
Requested 

2016 
Approved 

Acorn School 
Wilderness Center for Early Childhood 
Education 

$15,000 $25,000 $0 

Alternatives For Youth iTHRIVE $10,000 $20,000 $10,000 
Association for Community Living in 
Boulder County 

Child and Family Empowerment Program $0 $10,000 $0 

Boulder County Public Health 
GENESIS $40,000 $50,000 $40,000 
GENESISTER $0 $40,000 $15,000 

Boulder Day Nursery Early Learning Programs $65,000 $68,000 $65,000 

Boulder Valley School District 
Boulder High School Adelante! Program  $30,000  $54,000 $30,000 
Teen Parent Program  $15,000  $25,000 $15,000 

Children's House Preschool First Chance Scholarship $25,000 $30,000 $25,000 

Family Learning Center, The 
School Readiness $54,000  $55,620 $50,000 
Youth Development $13,738 $14,150 $10,000 

I Have A Dream Foundation 
Oak Dreamers and Pre-Collegiate Pathways to 
College and Career 

$0 $100,000 $46,188 

In Reach (formerly Boulder Institute 
for Psychotherapy and Research) 

Early Childhood Program: Bright by Three + 
Zero to Five 

$0 $25,000 $15,000 

New Horizons Cooperative Preschool Bilingual Early Childhood Education $42,000 $42,000 $42,000 
Project YES (Youth Envisioning 
Social Change) 

Ongoing Engagement for Low Income and At-
Risk Boulder County Youth  

$0 $10,000 $0 

YMCA of Boulder Valley Youth and Teen Programs $0 $20,000 $0 
YWCA Latina Achievement Support $25,000 $30,000 $15,000 

Total Children and Youth $618,770 $378,188 

Impact Area: Self-Sufficiency 

Agency Program 2015 Award 
2016 

Requested 
2016 

Approved 
Association for Community Living in 
Boulder County 

Adult Empowerment Program $5,000 $10,000 $0 

Boulder County AIDS Project HIV Care and Prevention Services $25,000 $30,000 $25,000 

Boulder County Legal Services 
Critical Legal Services for Low-Income COB 
Residents 

$19,000 $19,000 $19,000 

Boulder Pride Basic Services for the Transgender Community $0 $10,000 $0 
Bridge House Ready to Work and Employment Services $50,000 $100,000 $50,000i 
Bridge to Justice Post-Decree Services $5,000 $11,600 $5,000 
Boulder County CareConnect Safety Net and Community Outreach Services $29,000 $50,000 $25,000 
Center for People with Disabilities Core Services $40,000 $65,000 $35,000 
Community Action Development 
Corporation 

Circles $11,265 $10,000 $10,000 

Earth Tribe Ranch Full Circle Wellness Shelter $0 $100,000 $0 

Foothills United Way Personal Investment Enterprise (PIE) Program $27,935 $35,155 $35,000 

Immigrant Legal Center of Boulder Immigrant Legal Services $23,000 $24,000 $23,000 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 6Packet Page 379



ATTACHMENT B: 2016 HSF Awards by Impact Area 

County 

Intercambio de Comunidades 
English Language and Life Skills Education for 
Adult Immigrants 

$20,000 $30,000 $20,000 

Thistle Community Housing Thistle Communities $0 $32,731 $0 

Veterans Helping Veterans Now 
Veteran and Family Mental Health and 
Wellness Services 

$15,000 $22,400 $0ii 

YWCA of Boulder County Children’s Alley Child Care $65,000 $70,000 $65,000 
Total Self Sufficiency $619,886 $312,000 

Impact Area: Basic Needs 

Agency Program 2015 
Award 

2016 
Requested 

2016 
Approved 

Agape Family Services Emergency Warming Center $0 $10,000 $0 
Attention Homes Meeting Basic Needs for At-Risk Youth $40,000 $50,000 $40,000 
Boulder Outreach for Homeless 
Overflow 

Emergency Warming Centers $20,000 $30,000 $20,000 

Boulder Shelter for the Homeless Boulder Shelter Programs $120,000 $130,000 $120,000 
Boulder Valley Women's Health 
Center  

Subsidized Reproductive and Sexual Health 
Services and Education Program 

$100,000 $110,000 $98,000 

Bridge House 
Day Shelter and Community Table Meals 
Resource Center and Case Management 

$40,000 $300,000iii $40,000 

Clinica Campesina Family Health 
Services 

Health Care for Low-Income Residents $300,000 $350,000 $290,000 

Community Food Share Food Procurement and Food Distribution Program $5,000 $20,000 $5,000 
Dental Aid Safety Net Dental Services $125,000 $140,000 $125,000 
Emergency Family Assistance 
Association 

Shelter and Basic Needs $125,000 $155,000 $125,000 

Growing Gardens 
Growing Gardens Food Project (formerly Fresh 
Food Families and Fitness) 

$0 $10,000 $0 

Mental Health Partners 
Mental Health Wellness Services for Severely 
Mentally Ill Individuals 

$350,000 $360,500 $350,000 

Mother House Mother House $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 
Total Basic Needs $1,675,500 $1,223,000 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 7Packet Page 380



ATTACHMENT B: 2016 HSF Awards by Impact Area 

i
 Bridge House, Boulder Shelter for the Homeless and Boulder Outreach for Homeless Overflow (BOHO), collectively known as 
the Boulder Homeless Services Collaborative (BHSC), have been coordinating and improving the adult homeless emergency 
services system in the city. The city and county of Boulder have partnered to jointly support expanded day shelter and Resource 
Center services as a pilot project, with each contributing $100,000 in addition to ongoing operating funding including the HSF 
amounts reflected above.  The Community Foundation and Denver Foundation have each committed $30,000 to the project. The 
city and county are working with the BHSC to develop specific metrics for this pilot and assess outcomes at the end of this 
sheltering season. More information about this pilot project is included in the Oct. 27, 2015 Study Session memo 
“Homelessness: Update on Public Engagement Process, Initiatives and 2015-16 Sheltering Season.” 

ii
 Veterans Helping Veterans Now closed its doors on October 30, 2015. 

iii
 See footnote i above.  

Impact Area: Safety 

Agency Program 2015 
Award 

2016 
Requested 

2016 
Approved 

Blue Sky Bridge Child and Family Advocacy Program $25,000 $30,000 $25,000 

Boulder County Legal Services 
Legal Services for Victims of Domestic 
Violence 

$18,000 $18,000 $18,000 

Children First of the Rockies SAFE Services $5,000 $10,000 $5,000 
FOCUS Reentry FOCUS Reentry $5,000 $10,000 $0 
Rocky Mountain Legal Center Rocky Mountain Legal Center $0 $10,000 $0 
Safehouse Progressive Alliance for 
Nonviolence   

Services for Victims of Domestic Violence 
and their Children 

$93,000 $97,250 $95,000 

Voices For Children CASA Court-Appointed Special Advocate (CASA) $5,000 $6,500 $0 
Total Safety  $181,750 $143,000 

Total HSF $3,095,906 $2,056,188 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 8Packet Page 381

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/10-27-2015_Homelessness_Update_on_Public_Engagement_Process_-_Initiatives_and_2015-16_Sheltering_Season-1-201510261609.pdf


ATTACHMENT C: 2016 HSF Awards and Requests by Alphabetical Order 

2016 Human Services Fund Awards by Alphabetical Order 

Agency Program 2015 
Award 

2016 
Requested 

2016 
Approved 

Acorn School Wilderness Center for Early Childhood 
Education $15,000 $25,000 $0 

Agape Family Services Emergency Warming Center $0 $10,000 $0 

Alternatives For Youth iTHRIVE $10,000 $20,000 $10,000 

Association for Community Living 
(Total 2015 agency funding $5,000) 
(Total 2016 agency funding $0) 

Adult Empowerment Program $5,000 $10,000 $0 

Child and Family Empowerment Program $0 $10,000 $0 

Attention Homes Meeting Basic Needs for At-Risk Youth $40,000 $50,000 $40,000 

Blue Sky Bridge Child and Family Advocacy Program $25,000 $30,000 $25,000 

Boulder County AIDS Project HIV Care and Prevention Services $25,000 $30,000 $25,000 

Boulder County CareConnect Safety Net and Community Outreach 
Services $29,000 $50,000 $25,000 

Boulder County Legal Services 
(Total 2015 agency funding $37,000) 
(Total 2016 agency funding $37,000) 

Critical Legal Services for Low-Income 
COB Residents $19,000 $19,000 $19,000 

Legal Services for Victims of Domestic 
Violence $18,000 $18,000 $18,000 

Boulder County Public Health 
(Total 2015 agency funding $40,000) 
(Total 2016 agency funding $55,000) 

GENESIS $40,000 $50,000 $40,000 

GENESISTER $0 $40,000 $15,000 

Boulder Day Nursery Early Learning Programs $65,000 $68,000 $65,000 

Boulder Outreach for Homeless 
Overflow  Emergency Warming Centers $20,000 $30,000 $20,000 

Boulder Pride Basic Services for the Transgender 
Community $0 $10,000 $0 

Boulder Shelter for the Homeless Boulder Shelter Programs $120,000 $130,000 $120,000 

Boulder Valley School District 
(Total 2015 agency funding $45,000) 
(Total 2016 agency funding $45,000) 

Boulder High School Adelante! Program $30,000 $54,000 $30,000 

Teen Parent Program $15,000 $25,000 $15,000 

Boulder Valley Women’s Health 
Center 

Subsidized Reproductive and Sexual 
Health Services and Education Program $100,000 $110,000 $98,000 

Bridge House 
(Total 2015 agency funding $90,000) 
(Total 2016 agency funding $90,000) 

Day Shelter & Community Table Meals 
Resource Center & Case Management $40,000 $300,000i $40,000 

Ready to Work and Employment Services $50,000 $100,000ii $50,000 
Bridge to Justice Post-Decree Services $5,000 $11,600 $5,000 

Center for People with Disabilities Core Services $40,000 $65,000 $35,000 

Children First of the Rockies SAFE Services $5,000 $10,000 $5,000 

Children's House Preschool First Chance Scholarship $25,000 $30,000 $25,000 

Clinica Campesina Family Health 
Services Health Care for Low-Income Residents $300,000 $350,000 $290,000 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 9Packet Page 382



ATTACHMENT C: 2016 HSF Awards and Requests by Alphabetical Order 

Community Food Share Food Procurement and Food Distribution 
Program $5,000 $20,000 $5,000 

Dental Aid Safety Net Dental Services $125,000 $140,000 $125,000 

Earth Tribe Ranch Full Circle Wellness Shelter $0 $100,000 $0 
Emergency Family Assistance 
Association Shelter and Basic Needs $125,000 $155,000 $125,000 

Family Learning Center, The 
(Total 2015 agency funding $67,738) 
(Total 2016 agency funding $60,000) 

School Readiness $54,000 $55,620 $50,000 

Youth Development $13,738 $14,150 $10,000 

FOCUS Reentry FOCUS Reentry $5,000 $10,000 $0 

Foothills United Way Personal Investment Enterprise (PIE) 
Program $27,935 $35,155 $35,000 

Growing Gardens Growing Gardens Food Project (formerly 
Fresh Food Families and Fitness) $0 $10,000 $0 

I Have A Dream Foundation Oak Dreamers and Pre-Collegiate 
Pathways to College and Career $0 $100,000 $46,188 

Immigrant Legal Center of Boulder 
County Immigrant Legal Services $23,000 $24,000 $23,000 

InReach (formerly Boulder Institute 
for Psychotherapy and Research) 

Early Childhood Program: Bright By 
Three + Zero to Five $0 $25,000 $15,000 

Intercambio de Comunidades English Language and Life Skills 
Education for Adult Immigrants $20,000 $30,000 $20,000 

Mental Health Partners Mental Health Wellness Services for 
Severely Mentally Ill Individuals $350,000 $360,500 $350,000 

Mother House Mother House $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 

New Horizons Cooperative 
Preschool Bilingual Early Childhood Education $42,000 $42,000 $42,000 

Project YES Ongoing Engagement for Low Income and 
At-Risk Boulder County Youth $0 $10,000 $0 

Rocky Mountain Legal Center Rocky Mountain Legal Center $0 $10,000 $0 

Safehouse Progressive Alliance for 
Nonviolence  

Services for Victims of Domestic Violence 
and their Children $93,250 $97,250 $95,000 

Thistle Community Housing Thistle Communities $0 $32,731 $0 

Agency Program 2015 
Award 

2016 
Requested 

2016 
Approved 

Community Action Development 
Corporation Circles $11,265 $10,000 $10,000 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 10Packet Page 383



ATTACHMENT C: 2016 HSF Awards and Requests by Alphabetical Order 

Agency Program 2015 
Award 

2016 
Requested 

2016 
Approved 

Veterans Helping Veterans Now Veteran and Family Member Mental Health 
and Wellness Services $15,000 $22,400iii $0 

Voices For Children CASA Court-Appointed Special Advocate (CASA) $5,000 $6,500 $0 

YMCA of Boulder Valley Youth and Teen Programs $0 $20,000 $0 

YWCA  
(Total 2015 agency funding $90,000) 
(Total 2016 agency funding $80,000) 

Children’s Alley Child Care $65,000 $70,000 $65,000 

Latina Achievement Support $25,000 $30,000 $15,000 

Total HSF $3,095,906 $2,056,188 

i
 Bridge House, Boulder Shelter for the Homeless and Boulder Outreach for Homeless Overflow (BOHO), collectively 
known as the Boulder Homeless Services Collaborative (BHSC), have been coordinating and improving the adult homeless 
emergency services system in the city. The city and county of Boulder have partnered to jointly support expanded day shelter 
and Resource Center services as a pilot project, with each contributing $100,000 in addition to ongoing operating funding 
including the HSF amounts reflected above. The Community Foundation and Denver Foundation have each committed 
$30,000 to the project. The city and county are working with the BHSC to develop specific metrics for this pilot and assess 
outcomes at the end of this sheltering season. More information about this pilot project is included in the Oct. 27, 2015 Study 
Session memo “Homelessness: Update on Public Engagement Process, Initiatives and 2015-16 Sheltering Season.” 

ii
 See footnote i above. 

iii Veterans Helping Veterans Now closed its doors on Oct. 30, 2015. 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 11Packet Page 384

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/10-27-2015_Homelessness_Update_on_Public_Engagement_Process_-_Initiatives_and_2015-16_Sheltering_Season-1-201510261609.pdf


ATTACHMENT D: HSFAC Members 

Human Services Fund Advisory Committee Members 

Mary Friedrichs , LCSW, BCD 
Licensed clinical social worker with expertise in mental 
health services throughout the different stages of the 
developmental lifecycle 

Lynn Gilbert, RN, CPNP, PhD, FAAN Retired nurse practitioner with expertise in early childhood 
development 

Dr. Stephanie Greenberg, PhD Human services research consultant and analyst 

Will Murray Community member with local nonprofit expertise 

Agenda Item 6B     Page 12Packet Page 385



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: Nov. 17, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE 
Motion to authorize the city manager to release a Request for Proposals (RFP) for 
Recreational Marijuana Education for Children, Youth and Families.  

PRESENTER/S 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Karen Rahn, Human Services Director 
Wendy Schwartz, Human Services Planning and Program Development Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
In the 2014 and 2015 budgets, City Council appropriated $250,000 each year from recreational 
marijuana tax revenues to the Human Services Department to implement a recreational marijuana 
(RMJ) education program, targeted for children and youth. The work program was included in the 
department 2015 work plan. The proposed program is within the $250,000 appropriated by City 
Council for RMJ education for children and youth in the 2015 budget. 

Research indicates that early use of marijuana and other substances has significant effects on brain 
development, which occurs into early adulthood.1 Some youth and their parents may be unaware
of these impacts. Youth surveys in Boulder indicate a low perception of risk associated with 
marijuana, particularly among certain sub-groups of students.2 Education around accidental
marijuana ingestion among children is also needed. According to the Colorado Department of 
Public Health and Environment (CDPHE), statewide rates of hospitalizations with possible 
marijuana exposure increased among children age nine and under during the first six months of 
20143 following the legal sales of recreational marijuana.

Although legalization of recreational marijuana is relatively new, there are a number of best 
practices that have demonstrated effectiveness in preventing or reducing youth substance use. In 

1 Squeglia, B.A., Jacobus, J., Tapert, S. F. (2009). The influence of substance use on adolescent brain development. 
Clinical EEG and Neuroscience. 40(1):31-38. 
2 Boulder County. (2013). Boulder Valley School District – High School, 2013 Youth Risk Behavior Survey. 
3 Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment. (2014). Monitoring health concerns related to marijuana 
in Colorado: 2014. Retrieved from CDPHE website: https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/cdphe/monitoring-marijuana-
related-health-effects. 

Agenda Item 6C     Page 1Packet Page 386



addition, multiple community organizations, including two coalitions in Boulder, are currently 
working on related efforts that leverage many best practices. 

After considering previous council feedback, best practices for youth substance use reduction, and 
current community efforts, staff recommends releasing a Request for Proposal (RFP) to implement 
an RMJ education program for children, youth and families. This approach leverages existing 
community programs, avoids duplication and helps focus a single community message related to 
the risks of marijuana use at a young age. This plan also incorporates a holistic and integrated 
approach to substance use and harm reduction for children and youth. This memo outlines 
proposed key goals, principles and process for city RMJ funding and the proposed RFP; and 
recommends council authorize the city manager to release an RFP within these guidelines. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to authorize the city manager to release a Request for Proposal (RFP) for 
Recreational Marijuana Education for children, youth and families.  

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Social – Effective education and prevention programs can reduce substance use among

young people, negative social impacts and resulting long-term impacts on children and
youth.

OTHER IMPACTS 
 Fiscal – The proposed program is within the $250,000 appropriated by City Council for

RMJ education for children and youth in the 2015 budget. Funds of $250,000 were also
appropriated by City Council in the 2014 budget, however the RMJ education work plan
was implemented in 2015. The 2014 appropriation reverted to fund balance, and will be
included in a supplemental budget request for future funding to the community.

 Staff time – Anticipated staff time is included in the current Human Services Department
budget.

BACKGROUND 
Recreational Marijuana Taxes and Intended Use 
On Nov. 5, 2013 City of Boulder voters approved Ordinance 7916, which authorized the city to 
impose an excise tax of up to 10 percent and a sales and use tax of up to 10 percent on recreational 
marijuana sales to offset some of the indirect costs of recreational marijuana. 

Boulder Revised Code Section 3-14-1 expresses the Legislative Intent of revenues generated by 
these taxes: 

 “…although the city council recognizes that it cannot bind future city councils, it 
nonetheless declares its intention that sufficient revenues generated by this tax be 
appropriated by future city councils for public safety, enforcement and administrative 
purposes and for comprehensive substance abuse programs including, without limitation, 

Agenda Item 6C     Page 2Packet Page 387



prevention, treatment, education, responsible use, intervention, and monitoring, with an 
emphasis on youth…” 

In the 2014 and 2015 budgets, City Council appropriated $250,000 each year from recreational 
marijuana tax revenues to the Human Services Department to “develop and implement 
community-wide educational program(s) for children, youth and families, related to the impacts of 
recreational marijuana use on young people, in concert with community partners, including 
Boulder County Public Health (BCPH), Boulder Valley School District (BVSD), Mental Health 
Partners and nonprofits. Scope, develop and implement messaging and support existing best 
practice community education and support programs.”   

Importance of Prevention and Education Programs for Youth 
Brain development occurs from birth through early adulthood. Exposure to alcohol and drugs 
during critical neurological development may interrupt the natural course of brain maturation and 
key processes of brain development. 4

Cognitive deficits resulting from alcohol and drugs have potentially harmful implications for 
subsequent academic, occupational and social functioning extending into adulthood. While it is 
sometimes assumed that marijuana use is not linked to long-term cognitive deficits, recent data 
suggest that even after four weeks of monitored abstinence, adolescents who regularly smoked 
marijuana performed poorer on performance tests of learning, cognitive flexibility, visual 
scanning, error commission and working memory.5 Children, youth and their parents and
guardians may be unaware of the potential long-term impacts of marijuana use.  

Marijuana is often perceived as a “safe” drug, and recent legalization of use by adults in Colorado 
may contribute to that perception. In the 2013Youth Risk Behavior Survey (YRBS), only 55 
percent of BVSD high school students thought people who use marijuana regularly have 
moderate/great risk of harming themselves, while 83 percent of BVSD high school students 
thought people who binge drink each weekend have moderate/great risk of harming themselves. 
Perceptions of marijuana risk are lower among older students and lesbian, gay, bi-sexual or 
questioning (LGBQ) youth. YRBS data also indicate that approximately one in five BVSD high 
school students has used marijuana in the past 30 days. Although only 6 percent of BVSD middle 
school students reported marijuana use in the past 30 days, disparities existed between use by 
white non-Hispanic students (4 percent) and Hispanic students (15 percent).   

 Education around accidental marijuana ingestion among children is also needed. According to 
CDPHE, statewide rates of hospitalizations with possible marijuana exposures in children age nine 
and under increased more than five-fold after legalization in Colorado of medical marijuana and 
experienced another three-fold increase during the first six months of 2014, following the legal 
sales of recreational marijuana. 6

4 Squeglia, p31-38. 
5 Squeglia, p31-38. 
6 Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment. (2014). Monitoring health concerns related to marijuana 
in Colorado: 2014.Retrieved from CDPHE website on 27 Oct 2015: 
https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/cdphe/monitoring-marijuana-related-health-effects. 

Agenda Item 6C     Page 3Packet Page 388



Current Community Efforts Related to Youth Substance Use 
A number of community coalitions and organizations are addressing youth substance use in 
Boulder, including marijuana. These groups represent a wide range of community partners and 
stakeholders including BVSD, health care providers, nonprofits, parent organizations, University 
of Colorado, and City of Boulder programs such as the Prevention and Intervention program, 
Family Resource Schools Program, Community Mediation Program, Youth Opportunities 
Program and Municipal Court. 

The State of Colorado, through CDPHE, has launched the Good to Know awareness campaign 
aimed at providing information on legal use of marijuana. This campaign is not specific to youth, 
but does include information for parents. The State of Colorado also periodically releases grant 
funding opportunities for substance abuse prevention programs, including programs for youth. 
One local coalition, Reducing Substance Abuse (RSA) Coalition, was recently awarded funds 
from the Colorado Office of Behavioral Health to support Substance Abuse Prevention Coalitions. 
Programs supported by this grant include coalition capacity building, youth engagement, strategies 
related to communications/messaging and pro-social activities. Additional information on RSA 
and other current community programs is included in (Attachment A: Existing Community 
Programs). 

CDPHE has also provided a number of fact sheets and guidance around marijuana for community 
agencies in English and Spanish, opportunities for technical assistance, a Retail Marijuana 
Education Program and training in positive youth development and marijuana education. 
Resources can be found here. Colorado’s Office of Behavioral Health provides an online parent 
resource called speaknow!, which allows parents to choose their child’s age group to ensure the 
information is age-friendly. 

Existing community efforts target substance abuse prevention, intervention and treatment for legal 
and illegal drugs, including marijuana. The goal of the City of Boulder RMJ education funding is 
to further integration and consistency of existing and new information among local organizations, 
leveraging efforts to deliver a more cohesive and complete community message.  

Best Practice 
Although legal use of recreational marijuana is new, with Colorado and Washington as the first 
two implementing states, substantial research has been done on substance use education and 
prevention for youth related to marijuana and other legal and illegal drugs. According to the 
United States Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) and the 
National Institute on Drug Abuse, examples of common elements of successful substance use 
prevention and reduction programs for young people include: 

 Parent involvement;
 Interactive techniques such as peer discussion groups and parent role playing;
 Information about harms is more effective when combined with skill building activities

and promotion of protective factors;
 Prevention programs should enhance protective factors and reverse or reduce risk factors;
 Prevention programs should address the type of drug abuse problem in the local

community, target modifiable risk factors and strengthen identified protective factors; and

Agenda Item 6C     Page 4Packet Page 389

http://goodtoknowcolorado.com/
https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/cdphe/RetailMarijuanaTA
http://speaknowcolorado.org/


 Community prevention programs that combine two or more effective programs, such as
family-based and school-based programs, can be more effective than a single program
alone.

Additional principles of effective prevention programs are located at Drug Facts: Lessons from 
Prevention Research. 

Other RMJ Outreach/Education Programs – Washington State 
Limited precedent exists for outreach and education programs specific to RMJ. The first two states 
to legalize RMJ – Colorado and Washington – are still in early stages of implementation.  

Washington State Initiative 502 created a dedicated marijuana fund, consisting of excise taxes, 
license fees, penalties, and forfeitures, and specified the disbursement of this money for a variety 
of health, education and research purposes. Washington State legislation instructs the Washington 
Department of Behavioral Health and Recovery to implement and maintain programs and 
practices that will be evidence-based (85 percent) with the remaining 15 percent being research-
based or a promising practice. A Washington program specific to youth is the Washington Healthy 
Youth Coalition, which is charged with:  

 Creating, maintaining and promoting the www.starttalkingnow.org website for parents,
caregivers, educators and other adult influencers; and

 Planning and implementing statewide education campaigns, providing educational
materials to community-based organizations and schools.

ANALYSIS 
Proposed Approach 
Given that best practices in youth substance use prevention suggest a broad-based approach 
including a variety of strategies and that a number of community partners and coalitions have 
related programs underway consistent with best practices, staff recommends that city RMJ 
education funding be allocated to the community through a RFP process. This approach leverages 
existing community infrastructure and programs, rather than creating a duplicative city-operated 
program.  

Council direction and background research have guided staff in developing the following key 
goals, principles and process for city RMJ education funding and the proposed RFP.  

Funding purpose 
Develop and implement community-wide information and educational programs, with a consistent 
message for children, youth and families related to the impacts of RMJ use on children and youth. 

Desired RMJ program outcomes 
 Widespread community distribution and awareness of information and programs

developed;
 Shift community perceptions of risk associated with RMJ, related to children, youth and

families;
 Prevent/reduce children and youth use of RMJ; and
 Reduce accidental ingestion of marijuana.

Agenda Item 6C     Page 5Packet Page 390

http://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugfacts/lessons-prevention-research
http://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugfacts/lessons-prevention-research
http://www.starttalkingnow.org/


Progress on these goals would be measurable, with tracking and reporting at regular intervals. 

Leveraging Existing Community Efforts, Consistent Community-wide Messaging 
 Program should be integrated with and complementary to, existing youth substance use

education and prevention efforts in the community, including efforts by BCPH, BVSD,
Mental Health Partners (MHP) and nonprofits.

 With numerous community partners already doing related work, funding is not intended to
create a new city program or direct city services.

 Preference for a partnership approach - multiple partners applying a “collective impact”
model to achieve community goals, and/or leverage other sources of funding to achieve
goals.

 Preference for innovation in partnerships and collective efforts, in contrast to a group of
providers continuing existing services.

 Program should have broad community impact with consistent messaging.
 City RMJ education funding should not supplant funding for existing programs.

Target Populations and Program Focus 
 Program should focus on City of Boulder children, youth and families.
 Education program should be community-wide, and include a plan to reach higher risk

youth subpopulations that typically report lower perceptions of marijuana risk and higher
rates of use.

 Focus of program activities should be education and prevention. Although funding is not
intended for treatment, some treatment activities may be considered as part of a
comprehensive education and prevention program.

 Program should operate within broader context of substance abuse, but be targeted
specifically to RMJ and youth.

 Program should be aligned with best practices in substance use prevention and education
for youth.

 Proposed programs should demonstrate involvement of target population in program
design.

Sustainability 
 Although city funding is anticipated to be appropriated for the RMJ education program for

more than one year, this funding should be viewed as “start up” or seed funding. The RMJ
community education program should be designed for sustainability if city funding is
reduced or eliminated in future years.

Recommended Process and Structure for RMJ Education Program  
An RFP would be released to invite community coalitions or organizations to submit proposals to 
implement an RMJ education program, aligned with the city goals and principles described above. 

Proposals would be reviewed by a city staff advisory committee including, but not limited to, 
representatives from the following city departments and technical advisory board: 

 Human Services
 Youth Opportunities Advisory Board (YOAB)
 A representative of the Human Services Fund Advisory Committee

Agenda Item 6C     Page 6Packet Page 391



The committee would make funding recommendations to the city manager. City Manager 
recommendations would be presented to City Council for acceptance.  

More than one proposal may be funded. However, staff recommends that the city funds be 
allocated to coalitions or programs in which multiple partners apply a combination of strategies 
toward a consistent, coordinated message to closely align with the goals and principles described 
above. 

Studies suggest that long-term repeated interventions are most effective in youth substance use 
prevention, with changes in social norms, perceptions and behaviors taking place gradually over 
time.7 Staff recommends a funding term of up to five years for the RMJ education program, with
annual funding contingent on approval by council and achievement of annual program 
benchmarks and outcomes. Modifications may be made annually with experience and outcomes or 
new education programs or methodologies showing promise considered.  

NEXT STEPS 
If the proposed project is approved by council, staff will proceed with the following steps: 

 RFP released – December 2015
 Funding recommendations to city manager – February 2016
 Funding recommendations to council – March 2016
 Contract negotiations – March/April 2016
 Contracts executed – April 2016

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A: Existing Community Programs 

7 National Institute on Drug Abuse. (2003). Preventing drug use among children and adolescents (In Brief). Retrieved 
from NIDA website on 3 Nov 2015: http://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/preventing-drug-abuse-among-children-
adolescents-in-brief/prevention-principles. 

Agenda Item 6C     Page 7Packet Page 392



Attachment A: Existing Community Programs 

Current Community Programs Addressing Youth Substance Use 
in the City of Boulder 

Reducing Substance Abuse (RSA) Coalition – RSA’s mission is to prevent and reduce youth 
substance use, adult substance abuse, and harmful impacts to the community by collectively 
mobilizing resources and partnerships throughout Boulder County to create informed and healthy 
community attitudes toward drugs and alcohol. Members include: Boulder County Public Health, 
Boulder Community Health, Healthy Youth Alliance, City of Boulder Youth Opportunities 
Program, Parent Engagement Network, Attention Homes, Boulder County Housing and Human 
Services, Natural Highs, Boulder Valley School District, Mental Health Partners, Clinica 
Campesina, University of Colorado (CU), Alternatives for Youth – iThrive, Phoenix Multisport, 
Parents, Families and Friends of Lesbians and Gays (PFLAG), and Bright Horizons. Students, 
youth, the community, parents and the faith community are also included in this group.  

RSA (through Boulder County Public Health as the applicant) has been approved for funding, 
pending contract negotiations, from the Colorado Office of Behavioral Health to support 
Substance Abuse Prevention Coalitions. The original source of funds is the Federal Substance 
Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block Grant (SABG).  In addition to coalition capacity building 
and youth engagement, the proposal includes strategies related to communications/messaging 
and pro-social activities. 

Addressing Alcohol and Other Substance Concerns Together (AACT) Coalition – The mission of 
this group is to establish healthy community norms regarding the use of alcohol and other 
substances and to reduce the negative individual and community impacts associated with risky 
use, with a focus on young adults and college. Members include: CU representatives, Municipal 
Court, Boulder Police Department, City of Boulder representatives, Boulder County 
representatives, Boulder County Public Health, BVSD and community stakeholders. 

BVSD – In recent years a number of substance use prevention and intervention programs have 
been available at BVSD schools, including: 

 Project SUCCESS (Schools Using Coordinated Community Efforts to Strengthen
Students) - Evidence-based program designed to prevent and reduce substance use among
students 12 to 18 years of age. Implemented at the Arapahoe campus. Funding for the
project is through the Colorado Department of Education School Health Professional
Grant Program and will continue through the end of the 2015-2016 school year.

 iThrive – Alternatives for Youth program, also funded by City of Boulder Human
Services Fund. Created to address need for intervention program in Boulder County for
teens struggling with substance use, who don’t yet need treatment. Programming based
on SAMHSA’s Cannabis Youth Treatment Series. Students referred to program through
BVSD are generally marijuana users and may have had some experimentation with other
drugs.

 Natural Highs – Youth-led program housed in New Vista High School. Uses peer
mentoring approach with evidence-based practices of Cognitive Behavioral Theory and
Motivational Interviewing, to assist students leading sober lives. Provides a 6-8 week
class, community presentations (approximately 50 for 2014-15 school year) and sober
events.

Agenda Item 6C     Page 8Packet Page 393

http://nrepp.samhsa.gov/ViewIntervention.aspx?id=71
http://nrepp.samhsa.gov/ViewIntervention.aspx?id=71
http://www.ithrivegroups.org/
http://naturalhighs.us/


Attachment A: Existing Community Programs 
 

 Above the Influence – Collaboration with the Healthy Youth Alliance that provides 
information to young people about the dangers of drug use and strengthens efforts to 
prevent drug use in communities. 

 Prevention/Intervention Program – Collaboration with City of Boulder and Mental Health 
Partners. Promotes resiliency in adolescents through school-based, health-related 
prevention and intervention services.  

 
Healthy Youth Alliance (HYA) – Provide tools and resources for parents and caregivers. Modeled 
after evidence-based Nurturing Parenting Programs. 

 Good to Know – General awareness campaign through the Colorado Department of 
Public Health and Environment aimed at supplying information around legal use of 
marijuana in the state. Includes information for parents. 

 Keep Talking, They’re Listening – Program through HYA which provides resources and 
tools for parents and caregivers to talk with their kids about tough topics. 
 

Phoenix Multisport – Fosters supportive, physically active community for individuals, including 
youth who are recovering from alcohol and substance abuse and those who choose to live a sober 
life. 
 
BVSD Parent Engagement Network (PEN) – Disseminates information to parents and caregivers 
to promote the social emotional and mental well-being of youth and families. 
 
Mental Health Partners (MHP) – Contracted to carry out the Prevention/Intervention program 
and Project SUCCESS at BVSD. In addition, substance use services are available to all 
populations, including youth, in Boulder. 
 

Agenda Item 6C     Page 9Packet Page 394

https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/page/files/ati_fact_sheet_6-26-12.pdf
http://www.bouldercounty.org/doc/publichealth/pirpt14.pdf
http://www.nrepp.samhsa.gov/ViewIntervention.aspx?id=171
http://goodtoknowcolorado.com/


CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: Nov. 17, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE:  Request to Appoint a Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
(BVCP) Process Subcommittee Member 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane Brautigam, City Manager 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director, Planning, Housing, & Sustainability  
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager, Planning, Housing & Sustainability 

This is a request for a new appointment to the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) 
Process Subcommittee to replace City Council member Macon Cowles.  The BVCP Process 
Subcommittee is a joint City of Boulder and Boulder County committee that currently consists of: 

• 2 council members (Weaver and a member to be named)
• 2 Planning Board members (Gerstle, May)
• a Boulder County Commissioner (Jones) and
• a County Planning Commission member (Gargano)

The BVCP Process Subcommittee’s Role is to monitor and provide input on public engagement 
and overall process throughout the BVCP update.  The project began in 2015 and will continue 
through 2016. The subcommittee does not provide direction on policy issues, because the full 
City Council, Planning Board, Board of County Commissioners, and Planning Commission will 
be involved in discussion/direction on those types of substantive issues.  

The subcommittee meets monthly or more frequently as needed.  Generally, meetings are the 
third Wednesday at lunchtime.  The next subcommittee meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, 
Nov. 18, 12-1:30 in Park Central Room 401. 

The subcommittee’s first regular meeting was held in June of 2015 after a joint session with the 
Housing Boulder process subcommittee.  To date the committee has met five times and has 
provided input on the community engagement plan  and measures for success, the work plan and 
schedule and timing of the BVCP survey and kick off plans, post card notification, facilitation 
and meeting design for the listening sessions, and other process items.   All agendas and notes 
from meetings can be found at www.bouldervalleycompplan.net under the tab for process 
subcommittee.   

Agenda Item 8B     Page 1Packet Page 395

http://www.bouldervalleycompplan.net/
https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan-process-subcommittee
https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan-process-subcommittee


Packet Page 396



Packet Page 397



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Project 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

CC: Open Access Transmission Tariff    

SS: Power Supply 
SS (2): Rates, Energy Services, Power 

Supply
Project update  Project update

 Budget update  Budget update  Budget update  Budget update
Staff Activities Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan

Council 
SS: Review interim goals, targets and 

strategies

Staff Activities Launch action plan 
Energy system transformation; blue 

print convening Implementation based on action plan Implementation based on action plan

Council Briefing SS (2)

Staff Activities
Housing Matters launch event, 

engagement activities 
Draft strategy development

Implementation based on adopted 
strategy

Implementation based on adopted 
strategy

SS: Direction of preferred scenario SS : Draft plan and action plan

Next Corridor - 30th St or Colorado

Staff Activities Develop East Arapahoe action plan
Council SS Direction or IP Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities Develop scoping plan Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development
Council SS Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities Issues identification Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development
Council Update and coordinate with BVCP Update and coordinate with BVCP

Staff Activities

Council Briefing Briefing
Staff Activities

SS : Review options & Update; 
including recommendations for TDM 

tool kit for new development

Council action on TDM Tool Kit for 
new development

Recommendations including planning 
code changes

SS: Review options and update 
Ongoing work plan in 7 focus areas Ongoing work plan Ongoing work plan Ongoing work plan
Alternatives analysis and specific 

option development

Specific option 

development/refinements
Joint Board workshop & public 

engagement
Joint Board workshop & public 

engagement

Council

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan

Sustainable Streets and Centers/ East Arapahoe

Council 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

C
li

m
a

te
 a

n
d

 
E

n
er

g
y

 Comprehensive Housing Strategy (Housing 
Boulder)

 Energy Future and Associated Projects 

H
o

u
si

n
g

/L
a

n
d

 U
se

 
P

la
n

n
in

g

Climate Commitment

Resilience

Transportation Master Plan Implementation

Staff and elected official activities ongoing 
Regional Travel

Access Management and Parking Strategy (AMPS)

Staff Activities

Council

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 1 3/26/2015
Packet Page 398



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Project 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council SS: Parkland Concepts Plan CC: Approval of Concept Plan
Outreach to community & partners; 

create delivery plan for spring, 
summer, fall events

Deliver spring events Deliver summer activities and events
Review 2015 activation; compare lessons 

from 2014 and revise for 2016

Draft of parkland concept plan options 
for public workshop, Boards, Council 

review 

Board/Commission input on Concept 
Plan

Begin detailed design work on park 
improvements

Complete detailed design work for 
bidding 

Develop overall site master plan 
concepts, begin to formulate major 

capital projects

Initial feasibility planning on major 
capital projects

Continue to develop capital projects, 
identify potential partners, explore 

financing options

Continue to develop capital projects, 
identify potential partners, explore 

financing options

Council IP and local meals for Council Pilot

Council consideration of Local Food 
Procurement Policy; Review and 

acceptance of Ag Resources 

Management Plan

Council consideration of Local Food 
Procurement Policy; Review and 

acceptance of Ag Resources Management 

Plan

Staff Activities

SS: Review options IP 
CC: Public Hearing and Decision                                                                                                          

Recommendation & development of 
ordinances, changes and recommend 

other strategies to address 
Moratorium goals 

Follow up on other strategies & 
coordination with Hill Reinvestment 
Strategy; incorporate strategies into 

other work plan

Board review & public engagement Board review & public engagement

 Direction  on 14th Street 
redevelopment proposal 

SS 

SS: Update on strategy 
Residential service district (RSD) pilot 

program
RSD pilot program RSD pilot program RSD pilot program

Work plan implementation Work plan implementation Work plan implementation On-going work plan  implementation

Establish benchmarks  and evaluation 
criteria

Commercial district: Eco Pass Study & 
Commercial bear dumpsters

Implement volunteer program for 
clean up

Evaluate existing programs

Integration of strategy 
recommendations from Moratorium

Research options for sustainable 
governance & funding

Develop options for sustainable 
governance & funding

14th Street Lot public/private 
partnership redevelopment options re: 

work force affordable housing

14th Street Lot public/private 
partnership redevelopment options 

re: work force affordable housing

Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement

Council IP: 2014 Accomplishments 
SS: As part of Human Services strategy 

update 
IP - Services and Regional coordination 

update
Staff Activities

Council 
Council update and input on testing 

phase
Briefing

SS: Adoption of Community Cultural 
Plan

Staff Activities
Research phase complete. Drafting 

phase complete. Testing phase begins
Testing phase complete. Certification 

phase begins
Implementation begins. New public art 

policy drafting
Public Art Policy drafting 

L
iv

a
b

il
it

y
L

o
ca

l 
F

o
o

d

Sustainable Agriculture and Local Foods 

Homeless Action Plan

C
iv

ic
 A

re
a

Community Cultural Plan 

Staff Activities

University Hill Moratorium

Council

Council

Staff Activities

 University Hill  Reinvestment Strategy 

Civic Area Implementation
Staff Activities

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 2 3/26/2015
Packet Page 399



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Projects 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council 

Staff Activities Ongoing redevelopment coordination
North Side of Pearl and Goose Creek 

bridge landscaping install. Bridge 
opens 

Depot Square opens 

Council Ongoing and Wastewater Collection 

System Rehabilitation program begins

Ongoing SS: 2016-2021 CIP Ongoing

Staff Activities

Council Report on 2015 City Events Summary of 2015 City Events

Staff Activities
Implement new events application and 

internal review process
Refine systems as needed Refine systems as needed

Improve events application for new 
online Landlinks System in 2016

Council SS SS

Staff Activities
Broadband Action Group formation 

and consultant assessment 
Consultant assessment continued Consultant assessment continued Present findings and recommendations 

Council
SS: Staff Recommendations design 

tools/process changes 
IP

CC: Draft recommendations/Adopt 
strategy 

Staff Activities
Issues identification/  preliminary  

work on design tools/ process changes
Technical analysis /develop options Draft recommendations

Public engagement Boards/public engagement Boards/public engagement 

Council

Staff Activities Flood Annexations - Individual Flood Annexations - Old Tale Rd Ongoing Ongoing

Council SS Public Hearing 
Staff Activities

Council

IP: Stormwater Master Plan and 
Wastewater Collection System Master 

Plan consideration

Staff
Stormwater Master Plan and 

Wastewater Collection System Master 
Plan updates continue

Stormwater Master Plan and 
Wastewater Collection System Master 

Plan updates continue

Council CC: Second reading 

Staff Activities Education campaign Enforcement begins Monitor Outcomes Monitor Outcomes

Council SS

Staff Activities
Research regulations and possible fees 

or taxes 

Human Services Strategy

O
th

er

 Boulder Junction

Capital Projects Activity 

CityWide Special Events 

Community Broadband

Design Excellence

 Flood-related  Annexations 

 Flood Management 

Smoking Ban - Implementation

Vacation Rental by Owner (VRBO)

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 3 3/26/2015
Packet Page 400



                                                             COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

Matthew Appelbaum  Mayor 
Suzanne Jones  Mayor Pro Tem 

Aaron Brockett  Council Member 
Jan Burton  Council Member 

Lisa Morzel  Council Member 
Andrew Shoemaker  Council Member 

Sam Weaver  Council Member 
Bob Yates  Council Member 

Mary Young  Council Member 
                                                               
 
                                                             COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 
 

Thomas A. Carr  City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam  City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke  Municipal Judge 
                                                                
 
                                                              KEY STAFF 
 

Mary Ann Weideman 
Bob Eichem 

 Assistant City Manager 
Chief Financial Officer 

Lynnette Beck  City Clerk 
Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 

David Driskell  Executive Director for the Department of Planning, Housing 
Sustainability  

Molly Winter  Director of Community Vitality 
Heather Bailey  Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility 

Development  
Michael Calderazzo  Fire Chief 

Joyce Lira  Human Resources Director 
Karen Rahn  Human Services Director 

Don Ingle  Information Technology Director 
David Farnan  Library and Arts Director 

James Cho  Municipal Court Administrator 
Tracy Winfree  Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 

Yvette Bowden  Parks and Recreation Director 
Greg Testa  Police Chief 

Maureen Rait  Executive Director of Public Works 
Cheryl Pattelli  Director of Fiscal Services 
Mike Sweeney  Acting Transportation Director 

Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 
 

Packet Page 401



 Approved   02-17-2015 

 
 

2015 City Council Committee Assignments 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel, Plass (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Boulder County Consortium of Cities Young, Morzel (alternate) 
Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones,  Cowles (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Jones, Plass 
Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Shoemaker 
Metro Mayors Caucus Appelbaum 
National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum, Cowles 
Resource Conservation Advisory Board Morzel (at large seat), Plass 
Rocky Flats Stewardship Morzel, Plass (1st alternate), Castillo (2nd alternate) 
University of Colorado (CU)/City Oversight Cowles, Shoemaker, Weaver 
US36 Mayors and Commission Coalition Appelbaum 
US36 Commuting Solutions Karakehian, Morzel (alternate) 
Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Jones 

 
LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Young 
Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Plass, Cowles (alternate) 
Dairy Center for the Arts Jones 
Downtown Business Improvement District Board  Weaver, Young 
 
INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 
Audit Committee Cowles, Morzel, Shoemaker 
Boards and Commissions Committee Plass, Shoemaker 
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA)  
Mayoral Appointment 

Karakehian 

Charter Committee Karakehian, Morzel, Weaver 
Civic Use Pad/ 9th and Canyon Karakehian, Morzel, Young 
Council Employees Salary Review Cowles, Shoemaker 
Council Retreat Committee Jones, Morzel 
Evaluation Committee Morzel, Plass 
Housing Strategy Process Sub-Committee Morzel, Shoemaker, Young 
Legislative Committee Jones, Karakehian, Weaver 
School Issues Committee Morzel, Plass, Shoemaker 
 
SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
Jalapa, Nicaragua Jones 
Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 
Llasa, Tibet Shoemaker 
Dushanbe, Tajikistan Weaver 
Yamagata, Japan Plass 
Mante, Mexico Young 
Yateras, Cuba Karakehian, Cowles (alternate) 
Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, , Karakehian 
 

Packet Page 402



2015 Study Session Calendar

11/4/20154:26 PM

1

A B C D E F G H

Date Status Topic Location Contacts
Materials 

Due

Draft 
Summary 

Due

76
77
78

79
80

81
82
83
84

85
86
87
88
89

Approved AMPS Update 6-7:30 PM Chambers Molly Winter/Ruth Weiss 10/29/15 11/19/15
Approved Broadband Working Group Status Update 7:30-9 PM Chambers Don Ingle 10/29/15 11/19/15

11/24/15

12/08/15 Approved Briefing: East Arapahoe Transportation Corridor Plan 5:30-6 Chambers Randall Rutsch/Rene Lopez N/A N/A
Approved Hill Reinvestment Strategy Update 6-7:30 PM Chambers Molly Winters/Ruth Weiss 11/25/15 12/17/15
Approved Marijuana Advisory Committee 7:30-9 PM Chambers Tom Carr/Heather Hayward 11/25/15 12/17/15

12/22/15
12/29/15 New Years Holiday Week - No Meeting

Christmas Holiday Week - No Meeting

11/12/15

Thanksgiving Holiday Week - No Meeting

Packet Page 403



2015 INFORMATION PACKETS

Date of 
Agenda 
Packet

Due to
Clerk's 

Office by 
NOON Item Type Topic Contacts

11/10/15 11/04/15
Call- up 5555 Racquet Lane Chandler Van Schaack/Lauren Reader
Call up 2751 30th Street concept plan Chandler Van Schaack/Lauren Reader

11/17/15 11/10/15

12/01/15 11/24/15

12/15/15 12/09/15

Information Item
Open Space and Mountain Parks Agricultural 
Resources Management Plan Kacey French/Cecil Fenio

Packet Page 404



Agenda Section Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS

Parting Comments - Council Member Karakehian 15
Parting Comments - Council Member Cowles 15

OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT Budget Hearing 3rd rdg 15 Minutes

Resolutions to provide emergency services to certain annexed properties previously served 
by the Boulder Rural Fire Protection District and the Rocky Mountain Fire Protection 
District.
Study Session Summary- from 10/13 regarding Development related impact fees and Excise 
Taxes
Motion to call a Special Meeting for Executive Session on Nov 19th
Consideration of a motion to approve the minutes for 10/5/2015 Special Meeting
Emergency ordinance amending certain fees
Motion authorizing CM to enter into an IGA with CDOT re Baseline Underpass Proj
1st rdg - authorizing the CM to execute a deed vacating 2 public access easements at 901 
Pearl
Study Session Summary- Boulder Junction Update

PUBLIC HEARINGS
Trigg-Delier Property Acquisition 60 Minutes
 3rd rdg MJ Code and Policy Changes 120 Minutes
Boulder Civic Area Phase I Park Development 10 Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER Zero Waste Strategic Plan 30 Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY Minutes
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL Minutes
CALL-UPS 2751 30th Street Concept Plan

5555 Racquet Lane /Meadows Tennis Club; Site & Use Review Minutes
Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 5:10

November 10, 2015 - 
 5:30 PM Business Meeting

 Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

5:30 PM Mayoral Platform

Minutes

Packet Page 405



Agenda Section Item Name Time
Minutes

Council- Mayor/Mayor Pro Tem Election Council Election of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem 30 Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS Minutes
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 1st Reading of  Second Budget Supplemental 15 Minutes

1st Reading of Rezoning .8 Acre of land located at 385 S. Broadway
Renew 10 yr lease w CPW for climbing access mgmt- Eldorado
Renew 10 yr lease w CPW for trail management- Eldorado
1st Reading of an ordinance to subdivide a portion of property at 2180 Violet to allow for 
title transfer to Flatirons Habitat for Humanity
2nd rdg - authorizing the CM to execute a deed vacating 2 public access easements at 901 
Pearl
Emergency Appropriation for BCH closing

PUBLIC HEARINGS Community Cultural Plan 90 Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER Motion to Accept 2016 HSF Recommendations 30 Minutes
Update on Rec Marijuana Educational Program 60 Minutes
2015 State and Fed Legislative Agenda Description 40 minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL Select a new member for BVCP Process Committee for vacancy 10 Minutes
CALL-UPS Minutes

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 4:50

November 17, 2015 Regular Meeting
6:30 PM Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

November 17, 2015- Swear in New Council Members 10 AM
 Council Photos 10:30 AM; Transition Luncheon 11:30 AM

Luncheon at the Onyx Room at Jill's in the St. Julien

November 17, 2015- Civic Area Winter Activation Event
 5:30 PM - Civic Area

Packet Page 406



Agenda Section Item Name Time
Municipalization

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 0:00

November 19, 2015 Special Meeting- Executive Session
6 PM Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

401 Park Central

CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

November 19, 2015 Council Orientation
8 PM CMO Fishbowl Room

Packet Page 407



Agenda Section Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS Proclamation PAC-12 Conference Centennial Day
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 2nd Rdg Ordinance Budget Supplemental 15 Minutes

1st Rdg OrdinanceHabitat Conservation Area designation of the Schnell Homestead Open 
Space Property

1st Rdg Ordinance to implement West Trail Study Area plan re: equine use and sledding
Study Session Summary: Human Services Stratedy Update
1st Rdg annexation for 3.2 acre located at 4525 Palo Parkway RMX-2- needs to be annexed 
before 2/1 (BHP requesting annexation before 2/1 to be competitive for state affordable 
housing funding)
Motion to approve 2015 State and Fed legislative Agenda Description

Study Session Summary: Homelessness Strategy Update
2nd Rdg  Ordinance vacating the CM to execute a deed vacating 2 public access easements 
at 901 Pearl

PUBLIC HEARINGS Certification of Election Results 15 Minutes
2nd Reading of an ordinance to subdivide a portion of property at 2180 Violet to allow for 
title transfer to Flatirons Habitat for Humanity 30 Minutes
2nd rdg Rezoning .8 Acre of land located at 385 S. Broadway 120 Minutes
Gregory Creek Mitigation Plan 30 Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 4:15

December 1, 2015
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

Packet Page 408



Agenda Section Item Name Time
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 2nd Rdg Ordianance to implement West Trail Study Area Plan re: equine use and sledding - 

moved to consent 15 Minutes
2nd Rdg Ordinance Habitat Conservation Area Designation of the Schnell Homestead Open 
Space Property

Public Hearing BVCP - Joint hearing with Planning Board - No other items to be scheduled for this evening: 
Initial screening of Public requests, report on results of listening tour, results from BVCP 
survey, discucssion of focus areas and policy changes. 180 Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 4:00

December 15, 2015
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

December 2, 2015 CU/COB Leadership Lunch 

December 18, 2015
Legislative Breakfast 7:30-9 AM 

Packet Page 409



Agenda Section Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 15 Minutes

PUBLIC HEARINGS Direction on initial screening of public request for BVCP 45? Minutes
2nd rdg annexation for 3.2 acre located at 4525 Palo Parkway RMX-2- needs to be annexed 
before 2/1 (BHP requesting annexation before 2/1 to be competitive for state affordable 
housing funding) 40 Minutes

Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 1:40

Agenda Section Item Name Time
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 15 Minutes

1st rdg Leases for Point to Point Electrical Conduit Crossings

PUBLIC HEARINGS
West Fourmile Canyon Creek Area Study update and direction Ponderosa MHP 150 Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER Living Lab Phase I Update 20 Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 3:50

January 5, 2016
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

January 19, 2016
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

Packet Page 410



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

03/03/16 Boards and Commissions Interviews (Thursday) 6-9 PM 1777 West
03/08/16 Boards and Commissions Interviews 6-9 PM 1777 West
03/10/16 Boards and Commissions Interviews (Thursday) 6-9 PM 1777 West

0322/16 Briefing: 
03/22/16 Boulder Junction Update 6-7:30 Chambers Eric Ameigh, Lauren Reader
03/22/16 7:30-9 PM Chambers
03/22/16 CU spring Break Mar 21-25

03/29/16 6-9 PM Chambers

Sister City Dinner- example only 5-6:30 PM Lobby

6:30-7:30 Chambers

7:30-9:00 Chambers

6:00-7:30 Chambers
7:30-9:00 Chambers

No Study Session due to Council travel to Portland, OR 5:30-6:00 Chambers
6:00-7:30 Chambers
7:30-9:00 Chambers

6:00-7:30 Chambers
7:30-9:00 Chambers

Briefing 5:30-6:00 Chambers
6:00-7:30 Chambers
7:30-9:00 Chambers

4/12/2016

04/26/16

05/24/16

05/10/16

03/31/16

Packet Page 411



 

 

           TO:  Members of City Council 

     FROM:  Michael Gallegos, City Clerk’s Office 

      DATE:  November 17, 2015 

SUBJECT:  Information Packet 
 

 
1. CALL UPS 

 A. Landmark Alteration Certificate application to construct an addition at the north 
elevation, replace non-historic windows and restore the historic façade of Whittier 
School at 2008 Pine Street, an individually landmarked property, per section 9-11-18 
of the Boulder Revised Code 1981 (HIS2015-00243). This Landmark Alteration 
Certificate is subject to City Council call-up no later than November 18, 2015. 

   
2. INFORMATION ITEMS 

 None 
   

3. BOARDS & COMMISSIONS 
 A. Environmental Advisory Board – October 7, 2015 
   

4. DECLARATIONS 
 A. Small Business Saturday – November 28, 2015 
   

 

Packet Page 412



To: 

From: 

Date:  

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

Members of City Council 

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 

November 17, 2015 

Call-up Item: Landmark Alteration Certificate application to construct an addition at the north 
elevation, replace non-historic windows and restore the historic façade of Whittier School at 
2008 Pine Street, an individually landmarked property, per section 9-11-18 of the Boulder 
Revised Code 1981 (HIS2015-00243). This Landmark Alteration Certificate is subject to City 
Council call-up no later than November 18, 2015.  

Executive Summary 
At its Nov. 4, 2015 meeting, the Landmarks Board conditionally approved (4-1, K. Remley 
opposed) the proposal to construct an entry addition at the north elevation, replace non-historic 
windows and restore the historic façade of Whittier School at 2008 Pine St. in compliance with 
plans dated 9/16/2015. The decision was based upon the board’s consideration that the proposed 
construction meets the requirements in Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981.  

The board’s approval is subject to a 14-day call-up period by City Council. The approval of this 
Landmark Alteration Certificate is subject to City Council call-up no later than November 18, 
2015. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Notice of Disposition dated November 17, 2015
B. Photographs and Drawings of 2008 Pine St.

Call Up 
2008 Pine Street

1A     Page 1Packet Page 413



Notice of Disposition 

You are hereby advised that on November 4, 2015 the following action was taken: 

ACTION:  Approved by a vote of 4-1 (K. Remley objecting) 

APPLICATION: Public hearing and consideration of an application for a Landmark 
Alteration Certificate to construct an addition to the building, 
replace non-historic windows and restore the historic façade of 
Whittier School at 2008 Pine Street, an individually landmarked 
property, per section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981 
(HIS2015-00243). 

LOCATION: 2008 Pine St. 

ZONING: RMX-1 (Residential-Mixed 1) 

APPLICANT/OWNER: Rodwin Architecture/Boulder Valley School District 

This decision was arrived at based on the purposes and intent of the Historic Preservation Code as set 
forth in 9-11-18, B.R.C., 1981, as applied to the Landmark Alteration Certificate application.  

Public Hearing   
Jane Crisler, 2500 Bellaire Street, Denver, architect at Humphries-Poli Architects, spoke in 
support of Landmark Alteration Certificate. 
Kirsten Snobeck, project architect with Rodwin Architecture, spoke in support of issuing a 
Landmark Alteration Certificate. 
Sarah Oswick, 412 Grand Court, Golden, Colorado, Principal at Whittier International 
Elementary, spoke in support of issuing a Landmark Alteration Certificate for the project. 

Motion: 
On a motion by D. Yin, seconded by F. Sheets, the Landmarks Board adopted (4-1, K. Remley 
opposed) the staff memorandum dated November 4th, 2015, in matter 5B (HIS2015-00243), as 
the findings of the board and approve the construction of an addition, replacement of non-
historic windows, rehabilitation of historic windows and restoration of the façade of the Whittier 
School, as shown on plans dated September 16, 2015, finding that the plans generally meet the 
standards for issuance of a Landmark Alteration Certificate in Chapter 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, 
subject to the following conditions: 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

1. The applicant shall be responsible for undertaking the work in compliance with the
approved plans dated September 16, 2015, except as modified by these conditions of
approval.

Attachment A - Notice of Disposition dated November 17, 2015

Call Up 
2008 Pine Street

1A     Page 2Packet Page 414



2. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the Landmark
Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall submit the following:

a. Details showing the connection of the addition to the historic building to ensure
reversibility without damage;

b. Exploration of modifying the proportions of glass segments to be designed in way
to reference proportions found on historic portion of school;

c. Final details on the restoration of the historic portion of the school;
d. Final details showing door and window restoration and replacement;
e. Final details on proposed wall materials, stair replacement, colors, and associated

hardscaping.
f. Simplify the roof of the addition.
g. Resolve connection between the north entrance (addition) and the existing stair

enclosure (of the 1916 building).
h. Widen the gap between north entrance (addition) and the existing 1916 building.

These design details shall be reviewed and approved by the Landmarks design review 
committee, prior to the issuance of a building permit. The applicant shall demonstrate that the 
design details are in compliance with the intent of this approval and the General Design 
Guidelines.  

K. Remley opposed the motion stating that the proposed addition does not meet General Design
Guideline 4.1.1. and that in her opinion, the addition will obscure the historic fabric of the 1916
building, and Guideline 4.3.2 in she considers the addition will not be compatible with the
historic building in mass, scale, materials, and color, or elevations.

Attachment A - Notice of Disposition dated November 17, 2015

Call Up 
2008 Pine Street

1A     Page 3Packet Page 415



 
 

 
Figure 1. 2008 Pine St., c.1890 

Photograph Courtesy the Carnegie Branch Library for Local History. 
 
 

  
Figure 2. Location Map, 2008 Pine St. 

 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 2008 Pine Street

Call Up 
2008 Pine Street

1A     Page 4Packet Page 416



 

 
Figure 3. North (front) elevation of 2008 Pine St., 2015.   

 
Figure 4. Proposed Site Plan.  Not to scale. 

 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 2008 Pine Street

Call Up 
2008 Pine Street

1A     Page 5Packet Page 417



 

   
Figure 5. Existing North Elevation (façade) 

 

 
Figure 6.  Proposed North Elevation (façade)  

 
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 2008 Pine Street

Call Up 
2008 Pine Street

1A     Page 6Packet Page 418



 

 
Figure 7. Rendering of proposed North Elevation (façade) 

 

 
Figure 8. Rendering of proposed North Elevation (façade) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 2008 Pine Street

Call Up 
2008 Pine Street

1A     Page 7Packet Page 419



 

 
Figure 9. Existing west elevation (1950s addition) 

 

 
Figure 10. Proposed west elevation (1950s addition) 

 
 
 

 
Figure 11. Rendering of south elevation of 1916 addition and west elevation of 1950 addition 

with glass blocks replaced. 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 2008 Pine Street

Call Up 
2008 Pine Street

1A     Page 8Packet Page 420



 

  
Figure 12.Example of door replacement; existing (l) and proposed (r) north entry doors on 1882 

school.  
 

   
Figure 13. Example of window replacement; existing non-historic windows to be replaced (l) 

and existing historic windows (r) to be restored.  
 

Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings of 2008 Pine Street

Call Up 
2008 Pine Street

1A     Page 9Packet Page 421



Boards and Commissions 
EAB 10-07-15

3A     Page 1Packet Page 422



Boards and Commissions 
EAB 10-07-15

3A     Page 2Packet Page 423



Boards and Commissions 
EAB 10-07-15

3A     Page 3Packet Page 424



Boards and Commissions 
EAB 10-07-15

3A     Page 4Packet Page 425



Packet Page 426


	20151117_agenda final - public
	3A_Minutes for Oct 6th
	Call to Order, Open Comment
	Consent Agenda
	Potential Call-up, Public Hearing 5A- Budget 2016
	Matters from CM, CA, and Members of Council
	Public Comment on Matters, Final Decisions, Debrief, Adjournment

	3B_Eldo lease climbing access
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Feedback, Public Comment and Process
	Analysis
	Attachment A- Peanuts Wall and Continental Crag Cliffs
	Attachment B- Cadillac Crags Cliffs

	3C_Eldo lease trail mgmt
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Feedback, Public Comment and Process
	Analysis
	Attachnment A- Rattlesnake Gulch

	3D_ 1st rdg Supp App for 2015
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts
	Analysis
	Attachment A- Ord No 8092
	Attachment B- Definitions and Request Narrative
	Attachment C- Budget Supplemental by Fund
	Attachment D- 2015 Fund Activity Summary

	3E_385 S Broadway Rezoning
	Executive Summary
	BVCP land Use Map Change, PB Consideration
	Key issue Identification, Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Feedback
	Public Feedback
	Analysis
	BVCP Land Use, Existing Zoning
	Requested Zoning
	Key Issue 1
	Key Issue 2
	Attachment A- Ord No 8093
	Attachment B- Ord No. 8094
	Attachment C- Correspondence Received
	Attachment D- Applicant's Written Statement

	3F_2180 Violet Ave- Flatirons Habitat 
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Feedback
	Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A- Survey
	Attachment B- Ord No. 8095
	Attachment C- Written Statement
	Attachment D- Annexation Agreement
	Attachment E- Annexation Agreement

	3G_BCH Emergency Ordinance
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation , Assessments, Impacts
	Background, Analysis
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8096

	3H_BMPA Resolution
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Background, Analysis
	Attachment A- Res No. 142

	5A_Cultural Plan
	Executivr Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts
	Feedback, Analysis
	Attachment A- Cultural Plan

	6A_2016 State Federal Legislative 
	6A_2016 State Federal Legislative 
	Executive Summary, Assessments, Impacts,
	Feedback
	Background, Analysis

	2016 Legislative agenda proposed

	6B_HSF Funding Recommendations
	Executive Summary, City Manager Preliminary Decision, Assessments, Impacts
	Analysis
	Next Steps
	Attachment A- Regional Impact Area
	Attachment B- HSF Awards
	Attachement C- HSF Awards by Alphabetical Order
	Attachment D- HSFAC Members

	6C_Update on Recreational Marijuana Education Program
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Background
	Current Community Efforts Related to Youth Substance Use
	Other RMJ Outreach/Ed Programs, Analysis
	Recommended Process and Structure
	Next Steps
	Attachment A- Existing Community Program

	8B_BVCP Request to Appoint Process Subcommittee Member
	Agenda Title

	ref docs
	1. Council Working Agreements
	2. 2015 Work Plan
	INSIDE FRONT COVER Council and Key Staff 11.13.14
	4. Council Assignments
	Council_Master_Calendar 11-8-15
	2015 Study Sessions
	2015 Information Packets
	November '15
	December '15
	January 2016
	2016 Study Sessions


	20151117_IP_Web
	IP Cover
	1A Call Up - 2008 Pine Street
	Executive Summary
	Attachment A - Notice of Disposition
	Attachment B - Photographs and Drawings

	3A EAB 100715
	4A Small Business Saturday-112815




